The impact and cost of ivermectin control strategies against River Blindness in Africa

Hugo C Turner November 2013

Supervised by Professor María-Gloria Basáñez, Dr Thomas S Churcher, and Professor Roger K Prichard

Submitted in part fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Infectious Disease Epidemiology of Imperial College London

Abstract

River Blindness (onchocerciasis) has been identified by the World Health Organization as potentially eliminable. Until recently, the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control focused on annual distribution of ivermectin to reduce morbidity, but encouraged by success in some foci, it has embarked on eliminating the infection from the continent. To this end, increasing the treatment frequency to twice yearly (biannual) has been suggested. However, this may not be cost-effective everywhere in Africa, so it is necessary to assess under which epidemiological scenarios it would be advisable. The central aim of this thesis is to develop further an onchocerciasis transmission model (EpiOncho) to evaluate the impact and cost of biannual vs. annual ivermectin treatment in a range of scenarios typical of savannah onchocerciasis foci in Africa.

The analyses and methods are divided into three main components. First, a mathematical model of the dynamics of onchocercal disease was developed and linked to infection output from EpiOncho. Results indicate that although long-term annual ivermectin treatment reduces dramatically onchocerciasis related disease burden, its overall impact on infection depends strongly on baseline levels of endemicity.

Second, a study was conducted in Ghana to assess the economic cost of biannual relative to annual ivermectin distribution. Results indicate that the (per year) cost of biannual ivermectin treatment is approximately 60% higher than that of annual treatment (and not simply double, as assumed by others).

Third, the health impact, programmatic cost, and projected duration of biannual vs. annual ivermectin treatment were evaluated. Findings indicate that although biannual treatment yields only small additional health benefits over those of annual treatment, its benefit is pronounced in the context of elimination goals, shortening timeframes to reach proposed operational thresholds for stopping treatment and potentially generating programmatic cost savings. Notwithstanding these conclusions, the feasibility of increasing from one to two treatments yearly will vary with the specific programmatic circumstances.

Contents

Abstract	2
Contents	3
Copyright	7
Declaration of Own Work	8
Acknowledgements	9
List of Figures	10
List of Tables	12
Glossary	14
Acronyms and Abbreviations	
Chapter 1: General Introduction	
1.1. Introduction	
1.2. Life Cycle and Epidemiology	
1.2.1. Vectors	21
1.3. Disease	22
1.3.1. Pathology	22
1.4. Socioeconomic Consequences	23
1.5. Onchocerciasis Control	24
1.5.1. The Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP)	24
1.5.2. The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC)	27
1.5.3. The Onchocerciasis Elimination Program for the Americas (OEPA)	
1.6. Ivermectin (Mectizan®)	
1.6.1. Mode of action	
1.6.2. Adverse reactions and severe adverse effects	
1.6.3 Sub-optimal responses to ivermectin treatment	
1.7. Alternative Drugs	
1.7.1. Anti-Wolbachia therapies	
1.7.2. Moxidectin	
1.7.3. Flubendazole	
1.8. Cost of the Programmes	
1.9. Prospects of Onchocerciasis Elimination in Africa	
1.10. Rationale	

1.11. Research Aims and Thesis Structure	
Chapter 2: Uncertainty Surrounding the Current Onchocerciasis Elimination Projections	
2.1. Summary	
2.2. Introduction	
2.2.1. ONCHOSIM projections	40
2.3. Method	
2.3.1. EpiOncho	
2.3.2. Ivermectin effects	
2.3.3. Treatment coverage, compliance, and frequency	47
2.3.4. Examined outputs and sensitivity analysis	47
2.4. Results	
2.4.1. Cumulative vs. non-cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production	
2.4.2. Annual vs. biannual treatment frequency	
2.4.3. Therapeutic coverage and compliance patterns	
2.5. Discussion	
2.5.1. Cumulative vs. non-cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production	
2.5.2. Annual vs. biannual treatment frequency	
2.5.3. Therapeutic coverage	
2.5.4. Compliance patterns	
2.6. Conclusions	
2.7. Limitations	
2.8. Supporting Information for Chapter 2	60
2.8.1. Onchocerciasis population dynamics model	60
2.8.2. Modelling the cumulative effect of ivermectin	61
2.8.3. Mating probability	64
2.8.4. Microfilarial prevalence	64
Chapter 3: Impact of Ivermectin on Onchocerciasis and its Disease Burden	71
3.1. Summary	71
3.2. Introduction	72
3.3. Method	73
3.3.1. Disease model	73
3.3.2. Ivermectin's anti-macrofilarial effect	
3.3.3. Model outputs and sensitivity analysis	

3.4. Results	79
3.4.1. Impact of ivermectin on microfilarial prevalence and intensity	79
3.4.2. Pre-control disease burden	80
3.4.3. Impact of ivermectin on onchocerciasis disease burden	
3.4.4. Impact of programmatic variables: therapeutic coverage and compliance patterns	
3.4.5. Impact of the efficacy of ivermectin anti-macrofilarial action	
3.5. Discussion	92
3.5.1. The influence of the epidemiological setting	92
3.5.2. The influence of programmatic and drug efficacy variables	96
3.6. Conclusions	97
3.7. Limitations	98
3.8. Supporting Information for Chapter 3	99
3.8.1. Microfilarial prevalence	99
3.8.2. Human population	100
3.8.3. Blindness	100
3.8.4. Visual impairment	103
3.8.5. Troublesome itch	104
3.8.6. Excess mortality	106
3.8.7. Disability adjusted life years	109
Chapter 4: The Cost of Annual versus Biannual Treatment with Ivermectin	116
4.1 Summary	116
4.2. Introduction	117
4.3. Methods	117
4.3.1. Description of study areas	117
4.3.2. Perspective	120
4.3.3. Data collection	122
4.3.4. Data analysis	124
4.4. Results	126
4.4.1. Costs disaggregated by resource type and programmatic activity	127
4.4.2. Community distributors	130
4.4.3. Reported difficulties	130
4.5. Discussion	130
4.5.1. Costs disaggregated by resource type and programmatic activity	133

4.5.2. Community distributors	133
4.5.3. Reported obstacles associated with switching from annual to biannual CDTI	134
4.6. Conclusions	135
4.7. Limitations	136
Chapter 5: An Economic Evaluation of Increasing the Frequency of Ivermectin Treatment in	
Africa	137
5.1 Summary	137
5.2. Introduction	138
5.3. Method	138
5.3.1. Operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by surveillance	138
5.3.2. Health impact	139
5.3.3. Costs of mass drug administration	139
5.3.4 Model outcomes and sensitivity analysis	140
5.4. Results	141
5.4.1 Sensitivity analysis	146
5.5 Discussion	155
5.5.1 Sensitivity analysis	157
5.6. Conclusions	159
5.7. Limitations	160
Chapter 6: Conclusions	162
6.1. Summary of Key Findings	162
6.2. Policy Implications	162
6.3. Future Research Directions	163
6.3.1. Further model parameterization	163
6.3.2. Alternative interventions	164
6.3.3. The impact of sub-optimal responses to ivermectin treatment	165
6.3.4. Integrated interventions	165
6.4. Conclusion	165
Bibliography	167
Appendix A. Dissemination of Research	186
Appendix B. Costing Data Collection Questionnaire	219

Copyright

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and is made available under a Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial No Derivatives licence. Researchers are free to copy, distribute or transmit the thesis on the condition that they attribute it, that they do not use it for commercial purposes and that they do not alter, transform or build upon it. For any reuse or redistribution, researchers must make clear to others the licence terms of this work.

Declaration of Own Work

All ideas presented within this thesis were formulated by the candidate under the guidance of Professor María-Gloria Basáñez, Dr Thomas S Churcher, Dr Martin Walker and Professor Roger K Prichard. All sources used in this thesis have been cited appropriately. I would like to acknowledge Dr Mike Y Osei-Atweneboana's, Mr Edward J Tettevi's, Mr Odame Asiedu's, and Dr Nana-Kwadwo Biritwum's assistance in the collection of the cost data (presented in Chapter 4). The following papers were published (or under review at the time of examination (14/3/2014)) during this PhD:

- Turner, H.C., Churcher, T.S., Walker, M., Prichard, R.K., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y. and Basáñez, M-G. (2013) Uncertainty surrounding projections of the long term impact of ivermectin treatment on human onchocerciasis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 7(4): e2169
- Turner, H.C., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y., Walker, M., Tettevi, E.J., Churcher, T.S. Asiedu, O., Biritwum, N-K. and Basáñez, M-G (2013). The cost of annual versus biannual community-directed treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin: Ghana as a case study. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 7(9): e2452
- Turner, H.C., Walker, M., Churcher, T.S. and Basáñez, M-G. Modelling the impact of ivermectin on River Blindness and its burden of morbidity and mortality in African savannah: EpiOncho projections. *Under Review*
- Turner, H.C., Walker, M., Churcher, T.S., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y., Biritwum, N-K., Hopkins, A., Prichard, R.K. and Basáñez, M-G. Reaching the London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases for onchocerciasis: an economic evaluation of increasing the frequency of ivermectin treatment in Africa. *Under Review*

For all of these papers, the candidate conducted the analyses and wrote the first draft.

Hego Two Signed:

Hugo Turner

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Professor María-Gloria Basáñez, Dr Thomas Churcher, and Professor Roger Prichard for their support, guidance and expertise.

I would also like to thank Dr Mike Osei-Atweneboana, Mr Edward Tettevi, Mr Odame Asiedu, and Dr Nana-Kwadwo Biritwum for their assistance with my field work in Ghana, Dr Adrian Hopkins from the Mectizan Donation Program (MDP) and Dr Martin Walker for his support throughout my PhD.

I would like to thank the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC) for my PhD studentship.

Finally I would like to thank my friends and family who have supported and encouraged me.

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. The Life Cycle of Onchocerca volvulus	20
Figure 1.2. A map of Africa, showing the areas covered by the African Programme for Onchocercias Control (APOC) and the Onchocerciasis Control Programme (OCP)	sis 25
Figure 2.1. ONCHOSIM projections fitted to Asubende trial data under two different proposed effect of ivermectin on <i>Onchocerca volvulus</i> microfilarial production	ts 42
Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of two different proposed effects of ivermectin on <i>Onchocerca volvulus</i> microfilarial production	46
Figure 2.3. Impact on microfilarial intensity of annual ivermectin distribution under two assumptions of ivermectin effects	s 49
Figure 2.4. Impact on microfilarial prevalence of annual/biannual ivermectin distribution under two assumptions of ivermectin effects	51
Figure 2.5. A comparison of the long-term impact of annual and biannual treatment strategies on microfilarial prevalence	52
Figure 2.6. The effect of coverage and compliance on microfilarial intensity after 15 years of ivermectin treatment	54
Figure 2.7. The effect of coverage and compliance on microfilarial prevalence after 15 years of ivermectin treatment	55
Figure 2.8. Observed and fitted microfilarial prevalence as an function of mean microfilarial load	66
Figure 3.1. Schematic representation of the disease model Figure 3.2. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on the intensity (A) and prevalence (B) of microfilarial infection	/4 80
Figure 3.3. Relationship between the level of endemicity and pre-control disease burden associated with onchocerciasis in savannah areas of Africa.	81
Figure 3.4. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on the morbidity associated with onchocerciasis in the savannah areas of Africa	; 83
Figure 3.5. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on the excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis in savannah areas of Africa	84

Figure 3.6. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on incidence of blindness due to onchocercias	sis
in savannah areas of Africa	85
Figure 3.7. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on microfilarial intensity (A) and microfilarial	1
prevalence (B) when assuming a stronger anti-macrofilarial action	90
Figure 3.8. Human host survivorship function	107
Figure 4.1. Map of Ghana indicating the sampled regions and districts	119
Figure 4.2. Organization levels at which data on cost of ivermectin distribution were collected	124
Figure 4.3. Economic costs at district, sub-district, and community levels disaggregated by resource	e
type (excluding CDDs' time)	128
Figure 4.4. Economic costs at district, sub-district, and community levels disaggregated by	
programmatic activity (excluding CDDs' time)	129
Figure 5.1. Univariate sensitivity analysis of the cost-effectiveness of an annual ivermectin treatme	ent
programme for onchocerciasis control	143
Figure 5.2. Comparison of annual vs. biannual ivermectin treatment in areas where onchocerciasis	
control has not been previously implemented	144
Figure 5.3. Impact of switching to biannual ivermectin treatment at different stages of an ongoing	
annual onchocerciasis treatment programme	145
Figure 5.4. Sensitivity of the projected duration of an annual and biannual ivermectin treatment	
programme for onchocerciasis control to different levels of coverage and systematic	
non-compliance	148
Figure 5.5. A comparison of the impact of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment on onchocerca	al
microfilarial intensity	156

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Endemicity categories as defined by microfilarial prevalence 2
Table 2.1. ONCHOSIM's predicted probability of onchocerciasis elimination in relation to pre-contro endemicity level
Table 2.2. Definition and values of parameters and variables for the onchocerciasis population dynamics model
Table 2.3. Definition and values of parameters and variables for ivermectin treatment effects
Table 2.4. Definition and values of parameters for mating probability and microfilarial prevalence calculations
Table 3.1. Summary of baseline (pre-control) modelled epidemiological scenarios
Table 3.2. Baseline (pre-control) model-derived burden of disease (DALYs) associated with onchocerciasis in savannah areas of Africa at different levels of endemicity
Table 3.3. The effect of annual ivermectin treatment coverage on the microfilarial prevalence and intensity of onchocerciasis and its associated morbidity and mortality according to baseline endemicity
Table 3.4. The effect of the proportion of systematic non-compliance with annual ivermectin treatment on the microfilarial prevalence and intensity of onchocerciasis infection and its associated morbidity and mortality according to baseline endemicity
Table 3.5. The effect of the magnitude of the anti-macrofilarial effect of ivermectin on the microfilarial prevalence and intensity of onchocerciasis infection and its associated morbidity and mortality according to baseline endemicity
Table 3.6. Definition and values of parameters and variables for the onchocerciasis disease model .11
Table 3.7. Definition and values of parameters for the disability adjusted life years estimates 113
Table 4.1. Description of ivermectin treatment in the areas where cost data were obtained in Ghana 120
Table 4.2. Financial and economic costs (US\$) per person treated per year in each district
Table 4.3. Hypothetical cost (US\$) of annual CDTI in Kintampo North and Pru districts, Brong-Ahafe region, Ghana 132
Table 5.1. Summary of parameter definitions and values explored in the sensitivity analysis

Table 5.2. Cost-effectiveness of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment programmes for
onchocerciasis control at different levels of pre-control endemicity
Table 5.3. Sensitivity of health impact, total cost and duration of annual and biannual ivermectin
treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to different levels of coverage and systematic non-
compliance
Table 5.4. Sensitivity of the relative health impact and total cost of biannual compared to annual
ivermectin treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to different levels of coverage and
systematic non-compliance
Table 5.5. Sensitivity of the total cost of biannual compared to annual treatment programmes for
onchocerciasis control to an increase in the yearly cost of biannual community-directed treatment with
ivermectin
Table 5.6. Sensitivity of the cost-effectiveness of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment
programmes for onchocerciasis control to the discount rate, and the economic value of the donated
ivermectin tablets
Table 5.7. Sensitivity of the relative total cost of biannual compared to annual treatment programmes
for onchocerciasis control to the discount rate
Table 5.8. Sensitivity of the health impact, total cost and duration of annual and biannual ivermectin
treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to the magnitude of the anti-macrofilarial action of
ivermectin

Glossary

Annual biting rate: the average number of *Simulium* bites to which a person is exposed during a whole year.

Annual transmission potential: the average number of infective larvae (L3) of *Onchocerca volvulus* potentially received during a whole year by a person exposed to the annual biting rate.

Anti-macrofilarial action: a cumulative adverse effect on adult worm reproductive fitness / longevity (represented in the model as a per dose reduction in the per capita rate of microfilarial production by adult female worms).

Community microfilarial load (CMFL): the geometric mean number of microfilariae per skin snip among adults aged 20 years and above.

Cost-Effectiveness analysis: a form of economic analysis that compares the relative costs and outcomes (effects) of two or more courses of action.

Density dependence: the dependence upon population density of the per capita rate at which a demographic or biological process occurs.

Deterministic model: a model which describes what happens on average in a population and does not incorporate the effects of chance.

Disability adjusted life years: a time-based measure of disease burden accounting for years of life lost due to premature mortality and healthy years of life lost due to disability.

Doxycycline: a tetracycline antibiotic which targets the *Wolbachia* endosymbiotic bacteria of *Onchocerca volvulus* which are vital for development of incoming L3 larvae to adult stages, adult worm fertility, and parasite survival.

Economic costs: also include, in addition to financial costs, estimates of the monetary value of goods or services for which no financial transaction has taken place.

Embryostatic: the effect of a drug which impedes microfilarial production by adult female worms.

Financial costs: are those where a monetary transaction has taken place for the purchase of a resource.

Internal rate of return: the discount rate applied to the (monetary) benefits and costs of control programmes, that sets the net present value (NPV – the difference between the former and latter) to zero. If it is greater than the market interest rate (or the cost of borrowing money) the programme is considered to be an economically worthy investment.

Ivermectin (Mectizan®): a macrocyclic lactone widely used in the field of veterinary medicine against a wide range of parasitic nematodes. The drug has been used extensively in onchocerciasis control strategies and has both microfilaricidal and embryostatic effects.

Macrofilaricidal: the effect of a drug which increases adult worm mortality.

Microfilaricidal: the effect of a drug which increases microfilarial mortality.

Microfilaridermia: presence of microfilaria in the skin

Microsimulation: a type of simulation modelling that generates individual life histories (i.e. explicitly models each individual)

Moxidectin: a drug under clinical assessment by a WHO-based project called MACROFIL, which has been established to develop a macrofilaricidal drug to treat onchocerciasis.

Net present value (NPV): the difference between the discounted present value of the control programme benefits (such as the monetary benefit of preventing blindness cases) and the discounted present value of the control programme costs (such as the costs of treatment).

Operational Thresholds for Treatment Interruption followed by Surveillance (OTTIS): Based on experiences in foci in Mali and Senegal (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012), cessation of onchocerciasis control in the OCP and ONCHOSIM projections, the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control has set operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by Surveillance (OTTIS). Namely, these are a microfilarial prevalence (by skin snipping) <5% in all surveyed villages and <1% in 90% of such villages, and <0.5 infective larvae per 1,000 flies (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010).

Rapid epidemiological mapping of ochocerciasis (REMO): a mapping technique utilising nodule palpation of a sample of adult males aged 20 and above to determine village level prevalence of onchocerciasis.

Stochastic model: a model which incorporates the effects of chance (i.e. random process).

Systematic non-complier: someone who is eligible for treatment but who never takes / receives it.

Therapeutic coverage: proportion of the total population receiving ivermectin at each round.

Transmission breakpoints: the threshold below which the parasite population is not able to maintain itself.

Acronyms and Abbreviations

ABR: Annual biting rate APOC: The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control ATP: Annual transmission potential **CDD:** Community drug distributor **CDTI:** Community directed treatment with ivermectin CMFL: Community microfilarial load DALYs: Disability adjusted life years ESRC: Economic and Social Research Council GABA: Gamma-aminobutyric acid GHC: Ghana cedi **GHS:** Ghana Health Service GluCls: Glutamate-gated-Cl-channels **GNI:** Gross national income **IRR:** Internal rate of return LDNTD: London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases MDA: Mass drug administration MDP: Mectizan Donation Program Mf: Microfilariae mg: Milligram **NBD:** Negative binomial distribution NGO: Non-governmental organization **NPV:** Net present value NTD: Neglected tropical disease **NTDP:** Neglected Tropical Disease Programme OCP: Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa

OEPA: Onchocerciasis Elimination Program for the Americas OTTIS: Operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by surveillance PAHO: Pan American Health Organization REMO: Rapid epidemiological mapping of onchocerciasis RHS: Right hand side s.l.: Sensu lato s.str.: Sensu stricto SAEs: Severe adverse events WHO: World Health Organization YLD: Years lived with disability YLL: Years of life lost

Chapter 1: General Introduction

1.1. Introduction

Human onchocerciasis is a neglected tropical disease (NTD) mainly affecting the eyes and the skin. It is caused by the parasitic filarial nematode *Onchocerca volvulus* and is transmitted by the bites of *Simulium* blackflies (Duke, 1990). Onchocerciasis is often referred to as River Blindness due to the high prevalence of eye disease in villages located along fast flowing rivers where the blackfly vectors breed. With at least 37 million people infected and a further 120 million at risk, it is the second largest cause of infectious blindness (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; World Health Organization, 1995). Onchocerciasis also causes disfiguring skin lesions and severe dermal itching that can drastically impair individuals' quality of life, and lead to stigmatisation (Brieger *et al.* 1998a; Vlassoff *et al.* 2000). Of those at risk, 99% live in Africa; however, the disease is also endemic in six countries of Latin America in smaller circumscribed foci and in Yemen (Duke, 1990).

During the last 30 years there has been a rapid and remarkable expansion of onchocerciasis control programmes worldwide (Etya'ale, 2001). These programmes have made a large impact on reducing onchocerciasis as a public health problem, initially using only large scale vector control (initiated in West Africa in 1975) and followed by the widespread annual distribution of ivermectin (mostly initiated in the early 1990's). Recently, there has been a shift in onchocerciasis control policy in Africa, with the aim of programmes' changing from morbidity control to elimination of infection (London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2013; World Bank, 2012). However, the feasibility of achieving this new goal with annual ivermectin distribution alone, and the cost-effectiveness of potential alternatives, such as increasing the frequency of ivermectin distribution to twice a year are unknown.

1.2. Life Cycle and Epidemiology

Onchocerca volvulus developmental cycle (Figure 1.1) comprises long-lived adult worms (macrofilariae) living in subcutaneous nodules which have an average female reproductive

life span of approximately ten years; the embryonic skin-dwelling microfilariae (Mf), with a mean life expectancy of 12-24 months); larvae which develop (L1 to L3) within the fly in approximately one week and attain infectivity to humans (these stages do not reproduce or multiply within the vector) and immature stages (L4 and juvenile adults) that reach sexual maturity in the human host and start producing detectable Mf after approximately two years (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999; Duke, 1991; Duke, 1993; Plaisier *et al.* 1991). Humans are the definitive host for the parasite and there is no animal reservoir (Bradley *et al.* 2005). Many stages of *O. volvulus* life cycle (both within the vector and human hosts) are influenced by density-dependent processes (i.e. are regulated by the density of the parasite population) (Basáñez *et al.* 2002; Basáñez *et al.* 1995; Basáñez & Ricardez-Esquinca, 2001; Basáñez *et al.* 1996).

The epidemiological patterns of onchocerciasis, and in particular the prevalence of ocular disease, vary considerably between geographical zones (Duke *et al.* 1966). For instance, while onchocercal associated blindness can be found at a very high prevalence (over 10%) in hyperendemic communities in the savannah regions, generally less blindness is found in forest foci with a similar intensity of infection (Cheke & Garms, 2013; Dadzie *et al.* 1989; Prost, 1980a). It has been hypothesized that this difference is due to the existence of various *O. volvulus* strains of different pathogenicity. Support for this hypothesis has been provided by DNA-based identification, which has confirmed an association between savannah and forest parasite types with severe and mild ocular onchocerciasis respectively (Zimmerman *et al.* 1992). More recently, a higher concentration of the endosymbiotic *Wolbachia* bacteria in *O. volvulus* (which have been proposed to be a contributory factor to inflammatory disease (Brattig, 2004; Saint Andre *et al.* 2002)) has been reported in the savannah than in forest parasites (Higazi *et al.* 2005). Though generally forest regions do not have a high prevalence of blindness, onchocercal associated skin disease is still an important public health problem in these regions (Remme, 2004a; World Health Organization, 1995).

Onchocerca volvulus



Figure 1.1. The Life Cycle of Onchocerca volvulus. The adult worms live in nodules under the skin. Reproducing adult females shed between 500 to 1500 microfilariae (Mf) per day, (Schulz-Key, 1990), which migrate to the skin and eyes where they cause the pathology related to the disease. Blackflies serve as the vector of the parasite and ingest Mf from the skin when they bite an infectious person. The Mf can then mature into L3 larvae in approximately a week (extrinsic incubation period) and become infectious to humans. Then, when the fly bites a human the larvae will enter the human host and develop into adulthood. When the adults (male and female macrofilariae) mate they will produce more Mf completing the transmission cycle (Bradley et al. 2005). Figure adapted from CDC (http://www.cdc.gov/parasites/onchocerciasis/biology.html).

In addition, age-specific patterns of *O. volvulus* infection show strong variation according to location, and host sex (Filipe *et al.* 2005). Several possible explanations have been suggested including; age- and sex-specific exposure to vectors, endocrine factors, and parasite-induced immunosuppression (Duerr *et al.* 2003; Filipe *et al.* 2005). These patterns have implications for our understanding of *O. volvulus* population biology and the design of control strategies. A summary of the definitions of endemicity are shown in Table 1.1.

Endemicity	Microfilarial prevalence
Hypoendemic	Under 35%
Mesoendemic	35% to 60%
Hyperendemic	Over 60%
Highly hyperendemic	Over 80%

Table 1.1. Endemicity categories as defined by microfilarial prevalence.

Table adapted from (Prost et al. 1979).

<u>1.2.1. Vectors</u>

Onchocerciasis is transmitted by blackflies (genus *Simulium*) which breed in swift running water, such as streams and rivers as their eggs require well oxygenated water to mature to larval and pupal stages (Crosskey, 1990). Female blackflies require a blood meal to produce eggs, and it is during this meal that they may transmit or receive the onchocercal infection (the male flies never suck blood) (Crosskey, 1990). The flies only bite during the day (Bradley *et al.* 2005).

Many blackfly (Diptera: Simuliidae) species are capable of transmitting onchocerciasis; however, species differ in their intrinsic ability to transmit the infection and their degree of anthropophagy (their propensity to feed on humans), and this contributes to the diverse transmission patterns across different endemic areas. In Africa, members of the *Simulium damnosum sensu lato* (s.l.) species complex (which includes approximately 60 cytoforms), and *Simulium neavei* are important vectors (Crosskey, 1990; Crosskey & Howard, 2004; Leake, 1993). It has been estimated that members of the *S. damnosum* complex are responsible for over 90% of onchocerciasis cases worldwide and more than 95% of cases in Africa (Crosskey, 1990). In Latin America, *S. ochraceum s.l., S. exiguum s.l., S. metallicum s.l.*, and *S. guianense s.l.* are the main vectors (Basáñez *et al.* 2006). Certain species of blackflies, particularly in Latin America, have a cibarial armature (a chitinous tooth like projection) which damage Mf as they are ingested. This has important implications for the density-dependent processes operating within these vectors (Basáñez & Ricardez-Esquinca, 2001).

1.3. Disease

Onchocerciasis is the second largest cause of infectious blindness and was thought to be responsible for at least 270,000 cases of blindness with another 500,000 people suffering from severe visual impairment (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; World Health Organization, 1995). Recently these estimates have been revised upwards to 340,000 cases of blindness and 645,000 people suffering from severe visual impairment (Coffeng *et al.* 2010).

1.3.1. Pathology

Most of the Mf do not reach a blackfly vector and instead die in the human body, provoking an inflammatory reaction due to the host's immune system reacting around dead or moribund Mf. Blindness is caused by a progressive accumulation of this process when Mf invade the eye tissues, which leads to irreversible ocular lesions (via a progression through punctuate keratitis; sclerosing keratitis; corneal opacities, optic nerve atrophy), resulting first in visual impairment and eventually total blindness (Remme *et al.* 2006). Blindness incidence has been shown to be associated with past Mf load, supporting the progressive worsening of onchocerciasis associated blindness with parasite exposure (Little *et al.* 2004a). A novel hypothesis has proposed that in addition to the Mf antigens, the pro-inflammatory responses are also triggered by the endosymbiotic *Wolbachia* bacteria (released by dying Mf) (Brattig, 2004; Saint Andre *et al.* 2002).

Onchocerciasis also causes troublesome itching and (disfiguring) skin changes, including early-stage reactive lesions, and late-stage depigmentation (leopard skin), and atrophy (Murdoch *et al.* 1993). Most patients (even those with a high skin Mf load) present with subclinical or intermittent dermatitis (Pearlman *et al.* 1999). Like the visual pathology, the inflammation appears to be largely induced by the endosymbiotic *Wolbachia* bacteria (Brattig, 2004). Patients can develop more severe or hyperreactive skin lesions due to repeated cycles of inflammation, eosinophil and macrophage infiltration and destruction of Mf (Ali *et al.* 2003). The varied immune responses to the parasite and subsequent clinical presentation may be influenced by host genetic factors (Meyer *et al.* 1994).

It should also be noted that Mf can invade many tissues / organs and that onchocerciasis can also be a systemic disease that is associated with musculoskeletal pain and reduced body

mass index (Bradley *et al.* 2005). Involvement of heavy Mf infection is also suspected in the onset of epilepsy (Boussinesq *et al.* 2002; Pion *et al.* 2009) and a hyposexual dwarfism syndrome (Nakalanga syndrome) (Kipp *et al.* 1996; Newell *et al.* 1997). In addition individuals suffering from onchocercal related vision loss and sighted individuals with high microfilaridermia have a notable additional risk of mortality (Kirkwood *et al.* 1983; Little *et al.* 2004b; Pion *et al.* 2002; Walker *et al.* 2012).

1.4. Socioeconomic Consequences

In addition to causing disease and excess mortality, onchocerciasis also causes tremendous social and economic damage. Though the public health importance of onchocercal associated blindness has long been recognized, only in 1995 did research demonstrate the importance of onchocercal associated skin disease (Remme *et al.* 2006; World Health Organization, 1995). The troublesome itching caused by the skin disease makes working, studying, and interacting socially difficult (Brieger *et al.* 1998a; Murdoch *et al.* 2002; Vlassoff *et al.* 2000). In addition, the disease also reduces marriage prospects, affects self-esteem, decreases concentration and leads to a loss of earnings in infected individuals as a result of both decreased productivity and increased spending on additional health costs (Amazigo, 1994; Kim *et al.* 1997). For example a study by Kim *et al.* (1997) found that workers with onchocercal associated skin disease lost an average of 1.9 days of work per month.

On a community level, the disease can also hinder economic growth, as when the onchocercal associated blindness prevalence reaches high levels, too few able-bodied individuals are left to work (Amazigo *et al.* 2006). Food shortages and economic collapse can force residents to abandon fertile land and move to highlands and forested areas where there is poor soil, water shortages and overcrowding (Amazigo *et al.* 2006). In West Africa the disease led to people abandoning more than 25 million hectares of arable land (Levine, 2007). Consequently the disease is considered to directly retard development and aggravate poverty (Levine, 2007).

1.5. Onchocerciasis Control

In the past vector control was the only feasible intervention for onchocerciasis because until the end of the 1980's, the only available drugs (suramin, diethylcarbamazine), were too toxic for large-scale use. Weekly applications of larvicidal insecticides in the breeding sites effectively stopped local vector breeding and in some cases led to local elimination of the vectors; however, the programmes could not prevent reinvasion of infective vectors from other areas (Remme *et al.* 2006).

Because blackflies migrate across international borders, it was decided that vector control should be carried out in the form of a large-scale regional programme in the West African savannah (Remme *et al.* 2006). This led to the creation of the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP), in 1974.

1.5.1. The Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP)

The OCP was launched in 1974, with the goal of eliminating River Blindness as a disease of public health importance (Richards *et al.* 2001). The OCP originally covered seven countries, namely, Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Ghana, Mali, Niger and Togo (Richards *et al.* 2001). However, by 1986 the OCP had expanded its operations to include four more countries: Guinea, Guinea Bissau, Senegal and Sierra Leone (this is known as the western extension of the OCP) (Richards *et al.* 2001). When the programme ended in 2002, it covered 11 countries (Figure 1.2), an area of 1,300,000 km² and an estimated population of over 78 million (Boatin, 2008; Richards *et al.* 2001).



Figure 1.2. A map of Africa, showing the areas covered by the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC;) and the Onchocerciasis Control Programme (OCP;). *Figure taken from (Boatin, 2008).*

From 1974 to 1988 the OCP relied on a strategy of weekly aerial larviciding of blackfly breeding sites (supplemented when feasible with ground larviciding) (Richards *et al.* 2001). The OCP initially used temephos, an affordable and efficient organophosphorous insecticide which had little impact on non-target organisms (Richards *et al.* 2001). Subsequently the OCP used a rotation of seven larvicides to reduce the emergence of insecticide resistance (Richards *et al.* 2001). Due to the long life expectancy (ten years) of the adult worm, to achieve total interruption of parasite transmission the operations were anticipated to run

approximately 20 years (Davies *et al.* 1978; Plaisier *et al.* 1991). However, although this strategy reduced transmission and infection (Hougard *et al.* 2001), other than preventing an infection from getting worse, it had no direct benefit for already diseased individuals and was not considered feasible or cost-effective elsewhere in Africa (Diawara *et al.* 2009).

In 1987 ivermectin was registered for human use against onchocerciasis (having been developed, as with most anthelmintics, for veterinary infections), and due to the suitability of this drug for mass treatment (excluding children under 5 years, pregnant women and those breastfeeding a child under one week old), large scale chemotherapeutic control programmes became feasible (Richards *et al.* 2001). The mathematical models used at the time projected that ivermectin distribution in combination with the on-going vector control would shorten the duration of required larviciding (Plaisier *et al.* 1997). Large scale mass drug administration (MDA) of ivermectin began in the OCP regions in 1989, initially administered by mobile teams, and became an important component of the control strategy, both as a complement to larviciding and in some of the western extension regions, as a sole intervention (Boatin, 2008).

Benefits and achievements:

The OCP is considered a tremendously successful programme (with the exception of Sierra Leone, where operations were interrupted by a decade long civil war) (Boatin & Richards, 2006). The following are considered some of the key benefits (Remme *et al.* 2006; Richards *et al.* 2001):

- Over 40 million people in the participating countries are now considered free from infection and eye lesions.
- Approximately 600,000 cases of blindness have been prevented.

In addition, the OCP had a dramatic socioeconomic impact; 25 million hectares of land were freed from onchocerciasis and were made available for resettlement and agriculture, leading to an estimated US\$3.7 billion in increased labour and agricultural productivity in the participating countries (Richards *et al.* 2001).

Many of the former OCP countries now have integrated onchocerciasis control into their own national health systems.

1.5.2. The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC)

The African Programme for Onchocerciasis control (APOC) was launched in 1995 and targeted the 19 onchocerciasis endemic countries in Africa that were not covered by the OCP (though three of them, Kenya, Rwanda, and Mozambique, were found not to be endemic), protecting an at risk population of 120 million (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; Remme, 1995). The goal of APOC was to eliminate onchocerciasis as a disease of public health and socio-economic importance in the non-OCP countries. The strategy to achieve this goal was by establishing effective and sustainable, annual mass ivermectin treatment to all those aged 5 years and older (excluding pregnant women and those breastfeeding a child under one week old) (Basáñez *et al.* 2006). The programme, initially conceived to end in 2007 (Richards *et al.* 2001), and subsequently in 2015 (World Health Organization, 2010), has recently been extended until 2025 with the new goal and commitment for the elimination of onchocerciasis (World Bank, 2012).

Unlike the OCP, which was a vertical programme and had limited local participation, the APOC has been integrated within the national health systems of the participating countries (Tsalikis, 1993).

Ivermectin is provided through a community directed treatment strategy, which is thought to empower the local populations, as they are making the key decisions. It is believed that community directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI) strengthens the health systems of the participating countries (ensuring high coverage) and it is being used as a platform for integrating other community-based interventions (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; Richards *et al.* 2001).

The APOC also utilizes a rapid field assessment process known as REMO (Rapid Epidemiological Mapping of Onchocerciasis) to define the high-risk areas (Ngoumou *et al.* 1994).

Benefits and achievements:

The APOC is also deemed to be a successful programme and the following are considered some of its key benefits and achievements to date (World Health Organization, no date; Basáñez *et al.* 2006; Richards *et al.* 2001)

• Approximately one million disability adjusted life years (DALYs) per year are saved.

- Other health interventions are co-implemented with CDTI (such as the distribution of bednets).
- The prevalence of troublesome itching related to onchocerciasis was reduced by 68% between 1995 and 2008 (8.9 million cases prevented).
- Prevents over 40,000 blindness cases every year.
- An estimated 7.5 million years of productive labour will have been added.

1.5.3. The Onchocerciasis Elimination Program for the Americas (OEPA)

Although onchocerciasis is most prevalent in Africa, it also occurs in 13 discrete foci across six countries of the Americas: Brazil, Colombia, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico and Venezuela (Sauerbrey, 2008). However, in many areas the annual transmission potentials (ATPs) are considerably lower than those observed in Africa (though this observation does not apply to all areas – see Basáñez *et al.* (2002)). It has been proposed that these lower ATP values are due to lower vector competence and vectorial capacity of the simuliid species prevailing in some foci (Basáñez *et al.* 2009).

Establishment of new foci via human migration does not occur often and the New World vectors do not fly large distances (Basáñez *et al.* 2000). Therefore, the foci are stable and are susceptible to a focused control programme (perhaps with the exception of the Amazonian focus straddling Venezuela and Brazil, where transmission patterns are complex, and afflicted populations are small and isolated in a remote yet vast region) (Grillet *et al.* 2008). In the remaining foci, it is anticipated that if the programmes are maintained in these targeted and relatively circumscribed areas for 10–15 years, the adult parasite population will not be able to replenish itself and will become locally eliminated. The mass ivermectin treatment programmes could then be halted without fear of recrudescence.

Noting this opportunity, in 1991 the directing council of the Pan American Health Organization (PAHO) made a resolution to eliminate onchocerciasis as a public health problem in the Americas by 2007 (Sauerbrey, 2008). This led to the creation of the Onchocerciasis Elimination Program for the Americas (OEPA) in 1992 (Sauerbrey, 2008). The elimination strategy is based on the biannual (twice a year) distribution of ivermectin, to all endemic communities (covering at least 85% of the eligible population). A biannual distribution strategy was used because several studies have indicated that, by decreasing the interval between ivermectin treatments, it is possible to keep Mf levels low enough to suppress parasite transmission (particularly in those areas where local vectors possess cibarial armatures – see section 1.2.1)) (Cupp *et al.* 1986; Cupp *et al.* 1989; Cupp *et al.* 1992).

Benefits and Achievements:

As of 2013, a total of 11 of the 13 endemic foci in the Americas have interrupted transmission and there has been no incident blindness cases associated with onchocerciasis reported (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2013). Furthermore, in July 2013, Colombia publicly announced it had become the first country in the Americas to become verified as having eliminated River Blindness (Carter Center, 2013).

1.6. Ivermectin (Mectizan®)

In 1982 researchers at Merck & Co discovered that a new antiparasitic agent that was used to treat gastrointestinal worms in veterinary medicine, was also effective against *O. volvulus* (Aziz *et al.* 1982). Clinical trials in Africa sponsored by Merck & Co and the WHO demonstrated that annual ivermectin treatment was safe (permitting MDA), prevented ocular and dermal morbidity, and significantly reduced transmission (Remme, 2004b). In 1987, Merck & Co took the unprecedented decision to donate ivermectin for as long as needed to eliminate onchocerciasis as a public health problem (Basáñez *et al.* 2006). The standard dose of ivermectin is 150-200 µg per kilogram of body weight (Gardon *et al.* 2002).

Ivermectin is a potent microfilaricide causing over a 90% reduction in skin Mf load within a few days, and a maximum reduction of 98-99% approximately two months after treatment (Basáñez *et al.* 2008). This delay in maximum effect can be explained by observations that ivermectin causes Mf to migrate from the sub-epidermal layer into deeper dermis layers, where they are killed by the hosts immune system (Knab *et al.* 1997; Wildenburg *et al.* 1994). A meta-analysis and mathematical modelling study performed by Basáñez *et al.* (2008) indicates that the placebo-corrected microfilaricidal efficacy of ivermectin is between 92–99%.

Ivermectin also has an embryostatic effect on adult female worms, temporally blocking the release of Mf (Alley *et al.* 1994; Plaisier *et al.* 1995). The estimated efficacy of this embryostatic effect is approximately 70%, with the maximum reduction reached one to two months after treatment (Basáñez *et al.* 2008). However, recuperation of adult worm fertility occurs slowly from three to four months after treatment onwards (Basáñez *et al.* 2008; Duke *et al.* 1991a).

When given in a single dose, ivermectin has shown no evidence of a macrofilaricidal effect (killing of adult worms) (Albiez et al. 1988; Schulz-Key et al. 1985). However, when administered at high frequencies (such as monthly intervals) ivermectin has a small (but statistically significant) macrofilaricidal effect (Duke et al. 1990). It has also been reported that when administered for prolonged periods (over many years) ivermectin may have an cumulative adverse effect on adult worm reproductive fitness / longevity (i.e. an antimacrofilarial action, not necessarily killing the worms but reducing their reproductive fitness / lifespan), perhaps inducing changes in intranodular sex ratios and decreasing insemination rates (Chavasse et al. 1993; Cupp et al. 2004; Cupp et al. 2011; Duke, 2005; Duke et al. 1991b; Plaisier et al. 1995; Tekle et al. 2012; Whitworth et al. 1996a). However, there is considerable uncertainty regarding the magnitude of this potential anti-macrofilarial action. The modelling analysis by Plaisier et al. (1995), suggested that annual ivermectin reduces adult worm fertility irreversibly by 30-35% with each treatment round i.e. ivermectin has a large cumulative impact on adult worms microfilarial production. However, the modelling analysis by Bottomley et al. (2008), did not find evidence for a strong cumulative effect on microfilarial production. Furthermore, a recent epidemiological evaluation in Cameroon by Pion et al. (2013) does not support the operation of a strong cumulative effect of repeated ivermectin treatments on the microfilarial productivity of female worms.

1.6.1. Mode of action

Ivermectin was originally believed to act primarily by opening gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) gated channels in invertebrate neurons / muscle cells, leading to hyperpolarisation of the cells and to an inhibitory paralysis (Campbell, 1985; Dourmishev *et al.* 2005). Though, later evidence indicates that the drug's primary effect is on glutamate-gated Cl-channels (GluCls), a previously unrecognised class of ligand-gated channels (Cully *et al.* 1994).

However, very little is known about how ivermectin inhibits reproduction in *O. volvulus* and whether this effect is mediated by opening of GABA-gated and GluCls channels or due to the drug being highly lipophilic (Prichard, 2007). It has been proposed that ivermectin's microfilaricidal effect is due to opening of a GluCl channel that is expressed in the secretory pore cells, leading to the suppression of the ability of the Mf to secrete proteins that enable evasion of the host immune system (based on work on *Brugia malayi*) (Moreno *et al.* 2010).

1.6.2. Adverse reactions and severe adverse effects

A standard dose of ivermectin treatment in humans is generally well tolerated. This is in marked contrast with the two previously available drugs for the treatment of onchocerciasis, diethylcarbamazine and suramin, which were frequently associated with severe side effects (Taylor *et al.* 1989). Chijioke and Okonkwo, (1989) found that 97% of the reported adverse events associated with ivermectin were mild and did not stop the patient from attending work. Common side effects include oedema, headache and a worsening of rash (Chijioke and Okonkwo, 1989). The incidence of adverse effects has been found to be directly related to skin microfilarial load and was highest in the foci with the highest endemicity levels (De Sole *et al.* 1989).

In addition, several cases of severe adverse events (SAEs) such as encephalitis, neurologic disorders, coma and death post-ivermectin treatment have been reported in some patients infected with heavy burdens of *Loa loa* (Boussinesq *et al.* 2003; Boussinesq *et al.* 1998), another filarial nematode prevalent in forested areas of central Africa. Currently it is recommended that in areas where the *L.loa* microfilarial prevalence is above a threshold of 20% there is an unacceptable risk of SAEs and ivermectin is not distributed (Boussinesq *et al.* 2001).

1.6.3 Sub-optimal responses to ivermectin treatment

In Ghana, studies have reported sub-optimal responses to ivermectin treatment, where individual hosts were found to harbour a higher than expected Mf load after several rounds of ivermectin treatment (in comparison with other individuals treated the same number of times who were deemed to be good responders) (Awadzi *et al.* 2004a; Awadzi *et al.* 2004b). These studies by Awadzi and colleagues controlled for a number of factors including age, weight,

general health and the timing / number of treatments but were conducted on a relatively small number of individuals in a clinical setting.

Subsequently, Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* (2007) conducted a more extensive epidemiological study, covering a number of regions in Ghana, and taking samples at various time points (before and after treatment). The results indicate that the observed higher levels of skin Mf, were not due to the loss of ivermectin's microfilaricidal efficacy, but more likely due to the adult female worms resuming reproductive activity earlier than expected in individuals responding well to treatment. Further investigation of these areas has revealed that there were very few young worms in the poor responding communities, indicating that the results were not due to reinfection (Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2011). This suggests that the adult worms could be becoming resistant to the embryostatic effect of ivermectin.

This reduction in ivermectin's effectiveness could be happening in other areas of West Africa, but there is a lack of data from other countries in the region (Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2007). There have also been reports of sub-optimal responses to ivermectin in Sudan although reduced immune responsiveness in some of the cases has been suggested as a possible explanation (Ali *et al.* 2002).

1.7. Alternative Drugs

1.7.1. Anti-Wolbachia therapies

A recent approach for treating onchocerciasis targets the *Wolbachia* endosymbionts of *O. volvulus*, which are vital for development of incoming L3 larvae to adult stages, adult worm fertility, and parasite survival. *Wolbachia* are maternally inherited alpha proteobacteria and have been found in numerous arthropod species and filarial nematodes (including *O. volvulus and Wuchereria bancrofti*). *Wolbachia* bacteria have been shown to be susceptible to tetracycline and rifampicin antibiotics (Fenollar *et al.* 2003). Thus far human trials have focused on the use of doxycycline and have found that a 6-week course results in the long-term depletion of *Wolbachia*, leading to long-lasting inhibition of embryogenesis and sustained reductions in Mf (Hoerauf *et al.* 2001; Hoerauf *et al.* 2003; Hoerauf *et al.* 2008). Doxycycline also retards the development of *O. volvulus* larvae (L1-L3) as Mf depleted of *Wolbachia* develop poorly (Wanji *et al.* 2009).

An important advantage of anti-*Wolbachia* therapies is that they can be given safely to people co-infected with *L. loa*, as this parasite does not have the bacteria and is therefore unaffected by this treatment (Wanji *et al.* 2009). Doxycycline cannot be given to pregnant women (or those who are breastfeeding) and children under 9 years of age (Wanji *et al.* 2009).

A trial by Wanji *et al.* (2009) indicates that a distribution strategy that uses community health implementers and directly observed treatment can be a successful way of distributing doxycycline with high compliance. This suggests that administration of doxycycline could be a successful strategy in several situations, such as the control of onchocerciasis in areas of co-endemicity with loiasis, areas where ivermectin resistance may be suspected / sub-optimal responses have been reported, and to mop-up activities in areas close to elimination (Taylor *et al.* 2009). However, given the prolonged duration of treatment (daily for 6 weeks), this is reliant on coverage and compliance staying at high levels and a shorter treatment course may be required before this strategy is adopted by control programmes at a large scale.

1.7.2. Moxidectin

Moxidectin is a macrocyclic lactone and a highly efficacious microfilaricide (Cotreau *et al.* 2003). Like ivermectin it has been used as an ingredient in deworming agents used in veterinary medicine (Etya'ale, 2001).

A WHO based project called MACROFIL which has been established to develop a macrofilaricidal drug to treat onchocerciasis, had identified moxidectin as a potential candidate (Etya'ale, 2001). On July 1, 2009, WHO announced a phase III trial designed to compare the efficacy of moxidectin relative to that of ivermectin. However, it is important to note that moxidectin is not currently licenced for humans.

1.7.3. Flubendazole

Flubendazole is a potent and efficacious anthelmintic for gastrointestinal nematode infections in domestic animals. In a number of experimental filarial rodent models prolonged administration of flubendazole was found to have essentially a 100% efficacy as a

macrofilaricide (Mackenzie & Geary, 2011). A trial for human onchocerciasis was carried out in Mexico in the 1980's (Dominguez-Vazquez *et al.* 1983) which had promising results. However, wider testing in humans was restricted, due to problems associated with the route of administration (via intramuscular injection) (Mackenzie & Geary, 2011). Currently efforts are under way to reformulate flubendazole so that it can be administered orally to provide a long half-life, required for anti-filarial activity.

1.8. Cost of the Programmes

The financial cost of the OCP (from 1975–2002) was approximately US\$570 million (provided by donors) (Remme *et al.* 2006). APOC (from 1995–2015) has been projected to cost US\$478 million – excluding economic costs (such as the donated ivermectin tablets) (Coffeng *et al.* 2013). The costs of the further extension to 2025 have not been estimated. OEPA cost US\$10 million between 1991-2003 (Remme *et al.* 2006), and it has been supported by The Carter Center.

A cost-benefit analysis has estimated the net present value (NPV– see glossary) for the OCP over a 39 year project horizon (1974 to 2012), to range from US\$3.7 billion to US\$485 million depending on the discount rate assumed (values shown are for 3% and 10%, respectively) (Kim & Benton, 1995). These values correspond to an internal rate of return (IRR– see glossary) of approximately 20%, which is due mainly to increased labour productivity and increased land use (a IRR above 10% is considered by the World Bank as the standard for successful public health programme) (Kim & Benton, 1995). This value is consistent with other cost-benefit analysis of the OCP such as Benton & Skinner (1990) who estimated a minimum IRR of 11-13% and Haddix (1997) who estimated an IRR of 24%. A similar cost-benefit analysis was performed for APOC by the World Bank, which found that the programme IRR (for 1996 through 2017) was 17% (Benton, 1998). These studies are summarized in more detail in Waters *et al.* (2004).

However, many of the cost-benefit analyses for onchocerciasis control do not account for the benefit attributable to the reduction in onchocercal associated skin disease and consequently may notably underestimate the control programmes benefits.

It is noteworthy that a recent modelling study by Coffeng *et al.* (2013) has estimated that APOC costs US\$27 per DALY averted, and is therefore considered highly cost-effective. However, there are very few other analyses systematically evaluating the cost-effectiveness of onchocerciasis control.

1.9. Prospects of Onchocerciasis Elimination in Africa

Recent epidemiological and entomological evaluations conducted in Mali and Senegal suggest that 15-17 years of annual (or biannual) ivermectin distribution (in the absence of vector control) may be sufficient to lead to local onchocerciasis elimination in certain foci (Diawara et al. 2009; Traore et al. 2012). In addition, local elimination may also have been achieved with 15–17 years of annual ivermectin distribution in 26 villages in Kaduna state, Nigeria (the first report of such evidence for the APOC operational area) (Tekle *et al.* 2012). These studies have provided proof of principle that elimination with annual ivermectin distribution may be feasible in some African foci. In 2009, an international expert group convened to discuss the implications of these results (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010). Based on experiences with cessation of onchocerciasis control in West Africa, and ONCHOSIM projections, the group developed an operational framework for elimination and provisionally defined operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by surveillance (OTTIS), namely, a microfilarial prevalence below 5% in all surveyed villages (and below 1% in 90% of the villages), and a proportion of local simuliid vectors harbouring < 0.5 L3 larvae per 1,000 flies (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010).

Spurred by the documented success in the Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal foci (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012), there has recently been a shift in onchocerciasis control policy in Africa, with the aim changing from morbidity control to elimination of infection. For instance the APOC has a new goal of elimination of onchocerciasis where possible by 2025 (World Bank, 2012), and the London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases (LDNTD), on 31 January 2012, joined the World Health Organization's (WHO) 2020 Roadmap on NTDs (London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2013) and set goals for elimination of onchocerciasis in selected countries of Africa by 2020 (World Health

Organization, 2013). The feasibility of reaching these goals, is supported by the results of ONCHOSIM, a microsimulation model for onchocerciasis transmission, which have indicated that elimination of onchocerciasis from most endemic foci in Africa is possible with annual ivermectin distribution at a high coverage (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control 2010) – the transmission models and their projections are discussed in more detail in Chapter 2.

However, based on Plaisier *et al.* (1995), the ONCHOSIM model projections have assumed that ivermectin has a large cumulative impact on female adult worm fertility (a large anti-macrofilarial action). However, as discussed in section 1.6, this may not be the case (Bottomley *et al.* 2008; Pion *et al.* 2013). Furthermore, the foci where elimination has been reported had a low pre-control endemicity and strongly seasonal transmission. Consequently, the conclusions regarding the feasibility of elimination with annual ivermectin distribution alone cannot necessarily be generalised to other areas (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012). Additionally, a review assessing the impact of repeated ivermectin MDA in the former OCP area indicated that long term annual ivermectin treatment is unlikely, on its own, to lead to the elimination of transmission of onchocerciasis from West Africa (Borsboom *et al.* 2003); though it would likely lead to the elimination (or near elimination) of its public health burden.

1.10. Rationale

Although onchocerciasis elimination has been reported in some African foci (with a low precontrol endemicity) the feasibility of the current elimination goals, with annual ivermectin distribution alone remains uncertain. Recently, increasing the treatment frequency to twice a year in some African foci has come under consideration. This has been shown in Latin America to have the potential to interrupt transmission (Gonzalez *et al.* 2009; Rodriguez-Perez *et al.* 2010). However, it is unknown in what ecological and programmatic circumstances this strategy may be advisable in Africa. It should be noted that a biannual ivermectin distribution strategy was used in one of the three Mali and Senegal foci investigated by Diawara *et al.* (2009) (described in section 1.9), and was reported to show no clear advantage over annual treatment; as it took a similar number of years to reach
elimination as the other two foci using annual treatment (Diawara *et al.* 2009). However, it was acknowledged that the study design did not determine exactly when the "elimination threshold" was reached, and it is possible that it was achieved several years earlier in the foci that used biannual treatment (Diawara *et al.* 2009). Furthermore the pre-control endemicity level in the foci that used biannual treatment (River Gambia) was notably higher than the other two foci which treated annually (River Bakoye and River Faleme); (only 3 of the 39 (8%) villages in the foci treated annually were hyperendemic compared to 9 of 22 (40%) of the villages in the foci treated biannually (De Sole *et al.* 1993; De Sole *et al.* 1991; Diawara *et al.* 2009) (when defining hyperendemic as in Table 1.1). Therefore these foci are not directly comparable, making it difficult to make accurate conclusions regarding the benefit of biannual treatment. In this regard, mathematical models of the dynamics onchocerciasis transmission can be a useful tool to investigate the potential benefit of a biannual treatment strategy.

1.11. Research Aims and Thesis Structure

The central aim of this thesis is to further develop a sex- and age-structured deterministic onchocerciasis transmission model (EpiOncho) (Churcher & Basanez, 2009; Filipe *et al.* 2005), to evaluate the impact of biannual versus annual ivermectin distribution in a range of endemic, economic and programmatic scenarios typical of savannah onchocerciasis foci in Africa. The specific aims and principal findings of the analyses are summarised before each chapter and so only a brief synopsis is given here.

In Chapter 2, EpiOncho is described, and further developed to incorporate treatment compliance and account for the potential cumulative effect of ivermectin on adult worm fertility (section 1.6). The implications of the assumption that ivermectin has a large anti-macrofilarial action, as assumed in the current elimination projections using ONCHOSIM was explored.

In Chapter 3, a mathematical model of the dynamics of onchocercal disease was developed, by linking ocular and skin morbidity, as well as excess mortality to infection output from EpiOncho. This was used to investigate the impact of long term ivermectin control on disease and infection in different ecological and programmatic scenarios.

In Chapter 4, a study was conducted in Ghana to assess the economic cost of biannual relative to annual ivermectin distribution.

In Chapter 5, the health impact, programmatic cost, and projected duration of biannual vs. annual ivermectin treatment were evaluated in a range of endemic, economic and programmatic scenarios typical of savannah onchocerciasis foci in Africa.

In the concluding chapter (Chapter 6) the wider implications of the work are considered with particular reference to the potential policy implications. Future applications of the model are also discussed. In order to facilitate reading, the various chapters focus on the general methods and discussion of the results, leaving the mathematical detail to the corresponding supplementary materials located at the end of the relevant chapters.

Chapter 2: Uncertainty Surrounding Current the Onchocerciasis Elimination Projections

2.1. Summary

Recently, and spurred by the documented success in several foci (in Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal) there has been a shift in onchocerciasis control policy in Africa, with the aim of programmes changing from morbidity control to elimination of infection. The feasibility of achieving these goals is supported by the projections of ONCHOSIM (a microsimulation model for onchocerciasis transmission). However, these model projections are assuming that ivermecitn has a strong cumulative impact on microfilarial production (i.e. a large antimacrofilarial action), which several studies have indicated may not be the case. In this Chapter, a deterministic onchocerciasis transmission model (EpiOncho) was modified to explore how assumptions regarding: a) treatment effects on microfilarial production by female worms (fertility), and b) treatment coverage and compliance, effect the long term impact of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment on microfilarial load and prevalence in a highly endemic African savannah setting. It was found that if ivermeetin does not have a large anti-macrofilarial action, elimination of onchocerciasis in highly endemic areas of Africa may not be feasible with annual ivermectin distribution alone. Furthermore assumptions regarding the proportion of systematic non-compliers (those who never taking treatment), were found to be just as influential as those for overall coverage when projecting the long-term impact of ivermectin distribution.

A modified version of this chapter has been is published: Turner, H.C., Churcher, T.S., Walker, M., Prichard, R.K., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y. and Basáñez, M-G. (2013) Uncertainty surrounding projections of the long term impact of ivermectin treatment on human onchocerciasis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7: e2169. (See Appendix A)

2.2. Introduction

Recent epidemiological and entomological evaluations conducted in Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal have shown that ivermectin distribution on its own may, in some foci, lead to local elimination of onchocerciasis (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012). These results have paved the way towards considering that it may be possible, in certain foci in Africa, to eliminate onchocerciasis using ivermectin.

2.2.1. ONCHOSIM projections

ONCHOSIM is a computer program for modelling the transmission and control of onchocerciasis which was developed in collaboration with the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP) and the Department of Public Health of the Erasmus University, Rotterdam. The model uses stochastic microsimulation to calculate the life events of individual persons and inhabitant parasites, and a deterministic simulation of the dynamics of the *Simulium* population and the development of the parasite in the flies (Plaisier *et al.* 1990). See Habbema *et al.* (1996) and Plaisier *et al.* (1990) for a more detailed description of the model. ONCHOSIM has been used to investigate the impact of different control strategies such as chemotherapy with ivermectin (with and without concomitant vector control) and has recently been used to predict the duration of annual ivermectin distribution required for elimination in Africa (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010; Plaisier *et al.* 1997; Winnen *et al.* 2002). The results indicated that elimination of onchocerciasis from most endemic foci in Africa is possible with a high coverage of annual ivermectin distribution (Table 2.1).

Pre-control	Number of years of annual treatment							
intensity (CMFL)	65% overall coverage					80% overall coverage		
	10 yrs	15 yrs	20 yrs	25 yrs	10 yrs	15 yrs	20 yrs	25 yrs
10 Mf per skin snip	95%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%	100%
30 Mf per skin snip	4%	89%	100%	100%	40%	100%	100%	100%
50 Mf per skin snip	0%	12%	82%	99%	0%	68%	100%	100%
70 Mf per skin snip	0%	0%	19%	75%	0%	11%	85%	99%

Table 2.1. ONCHOSIM's predicted probability of onchocerciasis elimination in relation to precontrol endemicity levels

CMFL: community microfilarial load, Mf: microfilariae. Table adapted from African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (2010).

In these modelling projections, the overall therapeutic treatment coverage was varied as part of the sensitivity analysis (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010), however, the potential influence of different levels of systematic non-compliers (the proportion of the eligible population who never take treatment) on the feasibility of elimination was not independently investigated. Furthermore, as mentioned in the previous chapter, a crucial conjecture of these projections was that adult female worms, after temporarily ceasing microfilarial production due to the embryostatic effect of ivermectin, gradually reach a new production level which is reduced irreversibly by an average of 30-35% after each treatment round (Plaisier *et al.* 1995), effectively assuming a strong cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production. This is equivalent to an increasing proportion of worms not contributing to transmission i.e. a strong anti-macrofilarial action (a cumulative adverse effect on adult worm reproductive fitness / longevity).



Figure 2.1. ONCHOSIM projections fitted to Asubende trial data under two different proposed effects of ivermectin on Onchocerca volvulus microfilarial production. The markers represent the trial data (Alley et al. 1994). The red line represents model projections assuming no cumulative impact on microfilarial productivity and the blue assuming a 35% cumulative reduction after each treatment. This figure was reproduced from Plaisier et al. (1995).

The data that informed the model in Plaisier *et al.* (1995) comprised longitudinal microfilarial load follow up, from 74 individuals who all received five annual ivermectin doses in a community trial in Asubende, Ghana (Alley *et al.* 1994). Figure 2.1. contrasts two model fits by Plaisier *et al.* (1995) to the five mean (geometric) annual microfilarial counts from Alley *et al.* (1994). The two hypotheses being tested to explain the observed trend are a null hypothesis of all ivermectin-exposed adult worms regaining their full microfilarial productivity vs. an alternative hypothesis of a 35% reduction in productivity with each treatment round. The authors of Plaisier *et al.* (1995) concluded that the model assuming the alternative hypothesis provided a better fit to the data. However, given that:

a) the microfilarial loads were measured per skin snip instead of per mg of skin; however, the weight of a skin snip sample can range between 0.5 and 3 mg (and lighter snips are more likely yield a false negative result),

b) microfilarial counts originated from snips incubated for only 30 minutes in distilled water (Prost & Prod'hon, 1978) (which is likely to underestimate the microfilarial load as microfilaridermia decreases),

there is the possibility of considerable measurement error (Walker *et al.* 2012). This is particularly important regarding the last two data points in the dataset (the most influential for discriminating between the two hypotheses – see Figure 2.1.). Furthermore for the last two years of the community trial in Asubende, the study area was receiving vector control in addition to ivermectin, potentially making it difficult to disentangle the effects of treatment from those of antivectorial measures. However the authors of Plaisier *et al.* (1995) indicate that the impact of vector control was taken into account in their model.

Another modelling study, using data from a community trial with five biannual treatment rounds in Guatemala (Collins *et al.* 1992), did not find evidence for a cumulative effect on microfilarial production (Bottomley *et al.* 2008). This study followed 510 individuals (7 times as many as Alley *et al.* (1994)), who took all five 6-monthly doses of ivermectin from 1988 to 1990 in the absence of vector control in Guatemala, with microfilarial loads measured per mg of skin after 24 hours incubation (Collins *et al.* 1992). In addition a recent epidemiological evaluation in Cameroon (Pion *et al.* 2013), found a similar distribution of microfilarial densities after ivermectin treatment from a group of communities that had been under ivermectin control for 13 years (with the number of ivermectin doses received ranging between 5 and 24), compared to a group of communities from an endemic area with no previous history of large-scale treatments. Observing similar response profiles in these two groups of communities after ivermectin treatment does not support the operation of a strong cumulative effect of repeated treatments on the microfilarial productivity of female worms.

Whether or not ivermectin has a strong cumulative effect on microfilarial production (a large anti-macrofilarial action) will have important implications for the optimal design of mass drug administration (MDA) programmes, and given the sparse data that exist, this issue

represents an area of considerable uncertainty which needs to be taken into account in modelling studies estimating the long-term impact of ivermectin treatment.

In this Chapter, a deterministic onchocerciasis transmission model (EpiOncho) (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999; Basáñez *et al.* 2008; Churcher & Basáñez, 2008; Filipe *et al.* 2005) is modified to explore the uncertainty in modelling projections of the long-term impact of ivermectin on *Onchocerca volvulus* populations due to assumptions concerning: a) strong cumulative impact on microfilarial production (i.e. a large anti-macrofilarial action), and b) treatment coverage and compliance. How these affect the benefit of annual vs. biannual treatment frequency was also explored.

2.3. Method

2.3.1. EpiOncho

EpiOncho is a sex- and age-structured deterministic onchocerciasis transmission model (Churcher & Basanez, 2009; Filipe *et al.* 2005), which describes the rate of change with respect to time and host age of the mean (arithmetic) number of fertile and non-fertile adult worms per host, the mean (arithmetic) number of microfilariae (Mf) per mg of skin (Mf/mg), and the mean (arithmetic) number of larvae per fly. The equations and model parameters are described in section 2.8 presented at the end of the chapter.

Human age- and sex-structure reflects the demography in savannah areas of northern Cameroon (Anderson *et al.* 1974; Filipe *et al.* 2005; Renz *et al.* 1987), as it is in savannah areas of Africa that the prevailing *O. volvulus– Simulium damnosum* combinations are responsible for the most severe sequelae of onchocerciasis (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; Bradley *et al.* 2005; Duke, 1990). Parameters for vector competence, survival, and host choice were those for savannah species of the *S. damnosum sensu lato* (s.l.) complex (*S. damnosum sensu stricto* (s. str.)/and *S. sirbanum*) (Basáñez *et al.* 2009; Filipe *et al.* 2005), responsible for onchocerciasis transmission in the region (Duke *et al.* 1975; Renz & Wenk, 1987).

The annual biting rate (ABR) by blackfly vectors was set to 37,300 bites per person per year (well within the range of values recorded in savannah areas (Duke *et al.* 1975; Renz & Wenk, 1987; Schulz-Key *et al.* 1985)), to achieve a baseline mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load of

36 Mf/mg across all ages in the population, (which corresponds to a mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load of 60 Mf/mg of skin in those aged 20 years and above). Note that the mean microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged ≥ 20 years here is an arithmetic mean, not a geometric mean of the number of Mf per skin snip in the same age group, known as the community microfilarial load (CMFL) (Remme *et al.* 1986). This resulted in an overall microfilarial prevalence (all ages) of 70%, representing an hyperendemic area (a microfilarial prevalence above 60% – see Table 1.1). (The parameterisation of the relationship between microfilarial prevalence and microfilarial load is described in section 2.8.4.) Understanding the long-term impact of ivermectin in hyperendemic areas is particularly important, as they will be the ones in which controlling the disease has the highest priority (morbidity will be more severe), elimination of the infection reservoir is likely to be more difficult and take longer (Winnen *et al.* 2002), and from which the infection could reinvade controlled areas.

2.3.2. Ivermectin effects

The model has previously been modified to incorporate the temporal dynamics of the microfilaricidal and embryostatic effects of a single ivermectin treatment (Basáñez *et al.* 2008; Churcher & Basáñez, 2008). This was further extended to allow ivermectin to have a cumulative adverse effect on microfilarial production (i.e. anti-macrofilarial action), as in ONCHOSIM. (The equations modelling this effect are described in section 2.8.2).

After each dose of ivermectin there is a microfilaricidal effect with 99% efficacy, and a reduction in microfilarial production (embryostatic effect) by fertile female worms (Basáñez *et al.* 2008). The ivermectin-exposed adult worms were then assumed either to: a) reach a new microfilarial production rate which is reduced by 30% ten months after each treatment round (representing a cumulative effect, depicted in Figure 2.2A), or b) resume microfilarial production, which ten months after each treatment would reach 70% of its baseline value i.e. is also reduced by 30 % from baseline, but the reduction is not additive (representing a non-cumulative effect, as concluded in (Bottomley *et al.* 2008), and illustrated in Figure 2.2B).

For the sake of comparison, this chapter compared ivermectin having a strong cumulative impact on microfilarial production (i.e. a large anti-macrofilarial action), as assumed in ONCHOSIM (Winnen *et al.* 2002)) verses having no cumulative effect (Bottomley *et al.* 2008). However, other possible scenarios such as a smaller more gradual adverse effect on

adult worms (potentially due to possible effects on intranodular sex ratios or a reduction in the longevity adult worms – see section 1.6) was not considered. This is addressed in the next



chapter.

Figure 2.2. Schematic representation of two different proposed effects of ivermectin on Onchocerca volvulus microfilarial production. The schematic represents a closed population of adult worms (i.e., no incoming worms due to transmission or worm death). A: Ivermectin is assumed to have a large cumulative effect on adult worm fertility by which the microfilarial production of ivermectin-exposed adult worms is reduced by 30% after each treatment round (red solid line). B: Ivermectin is assumed not to have a cumulative effect; ivermectin-exposed adult worms resume microfilarial production to 70% of its baseline value ten months after each treatment (Basáñez et al. 2008) (blue solid line).

Although the cumulative reduction proposed in Plaisier *et al.* (1995) was estimated from data corresponding to annual ivermectin distribution (Alley *et al.* 1994), it was assumed that in the case of biannual treatments, each 6-monthly treatment causes the same proportional reduction. An analysis of the sensitivity of model outputs to this assumption was conducted following Winnen *et al.* (2002). Ivermectin was assumed to have intact efficacy, i.e. no sub-optimal response (Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2007).

2.3.3. Treatment coverage, compliance, and frequency

The model was further stratified into four treatment compliance classes (section 2.8.1): a first group who takes treatment every round; two groups who take treatment every other round alternately, and a fourth group who never takes treatment. The latter class represents individuals in the community who are systematic non-compliers, as opposed to a situation in which a proportion of individuals sometimes miss some treatment rounds (e.g. because they are absent or pregnant at the time of treatment). The proportion of systematic non-compliers was set at 0.1%, 2%, and 5% to investigate its effect on model outputs. These values were chosen to explore potential variability in this parameter. A recent ivermectin compliance study reported that 6% had never taken the drug over the course of eight consecutive treatment rounds (Brieger *et al.* 2011) (but the proportion of those never taking treatment may decrease over time). The four compliance groups were assumed not to differ in exposure to vectors (which depends on age and sex according to Filipe *et al.* (2005)). Children under five years were not treated in the model as they are not eligible to receive ivermectin.

2.3.4. Examined outputs and sensitivity analysis

The model was used to explore the effect of 15 years of (annual or biannual) mass ivermectin distribution on: a) microfilarial intensity (defined as mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged ≥ 20 years), and b) prevalence of microfilaridermia in the overall population. 15 years was chosen as a suitable timescale to investigate the impact of long-term of ivermectin, motivated by the epidemiological studies in Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012).

The sensitivity of the above model outputs was explored with regards to the following assumptions: a) strong cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production (present vs. absent); b) overall therapeutic coverage (proportion of the total population receiving ivermectin at each round: 60%, 70%, 80%); c) proportion of systematic non-compliers (proportion of the eligible population who never take treatment): 0.1%, 2%, 5%); and d) treatment frequency (annual vs. biannual). In order to explore the extent to which the results were sensitive to the assumption that each biannual treatment caused the same proportional reduction on microfilarial production as an annual treatment (30% per dose), the analysis was repeated with a more conservative reduction of 16.5% per 6-monthly treatment (which gives an overall annual reduction of 30%).

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Cumulative vs. non-cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production

Model outputs indicate that the assumption of a strong cumulative impact of ivermectin on microfilarial production (i.e. a large anti-macrofilarial action) has a substantial effect on projections of long-term ivermectin treatment (Figure 2.3). Regarding microfilarial intensity (in adults aged 20 years and older), there would be a very pronounced decrease partly due to little repopulation of the skin by Mf, and partly due to the ensuing suppressed transmission. This is because, under this conjecture, the model assumes that the fertility of ivermectin-exposed adult worms would progressively be reduced to a very low level. By contrast, under the assumption of ivermectin not exerting a strong cumulative effect on microfilarial production, there is a substantial amount of repopulation of the skin by Mf in between annual treatments, leading to more transmission and a smaller overall impact on microfilarial intensity.



Figure 2.3. Impact on microfilarial intensity of annual ivermectin distribution under two assumptions of ivermectin effects. The red and blue solid lines represent, respectively, model outputs assuming the operation of a strong cumulative impact on the fertility of O. volvulus (illustrated in Figure 2.2A), or the absence of such an effect (Figure. 2.2B). Results shown assume a pre-control microfilarial prevalence of 70% (all ages), a therapeutic coverage of 80%, and 0.1% of systematic non-compliance. Microfilarial intensity is quantified as the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years.

2.4.2. Annual vs. biannual treatment frequency

Assumptions regarding the operation or absence of a strong cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production can also influence the expected relative benefits of annual vs. biannual treatment frequency regarding reductions in microfilarial intensity, prevalence, and transmission. In the presence of a cumulative reduction with each treatment round, there is initially a very marked benefit of the biannual distribution on the reduction of parasitological indicators (as the fertility rate is rapidly reduced). However, after repeated treatments, there would be much less difference in the long-term impact of ivermectin treatment on microfilarial prevalence compared to an annual treatment strategy (Figure 2.4A). In the absence of a cumulative effect, biannual treatments are more beneficial both in the short and long terms in reducing microfilarial prevalence than annual treatments (Figure 2.4B). With the more conservative 16.5% reduction in female fertility per 6-monthly treatment, the initial benefit of microfilarial prevalence reduction is less pronounced than in the previous scenario, but again, there is little difference in the long-term impact of biannual compared to annual ivermectin treatments (Figure 2.5).



Figure 2.4. Impact on microfilarial prevalence of annual/biannual ivermectin distribution under two assumptions of ivermectin effects. Solid and dashed lines represent, respectively, annual and biannual treatment frequency. **A:** Red lines correspond to model outputs assuming that ivermectin exerts a large cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by the adult female worm. **B**: Blue lines correspond to model outputs assumptions. Assumptions are as in Figure 2.3.



Figure 2.5. A comparison of the long-term impact of annual and biannual treatment strategies on microfilarial prevalence. Solid and dashed lines denote, respectively, annual and biannual treatment frequency. Results assume that ivermectin exerts a large cumulative reduction in fertility, with a more pessimistic 16.5% reduction in the rate of microfilarial production per treatment when frequency is biannual. Assumptions are as in Figure 2.3.

2.4.3. Therapeutic coverage and compliance patterns

Varying the therapeutic coverage in the overall population, and the proportion of systematic non-compliers had a large influence on the microfilarial intensity achieved at the end of the 15th year of ivermectin distribution. An increased overall coverage, or a decreased proportion of systematic non-compliers lead to lower microfilarial loads 12 months after the 15th year of intervention (Figure 2.6). Under annual treatment, overall coverage had a larger effect on projected microfilarial intensity (Figure 2.6A) and microfilarial prevalence (Figure 2.7A) than under biannual treatment (Figures 2.6B and 2.7B). (Because of the nonlinear relationship between microfilarial prevalence and intensity, the proportional reductions in prevalence are smaller.) For instance, under the assumption of a strong cumulative effect of ivermectin, and for a 5% proportion of non-compliers, increasing therapeutic coverage from 60% to 80% decreased microfilarial load by ~55% for annual frequency compared to 20% for biannual frequency. The corresponding values when no cumulative effect was assumed were \sim 34% and \sim 30%. By contrast, the assumed proportion of systematic non-compliers had a more pronounced effect on the impact of biannual treatment. Under the assumption of a strong cumulative effect of ivermectin, and for a 70% therapeutic coverage, decreasing systematic non-compliance from 5% to 0.1% decreased microfilarial load by ~54% for annual frequency and by ~97% for biannual frequency. The corresponding values when no cumulative effect was assumed were $\sim 20\%$ and $\sim 53\%$.



Figure 2.6. The effect of coverage and compliance on microfilarial intensity after 15 years of ivermectin treatment. Panels A and B correspond respectively, to one year after the 15^{th} treatment (for annual frequency), and one year after the 30^{th} treatment (for biannual frequency). Red and blue bars represent, respectively, a cumulative and a non-cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production by the female worm. Dotted bars: 0.1% systematic non-compliance; dashed bars: 2% systematic non-compliance; solid bars: 5% systematic non-compliance. Assumptions are as in Figure 2.3. Microfilarial intensity is quantified as the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged ≥ 20 years.



Figure 2.7. The effect of coverage and compliance on microfilarial prevalence after 15 years of ivermectin treatment. Panels **A** and **B** correspond respectively, to one year after the 15th treatment (for annual frequency), and one year after the 30th treatment (for biannual frequency). Red and blue bars represent, respectively, a cumulative and a non-cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production by the female worm. Dotted bars: 0.1% systematic non-compliance; dashed bars: 2% systematic non-compliance; solid bars: 5% systematic non-compliance. Assumptions are as in Figure 2.3.

2.5. Discussion

2.5.1. Cumulative vs. non-cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production

Mathematical models can play a fundamental role in informing control programmes, but crucially, policy makers must realise that model outputs are highly dependent on implicit and explicit model assumptions (Basáñez *et al.* 2012). Among the latter, is the effect long term ivermectin has on *O.volvulus* adult worms, which represents an area of considerable uncertainty where further research is urgently needed. These results illustrate that the question of whether or not ivermectin effects on female microfilarial production are strongly cumulative i.e. ivermectin has a large anti-macrofilarial action, is highly influential on the projections of the long-term effect of annual or biannual MDA with ivermectin, particularly in areas with high baseline onchocerciasis endemicity. An appropriate and updated incorporation of any action on adult worms into models, will be essential to reliably inform control policy, and fully assess ivermectin efficacy (Chavasse *et al.* 1993; Cupp *et al.* 2002; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Whitworth *et al.* 1996a).

ONCHOSIM's projections indicate that with a high coverage of annual ivermectin distribution, elimination of onchocerciasis from most endemic foci in Africa is possible (Table 2.1). However, ONCHOSIM's simulations assume that ivermectin has a strong cumulative effect on microfilarial production (i.e. a large anti-macrofilarial action), and the results presented in this chapter suggest that, in the absence of such an effect, ivermectin would have a less pronounced long-term impact in areas with a high pre-control endemicity. This indicates that if ivermectin does not have a large anti-macrofilarial action, a longer duration of ivermectin distribution than previously estimated may be required, especially in areas with a high initial infection intensity and perennial transmission.

These results are compatible with those of other modelling studies (Duerr *et al.* 2011), which indicate that the higher the transmission intensity, the higher the necessary effectiveness of treatment (a net measure comprising coverage, number of treatment rounds per year and drug efficacy) to reach elimination. However, the results of this chapter also emphasizes how

different modelling assumptions can have profound effects on model outcomes and conclusions (a more extensive summary of the main structural assumptions of different onchocerciasis models is presented in Basáñez & Ricardez-Esquinca (2001)). This further highlights the need, discussed in Basáñez *et al.* (2012) for helminth modellers to investigate key questions regarding helminth control more collaboratively, exploring the reasons for any disparity between the results of different models using the best available data.

2.5.2. Annual vs. biannual treatment frequency

Biannual ivermectin treatment was found to have a large additional benefit in both reducing microfilarial prevalence and intensity compared to annual treatment when no cumulative reduction on microfilarial production was assumed. When such a cumulative effect was assumed, the model indicated that there would be an initial substantial benefit (as worm fertility is reduced quickly) of the biannual strategy, but that there would be relatively little difference in Mf prevalence at the end of the 15th year compared to annual treatment (Figure 2.4A). A possible reason for the pronounced difference between the two treatment frequencies, if ivermectin does not decrease worm fertility cumulatively, is that there would be substantially more transmission between annual than between 6-monthly treatments (distributing the drug every 6 months does not allow the adult worms to regain their fertility to a substantial level). Understanding ivermectin's effect on the reproduction and survival of adult worms has important policy implications regarding switching to a biannual (or more frequent) treatment strategy in Africa.

2.5.3. Therapeutic coverage

Varying therapeutic coverage (for fixed non-compliance) had less effect on the impact achieved with a biannual treatment frequency than it had for annual distribution. This can be explained as the model accounts for the fact that if someone misses a treatment round, there is another chance to get treated during that year, ensuring that at least one annual treatment is received. With an annual frequency, a missed treatment would result in a gap of at least two years between treatments, allowing microfilaridermia levels to build-up and contribute to transmission in the between-treatments period. This has implications regarding policy decisions in areas that have been found to have low coverage in the past, and highlights the potential benefit of switching to a biannual treatment strategy.

2.5.4. Compliance patterns

Assumptions regarding the proportion of systematic non-compliers were found to be just as influential as those for overall coverage when projecting the long-term impact of ivermectin distribution. The proportion of systematic non-compliance (for a fixed level of therapeutic coverage) was also found to have a marked influence on the impact achieved by a biannual treatment strategy, particularly when assuming a strong cumulative effect of ivermectin; the higher the non-compliance, the smaller the benefit of biannual treatment. This indicates that the effect of systematic non-compliance may not simply be overcome by increasing treatment frequency and has implications when considering switching to a biannual treatment strategy, as two areas with the same overall coverage but different proportion of systematic non-compliers may lead to very different results regarding the feasibility of elimination (Boyd *et al.* 2010).

As control programmes move towards elimination goals, the proportion of systematic noncompliers in the population becomes increasingly important. Studies of coverage and compliance for lymphatic filariasis treatment have indicated that, in addition to heterogeneity in transmission and vector density, and missed rounds of MDA, continuing transmission seems to be linked to rates of systematic non-compliance (Boyd *et al.* 2010). Therefore, when evaluating the progress of elimination programmes, the proportion of, and factors contributing to, systematic non-compliance should be investigated in addition to those determining overall coverage (Brieger *et al.* 2012; Brieger *et al.* 2011), as an assessment of the latter on its own may mask reasons behind transmission persistence.

Modelling studies should also routinely vary the proportion of systematic non-compliers in addition to levels of treatment coverage as part of their sensitivity analysis to help understand the impact of prolonged treatment in populations. Although there are some data indicating that treatment compliance may depend on host age and sex, Brieger *et al.* (2012) found that older members of the community were more likely to take ivermectin than younger sections of the population, and men were more likely to comply than women in a Cameroon, Nigeria and Uganda multi-centre study. Further investigation regarding patterns of systematic non-compliance (i.e. the characteristics of individuals who never take the drug) will be essential to parameterise such modelling studies.

2.6. Conclusions

There is substantially more uncertainty surrounding model-derived projections of the longterm impact of and the feasibility of onchocerciasis elimination with ivermectin distribution than previously recognised. When assuming that ivermectin does not have a strong cumulative effect on microfilarial production (Bottomley *et al.* 2008; Pion *et al.* 2013), i.e. not a large anti-macrofilarial action, these results indicate that it may not be feasible to eliminate onchocerciasis in areas with high pre-control endemicity with annual ivermectin alone. This highlights the need for the further consideration and economic evaluations of alternative treatment strategies, such as biannual treatment. Furthermore, these projections indicate that the proportion of systematic non-compliers in the population will be a key determinant of the success of the control programmes and emphasises the need for this to be recognised when evaluating the progress of the programmes and included in modelling studies.

2.7. Limitations

EpiOncho is a deterministic model and does not account for the influence of random events. Therefore it cannot be used to formally investigate the probability of reaching elimination, which requires a more complicated stochastic model.

The model's parameters for vector competence, survival, and host choice were those for savannah species of the *S. damnosum* s.l. complex (*S. damnosum* s. str and *S. sirbanum*) (Basáñez *et al.* 2009; Filipe *et al.* 2005). The influences of the potential uncertainties surrounding the key biological parameters (such as the combinations of vectors and life-expectancy of the adult worms) on the impact of control require further investigation. Furthermore the host population structure is only parameterized for one area (Filipe *et al.* 2005).

Moreover, the presented results assume that transmission is perennial i.e. occurs all year. Further investigation of the influence that different seasonal patterns of transmission and the relative timing of drug distribution have on the overall impact of long term is needed.

2.8. Supporting Information for Chapter 2

2.8.1. Onchocerciasis population dynamics model

The system of partial differential equations is based on a host age- and sex-structured onchocerciasis dynamics model presented by Filipe et al. (2005), and modified to incorporate the effects of repeated ivermectin treatment and treatment compliance. These equations describe, respectively, the rate of change with respect to time and host age of the numbers of non-fertile, N, and fertile, F, adult female worms per host, of Mf per milligram of skin, M, and of infective (L3) larvae, L, per blackfly vector. The host population (and subsequently the parasite population) is partitioned into different treatment groups according to how regularly they receive ivermectin treatment (a group who takes treatment every round; two groups who take treatment every other round alternately, and a fourth group of systematic non-compliers who never takes treatment). These different compliance groups (are denoted with subscript d(their proportion in the population by η), host sex groups (males and females) with subscript s (their proportion in the population by q), τ is time since last treatment, and a is host age. Definitions and values of model parameters (for savanna O. volvulus-S. damnosum s. str. and S. sirbanum in northern Cameroon (Filipe et al. 2005)) are given in Table 2.2. Equations (omitting time and age dependencies on the left terms for simplicity, and assuming a balanced worm sex ratio) are as follows,

$$\frac{\partial N_{s,d}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial N_{s,d}}{\partial a} = \frac{1}{2} m \beta \Omega_s(a-p) \delta_H[L(t-p)]L(t-p) \exp(-\mu_H p) + [\lambda_0 + \lambda_1(\tau)]F_{s,d}(t,a) - (\varpi + \sigma_W)N_{s,d}(t,a) \quad (2.1)$$

$$\frac{\partial F_{s,d}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial F_{s,d}}{\partial a} = \varpi N_{s,d}(t,a) - [\lambda_0 + \lambda_1(\tau) + \sigma_W] F_{s,d}(t,a)$$
(2.2)

$$\frac{\partial M_{s,d}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial M_{s,d}}{\partial a} = \phi[W_{s,d}(t,a), k_W] \varepsilon_d \psi_d(t) F_{s,d}(t,a) - [\sigma_{M_0} + \sigma_{M_1}(\tau)] M_{s,d}(t,a)$$
(2.3)

$$\frac{\partial L_{s,d}}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial L_{s,d}}{\partial a} = \beta \Omega_s(a) \delta_{V_0} M_{s,d}(t,a) - \sigma_L[M_{s,d}(t,a)] L_{s,d}(t,a)$$
(2.4)

$$L(t) = \sum_{s} \sum_{d} q_{s} \eta_{d} \int_{a} \rho(a) \Omega_{s}(a) L_{s,d}(t,a) da$$
(2.5)

Microfilarial intensity:

In the main text, microfilarial intensity refers to the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load in those aged ≥ 20 years. This is calculated from Equation (2.3) by integrating over age (from a = 20 to $a = a_m$) and summing over sex *s* and compliance group *d*,

$$M(t)_{\geq 20} = \sum_{s} \sum_{d} q_{s} \eta_{d} \int_{a=20}^{a=a_{m}} \rho'(a) M_{s,d}(t,a) da , \qquad (2.6)$$

where $\rho'(a)$ is the probability density function of host age between 20 and $a_m = 80$ years,

$$\rho'(a) = \frac{\mu_H \exp(-\mu_H a)}{\left[\exp(-\mu_H 20) - \exp(\mu_H a_m)\right]},$$
(2.7)

and μ_{H} is the per capita death rate of humans.

2.8.2. Modelling the cumulative effect of ivermectin

At any time after the start of a simulated treatment programme, the worm population in compliance group *d* comprises worms previously exposed to different numbers of ivermectin treatments. This is because: a) worms continually infect hosts throughout the treatment programme, and b) hosts in different compliance groups receive different numbers of treatments at different times. If ivermectin is assumed to suppress cumulatively the fertility of female *O. volvulus*, then the average reduction in fertility of the worm population will critically depend on the fraction of worms exposed to different numbers of treatments. To this end, *n* was defined as the maximum number of previous exposures to ivermectin, and n + 1 sub-models were formulated to track worm populations acquired during discrete time intervals throughout the course of a simulated treatment programme. Note that *n* varies among compliance groups (for example, for systematic non-compliers n = 0), and that some worms, acquired after the final treatment, will be unexposed to ivermectin (j = 0). The possibility of unexposed worms gives rise to the n + 1 (as opposed to *n*) sub-models.

Consider a treatment programme starting at time τ' (that is, the first dose of ivermectin is administered at time $t = \tau'$). Worms exposed to all *n* treatments (j = n) are acquired at time $t < \tau'$. By redefining the rate of establishment of female adult worms from Equation (2.1) as,

$$\Lambda_s(t,a) = \frac{1}{2} m \beta \Omega_s(a-p) \delta_H[L(t-p)] L(t-p) \exp\left(-\mu_H p\right), \qquad (2.8)$$

the rate of establishment of adult worms exposed to all n treatments in compliance group d can be expressed as,

$$\Lambda_{s,d,j=n}(t,a) = \begin{cases} \Lambda_s(t,a) & \text{for } 0 < t < \tau' \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.9)

By contrast, unexposed worms (j = 0) are acquired after the last treatment which, if the *n* treatments were administered at frequency *f*, indicates that infection occurred at $t > \tau' + (n - 1)/f$. That is,

$$\Lambda_{s,d,j=0}(t,a) = \begin{cases} \Lambda_s(t,a) & \text{for } \tau' + (n-1)/f < t < \infty \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.10)

It follows that the rate of establishment of adult worms exposed to the intervening numbers of ivermectin treatments j = 1, 2, ..., n - 1 is given by,

$$\Lambda_{s,d,j=0}(t,a) = \begin{cases} \Lambda_s(t,a) & \text{for } \tau' + (n-1-j)/f < t < \tau' + (n-j)/f \\ 0 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

These conditions are used to define partial differential equations for the mean (arithmetic) number of female adult worms, $W_{s,d,j}(t,a)$, in each exposure group j = 0, 1, ..., n,

$$\frac{\partial W_{s,d,j}(t,a)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial W_{s,d,j}(t,a)}{\partial a} = \Lambda_{s,d,j}(t,a) - \sigma_W W_{s,d,j}(t,a).$$
(2.12)

Note that for the purposes of tracking adult worms exposed to different numbers of treatments, the fertility status (fertile/non-fertile) of female worms is not distinguished. Taking the expectation of $W_{s,d,j}(t,a)$ with respect to host age *a* and sex *s* yields,

$$W_{d,j}(t) = \sum_{s} q_s \int_{a} \rho(a) W_{s,d,j}(t,a) \, da \, , \qquad (2.13)$$

where $\rho(a)$, the probability density function of host age, a, is

$$\rho(a) = \frac{\mu_H \exp(-\mu_H a)}{1 - \exp(-\mu_H a_m)}.$$
(2.14)

Summing over exposure groups gives the mean number of worms per host in compliance group d,

$$W_d(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{j=n} W_{d,j}(t).$$
(2.15)

The fraction of the total female worm population in ivermectin exposure group *j*, denoted $u_{d,j}(t)$, is now trivially given by,

$$u_{d,j}(t) = \frac{W_{d,j}(t)}{W_d(t)}.$$
(2.16)

Each subsequent exposure to ivermectin (after the first exposure) was assumed to cause a 30% reduction in female worm fertility (see main text), such that the fertility of female worms exposed to *j* treatments, Ψ_j , is given by,

$$\Psi_{j} = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } j = 0\\ (1 - \zeta)^{j-1} & \text{for } j > 0 \end{cases}$$
(2.17)

with parameter $\zeta = 0.3$ (Table 2.3). Note that for j = 0 (and for j = 1), $\Psi_j = 1$ indicates that worms previously unexposed to ivermectin, or exposed to a single dose (j = 1) have, respectively, full fertility, or the potential to regain full fertility (Basáñez *et al.* 2008). Subsequent treatments may cause a cumulative reduction of female worm fertility in this scenario.

The average reduction in female worm fertility in compliance group d, $\Psi_d(t)$, is calculated using the fraction of the total worm population in each exposure group $u_{d,j}(t)$ (Equation (2.16)) and Ψ_j (Equation (2.17)),

$$\psi_d(t) = \sum_{j=0}^{j=n} \Psi_j u_{d,j}(t).$$
(2.18)

Definitions and values of parameters are given in Table 2.3.

2.8.3. Mating probability

It is assumed that the distribution of adult worms among hosts of the same compliance group is adequately described by a negative binomial distribution (NBD) with arithmetic mean (female) worm load, $W_{s,d}(t,a)$, and overdispersion parameter, k_W . Assuming polygamous mating (i.e., a single male can fertilise all females within a host) and a balanced worm sex ratio, the probability that a female worm is mated according to May, (1977) is,

$$\phi[W_{s,d}(t,a),k_W] = 1 - \left[1 + \frac{W_{s,d}(t,a)}{k_W}\right]^{-(k_W+1)}.$$
(2.19)

Note that the degree of overdispersion of the adult worm population (inversely measured by the value of k_W) is assumed to be unaffected by ivermectin treatment. Definitions and values of parameters are given in Table 2.4.

2.8.4. Microfilarial prevalence

Overall (all ages) microfilarial prevalence is derived by using a relationship between prevalence and microfilarial load at the community level in Cameroon (Figure 2.8). This relationship, previously described in Basáñez & Boussinesq, (1999), was refitted assuming an average (arithmetic mean) skin snip sample weight of 1.7 mg as opposed to the 2.84 mg used previously and based on Prost & Prod'hon, (1978). This lower weight was estimated using the mean skin snip weight from samples collected by Collins *et al.* (1992), and is in agreement with other studies (Emukah *et al.* 2004). The prevalence–intensity relationship assumes that the load of microfilaridermia per person is distributed according to a negative binomial distribution with an overdispersion parameter k_M . The best fit was obtained when k_M was allowed to be a function of mean (arithmetic) microfilaridermia load using a hyperbolic as opposed to the power functional form used in previous fits (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999). Assuming that the degree of microfilarial overdispersion does not depend on compliance group, $\pi_d(t)$ is given by,

$$\pi_d(t) = 1 - \left\{ 1 + \frac{M_d(t)}{k_M[M_d(t)]} \right\}^{-k_M[M_d(t)]}$$
(2.20)

where $M_d(t)$ is given by,

$$M_{d}(t) = \sum_{s} q_{s} \int_{a} \rho(a) M_{s,d}(t,a) da , \qquad (2.21)$$

and k_{M} is given by,

$$k_{M} \left[M_{d}(t) \right] = \frac{k_{0} M_{d}(t)}{1 + k_{1} M_{d}(t)}.$$
(2.22)

The overall population prevalence at time t was obtained by summing $\pi_d(t)$ across compliance groups,

$$\pi(t) = \sum_{d} \eta_d \, \pi_d(t) \,. \tag{2.23}$$

Definitions and values of parameters are given in Table 2.4.



Figure 2.8. Observed and fitted microfilarial prevalence as a function of mean microfilarial load. The data are from 25 north Cameroonian villages studied by Boussinesq, (1991) and presented in Basáñez & Boussinesq, (1999). It was assumed that on average there skin snip sample weighs 1.7 milligrams (as opposed to the 2.84mg quoted in Prost & Prod'hon, (1978)). Red markers correspond to the age- and sex-adjusted microfilarial prevalence in the communities (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999). The blue line is the function given in Equation (2.20) with maximum likelihood estimates $k_0 = 0.013$ and $k_1 = 0.024$ (Table 2.4).

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units	
	Pertaining to human host		
$N_{s,d}(t,a)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of non-fertile female adult worms per person at time (t) and age (a); subscript s denotes host sex and d denotes treatment compliance category	Equation (2.1)	
$F_{s,d}(t,a)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of fertile female adult worms per person at time (<i>t</i>) and age (<i>a</i>); subscripts <i>s</i> and <i>d</i> as above	Equation (2.2)	
$M_{s,d}(t,a)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of microfilariae per milligram of skin at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (2.3)	
$\delta_{H}[L(t)]$	Proportion of L3 larvae developing to adult worms within the human host as a function of the number of infective larvae received per unit time (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	$\frac{\delta_{H_0} + \delta_{H\infty} c_H m \beta L(t)}{1 + c_H m \beta L(t)}$	
$\delta_{_{H_0}}$	Proportion of L3 larvae developing to adult worms within the human host when $m\beta L(t) \rightarrow 0$ (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999)	0.0854	
$\delta_{_{H_{\infty}}}$	Proportion of L3 larvae developing to adult worms within the human host when $m\beta L(t) \rightarrow \infty$ (Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2002)	0.00299	
c _H	Severity of transmission intensity-dependent parasite establishment within the human host (Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2002)	5.86×10^{-3} yr per L3 larva	
μ_{H}	The net rate of population loss (due to death, emigration and other process) determining the age distribution of the population (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.04 yr ⁻¹	
$\sigma_{\scriptscriptstyle W}$	Per capita death rate of adult worms (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999)	0.1 yr ⁻¹	
$\sigma_{_{M_0}}$	Per capita death rate of microfilariae in the absence of ivermectin (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999)	0.8 yr ⁻¹	
$\overline{\sigma}$	Per capita rate at which untreated, non-reproducing female worms become fertile (Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2008)	0.59 yr ⁻¹	
$\lambda_0^{}$	Per capita rate at which untreated fertile female worms become non-fertile in the absence of ivermectin (Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2008)	0.33 yr ⁻¹	
\mathcal{E}_d	Rate of production of microfilariae per fertile female worm scaled by the total weight (in milligrams) of microfilariae- bearing skin (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999; Duke, 1993)	1.1538 yr ⁻¹	
a_m	Maximum recorded human age in the reference population of northern Cameroon (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	80 yr	
p	Prepatent period from infection with L3 larvae to presence of detectable microfilariae in the skin (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	2 yr	

Table 2.2. Definition and values of parameters and variables for the onchocerciasis population dynamics model

Table 2.2. Continued

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units		
	Pertaining to human host (continued)			
$\rho(a)$	Probability density function of host age <i>a</i> (using a truncated exponential distribution of survival times) (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	$\frac{\mu_H \exp(-\mu_H a)}{1 - \exp(-\mu_H a_m)}$		
$\eta_{_d}$	Proportion of the host population in compliance group <i>d</i>	-		
q_s	Proportion of the host population in sex group (females/males) <i>s</i> (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.45/0.55		
	Pertaining to simuliid vector			
L(t)	Mean (arithmetic) number of infective larvae per fly at time (t)	Equation (2.5)		
т	Vector to host ratio (for ABR = 37,300 bites person ^{-1} yr ^{-1})	1196		
β	Biting rate per fly on humans assuming a human blood index = 0.3 (Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2002; Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	31.2 yr ⁻¹		
$\delta_{_{V_0}}$	Proportion of ingested microfilariae developing to the infective stage within the vector, per bite (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.005		
$\sigma_L[M_{s,d}(t,a)]$	Per capita net rate of loss of L3 larvae from vectors (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999)	$(a_H / g) + \sigma_{L_0} + \mu_V + \alpha_V M_{s,d}(t,a)$		
a_H	Proportion of infective, L3 larvae shed per bite (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999)	0.5		
g	Average duration between consecutive blood-meals (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999)	0.0096 yr		
$\sigma_{\scriptscriptstyle L_0}$	Per capita death rate of L3 larvae within the vector (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999; Basáñez <i>et al</i> . 2002)	104 yr ⁻¹		
$\mu_{\scriptscriptstyle V}$	Per capita death rate of uninfected blackflies (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999; Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2002)	52 yr ⁻¹		
$lpha_{_V}$	Parasite induced death rate of infected blackflies (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.6 yr ⁻¹ per microfilaria		
$\Omega_s(a)$	Age- and sex-specific measure of exposure to vectors (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	$\begin{cases} E_s \gamma_s E_0, \ a < a' \\ E_s \gamma_s \exp[-\alpha_s (a - a')], \ a > a' \end{cases}$		
E_s	Sex-specific exposure to vector bites (females/males) (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.90/1.08		
E_0	Fraction of exposure at age 0 in relation to that at age a' from which exposure is allowed to change with age (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.10		
${\cal Y}_s$	Normalisation factors to ensure that the distribution of bites among age groups sums to 1 (females/males) (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.548/1.154		
α_{s}	Age-specific change in contact rate with vectors for human hosts of sex <i>s</i> (females/males) (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	-0.023/0.007		

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units		
n	Maximum number of previous exposures to ivermectin by worms in a given compliance group	0 for those hosts never taking treatment to 15 (annual) or 30 (biannual) for those taking all treatments		
f	Frequency of treatment	Annual or biannual		
τ	Time since last ivermectin treatment	years		
$\lambda_1(au)$	Excess per capita rate at which fertile females become non- fertile following ivermectin treatment (embryostatic effect) (Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2008)	$32.4 \exp(-19.6\tau) \mathrm{yr^{-1}}$		
$\sigma_{_{M_1}}(au)$	Excess per capita death rate of microfilariae following ivermectin treatment (microfilaricidal effect) (Basáñez <i>et al.</i> 2008)	$(\tau + 9.6 \times 10^{-3})^{-1.25} \mathrm{yr}^{-1}$		
τ΄	Treatment programme start time	-		
$\Lambda_{s,d,j}(t,a)$	The rate of establishment of female adult worms at time <i>t</i> in hosts of age <i>a</i> , sex <i>s</i> , treatment compliance group <i>d</i> and exposure group (number of treatments to which worms have been exposed to) <i>j</i>	Equations (2.9) and (2.10)		
$W_{s,d,j}(t,a)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of female adult worms at time (<i>t</i>) and age (<i>a</i>); <i>s</i> denotes sex, <i>d</i> denotes treatment compliance category and <i>j</i> ivermectin exposure group	Equation (2.12) and (2.13)		
$u_{d,j}(t)$	The fraction of the total worm population in exposure group <i>j</i>	Equation (2.16)		
Ψ_{j}	The net reduction in fertility of adult worms in exposure group <i>j</i>	Equation (2.17)		
ζ	The per dose reduction in fertility caused by ivermectin when a cumulative effect is assumed (Plaisier <i>et al.</i> 1995)	0.30		
$\psi_{d}(t)$	The average reduction in fertility in compliance group <i>d</i>	Equation (2.18)		

Table 2.3.	Definition and	values of	parameters	and variables	for ivermectin	treatment effects
------------	----------------	-----------	------------	---------------	----------------	-------------------

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units
$\varphi[W_{s,d}(t,a),k_w]$	Mating probability at time <i>t</i> , age <i>a</i> , sex <i>s</i> and treatment compliance group <i>d</i>	Equation (2.19)
$W_{s,d}(t,a)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of female adult worms per person at time (t) and age (a), s denotes sex and d denotes treatment compliance category	$N_{s,d}(t,a) + F_{s,d}(t,a)$
$k_{\scriptscriptstyle W}$	Inverse measure of degree of overdispersion in the distribution of worms among hosts (Bottomley <i>et al.</i> 2008)	0.35
$\pi_d(t)$	Microfilarial prevalence at time <i>t</i> in compliance group <i>d</i>	Equation (2.20)
$k_{M}[M_{d}(t)]$	Inverse measure of the degree of overdispersion in the distribution of skin microfilariae among hosts of compliance group <i>d</i> , as a function of the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load	Equation (2.22)
k_{0}	Parameters of the relationship between k_{M} and skin microfilarial load	0 013
k_1		0.024

Table 2.4. Definition and values of parameters for mating probability and microfilarial prevalence calculations

Chapter 3: Impact of Ivermectin on Onchocerciasis and its Disease Burden

3.1. Summary

In this chapter a mathematical model of the dynamics of onchocercal disease is presented, which links documented associations between *Onchocerca volvulus* infection and the prevalence and incidence of morbidity and mortality to model outputs from EpiOncho (an onchocerciasis transmission model described in the previous chapter). This was used to assess the impact of annual ivermectin distribution on onchocercal infection and associated disease burden according to different endemicity and programmatic scenarios. It was found that annual ivermectin treatment is highly effective at reducing the disease burden associated with onchocerciasis; however, its overall impact on microfilarial prevalence and intensity depends strongly on baseline endemicity, treatment coverage and compliance. This indicates that although the goals of eliminating the public health burden of onchocerciasis will be met where long-term ivermectin distribution is feasible, those of eliminating the infection reservoir will depend on epidemiological and programmatic variables, precluding a one-size-fits-all approach to onchocerciasis elimination in Africa.

A modified version of this chapter is currently under review: Turner, H.C., Walker, M., Churcher, T.S. and Basáñez, M-G. Modelling the impact of ivermectin on River Blindness and its burden of morbidity and mortality in African savannah: EpiOncho projections.

3.2. Introduction

Human onchocerciasis is responsible for a considerable burden of disease and is associated with visual impairment, blindness, disfiguring skin disease, and severe troublesome itching (Duke, 1990). This is a protracted and chronic process because continual exposure to many infective vector bites is needed for the building up of a substantial worm burden and ensuing microfilarial infection, and because adult female worms (which produce hundreds to thousands of microfilariae (Mf) daily) live, on average, for ten years (Plaisier et al. 1991). The adult stages (macrofilariae) reside in worm bundles located subcutaneously (palpable nodules) or deeply in the body, where they produce the Mf which migrate to the skin (microfilaridermia) and the eyes (Bradley et al. 2005). Immunological responses to filarial products (Hall & Pearlman, 1999), either of parasite origin or particularly of their endosymbiotic Wolbachia bacteria (Tamarozzi et al. 2011), lead to long-standing, nonresolving inflammation associated with chronic onchocerciasis pathology (Brattig, 2004). Skin pathology ranges from troublesome itching to (disfiguring) skin changes, including early-stage reactive lesions, and late-stage depigmentation (leopard skin) and atrophy (Murdoch et al. 1993). Moreover, individuals with high microfilaridermia suffer an increased risk of death (Little et al. 2004b; Walker et al. 2012), independent of that related to blindness (Kirkwood et al. 1983) i.e. sighted individuals are also subject to an excess risk of death.

In practice, the impact of annual mass drug administration (MDA) with ivermectin on the burden of infection and (but not necessarily in the same manner) the burden of disease, will vary according to epidemiological and programmatic factors. Mathematical models of infection and disease dynamics can be used to understand and quantify how these variables affect the projected impact of control programmes. These so-called 'disease models' couple output from an infection transmission dynamics model to the prevalence and/or incidence of disease sequelae, using statistical relationships deduced from epidemiological data and formalising current understanding of the relationship between infection and morbidity. Such models have been developed for trachoma (Gambhir *et al.* 2009), soil-transmitted helminthiases (Chan *et al.* 1994), schistosomiasis (Chan *et al.* 1996; Medley & Bundy, 1996), lymphatic filariasis (Chan *et al.* 1998), and onchocerciasis (Coffeng *et al.* 2013), and are essential tools for conducting cost-effectiveness analysis of control interventions against these neglected tropical diseases (NTDs).
Spurred by the documented success in the Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal foci (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012), there has recently been a shift in onchocerciasis control policy in Africa, with the aim changing from morbidity control to elimination of infection (section 1.9). For instance, the APOC has a new goal of elimination of onchocerciasis where possible by 2025 (World Bank, 2012), and the London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases (LDNTD), joined the World Health Organization's (WHO) 2020 Roadmap on NTDs (London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2013) and set goals for elimination of onchocerciasis in selected countries of Africa by 2020 (World Health Organization, 2013). Rigorous evaluation of the feasibility of achieving these targets, and of the benefits already accrued necessitates of the contribution of dynamic models of onchocerciasis infection and disease.

To this end, in this chapter a mathematical model of the dynamics of onchocercal disease is developed by linking documented associations between infection and morbidity to output from EpiOncho (described in the previous chapter). Incorporated in the model is the direct association between the intensity of infection with *O. volvulus* Mf and excess human mortality which has been omitted elsewhere (Coffeng *et al.* 2013), and not included in the recent estimates of the global burden of onchocercal disease (Murray *et al.* 2012). The model is used to assess the long-term impact of annual MDA of ivermectin on onchocercal infection and associated disease burden in savannah areas of Africa, and explore how this impact may depend on different epidemiological and programmatic scenarios.

3.3. Method

3.3.1. Disease model

An onchocerciasis disease model was developed by linking output from EpiOncho (described in Chapter 2) to the prevalence and incidence of onchocerciasis-associated morbidity and mortality (Figure 3.1). In particular, the average (arithmetic mean) microfilarial load over time; the corresponding microfilarial prevalence, and the prevalence of adult female worms, were coupled to the incidence and prevalence of blindness; visual impairment; prevalence of troublesome itch and the incidence of excess mortality. A summary of how each disease state was represented is found below, with a further detailed description provided in section 3.8.



Figure 3.1. Schematic representation of the disease model. *The prevalence of troublesome itch was estimated based on a relationship with the prevalence of adult female worms, previously derived using the ONCHOSIM model (Coffeng et al. 2013; Habbema et al. 2007). The incidence of blindness was estimated as a function of microfilarial load (lagged by 2 years) based on a log-linear Poisson model (Little et al. 2004a). The number of individuals with visual impairment was estimated using a published ratio between the prevalence of visual impairment and that of blindness (Remme, 2004a). Excess mortality due to onchocerciasis was assumed to occur via mortality among individuals suffering onchocerciasis-related vision loss (blindness and visual impairment) (Kirkwood et al. 1983; Shibuya et al. 2006), plus an (independent from the former) risk of mortality among sighted individuals with high microfilarial load (lagged by 2 years) (Little et al. 2004b; Walker et al. 2012).*

Vision Loss:

The number of people blind due to onchocerciasis (defined as corrected visual acuity of <3/60 or restriction of visual field to less than 10° in the better eye (Remme, 2004a)), was calculated by means of a partial differential equation comprising two rates, namely, the incidence of new onchocercal related blindness cases, and the loss of already blind individuals due to (excess) mortality (Kirkwood *et al.* 1983; Shibuya *et al.* 2006). The former rate was estimated based on a log-linear Poisson model developed by Little *et al.* (2004a), which describes incidence of blindness as a function of microfilarial load lagged by 2 years (fitted to the cohort dataset of the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP)). The Poisson model assumes that the incidence of blindness is associated with lagged microfilarial load (a 2-year lag provided the best fit to the data (Little *et al.* 2004a), probably reflecting that the loss of visual acuity of an individual in the present is associated with the microfilarial load of that individual in the past). Consequently, the decline in prevalence of vision loss was lagged by two years after the start of ivermectin distribution. The latter mortality rate, was calculated by multiplying the age-specific background mortality rate

(described in section 3.8.6) by an excess relative risk of mortality (of 2.5) according to (Shibuya *et al.* 2006).

The number of individuals with visual impairment or low vision (defined as corrected visual acuity of <18/60 and \geq 3/60 in the better eye (Remme, 2004a)) caused by onchocerciasis was estimated using a published ratio of visual impairment to blindness (of 1.78) according to (Remme, 2004a). Prevalent blindness and visual impairment cases were assumed to be irreversible conditions and not to respond to ivermectin treatment (Ejere *et al.* 2001), which does not reverse established ocular sequelae (such as sclerosing keratitis and optic nerve atrophy).

Troublesome Itch:

Troublesome itch has been found to be associated with the presence of infection (Murdoch et al. 2002) but not with microfilarial infection intensity (Ghalib et al. 1987; Kipp & Bamhuhiiga, 2002). Due to this, the estimated prevalence of troublesome itch is based on a relationship between the prevalence of troublesome itch and that of adult female worms, previously derived using ONCHOSIM (Coffeng et al. 2013; Habbema et al. 2007). Troublesome itch was related to the presence of female adult worms because the association between the presence of Mf and troublesome itch does not hold during ivermectin treatment; the reduction in prevalence of itch being smaller and more delayed than the drop in microfilarial prevalence and load (Brieger et al. 1998b; Coffeng et al. 2013; Habbema et al. 2007). In addition, the therapeutic effect of ivermectin on troublesome itch was parameterised based on the results of a multi-centre trial of ivermectin for the treatment of onchocercal skin disease and severe itching (Brieger et al. 1998b) as described in section 3.8.5. Consequently, there is an initial sharp decline in the prevalence of troublesome itch (as a result of ivermectin's therapeutic effect) followed by a more gradual decrease as the prevalence of adult worms declines. Since the model assumes a pre-patent period of two years (Filipe et al. 2005; Prost, 1980b), there is a delay between the former and the latter.

Excess Mortality:

Excess mortality due to onchocerciasis was assumed to occur via an additional risk of mortality among individuals suffering onchocercal related vision loss (Kirkwood *et al.* 1983; 2006), and an additional (but independent from the former) risk of mortality among (sighted)

individuals with high microfilarial loads (Little *et al.* 2004b; Walker *et al.* 2012). The former was modelled using a excess risk of mortality among the blind and those with visual impairment that is, respectively, 2.5 and 1.5 times higher than that for those fully sighted (Shibuya *et al.* 2006). The latter was modelled using a published non-linear, host age-dependent association between the relative risk of mortality of sighted individuals and their microfilarial load (lagged by two years) estimated from the OCP dataset as mentioned above (Walker *et al.* 2012).

Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs):

Disability-Adjusted Life Years (DALYs) due to onchocerciasis at baseline were used to quantify the pre-control burden of disease combining into a single metric the burden of onchocercal disease resulting from blindness, visual impairment, troublesome itching (years lived with disability, YLD), and premature death (years of life lost, YLL). The DALYs were estimated using the disability weights provided by the Global Burden of Disease (2004) study (World Health Organization, 2004). The equivalent disability weights from the Global Burden of Disease (2010) study (Salomon *et al.* 2012) were not used, because (other than blindness) they are stratified by severity levels. For example, the skin disease disability weights were stratified into three "disfigurement levels", and visual impairment into "mild", "moderate", and "severe". Without more detailed definitions, it was not possible to relate such levels to the modelled disease sequelae.

The YLLs were discounted at a rate of 3% per year—in agreement with WHO guidelines (World Health Organization, 2003). Furthermore, based on the methodology presented in the Disease Control Priorities Project (Disease Control Priorities Project, 2006), I did not apply any age weighting to DALY estimates (whereby healthy life lived at younger and older ages is given a lower weight than that at productive adult ages). Further description of the DALY calculations is provided in section 3.8.7.

3.3.2. Ivermectin's anti-macrofilarial effect

Although the initial clinical trial studies that investigated the effects of a single standard dose (150 μ g/kg) of ivermectin have shown no evidence of a macrofilaricidal effect (killing of adult worms) (Albiez *et al.* 1988; Schulz-Key *et al.* 1985), various studies have reported that multiple doses over several years may have a cumulative adverse effect on adult worm

reproductive fitness / longevity (Chavasse et al. 1993; Cupp et al. 2004; Cupp et al. 2011; Duke, 2005; Duke et al. 1991b; Plaisier et al. 1995; Tekle et al. 2012; Whitworth et al. 1996a). Though, (as discussed in the previously chapter) this effect may not be as high as previously assumed (Plaisier et al. 1995), ivermectin may be having a small, gradual adverse effect on adult worms (potentially due to effects on intranodular sex ratios – see section 1.6). To account for this potential anti-macrofilarial action of long-term ivermectin MDA, it was assumed that each dose causes a 7% cumulative reduction in the per capita rate of microfilarial production by adult worms. This value was approximated by matching the model output (via varying the per dose reduction) to data on microfilarial load after three years of three-monthly ivermectin treatments (over twelve treatments rounds) presented in Gardon et al. (2002) for Cameroon. These authors estimated the magnitude and statistical significance of the ivermectin effect on female worm fertility to be greater than upon worm mortality; therefore, the former was chosen to represent a cumulative, per dose, antimacrofilarial action of the drug. Despite the higher treatment frequency examined (threemonthly), this dataset was chosen to assess the per dose anti-macrofilarial action of the ivermectin, due to the number of treatement rounds the participants were exposed to (over twelve treatment rounds) and because the Mf load is presented per mg and not per skin snip (allowing for accurate comparison to EpiOncho's output); there is a lack of wellcharacterized long-term (individual) longitudinal data (including previous treatment history), to more accurately estimate the potential anti-macrofilarial action of ivermectin. This estimated per dose reduction is consistent with the epidemiological evaluation in Cameroon by Pion et al. (2013) (whose results do not support the operation of a strong cumulative effect of repeated ivermectin treatments and more broadly by the modelling study by Bottomley et al. (2008), which indicated that ivermectin did not have a cumulative effect on microfilarial production after two and a half years of six-monthly treatments (a relatively small reduction would have a minor initial impact, and thus may not have been detectable / statistically significant in the short time frame).

However, due to the importance of this parameter (as discussed in the previous chapter) the strength of the anti-macrofilarial action of ivermectin was varied in the sensitivity analysis (based on the 30–35% irreversible reduction estimated by Plaisier *et al.* (1995)).

77

3.3.3. Model outputs and sensitivity analysis

The model was used to estimate the overall microfilarial prevalence (all ages) and intensity (defined as microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged ≥ 20 years) and its associated morbidity and mortality over the course of 15 annual ivermectin treatment rounds. As in the previous chapter, 15 years was chosen as a suitable timescale to investigate the impact of long-term treatment of onchocerciasis motivated by the epidemiological studies in Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012). The model's outputs were stratified by the pre-control microfilarial prevalence, representing a range of hypo-, meso-, hyper- and highly hyperendemic onchocerciasis foci (Table 1.1) by varying the annual biting rate (ABR) of the simuliid vectors (Table 3.1). In addition, the pre-control DALY disease burden associated with onchocerciasis in African savannah areas was estimated within the range of endemicity explored.

The sensitivity of model projections was explored with regards to the following assumptions a) overall therapeutic coverage (proportion of the total population receiving ivermectin at each round) of 60% and 80% coverage; b) proportion of systematic non-compliance (proportion of the eligible population who never take treatment) of 5% and 0.1%; c) anti-macrofilarial effect of ivermectin (the, per dose, cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by ivermectin-exposed female adult worms) of 7% (small) and 30% (large) (Plaisier *et al.* 1995).

Pre-control endemicity	Microfilarial prevalence in all ages	Annual biting rate (ABR) [§]	Annual transmission potential (ATP) [¶]	Mean (arithmetic) microfilarial intensity in all ages (Mf/mg)	Mean (arithmetic) microfilarial intensity in those aged ≥ 20 years (Mf/mg)
Mesoendemic	40%	7,300	88	11.2	18.7
Hyperendemic	60%	15,470	373	23.9	40.0
Highly hyperendemic	80%	85,800	4,290	58.9	98.0

Table 3.1. Summary of baseline (pre-control) modelled epidemiological scenarios

[§] Annual biting rate (ABR): the average number of *Simulium* bites to which a person is exposed during a whole year.[¶] Annual transmission potential (ATP): the average number of infective larvae (L3) of *O. volvulus* potentially received during a whole year by a person exposed to the annual biting rate; model assumes perennial transmission. Both the ABR and ATP are for a proportion of vector blood meals of human origin equal to 0.3 (Basáñez & Boussinesq, 1999).

3.4. Results

3.4.1. Impact of ivermectin on microfilarial prevalence and intensity

Long-term (15 years of consecutive) annual ivermectin distribution is projected to reduce progressively and markedly (by more than 90%) the intensity of microfilarial infection (measured in the population aged \geq 20 years). However, due to the dynamic nature of ivermectin's action on the production of Mf by adult female worms, and under conditions of ongoing transmission, these parasite stages will reappear in the skin (and be transmitted to vectors) between consecutive annual treatments (Figure 3.2A). The degree of skin repopulation by Mf is strongly related to pre-control endemicity level (reflecting initial adult worm burden as well as vector density) and is substantially larger for (highly) hyperendemic areas. Impact on microfilarial prevalence (all ages) is less marked than that on microfilarial intensity (due to the nature of the non-linear relationship between these two variables).The magnitude of the impact also deceases with increasing levels of pre-control endemicity (Figure 3.2B).



Figure 3.2. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on the intensity (A) and prevalence (B) of microfilarial infection. The red, blue and green lines correspond, respectively, to a baseline endemicity of 80%, 60% and 40% microfilarial prevalence. Intensity of infection is quantified as the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \ge 20 years. The dashed horizontal lines illustrate the upper and lower bounds (5% and 1% prevalence) of the current operational thresholds for cessation of treatment, namely an observed a microfilarial prevalence below 5% in all surveyed villages and 1% in 90% of the surveyed villages) (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010). Results shown assume a therapeutic coverage of 80%, 0.1% of systematic noncompliance, perennial transmission, and a 7% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose. The inset in Figure 3.2A zooms in microfilarial infection intensity (in the \ge 20 yr of age) for the last four years of the simulated intervention programme.

3.4.2. Pre-control disease burden

Before the inception of mass ivermectin distribution and in the absence of other control interventions, infection by *O. volvulus* in African savannah areas can be associated with a large burden of disease, which is non-linearly related to the baseline endemicity level. This is

illustrated by the pre-control (total) DALY burden stratified by level of baseline endemicity in Table 3.2 and Figure 3.3, which shows that relative to the burden for the mesoendemic level (represented by a microfilarial prevalence of 40%), the burden corresponding to the hyperendemic level is three times as high, and for the highly hyperendemic level (80% microfilarial prevalence at baseline), is seven times as high. At pre-control, onchocerciasis was found to be associated with high levels of blindness and visual impairment, with the baseline overall prevalence (across all ages) of onchocercal related blindness reaching over 8% in highly hyperendemic areas (Figures 3.4A and 3.4B). In addition, onchocerciasis was associated with high levels of troublesome itch (Figure 3.4C), with the estimated pre-control overall prevalence reaching over 30% in highly hyperendemic areas.



Figure 3.3. Relationship between the level of endemicity and pre-control disease burden associated with onchocerciasis in savannah areas of Africa. ■ Total disability adjusted life-years (DALY) associated with onchocerciasis, ■ Years lived with disability (YLD) associated with onchocerciasis-related blindness, ■ YLD associated with onchocerciasis-related visual impairment, ■ YLD associated with onchocerciasis-related troublesome itch, ■ Years of life lost (YLL) associated with vision loss, ■ YLL associated with high microfilarial load.

	Disability Adjusted Life Years [§] (per 1000 person-years)							
	Years	lived with disal	oility (YLD)	Years of li				
Pre-control endemicity	Blindness	Visual impairment	Troublesome itch	Associated with vision loss	Associated with high microfilarial load	Total DALY burden		
Mesoendemic	3.6	1.4	14.0	2.7	5.9	27.6		
Hyperendemic	11.4	4.4	17.7	8.8	29.6	71.9		
Highly hyperendemic	49.0	18.8	21.6	37.0	72.3	198.7		

Table 3.2. Baseline (pre-control) model-derived burden of disease (DALYs) associated with onchocerciasis in savannah areas of Africa at different levels of endemicity

[§] See section 3.8.7 for a detailed description of the methods used to calculate DALYs.[†] In line with WHO guidelines, a discount rate of 3% was applied to YLLs (World Health Organization, 2003). Pre-control microfilarial prevalence as in Table 3.1. [¶] In comparison, the 2010 global burden of disease project estimated that a total of 1040 DALY were lost (all causes) per 1000 people living in western sub-Saharan Africa in the year 1990 (Murray *et al.* 2012).



Figure 3.4. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on the morbidity associated with onchocerciasis in the savannah areas of Africa. *A: Prevalence of blindness due to onchocerciasis* (across all ages). *B: Prevalence of visual impairment due to onchocerciasis (across all ages). C: Prevalence of troublesome itch due to onchocerciasis (across all ages). The red, blue and green lines correspond, respectively, to a baseline endemicity of 80%, 60% and 40% microfilarial prevalence. Assumptions are as in the legend of Figure 3.2. The commencement of the intervention at year 1 is represented by the vertical dashed lines. Delays in the decrease of blindness and visual impairment prevalence are due to a 2-year lag between vision loss in the present and microfilarial infection in the past. The initial sharp decline in the prevalence of troublesome itch is due to the assumed therapeutic effect of ivermectin followed by a more gradual decrease as adult worm prevalence declines.*

Onchocerciasis was also associated with a notable incidence of excess mortality, which increased non-linearly with the pre-control endemicity level (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.3). The YLLs associated with high microfilarial load were responsible for a substantially higher proportion of excess host mortality than those associated with onchocercal related vision loss (Table 3.2 and Figure 3.5).



Figure 3.5. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on the excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis in savannah areas of Africa. *A: The excess death associated with a high microfilarial load. B: The excess death associated with vision loss (blindness / visual impairment). C: The total excess death associated with onchocerciasis. The red, blue and green lines correspond, respectively, to a baseline endemicity of 80%, 60% and 40% microfilarial prevalence. Assumptions are as in the legend of Figure 3.2. The commencement of the intervention at year 1 is represented by the vertical dashed lines. The initially delayed decrease of excess mortality is due to a 2-year lag between incidence of death in the present and microfilarial load in the past.*

3.4.3. Impact of ivermectin on onchocerciasis disease burden

Morbidity:

Model outputs indicate that long-term annual distribution of ivermectin has an enormous impact on the morbidity associated with onchocerciasis (Figure 3.4). Two years into the programme, the incidence of blindness (associated with lagged microfilarial load) is projected to fall to very low levels (Figure 3.6). By contrast, the proportion of individuals with blindness and visual impairment due to onchocerciasis would decline more gradually, as prevalent cases are progressively removed due to host mortality (but not replaced at the same pre-control incidence level). Model results suggest a very strong initial decline in the prevalence of troublesome itch due to the therapeutic benefit of ivermectin on cutaneous

pathologies (Brieger *et al.* 1998b), followed by a more steady decline during the programme due to a gradual reduction in transmission (and prevalence of adult female worms), the magnitude of which depends on pre-control endemicity level (the higher the level the lower the rate of decrease).



Figure 3.6. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on incidence of blindness due to onchocerciasis in savannah areas of Africa. *The red, blue and green lines correspond, respectively, to a baseline endemicity of 80%, 60% and 40% microfilarial prevalence. The commencement of the intervention at year 1 is represented by the vertical dashed line. The initially delayed decrease is due to a 2-year lag between blindness incidence in the present and microfilarial load in the past. Results shown assume a therapeutic coverage of 80%, 0.1% of systematic non-compliance, perennial transmission, and a 7% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose.*

Excess Mortality:

Under ivermectin distribution the incidence of excess mortality associated with high microfilarial load is projected to decrease rapidly to low levels (Figure 3.5A). The decline is delayed by two years after the start of ivermectin distribution because of the assumption in

the model that the incidence of excess mortality due to infection is associated not with present microfilarial load but that with that experienced two years in the past (Little *et al.* 2004b). The incidence of excess mortality associated with onchocercal related vision loss decreases at a slower rate, following the decline in the prevalence of vision loss (Figure 3.5B). Figure 3.5C represents the total excess mortality due to onchocerciasis.

<u>3.4.4. Impact of programmatic variables: therapeutic coverage and</u> compliance patterns

Varying in the model the levels of therapeutic coverage in the overall population and the proportion of systematic non-compliers influences the projected impact of long-term ivermectin distribution on microfilarial prevalence and intensity. An increased level of overall therapeutic coverage (from 60% to 80%), or an increased level of treatment compliance (a decreased proportion of systematic non-compliers, from 5% to 0.1%) decreased the output values of microfilarial prevalence and intensity measured 1 year after the 15th annual treatment (Tables 3.3 and 3.4). By and large, the proportional reductions in infection due to improved coverage or compliance are greater in magnitude for the meso- and hyperendemic levels than for the highly hyperendemic level. The proportional reductions of onchocerciasis-associated disease burden gained as a result of improved coverage and compliance were generally relativity small in comparison.

Table 3.3. The effect of annual ivermectin treatment coverage on the microfilarial prevalence and intensity of onchocerciasis and its associated morbidity and mortality according to baseline endemicity

Pre-control endemicity	Mesoendemic			Hyperendemic			Highly hyperendemic		
Therapeutic coverage	60%	80%	% [†] change	60%	80%	% [†] change	60%	80%	% [†] change
Skin microfilarial prevalence (%)	3.46	1.84	47%	9.52	4.74	50%	27.53	16.69	39%
Microfilarial intensity (Mf/mg)	1.08	0.49	55%	3.10	1.31	58%	11.14	5.47	51%
Blindness prevalence (%)	0.299	0.297	0.67%	0.95	0.91	4%	4.25	4.13	3%
Visual impairment prevalence (%)	0.4015	0.4014	0.02%	1.27	1.22	4%	5.7	5.54	3%
Troublesome itch prevalence (%)	5.57	3.59	36%	10.94	7.45	32%	17.9	14.51	19%
Excess mortality annual incidence (per 1000)	0.09	0.08	11%	0.29	0.26	10%	1.39	1.13	19%

Values correspond to model outputs 12 months after the 15th annual ivermectin treatment assuming perennial transmission, 0.1% of systematic non-compliance and a 7% cumulative, per ivermectin dose, reduction in the rate of microfilarial production by adult female worms. Intensity of infection is quantified as mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years. Pre-control microfilarial prevalence as in Table 3.1.[†] Proportional (percent) reduction in parasitological, morbidity and mortality indicators relative to the lower (60%) treatment coverage of the total population (overall therapeutic coverage).

Pre-control Mesoendemic Hyperendemic **Highly hyperendemic** endemicity $\%^{\dagger}$ $\mathbf{\%}^{\dagger}$ $\%^{\dagger}$ Systematic non-5% 0.1% 5% 0.1% 5% 0.1% compliance change change change 4.74 Skin microfilarial 2.60 1.84 29% 6.68 29% 20.08 16.69 17% prevalence (%) Microfilarial 0.80 0.49 39% 2.20 1.31 40% 8.18 5.47 33% intensity(Mf/mg) 0.91 3% Blindness 0.299 0.297 1% 0.95 4% 4.26 4.13 prevalence (%) 3% Visual impairment 0.41 0.40 2% 1.27 1.22 4% 5.70 5.54 prevalence (%) Troublesome itch 4.44 7.45 6% 3.59 19% 8.88 16% 15.40 14.51 prevalence (%) **Excess mortality** 0.09 0.08 11% 0.30 0.26 13% 1.29 1.13 12% annual incidence (per 1000)

Table 3.4. The effect of the proportion of systematic non-compliance with annual ivermectintreatment on the microfilarial prevalence and intensity of onchocerciasis infection and its associatedmorbidity and mortality according to baseline endemicity

Values correspond to model outputs 12 months after the 15th annual ivermectin treatment assuming perennial transmission, an overall treatment coverage of 80% (high coverage), and a 7% cumulative, per ivermectin dose, reduction in the rate of microfilarial production by adult female worms. Intensity of infection is quantified as mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years. Precontrol microfilarial prevalence as in Table 3.1. [†] Proportional (percent) reduction in parasitological, morbidity and mortality indicators relative to the higher (5%) proportion of systematic non-compliance.

3.4.5. Impact of the efficacy of ivermectin anti-macrofilarial action

The magnitude of the assumed anti-macrofilarial action of ivermectin (i.e. the per dose proportion by which microfilarial production by female worms is cumulatively reduced) influenced the long-term impact of annual ivermectin distribution on microfilarial prevalence and intensity. The higher value (30%) had a more pronounced effect than the lower (7%) value (Figure 3.7 in comparison to Figure 3.2). However, this effect also depended on the baseline level of onchocerciasis endemicity; the lower the pre-control endemicity, the smaller the impact of assuming the stronger anti-macrofilarial effect (Table 3.5). By contrast, the assumed value of this effect had little influence regarding the impact of annual ivermectin MDA on onchocerciasis-associated disease burden (Table 3.5).



Figure 3.7. Impact of annual ivermectin distribution on microfilarial intensity (A) and microfilarial prevalence (B) when assuming a stronger anti-macrofilarial action. The red, blue and green lines correspond, respectively, to a baseline endemicity of 80%, 60% and 40% microfilarial prevalence. Microfilarial intensity is quantified as the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years. The dashed horizontal lines illustrate the upper and lower bounds (5% and 1% prevalence) of the current operational thresholds for cessation of treatment, namely an observed a microfilarial prevalence below 5% in all surveyed villages and 1% in 90% of the surveyed villages) (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010). Results shown assume a therapeutic coverage of 80%, 0.1% of systematic non-compliance, perennial transmission, and a 30% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose. The inset in Figure 3.7A zooms in microfilarial infection intensity (in the \geq 20 yr of age) for the last four years of the simulated intervention programme.

Pre-control endemicity	Mesoendemic			Hyperendemic			Highly hyperendemic		
Cumulative per dose reduction in Mf production	7%	30%	% [†] change	7%	30%	% [⁺] change	7%	30%	% [†] change
Skin microfilarial prevalence (%)	1.84	0.78	58%	4.74	1.80	62%	16.69	6.92	59%
Microfilarial intensity (Mf/mg)	0.49	0.06	88%	1.31	0.19	85%	5.47	1.59	71%
Blindness prevalence (%)	0.297	0.296	0.3%	0.913	0.910	0.3%	4.13	4.12	0.2%
Visual impairment prevalence (%)	0.40	0.39	2.5%	1.223	1.221	0.2%	5.54	5.52	0.4%
Troublesome itch prevalence (%)	3.59	2.67	26%	7.45	5.41	27%	14.51	12.99	10%
Excess mortality annual incidence (per 1000)	0.0818	0.0815	0.4%	0.26	0.25	4%	1.13	1.10	3%

Table 3.5. The effect of the magnitude of the anti-macrofilarial action of ivermectin on the microfilarial prevalence and intensity of onchocerciasis infection and its associated morbidity and mortality according to baseline endemicity

Values correspond to model outputs 12 months after the 15th annual ivermectin treatment assuming perennial transmission, an overall treatment coverage of 80% (high coverage), and 0.1% of systematic non-compliance). Intensity of infection is quantified as mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years. Pre-control microfilarial prevalence as in Table 3.1.[†] Proportional (percent) reduction in parasitological, morbidity and mortality indicators relative to the lower (7%) cumulative reduction in the rate of microfilarial production by adult female worms.

3.5. Discussion

3.5.1. The influence of the epidemiological setting

Impact of Ivermectin on Microfilarial Prevalence and Intensity:

The benefit of long-term annual ivermectin distribution on onchocerciasis prevalence and intensity was influenced by the pre-control level of endemicity. This trend is consistent with other modelling studies investigating the impact of annual ivermectin control (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010; Duerr et al. 2011; Winnen et al. 2002). Although the projections indicate that prolonged annual ivermectin distribution reduces substantially the ocular morbidity and excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis, partly due to vast reductions in microfilarial infection intensity, its impact on the prevalence of infection (and arguably on transmission) is less pronounced. This will be the product of a combined effect of the non-linear relationship between microfilarial prevalence and intensity, and the relaxation of the density-dependent processes that affect parasite development and vector survival incorporated in the model (Basáñez et al. 2009). These findings are consistent with the conclusions of a review assessing the impact of repeated ivermectin MDA in the former OCP area (Borsboom et al. 2003), highlighting that although the disease burden associated with onchocerciasis will certainly be reduced to very low levels, likely leading to the elimination (or near elimination) of the public health burden of the disease, continued drug distribution as well as sustained efforts to keep high levels of treatment coverage and compliance, will be vital to interrupt transmission and lead to elimination of the infection reservoir.

After 15 years of annual ivermectin MDA, with consistently high therapeutic coverage, compliance and drug efficacy, projected values of microfilarial prevalence in mesoendemic (1.8%) and hyperendemic (4.7%) areas (Figure 3.2, Table 3.3), start approaching operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by surveillance (OTTIS) proposed by APOC (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010). (These thresholds include a microfilarial prevalence lower than 5% in all surveyed villages and lower than 1% in 90% of these.) Therefore, the model's projections are consistent with those obtained in epidemiological surveys in Mali, Senegal and Nigeria after 15–17 years of ivermectin distribution (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012).

However, projected reductions in microfilarial prevalence and intensity were less optimistic for higher levels of the hyperendemicity range (80% initial microfilarial prevalence). In such settings there would be a higher rate of microfilarial reappearance in the skin between consecutive treatments as adult female worms resume microfilarial production. Although under repeated and prolonged ivermectin treatment this rebound in microfilarial intensity was found not to have severe implications for morbidity, it will make it harder to achieve the proposed OTTIS.

Now that there has been a shift in onchocerciasis control policy in Africa, from the elimination of morbidity to the elimination of infection, the dynamics of transmission during the inter-treatment periods will become increasingly relevant, highlighting the need to use mathematical models to capture and understand the underlying processes. Furthermore, the modelling results indicate that if ivermectin does not have a strong anti-macrofilarial action, elimination in highly hyperendemic areas would not be feasible with annual ivermectin MDA alone. This underscores the importance of the continued search and consideration for novel interventions and optimal combinations of currently available tools (Taylor *et al.* 2010). Potential tools include vector control, macrofilaricidal therapies, more potent microfilaricides or repositioning of current anthelmintics with different regimes and vaccines, as well as the use of transmission dynamic models with which to assess rigorously the impact of such interventions (singly or in combination) according to epidemiological, parasitological and entomological features (as done in malaria (Griffin *et al.* 2010)).

The current operational thresholds for cessation of treatment (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010), are based on results from foci with strongly seasonal transmission and with pre-control values of microfilarial prevalence ranging from mesoendemicity to the lower end of hyperendemicity (though only 3 of 39 (8%) villages in the Mali/Senegal foci treated annually were hyperendemic (Diawara *et al.* 2009) (as defined in Table 1.1). Likewise, in the foci located in Kaduna state, Nigeria, where elimination has also been reported, the median community microfilarial load (CMFL) was only 4 Mf per skin snip (and the median baseline prevalence only 52%) (Tekle *et al.* 2012). These results advise caution when generalising conclusions regarding the feasibility of parasite elimination with annual ivermectin treatment in areas of high pre-control endemicity and perennial transmission. This emphasizes the need for evaluation and validation of the proposed OTTIS criteria (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Traore *et al.* 2012), and the importance of not equating them with true transmission breakpoints (below which the parasite population is not able to maintain itself) (Basáñez *et al.* 2009; Duerr *et al.* 2011; Gambhir *et al.* 2009). These cautionary conclusions are supported by a range of recent epidemiological reports by Katabarwa and co-workers which provide evidence of continued transmission after more than 15 years of annual ivermectin treatment in foci of Cameroon and Uganda with high precontrol endemicity or transmission levels (Katabarwa *et al.* 2013a; Katabarwa *et al.* 2013b).

Pre-control Disease Burden:

In the absence of control interventions, onchocerciasis poses a high disease burden which is non-linearly related to pre-control endemicity level. Model outputs of baseline prevalence of onchocercal related vision loss and troublesome itch in different epidemiological settings are consistent with published data (Hougard *et al.* 2001; Murdoch *et al.* 2002; Prost & Prescott, 1984; Remme *et al.* 1989). The estimated blindness rates are in good agreement with those reported prior to the commencement of interventions in the core area of the former OCP (Hougard *et al.* 2001; Prost & Prescott, 1984; Remme *et al.* 2001; Prost & Prescott, 1984; Remme *et al.* 2001; Prost & Prescott, 1984; Remme *et al.* 2001; Murdoch *et al.* 2001; Murdoch *et al.* 2001; Murdoch *et al.* 2001; Prost & Prescott, 1984; Remme *et al.* 1989). However, there is heterogeneity in reports of (observed) prevalence of onchocerciasis-associated morbidity, particularly regarding the prevalence of troublesome itch (Hougard *et al.* 2001; Murdoch *et al.* 2002; Prost & Prescott, 1984; Remme *et al.* 1989).

Estimates of DALYs included the component of disease burden due to the relationship between excess host mortality of sighted individuals and heavy microfilarial load (Little *et al.* 2004b; Walker *et al.* 2012). At baseline, this contribution was greater than that of mortality associated with vision loss. The difference between the two components of premature death increased with the level of pre-control endemicity. This suggests that premature death related to onchocerciasis, and consequently its overall contribution to disease burden may be higher than previously estimated (Coffeng *et al.* 2013; Habbema *et al.* 2007; Shibuya *et al.* 2006). Furthermore, the recent values of the global disease burden of onchocerciasis (Murray *et al.* 2012), which did not include excess host mortality, are potentially underestimated.

Additionally, the relative contribution of the different disease states to the overall disease burden depends on the epidemiological setting. For example, troublesome itch is responsible for 51% of the overall pre-control DALY burden in mesoendemic areas broadly consistent with previous estimates reporting that onchocercal itching accounts for 60% of the DALYs due to infection with *O. volvulus* (Remme *et al.* 2006). However, this proportion amounts only to 11% in the highly hyperendemic setting. By contrast, the contribution to the total DALY burden by vision loss is 28% in the mesoendemic scenario compared to 53% in the highly hyperendemic setting (Table 3.2).

Impact of Ivermectin on Onchocerciasis Disease Burden:

Prolonged annual ivermectin distribution is undoubtedly highly effective at reducing the morbidity and excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis. The projections of a steady decline in the prevalence of blindness are in line with studies investigating the long-term impact of onchocerciasis control on vision loss as well as with ONCHOSIM projections (Coffeng et al. 2013; Dadzie et al; Hougard et al. 2001; Prost & Prescott, 1984; Thylefors & Tonjum, 1980). However, the projected reduction in onchocercal related vision loss was not as high as that reported by Emukah et al. (2004), who observed a fall in prevalence from 16% to 1% (a 95% reduction) after only eight years of annual ivermectin distribution. This difference could potentially be due to a higher incidence of excess mortality than that assumed in the model being experienced by those with vision loss in the study area (Emukah et al. 2004). Others have assumed that four rounds of ivermectin treatment would reduce the burden of visual impairment and blindness by 35% (Remme et al. 2006). In the model there is no therapeutic benefit of ivermectin on (irreversible) vision loss; therefore, reductions in prevalence are due to gradual mortality of those with blindness/visual impairment. This contrasts with the faster reduction in the incidence of blindness, which reaches very low levels within a few years of ivermectin MDA (due to its pronounced effect on microfilarial load). However, onchocerciasis-related vision loss may still account for a non-negligible disease burden during on-going control programmes due to remaining prevalent cases. This aspect was not included in recent estimates of the global burden of disease due to onchocerciasis (Murray et al. 2012).

Model outputs indicating that the overall prevalence of troublesome itch due to onchocerciasis would roughly halve after 5–6 years of annual ivermectin treatment are consistent with data from a multi-centre trial assessing the impact of CDTI on itching and skin disease within APOC (Ozoh *et al.* 2011). This study consisted of two cross-sectional

surveys using a standardised study protocol across seven sites. Other authors have assumed that four rounds of ivermectin treatment would reduce the prevalence of troublesome itching by 85% (Remme *et al.* 2006), but this optimistic expectation is not supported by the results of Ozoh *et al.* (2011) or these modelling outputs. With the exception of two studies by Whitworth *et al.* (1996b; 1992), which concluded that ivermectin had no effect on skin disease, the projected reductions are in broad agreement with the literature (Brieger *et al.* 1998b; Kennedy *et al.* 2002; Ozoh *et al.* 2011; Somo *et al.* 1993; Whitworth *et al.* 1996a). Subsequent studies by Whitworth and colleagues using a longer time period and an improved study design, reported a reduction in troublesome itch of 30% after six years of annual ivermectin treatment (Whitworth *et al.* 1996a). The estimated impact of ivermectin on troublesome itch was slightly lower in highly hyperendemic settings, probably due to the degree of continued transmission and reinfection that takes place during inter-treatment annual ivermectin rounds.

3.5.2. The influence of programmatic and drug efficacy variables

Therapeutic Coverage and Compliance Patterns:

Varying levels of overall coverage (comparing a moderate therapeutic coverage of the total population of 60% with a higher coverage of 80%), and varying levels of systematic noncompliance (comparing 5% of individuals never taking treatment with a higher compliance of only 0.1%) had little effect on the substantial impact that regular and prolonged ivermectin treatment has on the morbidity and excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis. However, both these programmatic considerations had a marked influence on the projected impact of annual ivermectin treatment on the prevalence and intensity of microfilarial infection (Chapter 2). This indicates that under the new impetus for elimination of infection (as opposed to elimination of morbidity only) (London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases, 2013; World Bank, 2012; World Health Organization, 2013), the proportion of the population that for whatever reason always refuse treatment, cannot take it, or cannot be reached will become very important in terms of achieving parasite elimination goals. Operational research efforts should be made to understand what proportion and (age- and sex-) groups of the population do not take treatment (Brieger et al. 2012; Brieger et al. 2011), what are the reasons behind this non-compliance, and how to develop effective strategies to increase treatment adherence/compliance (see Chapter 2). In addition, it will also be

important to ascertain whether and to which extent systematic non-compliers are represented in monitoring and evaluation sampling protocols, as it is conceivable that individuals who are non-compliant to treatment may not be present during parasitological assessments, biasing the results and potentially leading to erroneous decisions concerning cessation of treatment.

Anti-Macrofilarial Effect of Ivermectin:

It was assumed that ivermectin only has a relatively small anti-macrofilarial action (Bottomley *et al.* 2008; Gardon *et al.* 2002; Pion *et al.* 2013), i.e., effecting a 7% cumulative reduction on the rate of microfilarial production by adult female worms per standard dose. However, due to uncertainty in the magnitude of this effect (discussed in Chapter 2), analyses were also conducted assuming the operation of a stronger (30% per dose) anti-macrofilarial action (Plaisier *et al.* 1995). Varying the efficacy of this proposed effect of ivermectin had a prominent impact on projected microfilarial prevalence and intensity, but did not greatly affect the projected impact on disease burden. The degree to which the assumed magnitude of the anti-macrofilarial effect influenced infection model outputs decreased with decreasing pre-control endemicity, as the amount of residual transmission occurring between consecutive treatments would be considerably lower.

3.6. Conclusions

Long term annual ivermectin treatment is highly effective in reducing the morbidity and excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis. Consequently, the goals of eliminating the public health burden of onchocerciasis will most likely be met in those areas where long-term, annual ivermectin distribution is feasible. However, due to the dynamic nature of ivermectin's action on the production of microfilaria (Basáñez *et al.* 2008), these parasite stages will reappear in the skin between consecutive annual treatments; this degree of microfilarial repopulation is substantially larger in (highly) hyperendemic areas making the infection much harder to eliminate. This indicates the goals of eliminating the onchocerciasis infection reservoir will depend on epidemiological and programmatic variables, precluding a one-size-fits-all approach to onchocerciasis elimination in Africa.

3.7. Limitations

Currently, EpiOncho has been calibrated for savannah settings of Africa; thus, results are not necessarily directly generalisable to forest settings which have different relationships between infection and sequelae (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; Bradley *et al.* 2005; Duke, 1990), different transmission intensities (Duke *et al.* 1972), and where onchocerciasis vectors are different members of the *Simulium damnosum* s.l. complex (Dadzie *et al.* 1989) (but also see (Cheke & Garms, 2013) for a review of blindness associated with different epidemiological and entomological settings in savannah and forest areas).

The present version of the model assumes a stationary age distribution and a stable (closed) population and consequently does not account for potential effects of onchocerciasis-related excess host mortality on the population distribution or host migration. Additionally, the results presented here assume that transmission occurs all year round. Further investigation of the influence of different seasonal transmission patterns on the optimal timing of ivermectin distribution will be essential.

As in other modelling studies of the health impact of ivermectin (Coffeng *et al.* 2013), I only included disease manifestations for which data were available for model parameterisation. Consequently, the disease burden associated with several types of skin disease (such as leopard skin) (Murdoch *et al.* 2002; Ozoh *et al.* 2011) was not quantified and therefore the pre-control disease burden and the overall health impact of ivermectin may be underestimated. Furthermore, it has been suggested that onchocerciasis may be associated with epilepsy (Boussinesq *et al.* 2002; Pion *et al.* 2009) and nodding disease, as well as responsible for other neurological and hormonal involvement such as the Nakalanga syndrome (Kipp *et al.* 1996; Newell *et al.* 1997), which have not yet been included in disease models. It is clear that further work and data are required to improve assessment of the disease burden associated with onchocerciasis in future iterations of the Global Burden of Disease study.

Additionally, it is noteworthy that most disease models (including this one) are parameterised with data on sequelae collected prior to the onset of control interventions, and it is possible that relationships between infection and morbidity could be influenced by the treatment per

se. Consequently, there is some uncertainty regarding any model-derived predictions of the long-term impact of ivermectin on the dynamics of onchocercal disease.

Furthermore, it is important to note that despite their common use, DALYs do have several important limitations (King & Bertino, 2008):

- By intentionally avoiding the "patient perspective" the DALY weighting system ignores the local context as a modifier of disease burden.
- In an effort to avoid over counting actual life-years, the DALY scoring system does not address the reality of shared disabilities in the presence of comorbidities or concurrent infections.

In addition criticisms of the DALY framework have come from many other sectors, including objections based on philosophical and ethical concerns about its approach to quantifying and discounting the value of disabled life (King & Bertino, 2008; Reidpath *et al.* 2003).

3.8. Supporting Information for Chapter 3

This supporting text describes in full detail the onchocerciasis disease model which was developed by coupling output from the onchocerciasis transmission (EpiOncho) model (see Chapter 2)—namely the mean (arithmetic) number of Mf per mg of skin, the derived prevalence of Mf, and the derived prevalence of adult female worms—to the incidence and prevalence of onchocercal morbidity and mortality using statistically documented associations between infection and disease previously published. Details are also given on how DALYs were calculated using output from the disease model. Definitions and, where appropriate, values of parameters introduced in the text are given in Table 3.6 for the onchocerciasis disease model and Table 3.7 for the calculation of DALYs.

3.8.1. Microfilarial prevalence

As described in the previous chapter (section 2.8.4) the prevalence of skin Mf (prevalence of microfilaridermia), $\pi_{s,d}^{M}(t,a)$, at time *t*, in hosts of age, *a*; sex, *s*, and treatment compliance

group, d, was calculated as a function of microfilarial load per milligram (Mf/mg) of skin, $M_{s,d}(t,a)$, determined by the onchocerciasis transmission model,

$$\pi_{s,d}^{M}(t,a) = 1 - \left[1 + \frac{M_{s,d}(t,a)}{k_{M} \left[M_{s,d}(t,a)\right]}\right]^{-k_{M} \left[M_{s,d}(t,a)\right]},$$
(3.1)

where $k_{M}[M_{s,d}(t,a)]$ is given by,

$$k_{M}\left[M_{s,d}(t,a)\right] = \frac{k_{0}M_{s,d}(t,a)}{1+k_{1}M_{s,d}(t,a)}.$$
(3.2)

3.8.2. Human population

To calculate the stratum-specific population size, $P_{s,d}(a)$, the total population size, P, was multiplied by the proportion of individuals of sex s, q_s ; age $a, \rho(a)$; and compliance group d, η_d ,

$$P_{s,d}(a) = q_s \eta_d \rho(a) P .$$
(3.3)

The age and sex distributions of the population, modelled by the function $\rho(a)$ and the parameter q_s respectively, were estimated from demographic data on individuals living in the Vina Valley region of northern Cameroon (Filipe *et al.* 2005). The population structure and size were assumed to be stationary; the latter set to an arbitrary constant large enough to ensure accuracy of numerical integration.

3.8.3. Blindness

The incidence of blindness due to onchocerciasis, denoted $V_{s,d}(t,a)$, is given by the incidence of blindness *not* due to onchocerciasis, $V'_{s,d}(t,a)$ (i.e. the background incidence of blindness), subtracted from the *total* incidence of blindness, $V^{T}_{s,d}(t,a)$.

$$V_{s,d}(t,a) = V_{s,d}^{T}(t,a) - V_{s,d}'(t,a).$$
(3.4)

The background incidence of blindness is given by the *per capita* background rate at which individuals of sex *s* and age *a* become blind (Little *et al.* 2004a), $\gamma_{0_s}(a)$, multiplied by the total number of individuals who are not blind. The latter is given by subtracting the total number of blindness cases in each stratum, $B_{s,d}^T(t,a)$, from the stratum population size, $P_{s,d}(a)$,

$$v'_{s,d}(t,a) = \gamma_{0_s}(a) \Big[P_{s,d}(a) - B^T_{s,d}(t,a) \Big].$$
(3.5)

The total incidence of blindness in the population of sex *s* and compliance group *d* is calculated from the background incidence of blindness (Equation (3.5)) multiplied by the relative risk of blindness associated with a mean (arithmetic) number of Mf per skin snip, $r_{s,d}(t,a)$,

$$v_{s,d}^{T}(t,a) = v_{s,d}'(t,a)r_{s,d}(t,a).$$
(3.6)

Substituting $V'_{s,d}(t,a)$ (Equation (3.5)) and $V^T_{s,d}(t,a)$ (Equation (3.6)) into Equation (3.4) yields the desired expression for the incidence of blindness *due to* onchocerciasis,

$$v_{s,d}(t,a) = \gamma_{0_s}(a) \Big[r_{s,d}(t,a) - 1 \Big] \Big[P_{s,d}(a) - B_{s,d}^T(t,a) \Big].$$
(3.7)

The relative risk term on the right hand side (RHS) of Equation (3.7) was calculated using a log-linear model previously fitted to data on the incidence of blindness throughout the entire duration of the OCP (Little *et al.* 2004a),

$$r_{s,d}(t,a) = \exp\left[\gamma_1 M'_{s,d}(t-2,a)\right] \pi^M_{s,d}(t-2,a).$$
(3.8)

Here $M'_{s,d}(t-2,a)$ denotes mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per skin snip (as opposed to per mg of skin, see below) lagged by two years, reflecting that loss of visual acuity is associated with past microfilarial load, with the best lag estimated as 2 years (Little *et al.* 2004a). The term γ_1 on the RHS of Equation (3.8) is the regression coefficient for the relative risk of blindness associated with a microfilarial load, as estimated in Little *et al.* (2004a) (Table 3.6). The microfilarial load per skin snip was derived by multiplying the microfilarial load per mg of skin (obtained from the transmission model) by the mean (arithmetic) weight in milligrams of a skin snip sample taken from the iliac crest using a Holth-type corneoscleral punch. This mean (arithmetic) was estimated as 1.7 mg (S.E. = 0.012) from data presented by Collins *et al.* (1992). This conversion was necessary because the OCP did not weigh the skin snips and consequently Equation 3.8 was parameterized using data on Mf per skin snip rather than per mg. The prevalence term, $\pi_{s,d}^{M}(t-2,a)$, in Equation (3.8) ensures that the relative risk of blindness *due to* onchocerciasis applies only to those who are infected.

The total number of people blind—the $B_{s,d}^T(t,a)$ term on the RHS of Equation (3.7) —was calculated by means of a partial differential equation comprising two (host age- and sex-dependent) rates: the total incidence of new blindness cases, $V_{s,d}^T(t,a)$ (Equation (3.6)), minus the loss due to mortality of already blinded individuals, with *per capita* rate as the product of the background mortality rate $\xi(a)$ and the excess risk of mortality associated with blindness E^B (Shibuya *et al.* 2006),

$$\frac{\partial B_{s,d}^{\prime}(t,a)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial B_{s,d}^{\prime}(t,a)}{\partial a} = v_{s,d}^{T}(t,a) - B_{s,d}^{T}(t,a)\xi(a)E^{B}.$$
(3.9)

The expression for the background mortality rate, $\xi(a)$, is given in section 3.8.6. The number of blindness cases *due* to onchocerciasis, $B_{s,d}(t,a)$ (as opposed to the *total* number of blindness cases) was calculated in a similar fashion but using $v_{s,d}(t,a)$; the incidence of blindness *due to* onchocerciasis (Equation (3.7)),

$$\frac{\partial B_{s,d}(t,a)}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial B_{s,d}(t,a)}{\partial a} = v_{s,d}(t,a) - B_{s,d}(t,a)\xi(a)E^{B}.$$
(3.10)

The relative risk of blindness due to onchocerciasis, $r_{s,d}(t,a)$ (Equation (3.8)) was determined by analysing data where blindness was defined as a visual acuity of less than 3/60 based on tests for central vision (Little *et al.* 2004a). It does not include individuals with visual acuity equal to or better than 3/60 but who have a restriction of visual field to less than 10° of fixation. Such individuals would have been classified as blind if peripheral visual field assessment had been conducted. It has been estimated that this approach misses 25% of functional blindness cases (Remme, 2004a; World Health Organization, 1983). To account for this, the number of age- and sex-dependent blindness cases due to onchocerciasis per stratum (given by the solution of Equation (3.10)) was multiplied by 4/3 (Coffeng *et al.* 2013; Remme, 2004a). The total number of blindness cases due to onchocerciasis was calculated by integrating over host age and summing over sex and treatment compliance strata,

$$B(t) = \frac{4}{3} \sum_{s} \sum_{d} \int_{a} B_{s,d}(t,a) \, da.$$
(3.11)

The prevalence of onchocercal blindness, $\pi^{B}(t)$, is calculated by dividing the total number of blindness cases by the population size, P,

$$\pi^B(t) = \frac{B(t)}{P}.$$
(3.12)

3.8.4. Visual impairment

The number of visual impairment cases, $V_{s,d}(t,a)$, was calculated using a ratio of 1.78 cases of visual impairment for every case of blindness (when blindness is defined as a visual acuity of less than 3/60 alone) (Remme, 2004a). This ratio was estimated from data collected in hyperendemic onchocerciasis foci (without adjusting for the functionally blind cases as described above), but it was assumed to hold for lower endemicity foci (Remme, 2004a). Hence,

$$V_{s,d}(t,a) = 1.78 \times B_{s,d}(t,a).$$
 (3.13)

The prevalence of onchocercal visual impairment $\pi^{\nu}(t)$, is then given by,

$$\pi^{V}(t) = \frac{V(t)}{P},$$
(3.14)

where,

$$V(t) = \sum_{s} \sum_{d} \int_{a} V_{s,d}(t,a) \, da.$$
(3.15)

The Therapeutic Effect of Ivermectin on Visual Loss:

It was assumed that both blindness and visual impairment are irreversible conditions which do not respond to ivermectin treatment. This is supported by a Cochrane review of placebocontrolled trials that found no statistically significant effect of ivermectin on prevalent vision loss (Ejere *et al.* 2001).

3.8.5. Troublesome itch

Following ONCHOSIM (Coffeng *et al.* 2013; Habbema *et al.* 2007), the baseline prevalence of troublesome itch, $\pi_{s,d}^{\prime T}(t)$, is defined as the prevalence of troublesome itch in the absence of ivermectin treatment. This is calculated using a previously published association between troublesome itch and the prevalence of adult female worms, $\pi_{s,d}^{W}(t)$ (Coffeng *et al.* 2013; Habbema *et al.* 2007),

$$\pi_{s,d}^{\prime T}(t) = \alpha_1 \Big[\pi_{s,d}^{W}(t) \Big] + \alpha_2 \Big\{ 1 - \exp \Big[\big(\pi_{s,d}^{W}(t) \big)^2 \Big] \Big\},$$
(3.16)

where α_1 and α_2 are regression coefficients estimated by Habbema *et al.* (2007) (Coffeng *et al.* 2013) (Table 3.6). The prevalence of adult female worms $\pi_{s,d}^{W}(t)$ was calculated assuming that worms are distributed among hosts according to a negative binomial distribution with mean $W_{s,d}(t,a)$ and overdispersion parameter k_w ,

$$\pi_{s,d}^{W}(t) = 1 - \left[1 + \frac{W_{s,d}(t)}{k_{w}}\right]^{-k_{w}},$$
(3.17)

where $k_w = 0.35$ as estimated by Bottomley *et al.* (2008). The prevalence of troublesome itch was related to female adult worms because the association between the presence of Mf and troublesome itch does not hold during ivermectin treatment; the reduction in prevalence of itch is smaller and more delayed than the drop in microfilarial prevalence and load (Brieger *et al.* 1998b; Coffeng *et al.* 2013; Habbema *et al.* 2007).

The number of baseline troublesome itch cases per stratum, $T'_{s,d}(t)$, is the product of the baseline prevalence of troublesome itch, the proportion of individuals of each sex, q_s , compliance group, η_d , and the population size P,

$$T'_{s,d}(t) = \pi'^{T}_{s,d}(t)q_{s}\eta_{d}P.$$
(3.18)

The total number of baseline troublesome itch cases is then given by summing over the sex and compliance strata,

$$T'(t) = \sum_{s} \sum_{d} T'_{s,d}(t) .$$
(3.19)

Therapeutic Effect of Ivermectin on Troublesome Itch:

The number of baseline cases of troublesome itch is multiplied by a factor $1 - \tau_d(t)$ to yield the total number of troublesome itch cases, T(t),

$$T(t) = T'(t) \begin{bmatrix} 1 - \tau_d(t) \end{bmatrix}, \tag{3.20}$$

and the prevalence of troublesome itch is given by,

$$\pi^{T}(t) = \frac{T(t)}{P}.$$
(3.21)

Parameter $\tau_d(t)$ captures the observed therapeutic effect of ivermectin in reducing the average year-round baseline prevalence of troublesome itch by 47% in individuals treated annually and by 52% in those treated biannually, an effect which was assumed to develop gradually during the first six months of the first treatment round (Brieger *et al.* 1998b) and which was consistent with the results of a multicentre study conducted by the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC) (Ozoh *et al.* 2011). These reductions are not assumed to act cumulatively with each treatment round but rather over the timespan of ivermectin distribution. It was further assumed that individuals treated every other year experience a 10% reduction in troublesome itch in the year they are not treated, due to the residual effects of ivermectin on cutaneous pathologies. This was estimated by the difference between the reduction of itch prevalence at 12 and 15 months after a single treatment and assumes the rate of recovery is constant from 15 months onwards (Brieger *et al.* 1998b). Long-term reductions in the prevalence of troublesome itch are not just caused by the therapeutic activity of ivermectin but rather by its community-level suppression of transmission which leads to a gradual decrease in the prevalence of adult female worms.

3.8.6. Excess mortality

The excess mortality due to onchocerciasis is assumed to occur via two processes; an additional risk of mortality among individuals suffering from onchocerciasis-related vision loss (Kirkwood *et al.* 1983; Shibuya *et al.* 2006), and an additional risk of mortality (independent of the former) among infected individuals with high microfilarial loads (Little *et al.* 2004b; Walker *et al.* 2012). To calculate the incidence of (excess) mortality associated with onchocerciasis these additional risks were multiplied by the age-specific background mortality (hazard) rate, $\xi(a)$,

$$\xi(a) = -\frac{d}{da} \ln \left[\varepsilon(a) \right], \tag{3.22}$$

where $\varepsilon(a)$ is the survivorship function,

$$\varepsilon(a) = \begin{cases} \exp(-\omega_1 a) & \text{for } a < 5 \text{ years,} \\ \\ \omega_2 + \omega_3 a^2 + \omega_4 a & \text{for } a \ge 5 \text{ years.} \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

The regression coefficients $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ and ω_4 were estimated by fitting $\varepsilon(a)$ to the same data that were used to parameterise the host survivorship function in ONCHOSIM (Habbema *et al.* 1996) (Figure 3.8). This makes my estimates of the excess mortality due to onchocerciasis comparable with other modelling studies.



Figure 3.8. Human host survivorship function. The blue line represents the fitted model (Equation (3.23)) and the red squares the host survivorship data (proportion of hosts surviving to a particular age) presented in Habbema et al. (1996). The model was fitted using non-linear least squares regression yielding parameter estimates $\omega_1 = 0.04$, $\omega_2 = 0.81$, $\omega_3 = -7.7 \times 10^{-5}$ and $\omega_4 = 2.1 \times 10^{-3}$ (Table 3.6).

Excess Mortality Associated with Vision Loss:

It was assumed that the relative risk of mortality among blind individuals, E^B , and among those with visual impairment, E^V , were, respectively, 2.5 and 1.5 according to (Shibuya *et al.* 2006). The incidence of excess mortality associated with blindness, $D^B_{s,d}(t, a)$ and visual

impairment, $D_{s,d}^V(t,a)$ are given by,

$$D_{s,d}^{B}(t,a) = B_{s,d}(t,a)\xi(a)\Big(E^{B}-1\Big),$$
(3.24)

and

$$D_{s,d}^{V}(t,a) = V_{s,d}(t,a)\xi(a)\Big(E^{V}-1\Big).$$
(3.25)

By analogy with the derivation of the incidence of blindness due to onchocerciasis given by Equations (3.4) to (3.7), the minus 1 term on the RHS of Equation (3.25) and Equation (3.26) adjusts the relative risks to give the incidence of mortality *due to* onchocerciasis, as opposed to the *total* incidence of mortality.

Excess Mortality Associated with Microfilarial Load:

A density-dependent association has been quantified between excess human mortality and microfilarial load (Little *et al.* 2004b; Walker *et al.* 2012). This was incorporated into the model using a published non-linear, host age-dependent association between the relative risk of mortality, $E_{s,d}^{M}(t,a)$, in those infected (but without vision loss) and their past (lagged by two years) microfilarial load per skin snip denoted as $M'_{s,d}$, as opposed to $M_{s,d}$ for Mf/mg, see also Equation (3.8),

$$E_{s,d}^{M}(t,a) = \exp\left\{f\left[M_{s,d}'(t-2,a)\right]a^{\beta_{4}}\right\}\pi_{s,d}^{M}(t-2,a).$$
(3.26)

Here $f[M'_{s,d}(t-2,a)]$ describes a sigmoid functional form,

$$f\left[M'_{s,d}(t-2,a)\right] = \frac{\beta_1 M'_{s,d}(t-2,a)^{\beta_3}}{1+\beta_2 M'_{s,d}(t-2,a)^{\beta_3}},$$
(3.27)

where $\beta_1, \beta_2, \beta_3$ and β_4 are regression parameters as estimated in Walker *et al.* (2012) (Table 3.6). The prevalence term in Equation (3.26), $\pi_{s,d}^M(t-2,a)$, ensures that the relative risk of excess mortality associated with high microfilarial load only applies to those infected and not to the whole population.

The incidence of excess mortality associated with the mean (arithmetic) number of Mf per skin snip, $D_{s,d}^{M}(t,a)$, is given by

$$D_{s,d}^{M}(t,a) = \left\{ P_{s,d}(a) - \left[B_{s,d}(t,a) + V_{s,d}(t,a) \right] \right\} \xi(a) \left[E_{s,d}^{M}(t,a) - 1 \right].$$
(3.28)

The term $P_{s,d}(a) - [B_{s,d}(t,a) + V_{s,d}(t,a)]$ on the RHS of Equation (3.28) ensures that the incidence of excess mortality does not apply to prevalent cases of blindness or visual
impairment; such individuals suffer a separate excess risk of mortality as described by Equation (3.24) and Equation (3.25).

Total Incidence of Excess Mortality:

The total incidence of excess mortality aassociated with onchocerciasis—either via blindness (Equation (3.24)), visual impairment (Equation (3.25)) or via the direct association with microfilarial load (Equation (3.28))—is the sum of the component incidence rates,

$$D_{s,d}(t,a) = D_{s,d}^{B}(t,a) + D_{s,d}^{V}(t,a) + D_{s,d}^{M}(t,a) .$$
(3.29)

3.8.7. Disability adjusted life years

Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) are a time-based measure of disease burden accounting for years lived with disability (YLDs) and years of life lost (YLLs) due to premature mortality (Murray & Lopez, 1994).

The YLDs were calculated by multiplying the number of cases of blindness, visual impairment and troublesome itch by their respective disability weights h^B , h^V , h^T (World Health Organization, 2004),

$$YLDs(t) = B(t)h^{B} + V(t)h^{V} + T(t)h^{T}$$
(3.30)

The YLLs were calculated using the 'period expected years of life lost' method (World Health Organization, 2003), where the duration of life lost is the local future life-expectancy of individuals at each age, $\Xi(a)$, minus there current age, multiplied by the incidence of mortality, $D_{s,d}(t,a)$,

$$\text{YLLs}(t) = \sum_{s} \sum_{d} \int_{a} \left[\Xi(a) - a \right] D_{s,d}(t,a) da \tag{3.31}$$

The age-specific future life-expectancy is derived directly from the host survivorship function, $\varepsilon(a)$,

$$\Xi(a) = \frac{\int_{u=a}^{u=\infty} \varepsilon(u) \, du}{\varepsilon(a)} \,. \tag{3.32}$$

The YLLs were discounted at a rate of 3% per year in line with WHO guidelines (World Health Organization, 2003).

The total DALY burden is the sum of YLDs and the YLLs,

$$DALYs(t) = YLDs(t) + YLLs(t).$$
(3.33)

In line with the methodology outlined in the Disease Control Priorities Project: Priorities in Health report (Disease Control Priorities Project, 2006), I did not apply any age weighting (whereby healthy life lived at younger and older ages is given a lower weight than that at productive adult ages) to the DALYs estimates (Disease Control Priorities Project, 2006). Definitions and values of parameters are given in Table 3.7.

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units			
	Infection & demography				
$\pi^M_{s,d}(t,a)$	Microfilarial prevalence at time (t) and age (a); subscript s denotes host sex and subscript d denotes treatment compliance category	Equation (3.1)			
$M_{s,d}(t,a)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of microfilariae per milligram of skin at time (<i>t</i>) and age (<i>a</i>); subscripts <i>s</i> and <i>d</i> as above	Derived from transmission model (see Chapter 2)			
$k_{_{M}}\left[M_{s,d}\left(t,a\right)\right]$	Inverse measure of the degree of overdispersion in the distribution of skin microfilariae as a function of the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.2)			
k_0	Parameters determining the shape of the relationship	0.013			
k_1	between k_M and skin microfilarial load (Equation (S.2))	0.024			
η_d	Proportion of the host population in treatment compliance group <i>d</i>	-			
q_s	Proportion of the host population of sex <i>s</i> (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.45/0.55			
$\rho(a)$	Truncated exponential probability density function of host age (<i>a</i>) (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	$\frac{\mu_H \exp(-\mu_H a)}{1 - \exp(-\mu_H a_m)}$			
μ_H	The net rate of population loss (due to death, emigration and other process) determining the age distribution of the population (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	0.04 yr ⁻¹			
a_m	Maximum recorded human age in the reference population of northern Cameroon (Filipe <i>et al.</i> 2005)	80 yr			
Р	Total population size for accuracy of numerical integration	100,000			

Table 3.6. Definition and values of	parameters and variables for the onchocerciasis disease mode	el
		_

Table 3.6. Continued

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units
	Blindness	
$V_{s,d}(t,a)$	Incidence of blindness due to onchocerciasis at time (t) and age (a); subscript s denotes host sex and subscript d denotes treatment compliance category	Equation (3.4)
$\mathcal{V}_{s,d}'(t,a)$	The background incidence of blindness at time (<i>t</i>) and age (<i>a</i>); subscripts <i>s</i> and <i>d</i> as above	Equation (3.5)
$\boldsymbol{V}_{s,d}^T(t,a)$	The total incidence of blindness at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.6)
$r_{s,d}(t,a)$	Relative risk of blindness incidence at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above (Little et al. 2004a)	Equation (3.8)
γ_1	Microfilarial load regression coefficient for the relative risk of blindness incidence (Little <i>et al.</i> 2004a)	1×10^{-2}
$\gamma_{0_{s}}(a)$	Background incidence of blindness i.e. incidence of blindness not associated with onchocerciasis at age (<i>a</i>), subscript <i>s</i> denotes host sex (Little <i>et al.</i> 2004a)	-
$M_{s,d}^{\prime}(t,a)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of microfilariae per skin snip (with an average skin snip sample weight of 1.7mg (Collins <i>et al.</i> 1992)) at time (<i>t</i>) and age (<i>a</i>); subscripts <i>s</i> and <i>d</i> as above	-
$B_{s,d}^{\mathrm{T}}(t,a)$	The total number of blindness cases at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.9)
$B_{s,d}(t,a)$	Number of blindness cases due to onchocerciasis at time (<i>t</i>) and age (<i>a</i>); subscripts <i>s</i> and <i>d</i> as above	Equation (3.10)
$\pi^{B}(t)$	Overall prevalence of blindness due to onchocerciasis at time (t)	Equation (3.12)
	Visual impairment	
$V_{s,d}(t,a)$	Number of visual impairment cases due to onchocerciasis at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.13)
$\pi^{\scriptscriptstyle V}(t)$	Prevalence of visually impairment due to onchocerciasis at time (<i>t</i>)	Equation (3.14)

Table 3.6. Continued

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units
	Troublesome itch	
$\pi_{s,d}^{\prime T}(t)$	Baseline prevalence of troublesome itch due to onchocerciasis at time (<i>t</i>); subscript <i>s</i> denotes host sex and subscript <i>d</i> denotes treatment compliance category (Coffeng <i>et al.</i> 2013; Habbema <i>et al.</i> 2007)	Equation (3.16)
$\pi^w_{s,d}(t)$	Prevalence of females worms at time (<i>t</i>); subscripts <i>s</i> and <i>d</i> as above	Equation (3.17)
α_1 α_2	Coefficients describing the shape of the relationship between troublesome itch and female adult worms (Coffeng <i>et al.</i> 2013; Habbema <i>et al.</i> 2007)	-0.043 -0.46
$W_{s,d}(t)$	Mean (arithmetic) number of female adult worms per person at time (t); subscripts s and d as above	Derived from transmission model (see Chapter 2)
k_w	Inverse measure of degree of overdispersion in the distribution of female worms among hosts (Bottomley <i>et al.</i> 2008)	0.35
$T_{s,d}^{\prime}(t)$	Number of baseline cases of troublesome itch due to onchocerciasis at time (t); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.18)
T(t)	Number of cases of troublesome itch due to onchocerciasis at time (t)	Equation (3.20)
${\cal T}_d(t)$	Average year-round reduction in the prevalence of itch associated with annual ivermectin at time (<i>t</i>); subscript <i>d</i> denotes treatment compliance category (Brieger <i>et al.</i> 1998b)	See section 3.8.5.
$\pi^{T}(t)$	Prevalence of troublesome itch due to onchocerciasis at time (t)	Equation (3.21)

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units
	Excess Mortality	
$\xi(a)$	Per capita background death rate of humans at age (a)	Equation (3.22)
$\mathcal{E}(a)$	Host survivorship function (Habbema et al. 1996)	Equation (3.23)
ω_1	Regression coefficients for the host survivorship function	0.04
ω_2		0.81
ω ₃		-7.7×10^{-5}
ω_4		-0.0021
$E^{\scriptscriptstyle B}$	The relative risk of mortality associated with blindness (Shibuya <i>et al.</i> 2006)	2.5
$E^{\scriptscriptstyle V}$	The relative risk of mortality associated with visually impairment (Shibuya <i>et al.</i> 2006)	1.5
$D^B_{s,d}(t,a)$	Incidence of excess mortality due to blindness at time (<i>t</i>) and age (<i>a</i>); subscript <i>s</i> denotes host sex and <i>d</i> denotes treatment compliance category	Equation (3.24)
$D_{s,d}^V(t,a)$	Incidence of excess mortality due to visual impairment at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.25)
$E^M_{s,d}(t,a)$	The relative risk of mortality associated with high microfilarial loads at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above (Walker <i>et al.</i> 2012)	Equation (3.26)
$f[M'_{s,d}(t-2,a)]$	Function describing the relationship between relative risk of mortality and microfilarial load per skin snip; subscripts <i>s</i> and <i>d</i> as above (Walker <i>et al.</i> 2012)	Equation (3.27)
$eta_{\scriptscriptstyle 1}$	Regression coefficients of the function describing the	1.8
β_2	relative risk of mortality associated with high microfilarial	1.8
β_3		2.5
eta_4		-0.59
$D^M_{s,d}(t,a)$	Incidence of excess mortality associated with high microfilarial loads at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.28)
$D_{s,d}(t,a)$	Incidence of excess mortality due to onchocerciasis at time (t) and age (a); subscripts s and d as above	Equation (3.29)

Table 3.6. Continued

Symbol	Definition of variables and parameters	Expression, average value and units
$h^{\scriptscriptstyle B}$	Blindness disability weight (World Health Organization, 2004)	0.59
$h^{\scriptscriptstyle V}$	Visual impairment disability weight (World Health Organization, 2004)	0.17
$h^{^{T}}$	Troublesome itching disability weight (World Health Organization, 2004)	0.068
$\operatorname{YLDs}(t)$	Years lived with disability due to onchocerciasis at time (t)	Equation (3.30)
$\operatorname{YLLs}(t)$	Years of life lost due to onchocerciasis at time (t)	Equation (3.31)
$\Xi(a)$	Age specific life expectancy at age (<i>a</i>) (Habbema <i>et al.</i> 1996)	Equation (3.32)
DALYs(t)	Disability adjusted life years burden due to onchocerciasis at time (<i>t</i>)	Equation (3.33)

Table 3.7. Definition and values of parameters for the disability adjusted life years estimates

Chapter 4: The Cost of Annual versus Biannual Treatment with Ivermectin

4.1 Summary

Recently it has come under consideration to change from annual biannual (twice yearly) ivermectin distribution strategy is some African foci, which has been shown in Latin Africa to have the potential to interrupt transmission. However, relatively few communities have received biannual treatments in Africa. Consequently there are no cost data associated with increasing ivermectin treatment frequency at a large scale, essential pre-requisites to provide reliable information for evidence-based decision making regarding adoption of a biannual treatment strategy. This chapter describes the results of study undertaken to estimate costs associated with biannual compared to annual ivermectin delivery in Ghana, which since 2009 has implemented a biannual treatment strategy in selected priority areas. The costing data were collected as part of a field work project, conducted in January-February 2012, in collaboration with the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, Ghana. The results indicate that the cost of biannual ivermectin treatment per year is approximately 60% higher than the cost of annual treatment. In addition, large-scale mass biannual treatment was reported as being well received by communities and health workers, and considered sustainable in the context of the Ghanaian NTD control programme This study provides tangible evidence of the different costs associated with annual and biannual ivermectin treatment, which can be used to inform economic evaluations and policy decisions regarding the optimal treatment frequency required to eliminate onchocerciasis in Africa.

A modified version of this chapter has been is published: Turner, H.C., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y., Walker, M., Tettevi, E.J., Churcher, T.S. Asiedu, O., Biritwum, N-K. and Basáñez, M-G. (2013) The cost of annual versus biannual community-directed treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin: Ghana as a case study. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 7(9): e2452. (See Appendix A)

4.2. Introduction

It is thought that switching from annual to biannual mass community directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI) might improve the chances of onchocerciasis elimination in circumscribed African foci. However, in the past only a small number of foci (such as River Gambia in Senegal (Diawara *et al.* 2009)) have received biannual treatment in Africa, and therefore there are no ground-truth data on the cost associated with increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year on a large scale. In Uganda, the cost of biannual CDTI was simply estimated by doubling that of the annual treatment (Ndyomugyenyi *et al.* 2007). To perform economic evaluations of increasing the treatment frequency, it is vital to understand how the costs of treatment change and to evaluate if any complications arise from using the higher frequency.

Some countries such as Ghana (in the former Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP)), and Uganda (in the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC)), have recently adopted a biannual treatment strategy at a large scale; the former because of suspected suboptimal responses to ivermectin treatment (Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2007), and the latter because, in combination with vector control, elimination may be accelerated (Ministry of Health, Republic of Uganda, 2007). In this chapter, I report the results of a study undertaken to estimate the costs associated with annual (the standard strategy) vs. biannual CDTI (the newly adopted strategy) in Ghana. Furthermore, given that other countries in the region may be considering switching from annual to biannual ivermectin distribution, potential factors that may hamper the scaling up of treatment frequency at a large scale were also assessed. The data were collected as part of a field work project conducted in January-February 2012, in collaboration with the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, Ghana.

4.3. Methods

4.3.1. Description of study areas

In Ghana, onchocerciasis is endemic in 9 out of 10 regions with a total at-risk population of approximately 3.2 million (Taylor *et al.* 2009). Responsibility for ivermectin distribution

(which occurs in 73 districts) was devolved from the OCP to Ghana in 2002 (under the supervision of APOC). Since 2006, onchocerciasis control has been implemented in the context of a Neglected Tropical Diseases Programme (NTDP) (Taylor *et al.* 2009), and in 2009, 40 (55%) districts started using a biannual ivermectin distribution strategy. The decision regarding which areas should change to the biannual treatment strategy was based on the combined results of rapid epidemiological mapping of onchocerciasis (REMO) conducted in Ghana in 2009, parasitological evaluation via skin snipping and determination of microfilarial prevalence, and entomological evaluations (according to unpublished results of the Ghana onchocerciasis mapping exercise conducted in 2009). Areas with an infection prevalence in the adults above 20%, were allocated to a biannual treatment frequency considering also a buffer zone of 20 Km around these CDTI priority areas. Therefore, NTDP decisions as to whether to allocate districts to annual or biannual CDTI were not made on a priori criteria of associated costs but only based on transmission criteria.

The study focused on the Brong-Ahafo and Northern regions in Ghana (Figure 4.1). In the former, data were collected in the Wenchi district where CDTI takes place annually; the Pru district and the Kintampo North district, where CDTI is taking place biannually, and in the latter, data were also collected in the Kpandai district, where a mixed strategy (some communities being treated annually and others biannually) is used (Table 4.1). These districts were selected partly based on logistics at the time of the study, and partly because already established relationships with the Ghana Health Service (GHS) at the district and sub-district levels would ensure collection of accurate data via the purposely designed questionnaires (Appendix B). Figure 4.1 shows the locations of the districts where the study was conducted. As stated earlier, decisions to switch to a biannual treatment frequency were based on infection and transmission criteria alone, so there were no obvious reasons why the decision to change treatment frequency would have been influenced by the local district-specific programme cost.



Figure 4.1. Map of Ghana indicating the sampled regions and districts. *The Brong-Ahafo and Northern regions are highlighted in light blue and light pink respectively.* **1**-Wenchi, **2**-Kintampo *North,* **3**-Pru, **4**- Kpandai. Figure prepared by Mr Simon O'Hanlon (Imperial College London).

Region	District	Treatment Frequency	Number of Persons Treated Per Year	Overall Therapeutic Coverage [§]	Total Population Size	Size (km²)
Brong-Ahafo	Wenchi	Annual in all communities	27,881	90%	30,979	3,494
Brong-Ahafo	Kintampo North	Biannual in all communities	57,802	82%	70,490	5,108
Brong-Ahafo	Pru	Biannual in all communities	68,506	88%	77,848	2,195
Northern	Kpandai	Annual in 122 (55%) and biannual in 100 (45%) of 222 communities ^{\dagger}	90,183	79%	114,156	1,772

Table 4.1. Description of ivermectin treatment in the areas where cost data were obtained in Ghana

[§] For the Wenchi and Kpandai districts, therapeutic coverage estimates were taken directly from national records pertaining to the last treatment round of 2010. For the Pru and Kintampo North districts, coverage estimates were derived from an average of two treatment rounds (the last round of 2010 and the first round of 2011). [†] A biannual strategy is used in 15 of 76 (20%) communities in the sampled sub-district, whereas the remainder 80% receive treatment annually. Therefore, the costs are likely to reflect more closely those of annual rather than biannual distribution.

Data were collected at various levels in the organization of the GHS. Firstly, information was gathered by conducting semi-structured interviews at the headquarters of the NTDP in Accra, and at the Regional Health Service directorates in the Brong-Ahafo region. Secondly, districts (and sub-districts where appropriate) were chosen to represent a range of geographical sizes, and population densities (Table 4.1). Thirdly, community drug distributors (CDDs) were interviewed in at least three communities in each district.

4.3.2. Perspective

In this study, the costs under investigation were those borne by the health care providers (such as the GHS, the major in-country partners, and the local communities). Therefore the cost of drug manufacture and transport to Ghana were excluded. Only data on the cost of

CDTI were collected; costs associated with individual, clinic-based treatment with ivermectin were ignored.

Data were collected on both the financial and economic costs of CDTI. Financial costs are those where a monetary transaction has taken place for the purchase of a resource. Economic costs also include, in addition to the financial costs described above, estimates of the monetary value of goods or services for which no financial transaction has taken place. Therefore, economic costs also account for the value of goods or services which could have been used for another purpose (opportunity costs). Examples of resources which have no financial costs but do have important economic costs are the 'free' use of building space provided by the Ghana Ministry of Health, the use of donated vehicles, and the time devoted to CDTI by unpaid CDDs. The costs associated with CDTI arise from various programmatic activities as outlined in Box 4.1.

Box 4.1. Programmatic Activities (partly based on (McFarland et al. 2005))

- **Drug Distribution Chain:** the process of getting the drugs from where they entered the country to the target population
- Mobilization and Sensitization: promotion, information dissemination and advocacy related to the project
- **Training of Volunteers:** training of community drug distributors (CDDs) (includes the costs incurred by both the trainers and the trainees)
- **Other Training:** all other training at whatever level (includes the costs incurred by both trainers and trainees)
- **Reporting:** the preparation and transmission of reports
- Surveillance and Evaluation: surveillance of the disease and treatment distribution at all levels
- All Other Administration: all other general office administration
- Other Project Activities: all other activities not already mentioned above

4.3.3. Data collection

Data collection was organized at the national, regional, district, sub-district and community levels and involved interviewing key personnel and scrutinizing national records. Data collected at the national level included records of funds provided by non-governmental organizations (NGO) such as Sightsavers, and others such as APOC (managed by the World Bank and implemented by the World Health Organization), among others. Given these multiple sources, it would have been most interesting to obtain a detailed breakdown of the relative contribution of each organization to the funding of onchocerciasis control in Ghana. Unfortunately, even at the national sampling level, it was rarely possible to separate the costs by their funding source. This, however, did not affect the study, which focused on the aggregate cost of onchocerciasis control. The costs collected were incurred in the year 2011. At each level, costs were collected according to different resource types (Box 4.2) using an approach based on methods described by McFarland et al. (2005) and the UNAIDS guidelines for costing studies (UNAIDS, 2000). First, the total gross expenditure on a resource (per year) was calculated from national records and/or questionnaires. Second, the most appropriate person(s) to answer questions on how the resource is used for activities relating to onchocerciasis control was selected for interview. Third, the interviewee was asked to indicate what fraction of time the resource was used for onchocerciasis control over the year (this was corroborated by multiple sources where possible). Multiplication of the total gross cost and fraction of time attributable to onchocerciasis control yielded an estimate of the recurrent yearly cost for a resource (such as an employee). The cost of capital resources (goods that last for more than one year, such as cars and computers) were estimated in a similar fashion, but the gross cost was spread over the average useful lifetime of the resource (a technique known as 'annualization') to arrive at an average yearly cost (UNAIDS, 2000). An annualization and discount rate of 3% was used to calculate the economic costs of capital resources (Johns et al. 2003). The average useful lifetime of all capital goods was assumed to be five years, in line with the value estimated by McFarland et al. (2005) and corroborated by study participants at the national level. However, the sensitivity of the results to this assumption was investigated by varying the average useful lifetime between 5 and 8 years (Nonvignon et al. 2012). The annual cost of building space was estimated as the

122

equivalent market rental value for the space being used for the control programme (UNAIDS, 2000).

The interviewee was also asked to estimate the fraction of time that the resource was used for itemized onchocerciasis control programmatic activities (Box 4.1). In addition, in districts receiving ivermectin biannually, the interviewees were asked to describe how their time spent on different CDTI activities had changed since increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year, and to indicate which of the CDTI activities are repeated for both treatment rounds.

Box 4.2. Resource Types (partly based on (McFarland et al. 2005))

- **Transportation (Capital Costs):** the capital costs associated with vehicles (e.g. the annualized^a cost of motorbikes and cars)
- **Transportation (Recurrent Costs):** the recurrent costs associated with transport (e.g. fuel, insurance, maintenance, repairs, and rental costs)
- **Personnel:** the recurrent costs associated with paying salaries to employees (including any supplements or other benefits of employment)
- **Per Diems:** the recurrent costs associated with daily allowances (per diems)
- Supplies and Equipment (Capital Costs): other capital costs associated with a project, (e.g. annualized^a costs of computers, photocopiers, and generators etc.)
- Supplies and Equipment (Recurrent Costs): the recurrent costs associated with project activities and general office running
- **Overheads:** the recurrent indirect costs associated with a project's specific utilities charges, building rental or equivalent
- Volunteer Community Drug Distributor (CDD) Time: the monetary value of the donated time of CDDs and other community members in implementing community directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI)
- ^a The annual share of the initial cost of capital equipment

At each level, and where relevant, interviewees were given the opportunity to express whether they had encountered any specific difficulties with the increasing of treatment frequency.

4.3.4. Data analysis

Costs collected at the national and regional levels, were factored down and costs from the sub-district and community levels factored up, with the aim of arriving at a value for the cost per person treated per year in each district (Figure 4.2). This is described for each of the levels below.



Figure 4.2. Organization levels at which data on cost of ivermectin distribution were collected. *NGO: Non-Governmental Organization.*

National costs:

Of the 73 districts in Ghana where ivermectin is distributed, 40 (55%) are implementing biannual treatment. Consequently, when allocating the national costs to the districts, the costs were weighted according to the district's frequency of treatment. Based on responses to questionnaires, scrutinizing of national records, and conduction of semi-structured interviews, it was estimated that districts treating biannually were responsible for 70% of the total national cost. Separate costs (according to annual or biannual treatment) were allocated equally across districts receiving a certain treatment frequency. Based on interviews at the headquarters of the NTDP and the McFarland *et al.* (2005) study, it was assumed that the main drivers of the national costs by the size of districts' target populations.

Regional costs:

These were distributed among districts using the same frequency of treatment-based weighting as used for the national costs. Due to logistic reasons on the terrain, it was only possible to estimate regional costs from one of the two regions from which districts were sampled. Thus, the costs incurred by the Northern region were assumed to be the same as those estimated from data pertaining to the Brong-Ahafo region.

Sub-district costs:

In each district included in this study one sub-district was sampled. The costs incurred by the sampled sub-districts were multiplied by the number of sub-districts within each district to aggregate the costs to the district level.

Community costs:

In each district included in this study three communities were sampled. In each sampled community, questionnaires were administered to the CDDs to ascertain to how many people they distributed ivermectin, and whether they received compensation from the district (this was corroborated at the local district health centres). Additionally, the opportunity cost of the volunteer CDDs' donated time was estimated by asking CDDs how much time they spent distributing the drug each treatment round. This donated time was converted to an equivalent number of 8-hour working days, which were valued according to the minimum wage in Ghana in 2011 (3.73 Ghana Cedis (GHC) per day (Wageindicator.org, 2012)). This figure

was reported to be equivalent to the daily wage of a hired farmland worker in the Brong-Ahafo region, the occupation of the majority of the interviewed distributors, and was subsequently used to estimate the value of the CDDs donated time across each district. However, to place a precise value on a CDD's donated time is difficult and whether or not it should be included is a matter of debate. Furthermore, the daily wage of a hired farmland worker can vary from district to district, and especially from region to region (Asante & Asenso-Okyere, 2003; Nonvignon *et al.* 2012). Therefore, the economic cost was calculated both including and excluding CDD's donated time, and the sensitivity of the results to the assumed daily wage was investigated (increasing or decreasing it by GHC1.00).

Currency conversion:

All costs were converted from the Ghanaian local currency (GHC), to United States dollars (US\$), using the average 2011 exchange rate of US\$1.00 to GHC1.58 (Exchange-rates.org, 2012). Reported costs from other studies were also converted to 2011 US dollars (using a consumer price index inflation calculator (United States Department of Labor, 2012)) to allow for valid comparison with these results.

4.4. Results

Table 4.2 shows the estimated financial and economic costs (including and excluding volunteer CDDs' time) of CDTI in the four sampled districts. The majority of the costs associated with CDTI were financial, with the extra economic cost per person per year (excluding CDDs' time) only adding US\$0.01–US\$0.03 (this includes the value of donated vehicles and use of free building space).

The estimated economic cost (excluding CDDs' time) of annual treatment in Wenchi district is US\$0.40 per person per year. The economic costs (excluding CDD's time) of biannual treatment in the Pru and Kintampo North districts are approximately 50–60% higher (US\$0.60 and US\$0.64 per person per year respectively) than the corresponding annual costs. The estimated economic cost (excluding CDDs' time) for the Kpandai district (which uses a combination of an annual and biannual strategy –see Table 4.1 for description) is US\$0.43 per person per year. These results were not sensitive to the assumed average useful lifetime of capital goods; changing this from 5 to 8 years only changed the cost per treatment by a maximum of US\$0.015.

Frequency of CDTI $^{\$}$	Annual	Biannual	Biannual	$\mathbf{Mixed}^{^{\dagger}}$
Cost type	Wenchi	Kintampo North	Pru	Kpandai
Financial cost	0.39	0.62	0.58	0.40
Economic cost (excluding volunteer CDD's [‡] time)	0.40	0.64	0.60	0.43
Economic cost* (including volunteer CDD's [‡] time)	0.45	0.73	0.69	0.50

Table 4.2. Financial and economic Costs (US\$) per person treated per year in each district

[§] CDTI: Community-directed treatment with ivermectin. [†] Data from Kpandai district reflect a combination of annual (in 61 of 76 (80%) of the communities in the sampled sub-district) and biannual treatment frequency (see Table 4.1 and main text). [‡] CDD: Community Drug Distributor.* Economic costs include financial costs (monetary transactions) and estimates of the monetary value of goods or services for which no financial transaction has taken place (for example, the opportunity cost of the CDDs' time donated to administer ivermectin rather then working their fields) (UNAIDS, 2000).

4.4.1. Costs disaggregated by resource type and programmatic activity

Figure 4.3 depicts the cost of onchocerciasis control by CDTI disaggregated by resource type in the four sampled districts. The largest proportion of the total cost was associated with the payment of personnel. Recurrent transportation costs, such as the costs of fuel and vehicle maintenance, were the next most costly resource and showed the most variation among districts.

Figure 4.4 depicts the cost of CDTI-based onchocerciasis control disaggregated by programmatic activity in the four sampled districts. Surveillance and evaluation incurred the highest cost, followed by the drug distribution chain. For Pru and Kintampo North districts, the data show a noticeable increase in the reporting cost compared to Wenchi district.



Figure 4.3. Economic costs at district, sub-district, and community levels disaggregated by resource type (excluding CDDs' time). Personnel, Per Diems, Supplies and Equipment (Capital costs), Supplies and Equipment (Recurrent costs), Transportation (Capital costs), Transportation (Recurrent costs), Overheads. Definitions of different resource types are given in Box 4.2. *Data from Kpandai district reflect a combination of annual and biannual treatments.



Figure 4.4. Economic costs at district, sub-district, and community levels disaggregated by programmatic activity (excluding CDDs' time). Training of Volunteers, All Other Training, Mobilization/Sensitization, Drug Distribution Chain, Surveillance and Evaluation, Reporting, All Other Administration, Other Project Activities. Definitions of programmatic activities are given in Box 4.1. *Data from Kpandai district reflect a combination of annual and biannual treatments.

4.4.2. Community distributors

From the pooled community data, it was estimated that there is one CDD for every 390 individuals and they spend an average of 61 hours distributing ivermectin each treatment round. The above value was used with data on the number treated in each district (Table 4.1) to estimate the total amount of time CDDs spend distributing the drug across the whole district. This increased the economic cost by US\$0.046 per person per year when treating annually, and by US\$0.092 when treating biannually (Table 4.2). This result was robust to the assumed daily wage of a hired farmland worker, which when increased or decreased by GHC1.00, only changed the economic cost of CDD per treatment by plus or minus US\$0.012.

The CDDs reported receiving an average equivalent of US\$3.17 in compensation for attending the distribution training sessions (which are conducted before each treatment round), and between US\$3.17 and US\$9.52 after distributing the drug. In this analysis, it was assumed that each distributor received the average (arithmetic mean) of the reported values (a total of US\$9.96 in compensation for both training and distribution for each treatment round).

4.4.3. Reported difficulties

The implementation of a large-scale, mass biannual ivermectin treatment strategy was reported at the district and sub-district level as being well received and perceived as sustainable in the future. However, the disease control officers at the district health centres in the sampled districts in which biannual treatment is being implemented, reported that increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year substantially increased the workload by increasing the amount of time they spent on reporting activities (the percentage of the economic cost at the district, sub-district, and community levels attributed to reporting activities increased from 6% in the districts (Wenchi) treated annually to 15% in the districts treated biannually (Pru and Kintampo North) (Figure 4.4)).

4.5. Discussion

The estimated economic cost of annual CDTI in Wenchi district, i.e. US\$0.40 per person per year excluding CDDs' time, is consistent with the lower range of costs reported by

McFarland *et al.* (2005), who estimated an average economic cost (excluding CDDs' time) of US\$0.62 (2011 prices) per person per year from 10 regions (excluding one region co-endemic with *Loa loa*) across Cameroon, Nigeria and Uganda (with values ranging from US\$0.39 to US\$2.77 (2011 prices)). The estimated cost of annual CDTI presented here is 1.4 times higher than the US\$0.29 (2011 prices) per person estimated by Onwujekwe *et al.* (2002) using data from two Nigerian communities. However, the Nigerian study used a smaller sample of only two communities, and did not collect costs from as an extensive range of sources as this study, or as done by McFarland *et al.* (2005). Katabarwa *et al.* (2002) estimated that in districts of a similar population size to Wenchi, the cost per treatment was US\$0.34 (2011 prices). However, in districts with a larger population (> 100,000 inhabitants) the cost fell substantially to US\$0.13 (2011 prices). These estimates are broadly consistent with the cost of annual mass drug administration (MDA) for lymphatic filariasis control presented by Goldman *et al.* (2007), in which the estimated financial cost per treatment (with donated ivermectin and albendazole) in Ghana was US\$0.21 (2011 prices) but varied between US\$0.08 and US\$2.91 (2011 prices) across the whole multi-country study.

The estimated cost of biannual CDTI per person per year in the Pru and Kintampo North districts was 50–60% higher than the estimated cost of annual (in Wenchi) treatment. This is consistent with the estimated increase in costs associated with biannual MDA for lymphatic filariasis control provided by Stolk *et al.* (2013) (who estimated for Africa, a 63% increase in the cost of treatment per year excluding the value of donated drugs). These costs are higher than estimates for biannual treatment at smaller scales and specific age groups, such as in school-based anthelmintic treatment programmes. For instance, Phommasack *et al.* (2008) found that the annual cost of treatment of soil-transmitted helminthiases in a school-based programme was 35% higher in provinces treating biannually than in those treating annually. However, school-based treatment programmes are implemented differently than community-based programmes and therefore the change in costs of different treatment frequencies cannot be directly compared.

Caution is also advised when comparing the costs of different strategies estimated using data from different districts. This is because districts have different characteristics, such as road conditions, spread of communities, and population densities, which will affect the estimated cost of CDTI. Because of these potential difficulties, study participants in the Pru and

Kintampo North districts were asked to estimate (based on their previous experience) the percentage allocated to a given resource had this resource hypothetically been used for an annual treatment strategy. Thus, the estimated hypothetical economic cost (Table 4.3) of treating annually in the Pru and Kintampo North districts (US\$0.39 and US\$0.43 per person per year, respectively) were consistent with the actual cost estimates of treating annually obtained for Wenchi (US\$0.40 per person per year). This supports the estimated 50–60% increase in costs when treating biannually compared to treating annually. The difficulties associated with comparing fairly costs among districts within Ghana exemplify a more general conundrum of comparing results of health economic analyses conducted in different locations, such as the complexity of comparing data collected from different countries with differently structured economies and healthcare systems, and where public health interventions may comprise different (e.g. school-based versus community-based) modalities of delivery.

Cost Type	Estimated Annual Cost Per Person Treated if Annual Distribution were Implemented	
	Kintampo North	Pru
Financial cost	0.42	0.38
Economic cost (excluding volunteer CDD's time)	0.43	0.39
Economic Cost (including volunteer CDD's time)	0.47	0.44

Table 4.3. Hypothetical cost (US\$) of annual CDTI in Kintampo North and Pru districts, Bro	ng-
Ahafo region, Ghana	

The estimated economic cost of CDTI in the Kpandai district, where both annual and biannual treatments are delivered, likely reflects more closely the cost of annual rather than biannual CDTI since only 15 of 76 (20%) of the communities in the sampled sub-district receive biannual treatment (with the remaining 80% receiving annual CDTI). This possibly explains why the estimated cost per person per year in the Kpandai district was only

marginally higher than that in Wenchi (US\$0.43 for the former versus US\$0.40 for the latter), in which only annual treatments are delivered. Furthermore, Kpandai has a very high population density which could reduce the cost per treatment (as found in Katabarwa *et al.* (2002)). Across the whole district, 122 of 222 (55%) of the communities are treated annually and the remaining 45% receive biannual CDTI. Therefore, it is reasonable to expect overall, the actual cost of ivermectin treatment for Kpandai will lie in between the estimated costs of annual and biannual CDTI.

4.5.1. Costs disaggregated by resource type and programmatic activity

The costs disaggregated by resource type were consistent among the sampled districts. These data are also similar to those presented by McFarland *et al.* (2005). The recurrent transportation cost was notably higher in Kpandai compared with the other districts. This may in part be due to the poorer quality of roads in the area, resulting in higher vehicle maintenance and fuel costs (although many other factors, including the spread of the communities, also affect transportation costs). The costs disaggregated by programmatic activity showed slightly more variation among districts than among the different resource types. It is noteworthy that in the Pru and Kintampo North districts (and to a lesser extent in the Kpandai district), the percentage of the economic cost attributed to reporting activities at the district (15% in Pru and Kintampo North compared to 6% in Wenchi) (Figure 4.4). This was attributed to the increase in treatment frequency and is discussed in further detail in section 4.5.3.

4.5.2. Community distributors

The compensation system for CDDs has recently been implemented in Ghana to cover their transport costs, to facilitate attendance of training days, and to help serve as an added incentive. The amount received by CDDs per treatment round was corroborated at the district health centres. Generally, the reported amount received by the community distributors was very consistent across communities and districts.

Accounting for the volunteer CDDs' time added approximately US\$0.05 per person per treatment round. The is consistent with the value reported by Onwujekwe *et al.* (2002), who

found that taking into account volunteer CDD time in two Nigerian communities added approximately US\$0.07 (2011 prices) per person per treatment round (using the Nigerian minimum wage to value the volunteer CDDs' time). However, both the estimates presented here and the those of Onwujekwe *et al.* (2002) are substantially lower than that reported by McFarland *et al.* (2005), who estimated that accounting for volunteer CDDs' time added an average of US\$0.19 (2011 prices) per treatment round (valuing volunteer time based on the average per capita Gross National Income (GNI) for each of the three countries studied in McFarland *et al.* (2005), namely, Cameroon, Nigeria and Uganda). However, this estimate was highly variable between the different study sites (US\$0.05–0.54 (2011 prices) per treatment round). The use of different methods to value donated CDDs' time (see below) could partly explain the difference (i.e. estimation using the country's minimum wage, or using the country's per capita GNI). Other possible explanations include the occurrence of cultural differences affecting the time it takes to distribute the drug.

As mentioned above, the method used to value the volunteer CDD's time has marked effects on the cost output. For example, it was assumed the market value of the volunteer CDD's time to be US\$2.36 per day (the minimum wage in Ghana of GHC3.73 divided by the 1.58 exchange rate (Exchange-rates.org, 2012)) based on the wage that a farmland worker would receive (i.e. the wage received for the most common alternative occupation) (Wageindicator.org, 2012; World Bank, 2013)). However, had the volunteer CDDs' time been valued using the per capita GNI method (as used by McFarland *et al.* (2005)), this figure would have increased to US\$4.96 per day (Wageindicator.org, 2012; World Bank, 2013). This difference may seem relatively small but when these costs are factored up to the district level, they can become substantial.

4.5.3. Reported obstacles associated with switching from annual to biannual CDTI

Disease control officers at the district health centres reported that increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year increased substantially the amount of time they spent on reporting activities. This is consistent with the costs disaggregated by programmatic activity (Figure 4.4), which indicate that the time spent on reporting activities increased more than any other project activity when comparing biannual and annual treatments. This may potentially lead to

delays in ivermectin being delivered to the districts, if the necessary reports for the next dispatch of drugs are not completed on time (delivery of the next batch of ivermectin being contingent on reporting). Delays in the delivery of treatment to communities not only will have administrative implications, but more importantly, transmission implications. Treating individuals every 6 months is highly important for transmission suppression, as it has been estimated that adult *Onchocerca volvulus* female worms start recovering from the temporary sterilising (embryostatic) effects of ivermectin approximately between three and four months after treatment, and by six months microfilarial production has recuperated to a substantial degree (Basáñez *et al.* 2008). Therefore, delays in treatment will permit more transmission, ultimately making the disease harder to eliminate and diminishing the benefit of treating biannually. National onchocerciasis control programmes which consider increasing CDTI frequency may need to support reporting activities at the district level and potentially at the drug donation programme level to encourage timely reporting but also to allow greater flexibility in deadlines to minimize delays in drug distribution.

4.6. Conclusions

The estimate of the cost of annual CDTI is consistent with the range of values previously reported in the literature (Katabarwa *et al.* 2002; McFarland *et al.* 2005; Onwujekwe *et al.* 2002). The results indicate that the cost of biannual ivermectin treatment was approximately 50–60% higher than the cost of annual treatment, and that simply doubling the cost of annual CDTI does not yield a correct estimate as some studies have assumed (Ndyomugyenyi *et al.* 2007). This is higher than estimates for increasing treatment frequency obtained at smaller scales and when targeting specific age groups, such as those associated with school-based anthelmintic treatment programmes (Phommasack *et al.* 2008), which are not truly relevant for onchocerciasis, but similar to estimates for the more comparable lymphatic filariasis control programme (Stolk *et al.* 2013). This study will be beneficial in informing economic evaluations regarding cost-effectiveness analyses of increasing CDTI frequency from annual to biannual in the African context for the control and elimination of human onchocerciasis.

4.7. Limitations

In Ghana, onchocerciasis control is under the remit of the NTDP and therefore different disease control programmes are often integrated. For example, onchocerciasis and lymphatic filariasis control activities are often carried out simultaneously. Potentially, this can lead to difficulties in obtaining accurate costs for a single disease intervention. In addition, this study was retrospective, and therefore, to a certain extent, the data obtained were subject to some degree of recall bias.

In order to reduce the time and logistical complexity involved in collecting the cost data, the sampling strategy was not random, as we purposely visited local government offices and communities in districts where CDTI was annual, biannual, or a combination of the two. Furthermore, it was only possible to obtain data in one district that implements annual treatment and one sub-district in each of the districts. Also, the selected districts may have been more accessible by road from Accra, the capital of Ghana, than other more remote locations. Nonetheless, there is no reason to assume that the costs reported for the sites included in this study (either delivering annual or biannual CDTI) are not representative of other sub-districts in the area, nor is there a treatment cost-associated reason as to why an area switched from annual to biannual CDTI other than the parasitological criteria listed above. This is confirmed by the similarity of cost estimation of annual treatment between the districts delivering only annual CDTI and the sub-districts also delivering yearly treatment within districts implementing both strategies. Due to logistic reasons, the regional level costs in the Northern region were assumed to be the same as those estimated from Brong-Ahafo region. However, due to differences between the regions (such as road networks and community scattering), the costs incurred in the Northern region may be higher. Nevertheless, this assumption will not affect the main conclusions of the study regarding the relative costs of annual vs. biannual treatment.

Chapter 5: An Economic Evaluation of Increasing the Frequency of Ivermectin Treatment in Africa

5.1 Summary

In this chapter the health impact, programmatic cost, and projected duration of biannual vs. annual ivermectin treatment is evaluated in a range of endemic, economic and programmatic scenarios typical of savannah onchocerciasis foci in Africa. The findings indicate that though biannual treatment yields only small additional health benefits (in terms of DALYs averted) over those of annual treatment, its benefit is pronounced in the context of elimination goals, shortening timeframes to reach the proposed operational thresholds for stopping treatment. Additionally, these projected reductions in programme duration were found to potentially lead to programmatic cost savings. Furthermore, the results indicate that switching to a biannual treatment strategy reduces the heterogeneity in the projected timeframe for elimination among settings with a different pre-control endemicity, and consequently may substantially reduce cross transmission among contiguous onchocerciasis foci and infection re-introduction into controlled areas. However, notwithstanding these conclusions, the feasibility of increasing from one to two treatments yearly will vary with the specific programmatic circumstances.

A modified version of this chapter is currently under review: Turner, H.C., Walker, M., Churcher, T.S., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y., Biritwum, N-K., Hopkins, A., Prichard, R.K. and Basáñez, M-G. Reaching the London Declaration on Negected Tropical Diseases for onchocerciasis: an economic evaluation of increasing the frequency of ivermectin treatment in Africa

5.2. Introduction

The predominant onchocerciasis control strategy in Africa is annual mass drug administration (MDA) with ivermectin. Recently, there has been a shift in onchocerciasis control policy in Africa, with the aim of programmes' changing from morbidity control to elimination of infection (Section 1.9). In this context, switching to biannual (twice per year) treatment in Africa might improve chances of elimination (Gustavsen *et al.* 2011; Ndyomugyenyi *et al.* 2007), a strategy partly motivated by its success in onchocerciasis foci in Latin America (Gustavsen *et al.* 2011) (Gonzalez *et al.* 2009; Rodriguez-Perez *et al.* 2010). Some African countries, such as Ghana and Uganda, have already adopted large-scale biannual treatments in selected foci (Ndyomugyenyi *et al.* 2007; Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2007). However, the likely impact of this strategy more generally in Africa, and how it can help achieve the goals set by the World Health Organization (WHO) and London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases (LDNTD) (World Health Organization, 2013), has not been investigated.

In this chapter, by linking a transmission dynamics model (Chapter 2), disease model (Chapter 3) and cost data (Chapter 4), the health impact, programmatic cost and projected duration, of biannual versus annual ivermectin treatment is evaluated evaluate in a range of endemic, economic and programmatic scenarios typical of savannah onchocerciasis foci in Africa.

5.3. Method

5.3.1. Operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by surveillance (OTTIS)

Based on experiences in foci in Mali and Senegal (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012), cessation of onchocerciasis control in the OCP and ONCHOSIM projections, APOC has set operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by Surveillance (OTTIS). Namely, these are a microfilarial prevalence (by skin snipping) <5% in all surveyed villages and <1% in 90% of such villages, and <0.5 infective larvae per 1,000 flies (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010). Based on these thresholds, it was assumed that when the modelled microfilarial prevalence (all ages) fell to <1.4% (the weighted mean (arithmetic) of

the two prevalence thresholds above), measured just before the next treatment round, the OTTIS would have been achieved, determining MDA programme duration. It is important to realise that the OTTIS values are not truly a transmission breakpoint (parasite density below which the worm population would not be able to maintain itself (Basáñez *et al.* 2009; Duerr *et al.* 2011; Gambhir *et al.* 2009)), but rather programmatic goals indicating the cessation of MDA and the commencement of post-MDA surveillance. As OTTIS values are provisional, they are varied in the sensitivity analysis (Table 5.1).

5.3.2. Health impact

The number of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) averted were used to quantify the health impact of ivermectin, combining into a single metric the burden of onchocercal disease resulting from blindness, visual impairment, troublesome itching and premature death (see Chapter 3 for a description of the disease model). DALYs are particularly useful for policy makers and healthcare providers, because they are a more comprehensive measure of population health than mortality estimates, allowing comparisons among a wide range of health interventions (Disease Control Priorities Project, 2006).

5.3.3. Costs of mass drug administration

Based on costing data collected in savannah foci in Ghana (Chapter 4), it was estimated that the economic cost of annual community-directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI) is US\$41,536 per target population of 100,000 individuals (overall population) per year (2012 prices) and that this would increase by 60% when treating biannually (Chapter 4). (This cost of annual CDTI was derived from the cost per treatment and population size of the Wenchi district, presented in Tables 4.1 and 4.2 (inflated to 2012 US\$ (United States Department of Labor, 2012))). However, due to uncertainty in generalising this estimated cost increase to other African countries, this was varied in the sensitivity analysis (Table 5.1). Costs were collected from the health care providers' perspective, i.e., national control programmes of endemic countries, non-government organization (NGO) partners, and volunteer community distributors (CDD) (Chapter 4). However, as part of the sensitivity analysis the additional economic value of donated ivermectin tablets was also included, assuming a commercial, per tablet, price of US\$1.50 plus US\$0.005 shipping costs, and that an average treatment requires 2.8 tablets per person (Coffeng *et al.* 2013).

5.3.4 Model outcomes and sensitivity analysis

The model was used to compare the impact of annual versus biannual CDTI over a 50-year time horizon in terms of the projected health impact (DALYs averted), programme cost and duration. This long-time horizon was used in order to compare adequately the two strategies in the context of 2020/2025 elimination goals; MDA programmes have been on-going in many areas since the mid 1990's (and in some since 1988) – see section 1.5. Three pre-control endemicity levels, namely, 40%, 60% and 80% pre-control microfilarial prevalence, were investigated to represent a range from mesoendemic to highly hyperendemic areas (Table 1.1). A summary of the pre-control conditions for the three endemicity levels investigated is shown in Table 3.1. Changing to a biannual treatment strategy at different stages of an ongoing annual MDA programme was also investigated; switching to twice-yearly CDTI at microfilarial prevalence values of 30%, 20% and 15%, motivated by programmatic assessments conducted in Ghana before switching to biannual treatment in 2009 (Chapter 4). In line with WHO guidelines (World Health Organization, 2003), a discount rate of 3% was applied to both the health benefits and the costs, and this rate was varied in the sensitivity analysis.

Table 5.1 summarises the parameter definitions and values that were explored in the sensitivity analysis.

Parameters	Values
Overall proportion of the total population receiving ivermectin at each round, referred to as therapeutic coverage	60-80%
Proportion of the eligible population who never take treatment, referred to as the proportion of systematic non-compliers	0.1-5%
Increase in cost (per year) of biannual compared to annual community-directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI)	40-80%
Discount rate applied to the health benefits and costs	0-6%
Inclusion of the economic value of the donated ivermectin tablets	See 5.3.3. Cost of mass drug administration
The per dose reduction in microfilarial production of female adult worms, referred to as the anti-macrofilarial action of ivermectin	7-30%
Operational thresholds for treatment interruption followed by surveillance (OTTIS)	1.4±0.5% microfilarial prevalence

Table 5.1. Summary of parameter definitions and values explored in the sensitivity analysis

5.4. Results

Model outputs indicate that annual CDTI is highly cost-effective (Table 5.2 and Figure 5.1). The health impact, cost-effectiveness, and projected MDA duration, were strongly related to pre-control endemicity levels; the higher the pre-control microfilarial prevalence, the greater the health impact and cost-effectiveness but the longer the projected programme duration (Table 5.2 and Figure 5.2).

Pre-control endemicity Ratio of total Ratio of total cost **Cost-effectiveness** Incremental costhealth impact (biannual/annual) ratio of annual effectiveness ratio of (microfilarial prevalence) (biannual/annual) biannual ivermectin ivermectin treatment (US\$)[†] treatment (US\$) § 11** 48* Mesoendemic (40%) 1.03 1.13 Hyperendemic (60%) 5** 31** 1.03 1.16 3** Highly hyperendemic (80%) 1.03 1.12 12**

Table 5.2. Cost-effectiveness of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control at different levels of pre-control endemicity

⁺ The ratio of the total cost and the total number of DALYs averted (i.e. the cost per DALY averted) of an annual ivermectin treatment programme. [§] The ratio of the incremental cost and the incremental number of DALYs averted by a biannual compared to annual ivermectin treatment programme (i.e. the extra cost per extra health gain). **Highly cost-effective (< US\$40 per DALY averted), *cost-effective (US\$40 to US\$238 per DALY averted) based on the World Bank cost-effectiveness thresholds (inflated to their 2012 equivalent) (World Bank, 1993). The analysis was performed with a 50-year time horizon, discount rate of 3% applied both to costs and health benefits, therapeutic coverage of 80%, 0.1% systematic non-compliers, perennial transmission, and 7% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose. Costs do not include those incurred by Merck & Co. A summary of the pre-control conditions is provided in Table 3.1.



Figure 5.1. Univariate sensitivity analysis of the cost-effectiveness of an annual ivermectin treatment programme for onchocerciasis control. Panels *A*, *B*, and *C* correspond to, respectively, a pre-control endemicity of 40%, 60%, and 80% microfilarial prevalence. The baseline costeffectiveness (with the assumptions outlined in the legend of Table 5.2) is indicated by the thin grey horizontal line. i: Decrease in therapeutic coverage from 80% to 60%. ii: Increase in the proportion of systematic non-compliance from 0.1% to 5%. iii: Change in the discount rate from 3% \pm 3% (i.e. 0-6%). iv: Inclusion of the value of the donated ivermectin tablets. v: Higher anti-macrofilarial action of ivermectin (i.e. a 30% instead of a 7% per dose reduction in microfilarial production of exposed female adult worms). vi: Different operational thresholds for treatment interruption (1.4 \pm 0.5%). Thick and thin dashed lines represent the thresholds for the intervention being highly cost-effective <US\$40 per DALY averted), and cost-effective (<US\$238 per DALY averted), based on World Bank criteria of cost per DALY averted (inflated to their 2012 equivalent).



Figure 5.2. Comparison of annual vs. biannual ivermectin treatment in areas where onchocerciasis control has not been previously implemented. Annual and biannual ivermectin treatments are indicated by solid and dashed bars respectively. Error bars represent varying the operational thresholds for treatment interruption (1.4% microfilarial prevalence) by ± 0.5%. The analysis was performed with a 50-year time horizon, discount rate of 3% applied both to costs and health benefits, therapeutic coverage of 80%, 0.1% of systematic non-compliers, perennial transmission, and a 7% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose. A summary of the pre-control conditions is provided in Table 3.1. *Operational threshold for treatment interruption not attained within the 50 year time horizon. ‡ Costs do not include those incurred by Merck & Co.

The projected incremental health gain of biannual versus annual CDTI (i.e. the additional number of DALYs averted) was small, with biannual treatment not being more cost-effective than annual treatment (Table 5.2). However, biannual treatment notably shortened the projected duration of MDA. Additionally, switching from an annual to a biannual treatment strategy during an ongoing MDA programme can also reduce programme duration, particularly in highly hyperendemic areas (where annual CDTI would not suffice to reach OTTIS), potentially generating programmatic cost savings (Figure 5.3). Though, in mesoendemic foci the reduction in programme duration was less pronounced. Furthermore, the heterogeneity in the projected programme duration among areas of different pre-control endemicity is substantially reduced when using a biannual treatment strategy (Figure 5.3).


Figure 5.3. Impact of switching to biannual ivermectin treatment at different stages of an ongoing annual onchocerciasis treatment programme. Panels A, B, and C correspond to, respectively, switching from annual to biannual treatment at 30%, 20%, and 15% microfilarial prevalence. The green, blue and red lines correspond to, respectively, a pre-control endemicity of 40%, 60%, and 80% microfilarial prevalence. Annual and biannual ivermectin treatments are indicted by solid and dashed bars respectively. Error bars represent varying the operational thresholds for treatment interruption by \pm 0.5%. The number of additional years of treatment and the ratio of additional costs are considered from the point of the switch to biannual treatment (as opposed to the start of control). The microfilarial prevalence at the time of the switch was assumed to be measured just before the next round of treatment is distributed. Modelling assumptions are as in the legend of Figure 5.2.* Operational threshold for treatment interruption not attained within the 50 year time horizon. \pm Costs do not include those incurred by Merck & Co.

5.4.1 Sensitivity analysis

Therapeutic Coverage and Compliance:

Varying the levels of therapeutic coverage and systematic non-compliance (Table 5.1) did not affect substantially the projected health impact of annual or biannual CDTI (Table 5.3). However, if the therapeutic coverage is low, there is a slightly greater incremental health gain when treating biannually (Table 5.4). Varying coverage and compliance markedly influenced the projected programme duration and total cost of MDA; therapeutic coverage exerted a more pronounced effect (which increased with increasing pre-control endemicity) on annual CDTI, while systematic non-compliance had a pronounced effect on biannual CDTI (Tables 5.3-5.4 and Figure 5.4).

Pre-control endemicity	Percentage of health impa	change in ct	Percentage change in total cost		Percentage change in programme duration			
	Annual	Biannual	Annual	Biannual	Annual	Biannual		
Effect of assuming 60% versus 80% overall therapeutic coverage								
Mesoendemic	-5%	-1%	24%	15%	35%	27%		
Hyperendemic	-4%	-1%	27%	14%	48%	19%		
Highly hyperendemic	-3%	-1%	NA	25%	NA	46%		
Effect of assuming 5% versus 0.1% systematic non-compliance								
Mesoendemic	-2%	-2%	13%	35%	18%	45%		
Hyperendemic	-2%	-3%	17%	34%	28%	50%		
Highly hyperendemic	-3%	-4%	NA	43%	NA	285%		

Table 5.3. Sensitivity of health impact, total cost and duration of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to different levels of coverage and systematic non-compliance

NA: Operational thresholds for treatment interruption not attained within the 50-year time horizon. Pre-control microfilarial prevalence and modelling assumptions are as in the legend of Table 5.2.

Pre-control endemicity	Systematic	80% overall therape	utic coverage	60% overall therapeutic coverage		
	non-compliance	Ratio of total health impact (biannual/annual)	Ratio of total cost (biannual/annual)	Ratio of total health impact (biannual/annual)	Ratio of total cost (biannual/annual)	
Mesoendemic	0.1%	1.03	1.13	1.07	1.11	
	5.0%	1.03	1.35	1.07	1.24	
Hyperendemic	0.1%	1.03	1.16	1.07	1.04	
	5.0%	1.02	1.33	1.06	1.19	
Highly hyperendemic	0.1%	1.03	1.12	1.07	1.40	
	5.0%	1.02	1.60	1.05	1.60	

Table 5.4. Sensitivity of the relative health impact and total cost of biannual compared to annual ivermectin treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to different levels of coverage and systematic non-compliance

Pre-control microfilarial prevalence and modelling assumptions are as in the legend of Table 5.2.



Figure 5.4. Sensitivity of the projected duration of an annual and biannual ivermectin treatment programme for onchocerciasis control to different levels of coverage and systematic noncompliance. Panels A, B, and C correspond to, respectively, a pre-control endemicity of 40%, 60%, and 80% microfilarial prevalence. Dark brown bars represent the increment in programme duration as a result of a decrease in the assumed therapeutic coverage from 80% to 60%. Annual and biannual ivermectin treatments are indicted by solid and dashed bars respectively. The analysis was performed with a 50-year time horizon and a 7% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose.* Operational threshold not attained within the 50 year time horizon.

Economic Assumptions:

The incremental total cost of starting with, or switching to, biannual treatment was highly sensitive to the relative increase in the cost of biannual versus annual CDTI (Table 5.5). Increasing the discount rate reduced the cost-effectiveness of both annual and biannual CDTI, with this reduction being more pronounced the lower the pre-control endemicity level.

The cost-effectiveness of both annual and biannual CDTI (and the potential cost savings) was substantially reduced by the inclusion of the economic value of the donated ivermectin tablets. However, the cost-effectiveness ratios of annual treatment remained under the World Bank thresholds for this strategy to be considered as cost-effective (Tables 5.6 and 5.7) (World Bank, 1993).

Table 5.5. Sensitivity of the total cost of biannual compared to annual treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to an increase in the yearly cost of biannual community-directed treatment with ivermectin

Schedule of biannual ivermectin treatment strategy	Pre-control endemicity	Increase in cost (per year) of biannual with respect to annual community- directed treatment with ivermectin			
		40%	80%		
Biannual ivermectin treatment im the programme	Ratio of the total costs (biannual/annual)				
	Mesoendemic	0.99	1.27		
	Hyperendemic	1.02	1.31		
	Highly hyperendemic	0.98	1.26		
Switching to biannual treatment a microfilarial prevalence in an ong programme	Ratio of the additional total costs* (biannual/annual)				
30% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	0.99	1.27		
	Hyperendemic	1.04	1.34		
	Highly hyperendemic	0.85	1.09		
20% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	0.95	1.23		
	Hyperendemic	0.97	1.25		
	Highly hyperendemic	0.76	0.97		
15% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	0.95	1.23		
	Hyperendemic	0.91	1.17		
	Highly hyperendemic	0.66	0.85		

* The ratio of additional costs is considered from the point of switching from annual to biannual treatment (as opposed to from the start of control). When switching from annual to biannual treatment, infection (microfilarial) prevalence was assumed to be measured at the beginning of the programmatic year (i.e. just before treatment is distributed). Pre-control microfilarial prevalence and modelling assumptions are as in the legend of Table 5.2.

Table 5.6. Sensitivity of the cost-effectiveness of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment
programmes for onchocerciasis control to the discount rate, and the economic value of the donated
ivermectin tablets

Pre-control endemicity	Cost-effectiveness ratio of annual ivermectin treatment (US\$) [†]			Incremental cost-effectiveness ratio of biannual ivermectin treatment (US\$) [§]					
Excluding the value of (donated) ivermectin tablets									
	Discou	nt rate		Discount rate					
	0%	3%	6%	0%	3%	6%			
Mesoendemic	6**	11**	17**	13**	48*	87*			
Hyperendemic	3**	5**	9**	5**	31**	61*			
Highly hyperendemic	2**	3**	5**	2**	12**	42*			
Including the value of (donated) ivermectin tablets									
	Discount rate			Discount rate					
	0%	3%	6%	0%	3%	6%			
Mesoendemic	51*	97*	156*	846	1,302	1,789			
Hyperendemic	26**	49*	80*	408	750	1,118			
Highly hyperendemic	19**	29**	42*	16**	334	717			

⁺ The ratio of the total cost and the total number of DALYs averted (i.e. the cost per DALY averted) of an annual ivermectin treatment programme. [§] The ratio of the incremental cost and the incremental number of DALYs averted by a biannual compared to annual ivermectin treatment programme (i.e. the extra cost per extra health gain). ** Highly cost-effective (< US\$40 per DALY averted), * cost-effective (US\$40 to US\$238 per DALY averted) based on the World Bank cost-effectiveness thresholds (inflated to their 2012 equivalent) (World Bank, 1993). Pre-control microfilarial prevalence and modelling assumptions are as in the legend of Table 5.2.

Schedule of biannual ivermectin treatment strategy			Ratio of total cost			Ratio of total cost		
and initial level of onchocerciasis endemicity		(biannual/annual)			(biannual/annual)			
		Excluding the value of (donated) ivermectin tablets			Including the value of (donated) ivermectin tablets			
Biannual ivermectin treatment implemented from start of the programme		Discount rate			Discount rate			
		0%	3%	6%	0%	3%	6%	
	Mesoendemic	1.04	1.13	1.22	1.27	1.38	1.49	
	Hyperendemic	1.03	1.16	1.28	1.26	1.42	1.57	
	Highly hyperendemic	0.83	1.12	1.34	1.02	1.37	1.64	
Switching to biannual treatment at different levels of microfilarial prevalence in an ongoing annual treatment programme		Discount rate			Discount rate			
		0%	3%	6%	0%	3%	6%	
30% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	1.04	1.13	1.22	1.27	1.38	1.49	
	Hyperendemic	1.07	1.19	1.30	1.31	1.46	1.59	
	Highly hyperendemic	0.67	0.97	1.22	0.82	1.19	1.49	
20% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	1.00	1.09	1.18	1.23	1.34	1.44	
	Hyperendemic	0.99	1.11	1.22	1.22	1.36	1.49	
	Highly hyperendemic	0.58	0.87	1.13	0.71	1.06	1.38	
15% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	1.00	1.09	1.18	1.23	1.34	1.44	
	Hyperendemic	0.93	1.04	1.14	1.14	1.27	1.40	
	Highly hyperendemic	0.48	0.75	1.02	0.59	0.92	1.24	

Table 5.7. Sensitivity of the relative total cost of biannual compared to annual treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to the discount rate

Pre-control microfilarial prevalence and modelling assumptions are as in the legend of Table 5.2

Ivermectin Anti-Macrofilarial Action:

The magnitude of the assumed anti-macrofilarial effect of ivermectin (on rates of microfilarial production by female worms) had little influence on health impact (Chapter 3). However, the larger the assumed effect, the shorter the projected duration of annual MDA (underscoring the desirability of having a truly macrofilaricidal drug, or a drug with a more profound effect on female worm fertility). This consequently decreased the incremental benefit (in terms of the reduction in programme duration) of switching to biannual treatment, particularly in highly hyperendemic areas. Under greater anti-macrofilarial action scenarios, biannual treatment would still considerably shorten projected programme duration, but would not generate programmatic cost savings (Table 5.8).

Table 5.8. Sensitivity of the health impact, total cost and duration of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment programmes for onchocerciasis control to the magnitude of the anti-macrofilarial action of ivermectin

Schedule of ivermectin treatment strategy and initial level of onchocerciasis endemicity		Ratio total of health impact	Ratio total of costs (biannual/	Projected duration of treatment programme (years)				
		(biannual/ annual)	annual)	Annual frequency	Biannual frequency			
Annual or biannual ivermectin treatment implemented from start of the programme								
	Mesoendemic	1.03	1.26	12	9			
	Hyperendemic	1.04	1.38	17	14			
	Highly hyperendemic	1.04	1.14	38	22			
Switching to biannual treatment at different levels of microfilarial prevalence in an ongoing annual treatment programme								
30% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	1.03	1.22	11	8			
	Hyperendemic	1.04	1.44	16	14			
	Highly hyperendemic	1.04	1.09	34	19			
20% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	1.03	1.22	11	8			
	Hyperendemic	1.04	1.43	15	13			
	Highly hyperendemic	1.04	1.09	32	18			
15% microfilarial prevalence	Mesoendemic	1.03	1.22	11	8			
	Hyperendemic	1.03	1.39	13	11			
	Highly hyperendemic	1.04	1.08	30	17			

The analysis was performed with a 50-year time horizon, discount rate of 3% applied both to costs and health benefits, therapeutic coverage of 80%, 0.1% systematic non-compliers, perennial transmission, and 30% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose. Costs do not include those incurred by Merck & Co.

5.5 Discussion

These results suggest that annual CDTI has a large and highly cost-effective impact on human health. This is consistent with previous appraisals (Benton, 1998; Remme *et al.* 2006), including a study by Coffeng *et al.* (2013) which estimated that APOC costs US\$27 per DALY averted, (this programme wide estimate would include forest areas, which have a different relationship between infection and sequelae; for example generally less blindness is found in forest foci – see section 1.2). Reaching the operational thresholds suggested by APOC (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010), in mesoendemic and borderline hyperendemic areas (those close to 60% microfilarial prevalence) is likely to be feasible for 2020/2025 using annual CDTI if coverage and compliance levels are high, in agreement with epidemiological observations (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012). However, these observations pertain to foci with seasonal by *Simulium sirbanum* as opposed to perennial transmission.

By contrast, these projections indicate that in initially highly hyperendemic areas (represented here by 80% microfilarial prevalence), it may not be feasible to reach the proposed operational thresholds with annual ivermectin treatment alone, even with high levels of coverage and compliance. This is because, in the absence of vector control, there is substantial transmission between consecutive annual treatments under scenarios of perennial transmission (Chapter 3) (Figure 5.5). Although under these conditions, biannual ivermectin treatment would only have a small additional health impact—and would be deemed less cost-effective than annual treatment in terms of the additional cost per additional DALY averted—it would lead to reduced programme duration.



Figure 5.5. A comparison of the impact of annual and biannual ivermectin treatment on onchocercal microfilarial intensity. Annual and biannual ivermectin treatments are indicated by solid and dashed lines respectively. Panels A, B, and C correspond to, respectively, a pre-control endemicity of 40%, 60%, and 80% microfilarial prevalence. Microfilarial intensity is quantified as the mean (arithmetic) microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years. The analysis was performed assuming a therapeutic coverage of 80%, 0.1% systematic non-compliers, perennial transmission, and a 7% cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by female adult worms per ivermectin dose.

The impact of biannual treatment was strongly related to pre-control endemicity, with greater projected benefits for higher initial infection prevalence, greatly reducing the residual intertreatment transmission (Figure 5.5). In areas with lower pre-control endemicity (lower vector biting rates) such transmission becomes less important and biannual treatment has a lesser impact, yet still shorten programme duration (Figure 5.2 and 5.5). These projections also indicate a notable benefit of switching to biannual treatment during an ongoing annual MDA programme (Figure 5.3). This is supported by a recent epidemiological study in the Abu Hamed focus of Sudan, which reported that switching from annual to biannual treatment from 2007 hastened interruption of transmission (Higazi *et al.* 2013), as well as by reports of interruption of transmission in the Wadelai focus of northwest Uganda, where treatment frequency was increased to twice a year from 2006 (Katabarwa *et al.* 2012). This suggests that the true value of a biannual treatment strategy lies in its potential to accelerate progress towards reaching the elimination goals proposed by the LDNTD and WHO, instead of bringing additional health gains. Therefore, cost-effectiveness ratios (i.e. the cost per DALY averted or health gain within a given time horizon), are not necessarily the most informative metric by which to judge biannual CDTI. This highlights the need for the development of further economic evaluation frameworks, which better account for the long term benefits of elimination, to appraise more appropriately the potential impact of alternative treatment strategies for those NTDs targeted for elimination (World Health Organization, 2013).

5.5.1 Sensitivity analysis

Coverage and Compliance:

The health impact of ivermectin treatment was very robust across a range of different levels of therapeutic coverage and systematic non-compliance. Therapeutic coverage has a large bearing on the projected programme duration and total cost of annual treatment, which is consistent with the results of other modelling studies (African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control, 2010; Winnen et al. 2002). However, levels of systematic non-compliance have an even larger influence on the projected incremental cost and programme duration of biannual MDA (Figure 5.4). This has important programmatic implications; in areas where there is low coverage but high compliance, biannual treatment may still provide benefit. This highlights the need to evaluate and understand the determinants of systematic noncompliance in programmatic evaluations (Chapter 2). The deleterious effect of low coverage and high systematic non-compliance increased in areas of high initial endemicity. In highly hyperendemic areas with low coverage and/or high systematic non-compliance, even a biannual treatment strategy may not be sufficient to reach the proposed OTTIS. This highlights the importance of implementing or developing alternative or complementary intervention tools (Taylor et al. 2010) such as vector control, macrofilaricidal therapies, more potent microfilaricides, and/or vaccines, as well as of conducting modelling studies to inform how best to combine these according to epidemiological and programmatic setting.

These projections indicate that in communities with only moderate therapeutic coverage of annual CDTI (e.g. 60%), efforts to increase the coverage to a higher level (e.g. 80%) may have a similar (yet smaller) effect than increasing treatment frequency. However, it was

assumed that the level of therapeutic coverage and systematic non-compliance is independent of treatment frequency. Yet it is conceivable that increasing treatment frequency to twice yearly may reduce systematic non-compliance and/or increase coverage because drug distribution would not always occur at the same time each year, with some individuals potentially being consistently missed due to seasonal work. In these circumstances, biannual treatment might have a larger impact than that presented here (provided sufficient efforts are made to maintain high coverage and compliance).

Economic Assumptions:

The Ghana-specific estimate of a 60% increase in the cost (per year) of biannual versus annual CDTI (excluding the value of the donated drug) (Chapter 4) is consistent with values for the increase in cost of biannual drug distribution for lymphatic filariasis control in Africa (Stolk *et al.* 2013). However, this cost will undoubtedly vary among countries and programmatic scenarios. The sensitivity analysis illustrates that it has a large effect on the incremental cost of implementing from the start, or switching to biannual treatment. This highlights the need for countries considering changing to biannual treatment to assess the potential cost increase for their specific situation and other co-endemic infections.

Despite the inclusion of the large economic value of the donated ivermectin tablets, annual CDTI remained cost-effective, although such inclusion did raise the incremental cost of biannual treatment (Tables 5.6 and 5.7). Further examination is necessary of other potential costs associated with increasing treatment frequency incurred by Merck & Co., such as those of establishing new production lines to meet higher demands for ivermectin tablets.

Ivermectin Anti-Macrofilarial Action:

The magnitude of ivermectin-induced anti-macrofilarial effects has an important bearing on the relative benefit of biannual treatment (and possibly drives potential discrepancies between the conclusions of different modelling studies regarding the relative benefit of biannual treatment) (Chapter 2). Under assumptions of a larger cumulative reduction on microfilarial production by adult worms, the relative impact of biannual treatment decreases and ceases to be strongly associated with pre-control endemicity levels. This is because a greater cumulative effect on microfilarial production reduces the level of residual transmission occurring between consecutive annual treatments (Chapter 2). Nevertheless, a biannual treatment strategy would still shorten programme duration, particularly in highly hyperendemic areas, although it might not generate cost savings (Table 5.8).

5.6. Conclusions

Biannual ivermectin treatment yields only small additional health benefits over those of annual treatment. However, in the context of elimination goals, the benefit of biannual treatment is pronounced, shortening timeframes to reach proposed operational thresholds in the 2020/2025 timeframes. This applies both to scenarios deploying the biannual strategy from the outset, or switching from an existing annual strategy. This effect becomes more pronounced for settings with high pre-intervention endemicity; in highly hyperendemic areas reaching such thresholds would only be possible using biannual CDTI, provided therapeutic coverage and compliance are high. A biannual treatment strategy also reduces the heterogeneity in the projected programme duration among settings with a different precontrol endemicity, and could act to mitigate cross transmission among contiguous onchocerciasis foci, as well as to reduce infection re-introduction into controlled areas. Reductions in programme duration could potentially lead to programmatic cost savings. Projected outputs depend on assumptions of effects of prolonged ivermectin treatment on adult worms, coverage, compliance, and association between infection and disease.

Besides cost, shorter programmes are more attractive to donors, health officials and politicians, and are at a lower risk of disruption by economic and political instability. Notwithstanding these conclusions, the feasibility of increasing from one to two treatments yearly will vary with the specific programmatic circumstances of the country, availability of resources, and incremental cost. The benefit and cost of biannual treatment is particularly sensitive to levels of systematic non-compliance, (i.e. the proportion of the eligible population who never take treatment) stressing the need for programmes to strive for high compliance or at least quantify it, not just focusing on therapeutic coverage, in order to understand the determinants of success or lack thereof when monitoring and evaluating progress towards the LDNTD and WHO elimination goals.

159

5.7. Limitations

Currently, EpiOncho is parameterised for savannah areas of Africa (Filipe *et al.* 2005). Consequently, conclusions are not necessarily directly generalizable to forest settings, which have different relationships between infection and sequelae, and where onchocerciasis vectors are different members of the *S. damnosum* s.l. complex (section 1.2) (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; Bradley *et al.* 2005; Dadzie *et al.* 1989; Duke, 1990). Additionally, the disease burden associated with disfiguring skin lesions was not quantified, and therefore the overall health impact and cost-effectiveness of CDTI may be underestimated (as discussed in Chapter 3).

A fundamental assumption of the model is that of closed populations; there is no cross transmission or 'spill over' infection between contiguous or otherwise proximate onchocerciasis foci. In reality, this is seldom the case, and in some areas treatment cannot be stopped due to the threat of re-introduction of infection from nearby areas where transmission is more intense, requiring more frequent or longer MDA. This would incur a cost which is not captured in this study. Consequently, the true programmatic value of the potential for biannual treatment to reduce heterogeneity in programme duration among areas with different infection endemicities (different transmission intensities) is likely to be considerably underestimated. Furthermore, this analysis is performed within a 50-year time horizon, and therefore, the true cost of having to continue annual CDTI beyond this point, particularly in highly hyperendemic areas is not captured. Consequently, the potential cost savings generated by biannual CDTI are also underestimated.

Furthermore, it was implicitly assumed that onchocerciasis control is conducted independently from other control programmes. However, onchocerciasis and lymphatic filariasis control activities are often carried out simultaneously. The possible implications of this on the programme costs, drug supplies, donation programmes, and duration of drug distribution were not considered in this analysis. For instance, if MDA frequency were increased for lymphatic filariasis control, it may reduce the relative increase in cost of biannual CDTI for onchocerciasis.

Additionally, the analysis assumed that ivermectin's efficacy remained unchanged for the entire duration of the MDA programmes and does not decrease due to development of ivermectin resistance. Further investigation is needed regarding how sub-optimal responses to

ivermectin (such as those reported in several communities in Ghana (Awadzi *et al.* 2004a; Awadzi *et al.* 2004b; Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2011; Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2007)), may influence the potential benefit of biannual compared to annual ivermectin treatment.

Moreover, it will be important to develop more comprehensive costing functions, accounting for how the costs of annual and biannual MDA may change with scale (and as mentioned above, be influenced by other related control strategies).

Although the current OTTIS, are supported by the epidemiological and entomological evaluations in Mali and Senegal (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012) (for both annual and biannual MDA), further validation / comparison to true transmission breakpoints in different ecological and epidemiology settings is required.

EpiOncho is a deterministic model and it does not account for the influence of random events (which become particularly important at low infection levels). Consequently the potential influence of stochastic process on the time to reach the OTTIS was not captured in this analysis. Though, it should be noted that the current simulations are consistent with epidemiological observations in Mali, Senegal and Nigeria (Diawara *et al.* 2009; Tekle *et al.* 2012; Traore *et al.* 2012), where the OTTIS was reached after 15–17 years of annual ivermectin distribution. Furthermore, the goal was not to predict the time to reach the OTTIS (or elimination) accurately for any particular country, but to investigate the relative benefit of biannual treatment and although stochastic process may cause variations in the estimated number of years to reach the OTTIS, they are unlikely to affect this relative benefit of biannual treatment.

Chapter 6: Conclusions

6.1. Summary of Key Findings

The key findings of this thesis are as follows:

- If ivermectin does not have a large anti-macrofilarial action, as previously assumed in many modelling studies (Coffeng *et al.* 2013; Winnen *et al.* 2002), elimination of onchocerciasis in (highly) hyperendemic areas may not be feasible with annual ivermectin distribution alone.
- The recent estimates of the global burden of onchcoercal disease (Murray *et al.* 2012), which did not include any excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis or prevalent vision loss cases, are being underestimated.
- Although, long term annual ivermectin treatment is highly effective at reducing the morbidity and excess mortality associated with onchocerciasis, its overall impact on microfilarial prevalence and intensity depends strongly on baseline endemicity, treatment coverage and compliance.
- The cost (per year) of biannual ivermectin distribution is approximately 60% higher than the cost of annual treatment. Therefore simply doubling the cost of annual community-directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI) (as some studies have assumed (Ndyomugyenyi *et al.* 2007)) does not yield a correct estimate.
- Biannual treatment increases the feasibility of, and shortens the timeframes for, reaching the proposed operational thresholds for stopping treatment.
- The benefit and cost of biannual treatment are particularly sensitive to levels of systematic non-compliance.

6.2. Policy Implications

While biannual treatment yields only small additional health benefits over those of annual treatment, in the context of the recent elimination goals, its benefit is pronounced, shortening the timeframes for and increasing the feasibility of, reaching the proposed operational thresholds for stopping treatment. Indeed, in settings with high pre-control endemicity

reaching such thresholds would only be possible by switching to biannual ivermectin treatment. A biannual treatment strategy could also act to mitigate cross transmission among contiguous onchocerciasis foci, as well as to reduce the chance of infection re-introduction into controlled areas. This has important policy implications and implies that increasing the treatment frequency should be considered, particularly in highly hyperendemic areas.

However, as discussed in Chapter 5, it may not always be feasible to increase the treatment frequency, particularly where resources or access to the villages are limited. Additionally the benefit of biannual treatment is highly sensitive to the level of systematic non-compliance, stressing the need for programmes to evaluate treatment compliance as well as therapeutic coverage.

A summary of the principal findings of the thesis was presented at a Mectizan Donation Program (MDP) meeting held in Accra, Ghana, in April 2013 (see Appendix A).

6.3. Future Research Directions

6.3.1. Further model parameterization

EpiOncho is parameterised for the savannah areas of Africa and the results are not necessarily directly generalizable to the forest areas which have a different relationship between infection and sequelae (Basáñez *et al.* 2006; Bradley *et al.* 2005; Duke, 1990). Furthermore, the model's parameters for vector competence, survival, and host choice were those for savannah species of the *Simulium damnosum sensu lato* (s.l.) complex (Basáñez *et al.* 2009; Filipe *et al.* 2005). The influence of different combinations of vectors, such as those in the forest areas, on the impact of ivermectin control and the optimum treatment strategy requires further investigation.

Additionally, the presented results assume that transmission is perennial i.e. occurs all year. Further examination of the influence different seasonal patterns of transmission (and the relative timing of drug distribution), have on the overall impact of long term ivermectin control will be essential to best inform the design of control programmes. Furthermore, it will be important that a stochastic version of EpiOncho is developed, that can capture the potential influence of stochastic process on the model projections.

6.3.2. Alternative interventions

This thesis focused on evaluating increasing the treatment frequency of ivermectin distribution to twice a year. However a number of alternative strategies are also being developed that require further consideration.

Macrofilaricides:

The macrofilaricidal drugs (such as flubendazole and anti-Wolbachia therapies) that are under development may be useful in several situations, such as; in highly hyperendemic areas; where *Onchocerca volvulus-Loa loa* are co-endemic; in communities where sub-optimal responses to ivermectin have been reported; and mop-up activities in areas close to elimination (Taylor *et al.* 2009). However, further work is needed to investigate the most cost-effective target group and treatment frequency of these drugs.

Moxidectin:

Moxidectin is a highly efficacious microfilaricide, which may cause a more prolonged suppression of adult worm fertility (as it has a longer half-life) (Cotreau *et al.* 2003). It is possible that annual moxidectin may be comparable to biannual ivermectin distribution without the increase in programmatic costs (described in Chapter 4) or the potential strain on programmatic resources. Moxidectin has also been identified as a candidate by MACROFIL, a World Health Organization (WHO) based project established to develop a macrofilaricidal drug to treat onchocerciasis. However, it is important to note that moxidectin's macrofilaricidal effects are unknown and it is not currently licenced for humans.

Foci vector control:

Although wide spread vector control, as used in Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP), is no longer considered a feasible strategy, foci vector control targeting transmission hotspots may be achievable (and is being conducted in some foci in Uganda (Ndyomugyenyi *et al.* 2007)). A further investigation of the ecological circumstances in which this would be cost-effective is needed.

Vaccines:

There are currently three *O. volvulus* vaccine candidates that have all proven efficacious in animal model systems. However, further investigation of what characteristics will be required for their efficacious use in disease endemic countries (i.e. their target product profile) is needed to help with future development.

6.3.3. The impact of sub-optimal responses to ivermectin treatment

As discussed in section 1.6.3, some communities in Ghana have been identified, in which the adult worms may be becoming resistant to the embryostatic effect of ivermectin (i.e. the adult female worms are resuming reproductive activity earlier than expected in individuals responding well to treatment) (Awadzi *et al.* 2004a; Awadzi *et al.* 2004b; Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2011; Osei-Atweneboana *et al.* 2007). Further investigation of how these sub-optimal responses to ivermectin may affect the feasibility of the elimination goals and the best choice of intervention is required. In particular, it is noteworthy that it is possible that increasing the treatment frequency to twice a year could alter the selection pressure for higher levels of suboptimal response to ivermectin. The evolutionary impact of any changes in policy / strategy need to be considered.

6.3.4. Integrated interventions

Neglected tropical disease (NTD) control programmes are becoming more integrated (targeting more than one disease/group of diseases at once), and there is a growing need for modelling studies evaluating interventions to account for this. For instance, onchocerciasis and lymphatic filariasis control activities are often carried out simultaneously. However, the implications of this on the best treatment frequency (for both diseases), total programme cost, and the optimum timing of treatment in relation to different seasonal patterns of transmission have not be explored and require a more holistic modelling approach.

6.4. Conclusion

While the goals of eliminating the public health burden of onchocerciasis will likely be met in areas where long-term annual ivermectin distribution is feasible, those of eliminating the infection will depend on the epidemiological and programmatic setting, precluding a onesize-fits-all approach to onchocerciasis elimination in Africa.

Although increasing the treatment frequency of ivermectin distribution to twice a year only yields small additional health benefits, in the context of the elimination goals its benefit is pronounced, increasing the feasibility of and shortening the timeframes for reaching the proposed operational thresholds for stopping treatment. Furthermore, these projected reductions in programme duration were found to potentially lead to programmatic cost savings. Additionally, a biannual treatment strategy reduces the heterogeneity in the projected timeframe for elimination among settings with a different pre-control endemicity, mitigating the problem of cross transmission among proximate onchocerciasis foci and the potential for re-introduction of infection into controlled areas. Notwithstanding these conclusions, the feasibility of increasing from one to two treatments yearly will vary with the specific programmatic circumstances.

Bibliography

African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (2010) Conceptual and Operational Framework of Onchocerciasis Elimination with Ivermectin Treatment. WHO/APOC. [http://www.who.int/apoc/oncho_elimination_report_english.pdf]

Albiez EJ, Walter G, Kaiser A, Ranque P, Newland HS, White AT, Greene BM, Taylor HR, Büttner DW (1988) Histological examination of onchocercomata after therapy with ivermectin. *Trop Med Int Health* **39**(2): 93-9

Ali MM, Baraka OZ, AbdelRahman SI, Sulaiman SM, Williams JF, Homeida MM, Mackenzie CD (2003) Immune responses directed against microfilariae correlate with severity of clinical onchodermatitis and treatment history. *J Infect Dis* **187**(4): 714-7

Ali MM, Mukhtar MM, Baraka OZ, Homeida MM, Kheir MM, Mackenzie CD (2002) Immunocompetence may be important in the effectiveness of Mectizan (ivermectin) in the treatment of human onchocerciasis. *Acta Trop* **84**(1): 49-53

Alley ES, Plaisier AP, Boatin BA, Dadzie KY, Remme JHF, Zerbo G, Samba EM (1994) The impact of five years of annual ivermectin treatment on skin microfilarial loads in the onchocerciasis focus of Asubende, Ghana. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **88**(5): 581-4

Amazigo U, Noma M, Bump J, Benton B, Liese B, Yaméogo L, Zouré H, Seketeli A (2006) Chapter 15: Onchocerciasis. In Disease and Mortality in Sub-Saharan Africa, Jamison DT, Feachem RG, Makgoba MW (eds). Washington (DC): World Bank

Amazigo UO (1994) Detrimental effects of onchocerciasis on marriage age and breast-feeding. *Tropical and Geographical Medicine* **46**(5): 322-5

Anderson J, Fuglsang H, Hamilton PJS, dE C. Marshall TF (1974) Studies on onchocerciasis in the United Cameroon Republic II. Comparison of onchocerciasis in rain-forest and Sudansavanna. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **68**(3): 209-222

Asante FA, Asenso-Okyere A (2003) Economic Burden of Malaria in Ghana. A technical report submitted to the World Health Organization (WHO), African Regional Office (AFRO). Institute of Statistical, Social and Economic Research (ISSER). Legon: University of Ghana.

[http://www.afro.who.int/index.php?option=com_docman&task=doc_download&gid=1631]

Awadzi K, Attah SK, Addy ET, Opoku NO, Quartey BT, Lazdins-Helds JK, Ahmed K, Boatin BA, Boakye DA, Edwards G (2004a) Thirty-month follow-up of sub-optimal responders to multiple treatments with ivermectin, in two onchocerciasis-endemic foci in Ghana. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **98**(4): 359-370

Awadzi K, Boakye DA, Edwards G, Opoku NO, Attah SK, Osei-Atweneboana MY, Lazdins-Helds JK, Ardrey AE, Addy ET, Quartey BT, Ahmed K, Boatin BA, Soumbey-Alley EW (2004b) An investigation of persistent microfilaridermias despite multiple treatments with ivermectin, in two onchocerciasis-endemic foci in Ghana. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **98**(3): 231-249 Aziz MA, Diallo S, Diop IM, Lariviere M, Porta M (1982) Efficacy and tolerance of ivermectin in human onchocerciasis. *Lancet* **2**(8291): 171-3

Basáñez M-G, McCarthy JS, French MD, Yang G-J, Walker M, Gambhir M, Prichard RK, Churcher TS (2012) A Research Agenda for Helminth Diseases of Humans: Modelling for Control and Elimination. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **6**(4): e1548

Basáñez MG, Boussinesq M (1999) Population biology of human onchocerciasis. *Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci* **354**(1384): 809-26

Basáñez MG, Churcher TS, Grillet ME (2009) *Onchocerca-Simulium* interactions and the population and evolutionary biology of *Onchocerca volvulus*. *Adv Parasitol* **68**: 263-313

Basáñez MG, Collins RC, Porter CH, Little MP, Brandling-Bennett D (2002) Transmission intensity and the patterns of *Onchocerca volvulus* infection in human communities. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **67**(6): 669-79

Basáñez MG, Pion SDS, Boakes E, Filipe JAN, Churcher TS, Boussinesq M (2008) Effect of single-dose ivermectin on *Onchocerca volvulus*: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet Infect Dis* **8**(5): 310-322

Basáñez MG, Pion SDS, Churcher TS, Breitling LP, Little MP, Boussinesq M (2006) River Blindness: a success story under threat? *PLoS Med* **3**(9): e371

Basáñez MG, Remme JHF, Alley ES, Bain O, Shelley AJ, Medley GF, Anderson RM (1995) Density-dependent processes in the transmission of human onchocerciasis: relationship between the numbers of microfilariae ingested and successful larval development in the simuliid vector. *Parasitology* **110**(4): 409-27

Basáñez MG, Ricardez-Esquinca J (2001) Models for the population biology and control of human onchocerciasis. *Trends Parasitol* **17**(9): 430-8

Basáñez MG, Townson H, Williams JR, Frontado H, Villamizar NJ, Anderson RM (1996) Density-dependent processes in the transmission of human onchocerciasis: relationship between microfilarial intake and mortality of the simuliid vector. *Parasitology* **113**(4): 331-55

Basáñez MG, Yarzabal L, Frontado HL, Villamizar NJ (2000) *Onchocerca-Simulium* complexes in Venezuela: can human onchocerciasis spread outside its present endemic areas? *Parasitology* **120**(2): 143-60

Benton B (1998) Economic impact of onchocerciasis control through the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control: an overview. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **92(Suppl 1):** S33-S39

Benton B, Skinner ED (1990) Cost-benefits of onchocerciasis control. *Acta Leiden* **59**(1-2): 405-11

Boatin B (2008) The Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP). *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **102**(1): 13-17

Boatin BA, Richards FO, Jr. (2006) Control of onchocerciasis. Adv Parasitol 61: 349-94

Borsboom GJJM, Boatin BA, Nagelkerke NJD, Agoua H, Akpoboua KLB, Alley EW, Bissan Y, Renz A, Yameogo L, Remme JHF, Habbema JD (2003) Impact of ivermectin on onchocerciasis transmission: assessing the empirical evidence that repeated ivermectin mass treatments may lead to elimination/eradication in West-Africa. *Filaria J* **2**(1): 8

Bottomley C, Isham V, Collins RC, Basáñez, M.G. (2008) Rates of microfilarial production by *Onchocerca volvulus* are not cumulatively reduced by multiple ivermectin treatments. *Parasitology* **135**(13): 1571-1581

Boussinesq M. (1991) Etude épidémiologique de l'onchocercose en zone de savane camerounaise. Effets d'un traitement de masse par l'ivermectine. PhD thesis. University of Montpellier II

Boussinesq M, Gardon J, Gardon-Wendel N, Chippaux JP (2003) Clinical picture, epidemiology and outcome of Loa-associated serious adverse events related to mass ivermectin treatment of onchocerciasis in Cameroon. *Filaria J* **2**(Suppl 1): S4

Boussinesq M, Gardon J, Gardon-Wendel N, Kamgno J, Ngoumou P, Chippaux J (1998) Three probable cases of Loa loa encephalopathy following ivermectin treatment for onchocerciasis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **58**(4): 461-469

Boussinesq M, Gardon J, Kamgno J, Pion SDS, Gardon-Wendel N, Chippaux JP (2001) Relationships between the prevalence and intensity of Loa loa infection in the Central province of Cameroon. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **95**(5): 495-507

Boussinesq M, Pion SDS, Demanga-Ngangue, Kamgno J (2002) Relationship between onchocerciasis and epilepsy: a matched case-control study in the Mbam Valley, Republic of Cameroon. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **96**(5): 537-41

Boyd A, Won KY, McClintock SK, Donovan CV, Laney SJ, Williams SA, Pilotte N, Streit TG, Beau de Rochars MV, Lammie PJ (2010) A community-based study of factors associated with continuing transmission of lymphatic filariasis in Leogane, Haiti. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **4**(3): e640

Bradley JE, Whitworth J, Basáñez MG (2005) Chapter 39: Onchocerciasis. In *Topley and Wilson's Microbiology and Microbial Infections*, Wakelin D, Cox F, Despommier D, Gillespie S (eds), 10th edn, pp 781-801. London: Edward Arnold Publishers Ltd

Brattig NW (2004) Pathogenesis and host responses in human onchocerciasis: impact of *Onchocerca* filariae and *Wolbachia* endobacteria. *Microbes Infect* **6**(1): 113-28

Brieger WR, Awedoba AK, Eneanya CI, Hagan M, Ogbuagu KF, Okello DO, Ososanya OO, Ovuga EB, Noma M, Kale OO, Burnham GM, Remme JH (1998b) The effects of ivermectin on onchocercal skin disease and severe itching: results of a multicentre trial. *Trop Med Int Health* **3**(12): 951-61

Brieger WR, Okeibunor JC, Abiose AO, Ndyomugyenyi R, Wanji S, Elhassan E, Amazigo UV (2012) Characteristics of persons who complied with and failed to comply with annual ivermectin treatment. *Trop Med Int Health* **17**(7): 920-30

Brieger WR, Okeibunor JC, Abiose AO, Wanji S, Elhassan E, Ndyomugyenyi R, Amazigo UV (2011) Compliance with eight years of annual ivermectin treatment of onchocerciasis in Cameroon and Nigeria. *Parasit Vectors* **4:** 152

Brieger WR, Oshiname FO, Ososanya OO (1998a) Stigma associated with onchocercal skin disease among those affected near the Ofiki and Oyan Rivers in western Nigeria. *Soc Sci Med* **47**(7): 841-52

Campbell WC (1985) Ivermectin: an update. Parasitol Today 1(1): 10-6

Carter Center (2013) Carter Center Congratulates Colombia as First in the Americas to Eliminate River Blindness. [http://www.cartercenter.org/news/pr/colombia_072913.html]

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2013) Progress toward elimination of onchocerciasis in the Americas - 1993-2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* **62**(20): 405-8

Chan MS, Guyatt HL, Bundy DAP, Medley GF (1994) The development and validation of an age-structured model for the evaluation of disease control strategies for intestinal helminths. *Parasitology* **109** (3): 389-96

Chan MS, Guyatt HL, Bundy DAP, Medley GF (1996) Dynamic models of schistosomiasis morbidity. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **55**(1): 52-62

Chan MS, Srividya A, Norman RA, Pani SP, Ramaiah KD, Vanamail P, Michael E, Das PK, Bundy DAP (1998) Epifil: a dynamic model of infection and disease in lymphatic filariasis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **59**(4): 606-14

Chavasse DC, Post RJ, Davies JB, Whitworth JA (1993) Absence of sperm from the seminal receptacle of female *Onchocerca volvulus* following multiple doses of ivermectin. *Trop Med Int Health* **44**(3): 155-8

Cheke RA, Garms R (2013) Indices of onchocerciasis transmission by different members of the *Simulium damnosum* complex conflict with the paradigm of forest and savanna parasite strains. *Acta Trop* **125**(1): 43-52

Chijioke CP, Okonkwo PO (1989) Adverse events following mass ivermectin therapy for onchocerciasis. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **86**(3): 284-286

Churcher T, Basanez MG (2009) Sampling strategies to detect anthelmintic resistance: the perspective of human onchocerciasis. *Trends Parasitol* **25**(1): 11-17

Churcher TS, Basáñez MG (2008) Density dependence and the spread of anthelmintic resistance. *Evolution* **62**(3): 528-537

Coffeng L, Noma M, O'Hanlon S, Nwoke B, De Vlas S, Habbema D, Enyong P, Zouré H, Basáñez MG, Stolk W, Amazigo U (2010) Global Burden of Disease project: pre-control burden of onchocercal eye disease in African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control considerably higher than previously estimated. In *Annual Meeting of the American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*. Atlanta

Coffeng LE, Stolk WA, Zouré HGM, Veerman JL, Agblewonu KB, Murdoch ME, Noma M, Fobi G, Richardus JH, Bundy DAP, Habbema D, de Vlas SJ, Amazigo UV (2013) African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control 1995–2015: Model-estimated health impact and cost. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **7**(1): e2032

Collins RC, Gonzales-Peralta C, Castro J, Zea-Flores G, Cupp MS, Richards FO, Cupp EW (1992) Ivermectin: reduction in prevalence and infection intensity of *Onchocerca volvulus* following biannual treatments in five Guatemalan communities. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **47**: 156–169

Cotreau MM, Warren S, Ryan JL, Fleckenstein L, Vanapalli SR, Brown KR, Rock D, Chen CY, Schwertschlag US (2003) The antiparasitic moxidectin: safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics in humans. *J Clin Pharmacol* **43**(10): 1108-15

Crosskey RW (1990) The natural history of blackflies. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons

Crosskey RW, Howard TM (2004) A revised taxonomic and geographical inventory of world blackflies (Diptera : Simuliidae). London: The Natural History Museum

Cully DF, Vassilatis DK, Liu KK, Paress PS, Van der Ploeg LH, Schaeffer JM, Arena JP (1994) Cloning of an avermectin-sensitive glutamate-gated chloride channel from *Caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature* **371**(6499): 707-11

Cupp EW, Bernardo MJ, Kiszewski AE, Collins RC, Taylor HR, Aziz MA, Greene BM (1986) The effects of ivermectin on transmission of *Onchocerca volvulus*. *Science* **231**(4739): 740-742

Cupp EW, Duke BOL, Mackenzie CD, Guzmán JR, Vieira JC, Mendez-Galvan J, Castro J, Richards FO, Sauerbrey M, Dominguezm A, Eversole RR, Cupp MS (2004) The effects of long-term community level treament with ivermectin (Mectizan) on adult *Onchocerca volvulus* in Latin America. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **71**(5): 602-607

Cupp EW, Ochoa AO, Collins RC, Ramberg FR, Zea G (1989) The effect of multiple ivermectin treatments on infection of *Simulium ochraceum* with *Onchocerca volvulus*. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **40**(5): 501-6

Cupp EW, Ochoa JO, Collins RC, Cupp MS, Gonzales-Peralta C, Castro J, Zea-Flores G (1992) The effects of repetitive community-wide ivermectin treatment on transmission of *Onchocerca volvulus* in Guatemala. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **47**(2): 170-80

Cupp EW, Sauerbrey M, Richards F (2011) Elimination of human onchocerciasis: history of progress and current feasibility using ivermectin (Mectizan(®)) monotherapy. *Acta Trop* **120 Suppl 1:** S100-8

Dadzie KY, Remme J, Rolland A, Thylefors B (1986) The effect of 7-8 years of vector control on the evolution of ocular onchocerciasis in West African savanna. *Trop Med Parasitol* **37**(3): 263-70

Dadzie KY, Remme JHF, Rolland A, Thylefors B (1989) Ocular onchocerciasis and intensity of infection in the community. II. West African rainforest foci of the vector *Simulium yahense*. *Trop Med Parasitol* **40**(3): 348-54

Davies JB, Le Berre R, Walsh JF, Cliff B (1978) Onchocerciasis and Simulium control in the Volta River Basin. *Mosquito News* **38:** 466-472

De Sole G, Accorsi S, Creusvaux H, Giese J, Keita FM, Remme JHF (1993) Distribution of onchocerciasis in selected river basins of four west African countries. *Trop Med Parasitol* **44**(3): 159-64

De Sole G, Giese J, Keita FM, Remme JHF (1991) Detailed epidemiological mapping of three onchocerciasis foci in West Africa. *Acta Trop* **48**(3): 203-13

De Sole G, Remme JHF, Awadzi K, Accorsi S, Alley ES, Ba O, Dadzie KY, Giese J, Karam M, Keita FM (1989) Adverse reactions after large-scale treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin: combined results from eight community trials. *Bull World Health Organ* **67**(6): 707-19

Diawara L, Traoré MO, Badji A, Bissan Y, Doumbia K, Goita SF, Konaté L, Mounkoro K, Sarr MD, Seck AF, Toé L, Tourée S, Remme JHF (2009) Feasibility of onchocerciasis elimination with ivermectin treatment in endemic foci in Africa: first evidence from studies in Mali and Senegal. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **3**(7): e497

Disease Control Priorities Project (2006) Priorities in Health. Washington (DC): World Bank. [http://www.dcp2.org/pubs/PIH]

Dominguez-Vazquez A, Taylor HR, Greene BM, Ruvalcaba-Macias AM, Rivas-Alcala AR, Murphy RP, Beltran-Hernandez F (1983) Comparison of flubendazole and diethylcarbamazine in treatment of onchocerciasis. *Lancet* **1**(8317): 139-43

Dourmishev AL, Dourmishev LA, Schwartz RA (2005) Ivermectin: pharmacology and application in dermatology. *Int J Parasitol* **44**(12): 981-8

Duerr HP, Dietz K, Schulz-Key H, Büttner DW, Eichner M (2003) Density-dependent parasite establishment suggests infection-associated immunosuppression as an important mechanism for parasite density regulation in onchocerciasis. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **97**(2): 242-50

Duerr HP, Raddatz G, Eichner M (2011) Control of onchocerciasis in Africa: threshold shifts, breakpoints and rules for elimination. *Int J Parasitol* **41**(5): 581-9

Duke BOL (1990) Human onchocerciasis - an overview of the disease. *Acta Leiden* **59**(1-2): 9-24

Duke BOL (1991) Observations and reflections on the immature stages of *Onchocerca* volvulus in the human host. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **85**(1): 103-10

Duke BOL (1993) The population dynamics of *Onchocerca volvulus* in the human host. *Trop Med Parasitol* **44**(2): 61-8

Duke BOL (2005) Evidence for macrofilaricidal activity of ivermectin against female *Onchocerca volvulus*: further analysis of a clinical trial in the Republic of Cameroon indicating two distinct killing mechanisms. *Parasitology* **130**(4): 447-53

Duke BOL, Anderson J, Fuglsang H (1975) The Onchocerca volvulus transmission potentials and associated patterns of onchocerciasis at four Cameroon Sudan-savanna villages. *Tropenmed Parasitol* **26**(2): 143-54

Duke BOL, Lewis DJ, Moore PJ (1966) Onchocerca-Simulium complexes. Transmission of forest and Sudan-savanna strains of *Onchocerca volvulus*, from Cameroon, by Simulium damnosum from various West African bioclimatic zones. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **60**(3): 318-26

Duke BOL, Moore PJ, Anderson J (1972) Studies on factors influencing the transmission of onchocerciasis. VII. A comparison of the *Onchocerca volvulus* transmission potentials of *Simulium damnosum* populations in four Cameroon rain-forest villages and the pattern of onchocerciasis associated therewith. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **66**(2): 219-34

Duke BOL, Zea-Flores G, Castro J, Cupp EW, Munoz B (1990) Effects of multiple monthly doses of ivermectin on adult *Onchocerca volvulus*. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **43**(6): 657-64

Duke BOL, Zea-Flores G, Castro J, Cupp EW, Munoz B (1991b) Comparison of the effects of a single dose and of four six-monthly doses of ivermectin on adult Onchocerca volvulus. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **45**(1): 132-7

Duke BOL, Zea-Flores G, Munoz B (1991a) The embryogenesis of *Onchocerca volvulus* over the first year after a single dose of ivermectin. *Trop Med Parasitol* **42**(3): 175-80

Ejere H, Schwartz E, Wormald R (2001) Ivermectin for onchocercal eye disease (river blindness). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*(1): CD002219

Emukah EC, Osuoha E, Miri ES, Onyenama J, Amazigo U, Obijuru C, Osuji N, Ekeanyanwu J, Amadiegwu S, Korve K, Richards FO (2004) A longitudinal study of impact of repeated mass ivermectin treatment on clinical manifestations of onchocerciasis in Imo State, Nigeria. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **70**(5): 556-61

Etya'ale D (2001) Vision 2020: Update on Onchocerciasis. *Community Eye Health* **14**(38): 19-21

Exchange-rates.org (2012) Ghanaian Cedi (GHS) to 1 US Dollar (USD) Vol. 2012. [http://www.exchange-rates.org/]

Fenollar F, Maurin M, Raoult D (2003) *Wolbachia* pipientis growth kinetics and susceptibilities to 13 antibiotics determined by immunofluorescence staining and real-time PCR. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother* **47**(5): 1665-71

Filipe JAN, Boussinesq M, Renz A, Collins RC, Vivas-Martinez S, Grillet ME, Little MP, Basáñez MG (2005) Human infection patterns and heterogeneous exposure in river blindness. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **102**(42): 15265-15270

Gambhir M, Basáñez M-G, Burton MJ, Solomon AW, Bailey RL, Holland MJ, Blake IM, Donnelly CA, Jabr I, Mabey DC, Grassly NC (2009) The development of an age-structured model for trachoma transmission dynamics, pathogenesis and control. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **3**(6): e462

Gardon J, Boussinesq M, Kamgno J, Gardon-Wendel N, Demanga-Ngangue, Duke BOL (2002) Effects of standard and high doses of ivermectin on adult worms of *Onchocerca volvulus*: a randomised controlled trial. *Lancet* **360**(9328): 203-210

Ghalib HW, MacKenzie CD, Kron MA, Williams JF, el Khalifa M, el Sheikh H (1987) Severe onchocercal dermatitis in the Ethiopian border region of Sudan. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **81**(4): 405-19

Goldman AS, Guisinger VH, Aikins M, Amarillo MLE, Belizario VY, Garshong B, Gyapong J, Kabali C, Kamal HA, Kanjilal S, Kyelem D, Lizardo J, Malecela M, Mubyazi G, Nitièma PA, Ramzy RMR, Streit TG, Wallace A, Brady MA, Rheingans R, Ottesen EA, Haddix AC (2007) National Mass Drug Administration Costs for Lymphatic Filariasis Elimination. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **1**(1): e67

Gonzalez RJ, Cruz-Ortiz N, Rizzo N, Richards J, Zea-Flores G, Domínguez A, Sauerbrey M, Catú E, Oliva O, Richards FO, Lindblade KA (2009) Successful Interruption of Transmission of *Onchocerca volvulus* in the Escuintla-Guatemala Focus, Guatemala. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **3**(3): e404

Griffin JT, Hollingsworth TD, Okell LC, Churcher TS, White M, Hinsley W, Bousema T, Drakeley CJ, Ferguson NM, Basáñez M-G, Ghani AC (2010) Reducing *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria transmission in Africa: A model-based evaluation of intervention strategies. *PLoS Med* **7**(8): e1000324

Grillet ME, Villamizar NJ, Frontado HL, Cortez J, Escalona M, Botto C, Basáñez MG (2008) Vector competence of Simulium oyapockense s.l. and S. incrustatum for Onchocerca volvulus: Implications for ivermectin-based control in the Amazonian focus of human onchocerciasis, a multi-vector-host system. Acta Trop **107**(2): 80-89

Gustavsen K, Hopkins A, Sauerbrey M (2011) Onchocerciasis in the Americas: from arrival to (near) elimination. *Parasit Vectors* **4:** 205

Habbema D, Stolk W, Veerman L, de Vlas S (2007) A rapid health impact assessment of APOC: Exeutive summary & technical report. APOC. [http://www.who.int/apoc/publications/APOC%20rapid%20HIA_final%20report_def.pdf]

Habbema JDF, van Oortmarssen GJ, Plaisier AP (1996) The ONCHOSIM model and it use in decision support for river blindness control. In *Models for Infectious Human Diseases*, Isham V, Medley G (eds). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

Haddix A (1997) Economic Re-Evaluation of the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control. Rollins Atlanta: School of Public Health of Emory University

Hall LR, Pearlman E (1999) Pathogenesis of onchocercal keratitis (River blindness). *Clin Microbiol Rev* **12**(3): 445-53

Higazi TB, Filiano A, Katholi CR, Dadzie Y, Remme JHF, Unnasch TR (2005) *Wolbachia* endosymbiont levels in severe and mild strains of *Onchocerca volvulus*. *Mol Biochem Parasitol* **141**(1): 109-112

Higazi TB, Zarroug IM, Mohamed HA, Elmubark WA, Deran TC, Aziz N, Katabarwa M, Hassan HK, Unnasch TR, Mackenzie CD, Richards F, Hashim K (2013) Interruption of *Onchocerca volvulus* Transmission in the Abu Hamed Focus, Sudan. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **89**(1): 51-7

Hoerauf A, Mand S, Adjei O, Fleischer B, Büttner DW (2001) Depletion of *Wolbachia* endobacteria in *Onchocerca volvulus* by doxycycline and microfilaridermia after ivermectin treatment. *Lancet* **357:** 1415-1416

Hoerauf A, Mand S, Volkmann L, Buttner M, Marfo-Debrekyei Y, Taylor M, Adjei O, Büttner DW (2003) Doxycycline in the treatment of human onchocerciasis: Kinetics of *Wolbachia* endobacteria reduction and of inhibition of embryogenesis in female *Onchocerca* worms. *Microbes Infect* **5**(4): 261-73

Hoerauf A, Specht S, Bttner M, Pfarr K, Mand S, Fimmers R, Marfo-Debrekyei Y, Konadu P, Debrah AY, Bandi C, Brattig N, Albers A, Larbi J, Batsa L, Adjei O, Büttner DW (2008) *Wolbachia* endobacteria depletion by doxycycline as antifilarial therapy has macrofilaricidal activity in onchocerciasis: a randomized placebo-controlled study. *Med Microbiol Immunol* **197**(3): 295-311

Hougard JM, Alley ES, Yaméogo L, Dadzie KY, Boatin BA (2001) Eliminating onchocerciasis after 14 years of vector control: a proved strategy. *J Infect Dis* **184**(4): 497-503

Johns B, Baltussen R, Hutubessy R (2003) Programme costs in the economic evaluation of health interventions. *Cost Eff Resour Alloc* 1(1): 1

Katabarwa MN, Eyamba A, Nwane P, Enyong P, Kamgno J, Kuete T, Yaya S, Aboutou R, Mukenge L, Kafando C, Siaka C, Mkpouwoueiko S, Demanga-Ngangue, Biholong BD, Andze GO (2013a) Fifteen years of annual mass treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin have not interrupted transmission in the West Region of Cameroon. *J Parasitol Res* **2013**: 420928

Katabarwa MN, Eyamba A, Nwane P, Enyong P, Yaya S, Baldiagai J, Madi TK, Yougouda A, Andze GO, Richards FO (2011) Seventeen years of annual distribution of ivermectin has not interrupted onchocerciasis transmission in North Region, Cameroon. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **85**(6): 1041-9

Katabarwa MN, Habomugisha P, Richards FO, Jr. (2002) Implementing community-directed treatment with ivermectin for the control of onchocerciasis in Uganda (1997-2000): an evaluation. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **96**(1): 61-73

Katabarwa MN, Lakwo T, Habomugisha P, Agunyo S, Byamukama E, Oguttu D, Tukesiga E, Unoba D, Dramuke P, Onapa A, Tukahebwa EM, Lwamafa D, Walsh F, Unnasch TR (2013b) Transmission of *Onchocerca volvulus* continues in Nyagak-Bondo focus of northwestern Uganda after 18 years of a single dose of annual treatment with ivermectin. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **89**(2):293-300

Katabarwa MN, Walsh F, Habomugisha P, Lakwo TL, Agunyo S, Oguttu DW, Unnasch TR, Unoba D, Byamukama E, Tukesiga E, Ndyomugyenyi R, Richards FO (2012) Transmission of onchocerciasis in Wadelai focus of northwestern Uganda has been interrupted and the disease eliminated. *J Parasitol Res* **2012**: 748540

Kennedy MH, Bertocchi I, Hopkins AD, Meredith SE (2002) The effect of 5 years of annual treatment with ivermectin (Mectizan) on the prevalence and morbidity of onchocerciasis in the village of Gami in the Central African Republic. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **96**(3): 297-307

Kim A, Benton B (1995) Cost-benefit analysis of the onchocerciasis control program (OCP). Washington (DC): World Bank

Kim A, Tandon A, Hailu A (1997) Health and Labor Productivity: the economic impact of onchocercial skin disease. Washington (DC): World Bank

King CH, Bertino AM (2008) Asymmetries of poverty: why global burden of disease valuations underestimate the burden of neglected tropical diseases. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **2**(3): e209

Kipp W, Bamhuhiiga J (2002) Onchodermal skin disease in a hyperendemic onchocerciasis focus in western Uganda. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **67**(5): 475-9

Kipp W, Burnham G, Bamuhiiga J, Leichsenring M (1996) The Nakalanga syndrome in Kabarole District, Western Uganda. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **54**(1): 80-3

Kirkwood B, Smith P, Marshall T, Prost A (1983) Relationships between mortality, visual acuity and microfilarial load in the area of the Onchocerciasis Control Programme. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **77**(6): 862-8

Knab J, Darge K, Büttner DW (1997) Immunohistological studies on macrophages in lymph nodes of onchocerciasis patients after treatment with ivermectin. *Trop Med Int Health* **2**(12): 1156-69

Leake C (1993) Medical insects and arachnids. London: Chapman & Hall

Levine R (2007) Case Studies in Global Health: Millions Saved. Boston: Jones and Bartlett Pubisher

Little MP, Basáñez MG, Breitling LP, Boatin BA, Alley ES (2004a) Incidence of blindness during the Onchocerciasis control programme in western Africa, 1971-2002. *J Infect Dis* **189**(10): 1932-41

Little MP, Breitling LP, Basáñez MG, Alley ES, Boatin BA (2004b) Association between microfilarial load and excess mortality in onchocerciasis: an epidemiological study. *Lancet* **363**(9420): 1514-21

London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases (2013) Ending the neglect and reaching 2020 goals.

[http://www.unitingtocombatntds.org/downloads/press/ntd_event_london_declaration_on_ntd s.pdf]

Mackenzie CD, Geary TG (2011) Flubendazole: a candidate macrofilaricide for lymphatic filariasis and onchocerciasis field programs. *Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther* **9**(5): 497-501

May RM (1977) Togetherness among Schistosomes: its effects on the dynamics of the infection. *Math Biosci* **35**(3–4): 301-343

McFarland D, Menzies N, Njoumemi Z, Onwujekwe O (2005) Study of cost per treatment with ivermectin using the CDTI strategy. APOC

Medley GF, Bundy DAP (1996) Dynamic modelling of epidemiological patterns of schistosomiasis morbidity. Am J Trop Med Hyg 55 (5), 149-158.

Meyer CG, Gallin M, Erttmann KD, Brattig N, Schnittger L, Gelhaus A, Tannich E, Begovich AB, Erlich HA, Horstmann RD (1994) HLA-D alleles associated with generalized disease, localized disease, and putative immunity in *Onchocerca volvulus* infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **91**(16): 7515-9

Ministry of Health, Republic of Uganda (2007) National plan 2007-2010. Integrated Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases in Uganda. [http://ntd.rti.org/about/index.cfm?fuseaction=static&label=uganda]

Moreno Y, Nabhan JF, Solomon J, Mackenzie CD, Geary TG (2010) Ivermectin disrupts the function of the excretory-secretory apparatus in microfilariae of Brugia malayi. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*

Murdoch ME, Asuzu MC, Hagan M, Makunde WH, Ngoumou P, Ogbuagu KF, Okello D, Ozoh G, Remme JHF (2002) Onchocerciasis: the clinical and epidemiological burden of skin disease in Africa. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **96**(3): 283-96

Murdoch ME, Hay RJ, Mackenzie CD, Williams JF, Ghalib HW, Cousens S, Abiose A, Jones BR (1993) A clinical classification and grading system of the cutaneous changes in onchocerciasis. *Br J Dermatol* **129**(3): 260-269

Murray CJL, Lopez AD (1994) Quantifying disability: data, methods and results. *Bull World Health Organ* **72**(3): 481-94

Murray CJL, Vos T, Lozano R, Naghavi M, Flaxman AD, Michaud C, Ezzati M, Shibuya K, Salomon JA, Abdalla S, Aboyans V, Abraham J, Ackerman I, Aggarwal R, Ahn SY, Ali MK,

AlMazroa MA, Alvarado M, Anderson HR, Anderson LM, Andrews KG, Atkinson C, Baddour LM, Bahalim AN, Barker-Collo S, Barrero LH, Bartels DH, Basáñez M-G, Baxter A, Bell ML, Benjamin EJ, Bennett D, Bernabé E, Bhalla K, Bhandari B, Bikbov B, Abdulhak AB, Birbeck G, Black JA, Blencowe H, Blore JD, Blyth F, Bolliger I, Bonaventure A, Boufous S, Bourne R, Boussinesq M, Braithwaite T, Brayne C, Bridgett L, Brooker S, Brooks P, Brugha TS, Bryan-Hancock C, Bucello C, Buchbinder R, Buckle G, Budke CM, Burch M, Burney P, Burstein R, Calabria B, Campbell B, Canter CE, Carabin H, Carapetis J, Carmona L, Cella C, Charlson F, Chen H, Cheng AT-A, Chou D, Chugh SS, Coffeng LE, Colan SD, Colquhoun S, Colson KE, Condon J, Connor MD, Cooper LT, Corriere M, Cortinovis M, de Vaccaro KC, Couser W, Cowie BC, Criqui MH, Cross M, Dabhadkar KC, Dahiya M, Dahodwala N, Damsere-Derry J, Danaei G, Davis A, Leo DD, Degenhardt L, Dellavalle R, Delossantos A, Denenberg J, Derrett S, Des Jarlais DC, Dharmaratne SD, Dherani M, Diaz-Torne C, Dolk H, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Duber H, Ebel B, Edmond K, Elbaz A, Ali SE, Erskine H, Erwin PJ, Espindola P, Ewoigbokhan SE, Farzadfar F, Feigin V, Felson DT, Ferrari A, Ferri CP, Fèvre EM, Finucane MM, Flaxman S, Flood L, Foreman K, Forouzanfar MH, Fowkes FGR, Fransen M, Freeman MK, Gabbe BJ, Gabriel SE, Gakidou E, Ganatra HA, Garcia B, Gaspari F, Gillum RF, Gmel G, Gonzalez-Medina D, Gosselin R, Grainger R, Grant B, Groeger J, Guillemin F, Gunnell D, Gupta R, Haagsma J, Hagan H, Halasa YA, Hall W, Haring D, Haro JM, Harrison JE, Havmoeller R, Hay RJ, Higashi H, Hill C, Hoen B, Hoffman H, Hotez PJ, Hoy D, Huang JJ, Ibeanusi SE, Jacobsen KH, James SL, Jarvis D, Jasrasaria R, Jayaraman S, Johns N, Jonas JB, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Kawakami N, Keren A, Khoo J-P, King CH, Knowlton LM, Kobusingye O, Koranteng A, Krishnamurthi R, Laden F, Lalloo R, Laslett LL, Lathlean T, Leasher JL, Lee YY, Leigh J, Levinson D, Lim SS, Limb E, Lin JK, Lipnick M, Lipshultz SE, Liu W, Loane M, Ohno SL, Lyons R, Mabweijano J, MacIntyre MF, Malekzadeh R, Mallinger L, Manivannan S, Marcenes W, March L, Margolis DJ, Marks GB, Marks R, Matsumori A, Matzopoulos R, Mayosi BM, McAnulty JH, McDermott MM, McGill N, McGrath J, Medina-Mora ME, Meltzer M, Memish ZA, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Meyer A-C, Miglioli V, Miller M, Miller TR, Mitchell PB, Mock C, Mocumbi AO, Moffitt TE, Mokdad AA, Monasta L, Montico M, Moradi-Lakeh M, Moran A, Morawska L, Mori R, Murdoch ME, Mwaniki MK, Naidoo K, Nair MN, Naldi L, Narayan KMV, Nelson PK, Nelson RG, Nevitt MC, Newton CR, Nolte S, Norman P, Norman R, O'Donnell M, O'Hanlon S, Olives C, Omer SB, Ortblad K, Osborne R, Ozgediz D, Page A, Pahari B, Pandian JD, Rivero AP, Patten SB, Pearce N, Padilla RP, Perez-Ruiz F, Perico N, Pesudovs K, Phillips D, Phillips MR, Pierce K, Pion S, Polanczyk GV, Polinder S, Pope CA, Popova S, Porrini E, Pourmalek F, Prince M, Pullan RL, Ramaiah KD, Ranganathan D, Razavi H, Regan M, Rehm JT, Rein DB, Remuzzi G, Richardson K, Rivara FP, Roberts T, Robinson C, De Leòn FR, Ronfani L, Room R, Rosenfeld LC, Rushton L, Sacco RL, Saha S, Sampson U, Sanchez-Riera L, Sanman E, Schwebel DC, Scott JG, Segui-Gomez M, Shahraz S, Shepard DS, Shin H, Shivakoti R, Singh D, Singh GM, Singh JA, Singleton J, Sleet DA, Sliwa K, Smith E, Smith JL, Stapelberg NJC, Steer A, Steiner T, Stolk WA, Stovner LJ, Sudfeld C, Syed S, Tamburlini G, Tavakkoli M, Taylor HR, Taylor JA, Taylor WJ, Thomas B, Thomson WM, Thurston GD, Tleyjeh IM, Tonelli M, Towbin JA, Truelsen T, Tsilimbaris MK, Ubeda C, Undurraga EA, van der Werf MJ, van Os J, Vavilala MS, Venketasubramanian N, Wang M, Wang W, Watt K, Weatherall DJ, Weinstock MA, Weintraub R, Weisskopf MG, Weissman MM, White RA, Whiteford H, Wiebe N, Wiersma ST, Wilkinson JD, Williams HC, Williams SRM, Witt E, Wolfe F, Woolf AD, Wulf S, Yeh P-H, Zaidi AKM, Zheng Z-J, Zonies D, Lopez AD (2012)

Disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) for 291 diseases and injuries in 21 regions, 1990-2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* **380**(9859): 2197-2223

Ndyomugyenyi R, Lakwo T, Habomugisha P, Male B (2007) Progress towards the elimination of onchocerciasis as a public-health problem in Uganda: opportunities, challenges and the way forward. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **101**(4): 323-33

Newell ED, Vyungimana F, Bradley JE (1997) Epilepsy, retarded growth and onchocerciasis, in two areas of different endemicity of onchocerciasis in Burundi. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **91**(5): 525-7

Ngoumou P, Walsh JF, Mace JM (1994) A rapid mapping technique for the prevalence and distribution of onchocerciasis: a Cameroon case study. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **88**(5): 463-74

Nonvignon J, Chinbuah MA, Gyapong M, Abbey M, Awini E, Gyapong JO, Aikins M (2012) Is home management of fevers a cost-effective way of reducing under-five mortality in Africa? The case of a rural Ghanaian District. *Trop Med Int Health* **17**(8): 951-7

Onwujekwe O, Chima R, Shu E, Okonkwo P (2002) Community-directed treatment with ivermectin in two Nigerian communities: an analysis of first year start-up processes, costs and consequences. *Health Policy* **62**(1): 31-51

Osei-Atweneboana MY, Awadzi K, Attah SK, Boakye DA, Gyapong JO, Prichard RK (2011) Phenotypic Evidence of Emerging Ivermectin Resistance in *Onchocerca volvulus*. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **5**(3): e998

Osei-Atweneboana MY, Eng JKL, Boakye DA, Gyapong JO, Prichard RK (2007) Prevalence and intensity of *Onchocerca volvulus* infection and efficacy of ivermectin in endemic communities in Ghana: a two-phase epidemiological study. *Lancet* **369**(9578): 2021-2029

Ozoh GA, Murdoch ME, Bissek AC, Hagan M, Ogbuagu K, Shamad M, Braide EI, Boussinesq M, Noma MM, Murdoch IE, Sékétéli A, Amazigo UV (2011) The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control: impact on onchocercal skin disease. *Trop Med Int Health* **16**(7): 875-883

Pearlman E, Garhart CA, Grand DJ, Diaconu E, Strine ER, Hall LR (1999) Temporal recruitment of neutrophils and eosinophils to the skin in a murine model for onchocercal dermatitis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **61**(1): 14-8

Phommasack B, Saklokham K, Chanthavisouk C, Nakhonesid-Fish V, Strandgaard H, Montresor A, Shuey DA, Ehrenberg J (2008) Coverage and costs of a school deworming programme in 2007 targeting all primary schools in Lao PDR. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **102**(12): 1201-6

Pion SDS, Kaiser C, Boutros-Toni F, Cournil A, Taylor MM, Meredith SE, Stufe A, Bertocchi I, Kipp W, Preux PM, Boussinesq M (2009) Epilepsy in onchocerciasis endemic areas: systematic review and meta-analysis of population-based surveys. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **3**(6): e461

Pion SDS, Kamgno J, Demanga-Ngangue, Boussinesq M (2002) Excess mortality associated with blindness in the onchocerciasis focus of the Mbam Valley, Cameroon. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **96**(2): 181-9

Pion SDS, Nana-Djeunga HC, Kamgno J, Tendongfor N, Wanji S, Njiokou F, Prichard RK, Boussinesq M (2013) Dynamics of *Onchocerca volvulus* microfilarial densities after ivermectin treatment in an ivermectin-naïve and a multi-treated population from Cameroon. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 7(2): e2084

Plaisier AP, Alley ES, Boatin BA, Van Oortmarssen GJ, Remme JHF, De Vlas SJ, Bonneux L, Habbema JD (1995) Irreversible effects of ivermectin on adult parasites in onchocerciasis patients in the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa. *J Infect Dis* **172**(1): 204-10

Plaisier AP, Alley ES, van Oortmarssen GJ, Boatin BA, Habbema JD (1997) Required duration of combined annual ivermectin treatment and vector control in the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in west Africa. *Bull World Health Organ* **75**(3): 237-45

Plaisier AP, van Oortmarssen GJ, Habbema JD, Remme JHF, Alley ES (1990) ONCHOSIM: a model and computer simulation program for the transmission and control of onchocerciasis. *Comput Methods Programs Biomed* **31**(1): 43-56

Plaisier AP, van Oortmarssen GJ, Remme JHF, Habbema JD (1991) The reproductive lifespan of *Onchocerca volvulus* in West African savanna. *Acta Trop* **48**(4): 271-84

Prichard RK (2007) Ivermectin resistance and overview of the Consortium for Anthelmintic Resistance SNPs. *Expert Opin Drug Discov* **2**: S41-S52

Prost A (1980a) The different types of human onchocerciasis in west Africa. *Ann Parasitol Hum Comp* **55**(2): 239-45

Prost A (1980b) [Latency period in onchocerciasis]. *Bull World Health Organ* **58**(6): 923-5 (In French)

Prost A, Hervouet JP, Thylefors B (1979) Les niveaux d'endmicité dans l'onchocercose. *Bull World Health Organ* **57**(4): 655-62

Prost A, Prescott N (1984) Cost-effectiveness of blindness prevention by the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in Upper Volta. *Bull World Health Organ* **62**(5): 795-802

Prost A, Prod'hon J (1978) Le diagnostique de l'onchocercose. Revue critique des méthodes en usage. *Méd Trop (Mars)* **38:** 519-532

Reidpath DD, Allotey PA, Kouame A, Cummins RA (2003) Measuring health in a vacuum: examining the disability weight of the DALY. *Health Policy Plan* **18**: 351-356

Remme JHF (1995) The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control: preparing to launch. *Parasitol Today* **11**: 403-406
Remme JHF (2004a) Global burden of onchocerciasis in 1990. Geneva: WHO. [http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global burden disease/Onchocerciasis%201990.pdf]

Remme JHF (2004b) Research for control: the onchocerciasis experience. *Trop Med Int Health* **9**(2): 243-54

Remme JHF, Ba O, Dadzie KY, Karam M (1986) A force-of-infection model for onchocerciasis and its applications in the epidemiological evaluation of the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in the Volta River basin area. *Bull World Health Organ* **64**(5): 667-681

Remme JHF, Dadzie KY, Rolland A, Thylefors B (1989) Ocular onchocerciasis and intensity of infection in the community. I. West African savanna. *Trop Med Parasitol* **40**(3): 340-7

Remme JHF, Feenstra P, Lever PR, Medici AC, Morel CM (2006) Tropical diseases targeted for elimination: chagas disease, lymphatic dilariasis, onchocerciasis, and leprosy. In Disease Control Priorities in Developing Countries, Jamison DT, Breman JG, Measham AR (eds), pp 433-449. New York: Oxford University Press

Renz A, Fuglsang H, Anderson J (1987) Studies on the dynamics of transmission of onchocerciasis in a Sudan-savanna area of North Cameroon IV. The different exposure to *Simulium* bites and transmission of boys and girls and men and women, and the resulting manifestations of onchocerciasis. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **81**(3): 253-62

Renz A, Wenk P (1987) Studies on the dynamics of transmission of onchocerciasis in a Sudan-savanna area of North Cameroon I. Prevailing *Simulium* vectors, their biting rates and age-composition at different distances from their breeding sites. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **81**(3): 215-28

Richards FO, Boatin B, Sauerbrey M, Sékétéli A (2001) Control of onchocerciasis today: status and challenges. *Trends Parasitol* **17:** 558-563

Rodriguez-Perez MA, Unnasch TR, Dominguez-Vazquez A, Morales-Castro AL, Pena-Flores GP, Orozco-Algarra ME, Arredondo-Jimenez JI, Richards FO, Vasquez-Rodriguez MA, Rendon VG (2010) Interruption of transmission of *Onchocerca volvulus* in the Oaxaca focus, Mexico. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **83**(1): 21-7

Saint Andre A, Blackwell NM, Hall LR, Hoerauf A, Brattig NW, Volkmann L, Taylor MJ, Ford L, Hise AG, Lass JH, Diaconu E, Pearlman E (2002) The role of endosymbiotic Wolbachia bacteria in the pathogenesis of river blindness. *Science* **295**(5561): 1892-5

Salomon JA, Vos T, Hogan DR, Gagnon M, Naghavi M, Mokdad A, Begum N, Shah R, Karyana M, Kosen S, Farje MR, Moncada G, Dutta A, Sazawal S, Dyer A, Seiler J, Aboyans V, Baker L, Baxter A, Benjamin EJ, Bhalla K, Bin Abdulhak A, Blyth F, Bourne R, Braithwaite T, Brooks P, Brugha TS, Bryan-Hancock C, Buchbinder R, Burney P, Calabria B, Chen H, Chugh SS, Cooley R, Criqui MH, Cross M, Dabhadkar KC, Dahodwala N, Davis A, Degenhardt L, Diaz-Torne C, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Edmond K, Elbaz A, Ezzati M, Feigin V, Ferri CP, Flaxman AD, Flood L, Fransen M, Fuse K, Gabbe BJ, Gillum RF, Haagsma J, Harrison JE, Havmoeller R, Hay RJ, Hel-Baqui A, Hoek HW, Hoffman H, Hogeland E, Hoy D, Jarvis D, Karthikeyan G, Knowlton LM, Lathlean T, Leasher JL, Lim SS, Lipshultz SE, Lopez AD, Lozano R, Lyons R, Malekzadeh R, Marcenes W, March L, Margolis DJ, McGill N, McGrath J, Mensah GA, Meyer AC, Michaud C, Moran A, Mori R, Murdoch ME, Naldi L, Newton CR, Norman R, Omer SB, Osborne R, Pearce N, Perez-Ruiz F, Perico N, Pesudovs K, Phillips D, Pourmalek F, Prince M, Rehm JT, Remuzzi G, Richardson K, Room R, Saha S, Sampson U, Sanchez-Riera L, Segui-Gomez M, Shahraz S, Shibuya K, Singh D, Sliwa K, Smith E, Soerjomataram I, Steiner T, Stolk WA, Stovner LJ, Sudfeld C, Taylor HR, Tleyjeh IM, van der Werf MJ, Watson WL, Weatherall DJ, Weintraub R, Weisskopf MG, Whiteford H, Wilkinson JD, Woolf AD, Zheng ZJ, Murray CJ, Jonas JB (2012) Common values in assessing health outcomes from disease and injury: disability weights measurement study for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet* **380**(9859)**:** 2129-43

Sauerbrey M (2008) The Onchocerciasis Elimination Program for the Americas (OEPA). *Ann Trop Med Parasitol* **102**(1): 25-29

Schulz-Key H (1990) Observations on the reproductive biology of *Onchocerca volvulus*. *Acta Leiden* **59**(1-2): 27-44

Schulz-Key H, Kläger S, Awadzi K, Diallo S, Greene BM, Larivière M, Aziz MA (1985) Treatment of human onchocerciasis: the efficacy of ivermectin on the parasite. *Trop Med Parasitol (Suppl II)* **36:** 20

Shibuya K, Bernard C, Ezzati M, Mathers CD (2006) Global burden of onchocerciasis in the year 2000: Summary of methods and data sources. Geneva: WHO. [http://www.who.int/healthinfo/statistics/bod_onchocerciasis.pdf]

Somo RM, Ngosso A, Dinga JS, Enyong PA, Fobi G (1993) A community-based trial of ivermectin for onchocerciasis control in the forest of southwestern Cameroon: clinical and parasitologic findings after three treatments. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **48**(1): 9-13

Stolk WA, ten Bosch QA, de Vlas SJ, Fischer PU, Weil GJ, Goldman AS (2013) Modeling the Impact and Costs of Semiannual Mass Drug Administration for Accelerated Elimination of Lymphatic Filariasis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **7**(1): e1984

Tamarozzi F, Halliday A, Gentil K, Hoerauf A, Pearlman E, Taylor MJ (2011) Onchocerciasis: the role of *Wolbachia* bacterial endosymbionts in parasite biology, disease pathogenesis, and treatment. *Clin Microbiol Rev* **24**(3): 459-68

Taylor HR, Semba RD, Newland HS, Keyvan-Larijani E, White A, Dukuly Z, Greene BM (1989) Ivermectin Treatment of Patients with Severe Ocular Onchocerciasis. *Am J Trop Med Hyg* **40**(5): 494-500

Taylor MJ, Awadzi K, Basáñez MG, Biritwum N, Boakye D, Boatin B, Bockarie M, Churcher TS, Debrah A, Edwards G, Hoerauf A, Mand S, Matthews G, Osei-Atweneboana M, Prichard RK, Wanji S, Adjei O (2009) Onchocerciasis Control: Vision for the Future from a Ghanian perspective. *Parasit Vectors* **2**(1): 7

Taylor MJ, Hoerauf A, Bockarie M (2010) Lymphatic filariasis and onchocerciasis. *Lancet* **376**(9747): 1175-1185

Tekle A, Elhassan E, Isiyaku S, Amazigo U, Bush S, Noma M, Cousens S, Abiose A, Remme JHF (2012) Impact of long-term treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin in Kaduna State, Nigeria: first evidence of the potential for elimination in the operational area of the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control. *Parasit Vectors* **5**(1): 28

Thylefors B, Tonjum AM (1980) A three-year follow-up of ocular onchocerciasis in an area of vector control. *Bull World Health Organ* **58**(1): 107-12

Traore MO, Sarr MD, Badji A, Bissan Y, Diawara L, Doumbia K, Goita SF, Konate L, Mounkoro K, Seck AF, Toe L, Toure S, Remme JHF (2012) Proof-of-principle of onchocerciasis elimination with ivermectin treatment in endemic foci in Africa: final results of a study in Mali and Senegal. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **6**(9): e1825

Tsalikis G (1993) The Onchocerciasis Control Programme (OCP) in West Africa: a review of progress. *Health Policy and Planning* **8**(4): 349-359

UNAIDS (2000) Costing Guidelines for HIV Prevention Strategies. Geneva: UNAIDS. [http://data.unaids.org/Publications/IRC-pub05/jc412-costguidel_en.pdf]

United States Department of Labor (2012) CPI Inflation Calculator. [http://www.bls.gov/data/inflation_calculator.htm/]

Vlassoff C, Weiss M, Ovuga EB, Eneanya C, Nwel PT, Babalola SS, Awedoba AK, Theophilus B, Cofie P, Shetabi P (2000) Gender and the stigma of onchocercal skin disease in Africa. *Soc Sci Med* **50**(10): 1353-68

Wageindicator.org (2012) Minimum Wages in Ghana Vol. 2012. [http://www.wageindicator.org/main/minimum-wages/ghana]

Walker M, Little MP, Wagner KS, Soumbey-Alley EW, Boatin BA, Basáñez MG (2012) Density-dependent mortality of the human host in onchocerciasis: relationships between microfilarial load and excess mortality. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* **6**(3): e1578

Wanji S, Tendongfor N, Nji T, Esum M, Che JN, Nkwescheu A, Alassa F, Kamnang G, Enyong PA, Taylor MJ, Hoerauf A, Taylor DW (2009) Community-directed delivery of doxycycline for the treatment of onchocerciasis in areas of co-endemicity with loiasis in Cameroon. *Parasit Vectors* **2**(1): 39

Waters HR, Rehwinkel JA, Burnham G (2004) Economic evaluation of Mectizan distribution. *Trop Med Int Health* **9**(4): A16-25

Whitworth JA, Alexander ND, Seed P, Thomas W, Abiose A, Jones BR (1996b) Maintaining compliance to ivermectin in communities in two West African countries. *Health Policy Plan* **11**(3): 299-307

Whitworth JA, Luty AJ, Maude GH, Morgan D, Downham MD, Taylor DW (1992) Ivermectin does not reduce the burden of itching in an onchocerciasis endemic community. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg* **86**(3): 281-3 Whitworth JA, Maude GH, Downham MD (1996c) Clinical and parasitological responses after up to 6.5 years of ivermectin treatment for onchocerciasis. *Trop Med Int Health* **1**(6): 786-93

Whitworth JAG, Downham MD, Lahai G, Maude GH (1996a) A community trial of ivermectin for onchocerciasis in Sierra Leone: compliance and parasitological profiles after three and a half years of intervention. *Trop Med Int Health* **1**(1): 52-58

Wildenburg G, Darge K, Knab J, Tischendorf FW, Bonow I, Büttner DW (1994) Lymph nodes of onchocerciasis patients after treatment with ivermectin: reaction of eosinophil granulocytes and their cationic granule proteins. *Trop Med Int Health* **45**(2): 87-96

Winnen M, Plaisier AP, Alley ES, Nagelkerke NJ, van Oortmarssen G, Boatin BA, Habbema JD (2002) Can ivermectin mass treatments eliminate onchocerciasis in Africa? *Bull World Health Organ* **80**(5): 384-91

World Bank (1993) World development report 1993: investing in health. New York: Oxford University Press. [http://files.dcp2.org/pdf/WorldDevelopmentReport1993.pdf]

World Bank (2012) Pushing back Neglected Tropical Diseases in Africa. [http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2012/11/17/pushing-back-neglected-tropicaldiseases-in-africa]

World Bank (2013) GNI per capita Vol. 2012. [http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GNP.PCAP.PP.CD]

World Health Organization (1983) Visual field testing as a routine during ophthalmological examination of EPI villages. Geneva: World Health Organization

World Health Organization (1995) Onchocerciasis and its control: report of a WHO Expert Committee on Onchocerciasis Control. Geneva: World Health Organization (OCP/EAC4.2/83.2)

World Health Organization (2003) *M*aking choices in health: WHO guide to cost effectiveness analysis. Geneva: World Health Organization. [http://www.who.int/choice/publications/p 2003 generalised cea.pdf]

World Health Organization (2004) Global Burden of Disease update 2004: disability weights for diseases and conditions. Geneva: World Health Organization. [http://www.who.int/healthinfo/global_burden_disease/GBD2004_DisabilityWeights.pdf]

World Health Organization (2010) African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC). Report of the 29th session of the Technical Consultative Committee (TCC), Ouagadougou, 14-19 September 2009

World Health Organization (2013) Accelerating work to overcome the global impact of neglected tropical diseases – A roadmap for implementation. [http://www.who.int/neglected_diseases/NTD_RoadMap_2012_Fullversion.pdf]

World Health Organization (no date) African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC). [http://www.who.int/apoc/about/en/]

Zimmerman PA, Dadzie KY, De Sole G, Remme JHF, Alley ES, Unnasch TR (1992) *Onchocerca volvulus* DNA probe classification correlates with epidemiologic patterns of blindness. *J Infect Dis* **165**(5): 964-8

Appendix A. Dissemination of Research

Conference and meeting presentations

Oral Presentations

Trans-Atlantic Product Development Partnership for a River Blindness Vaccine: Update Meeting *"Human onchocerciasis: potential long-term consequences of vaccination programmes"* Held in Washington, USA, November 2013.

NTD Modelling Consortium "An economic evaluation of increasing the frequency of ivermectin treatment for onchocerciasis control in Africa" Held in Washington, USA, November 2013.

ASTMH 62st Annual Meeting "An economic evaluation of increasing the frequency of *ivermectin treatment for onchocerciasis control in Africa*" Held in Washington, USA, November 2013.

Mectizan Donation Program: Suboptimal Response Meeting "*The role of coverage and compliance, and drug effects on model projections*". Held in Accra, Ghana, April 2013.

Mectizan Donation Program: Suboptimal Response Meeting "Is the current strategy of annual ivermectin distribution appropriate? Comparisons with biannual treatment". Held in Accra, Ghana, April 2013.

British Society for Parasitology Spring Meeting: "Uncertainty surrounding projections of the long-term impact of ivermectin treatment for human Onchocerciasis". Held in Glasgow, Scotland, April 2012.

Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene Research in Progress Meeting: "*Projecting the long-term impact of ivermectin treatment on human onchocerciasis: The importance of modelling assumptions*". Held in London, England, December 2011.

DIMACS-Workshop on Genetics and Disease Control: "Cost-Effectiveness Analyses of Drug Resistance Management Strategies for River Blindness". Held in Elmina, Ghana, August 2011.

Poster presentations

ASTMH 62st Annual Meeting "The impact of ivermectin on onchocerciasis and its burden of morbidity and mortality in savannah settings of Africa" Held in Washington, USA, November 2013.

ASTMH 61st Annual Meeting "Uncertainty surrounding projections of the long-term impact of ivermectin treatment for human Onchocerciasis" Held in Atlanta, November 2012.

Publications

Turner, H.C., Churcher, T.S., Walker, M., Prichard, R.K., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y. and Basáñez, M-G. (2013) Uncertainty surrounding projections of the long term impact of ivermectin treatment on human onchocerciasis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis* 7: e2169.*

Turner, H.C., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y., Walker, M., Tettevi, E.J., Churcher, T.S. Asiedu, O., Biritwum, N-K. and Basáñez, M-G. (2013) The cost of annual versus biannual community-directed treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin: Ghana as a Case Study. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis*, 7(9): e2452.*

Turner, H.C., Baussano, I. and Garnett, G. (2013) Vaccinating women previously exposed to human papillomavirus: a cost-effectiveness analysis of the bivalent vaccine. *PLoS ONE*, 8(9):e75552.*

Turner, H.C., Walker, M., Churcher, T.S. and Basáñez, M-G. Modelling the impact of ivermectin on River Blindness and its burden of morbidity and mortality in African savannah: EpiOncho projections. *Under Review*.

Turner, H.C., Walker, M., Churcher, T.S., Osei-Atweneboana, M.Y., Biritwum, N-K., Hopkins, A., Prichard, R.K. and Basáñez, M-G. Reaching the London Declaration on Negected Tropical Diseases for onchocerciasis: an economic evaluation of increasing the frequency of ivermectin treatment in Africa. *Under Review*.

Turner, H.C., Walker, M., French, M.D., Blake, I.M., Churcher, T.S. and Basáñez, M-G. Neglected tools for neglected diseases: mathematical models in economic evaluations. *Trends Parasitol Commissioned*.

Press Releases and news articles

Increasing river blindness treatment to twice a year doesn't double cost [http://www3.imperial.ac.uk/newsandeventspggrp/imperialcollege/newssummary/news_19-9-2013-15-52-2].*

Appended overleaf

Uncertainty Surrounding Projections of the Long-Term Impact of Ivermectin Treatment on Human Onchocerciasis

Hugo C. Turner¹, Thomas S. Churcher¹, Martin Walker¹, Mike Y. Osei-Atweneboana², Roger K. Prichard³, María-Gloria Basáñez¹*

1 Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, School of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine, Imperial College London, Norfolk Place, London, United Kingdom, 2 Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, Water Research Institute, Department of Environmental Biology and Health, Accra, Ghana, 3 Institute of Parasitology, Centre for Host–Parasite Interactions, McGill University, Sainte Anne-de-Bellevue, Quebec, Canada

Abstract

Background: Recent studies in Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal have indicated that annual (or biannual) ivermectin distribution may lead to local elimination of human onchocerciasis in certain African foci. Modelling-based projections have been used to estimate the required duration of ivermectin distribution to reach elimination. A crucial assumption has been that microfilarial production by *Onchocerca volvulus* is reduced irreversibly by 30–35% with each (annual) ivermectin round. However, other modelling-based analyses suggest that ivermectin may not have such a cumulative effect. Uncertainty in this (biological) and other (programmatic) assumptions would affect projected outcomes of long-term ivermectin treatment.

Methodology/Principal Findings: We modify a deterministic age- and sex-structured onchocerciasis transmission model, parameterised for savannah *O. volvulus–Simulium damnosum*, to explore the impact of assumptions regarding the effect of ivermectin on worm fertility and the patterns of treatment coverage compliance, and frequency on projections of parasitological outcomes due to long-term, mass ivermectin administration in hyperendemic areas. The projected impact of ivermectin distribution on onchocerciasis and the benefits of switching from annual to biannual distribution are strongly dependent on assumptions regarding the drug's effect on worm fertility and on treatment compliance. If ivermectin does not have a cumulative impact on microfilarial production, elimination of onchocerciasis in hyperendemic areas may not be feasible with annual ivermectin distribution.

Conclusions/Significance: There is substantial (biological and programmatic) uncertainty surrounding modelling projections of onchocerciasis elimination. These uncertainties need to be acknowledged for mathematical models to inform control policy reliably. Further research is needed to elucidate the effect of ivermectin on *O. volvulus* reproductive biology and quantify the patterns of coverage and compliance in treated communities.

Citation: Turner HC, Churcher TS, Walker M, Osei-Atweneboana MY, Prichard RK, et al. (2013) Uncertainty Surrounding Projections of the Long-Term Impact of Ivermectin Treatment on Human Onchocerciasis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7(4): e2169. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002169

Editor: Sara Lustigman, Lindsley F. Kimball Research Institute, United States of America

Received November 5, 2012; Accepted March 6, 2013; Published April 25, 2013

Copyright: © 2013 Turner et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: HCT is funded by an ESRC (Economic and Social Research Council of the UK, http://www.esrc.ac.uk) doctoral studentship (grant ES/I020888/1). TSC is supported by an Imperial College Junior Research Fellowship (http://www3.imperial.ac.uk/juniorresearchfellowships). MW is funded by a Wellcome Trust (http:// www.wellcome.ac.uk) project grant (092677/Z/10/Z). MYOA is a European Foundation Initiative for African Research into Neglected Tropical Diseases (EFINTD) research fellow (http://ntd-africa.net/). The research of RKP at the Institute of Parasitology, MCGill University is supported by a Regroupement Stratégique grant from FQRNT, Quebec, to the Centre for Host-Parasite Interactions. MGB thanks the Wellcome Trust (grants 085133/Z/08/Z and 092677/Z/10/Z). MYOA and MGB thank the Royal Society-Leverhulme Trust for a Capacity Building Africa Award (http://royalsociety.org/grants/schemes/leverhulme-africa/). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: m.basanez@imperial.ac.uk

Introduction

Human onchocerciasis, caused by *Onchocerca volvulus* and transmitted by *Simulium* blackflies, is a parasitic disease leading to ocular (vision loss, blindness) and cutaneous (itching, dermatitis, depigmentation) pathology [1,2], as well as to increased host mortality [3,4,5].

The Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP) started in 1974. The programme was initially based on vector control until, in 1987, ivermectin was registered for human use

against onchocerciasis. Thereupon, Merck & Co. Inc. took the unprecedented decision to donate ivermectin for as long as needed to eliminate onchocerciasis as a public health problem [6]. Mass drug administration (MDA) of ivermectin began in some OCP regions in 1988–1989, particularly in extension areas [7]. In some areas of the OCP both antivectorial and antiparasitic measures were combined, whilst in others (mainly in the western extension) ivermectin distribution alone, annually or biannually, was implemented [7,8]. The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC) was launched in 1995 to target the 19

Author Summary

Studies in Mali, Nigeria, and Senegal suggest that, in some settings, it is possible to eliminate onchocerciasis after 15-17 years of ivermectin distribution. Computer models have been used to estimate the required duration of ivermectin distribution to reach elimination. Some models assume that annual ivermectin treatment reduces the fertility of the causing parasite, Onchocerca volvulus, by 30-35% each time the drug is taken. Other analyses suggest that ivermectin may not have such an effect. We explore how assumptions regarding: a) treatment effects on microfilarial production by female worms (fertility), b) proportion of people who receive the drug (coverage), c) proportion of people who adhere to treatment (compliance), and d) whether people are treated once or twice per year (frequency) affect temporal projections of infection load and prevalence in highly endemic African savannah settings. We find that if treatment does not affect parasite fertility cumulatively, elimination of onchocerciasis in highly endemic areas of Africa may not be feasible with annual ivermectin distribution alone. If two areas have equal coverage but dissimilar compliance, they may experience very different infection load, prevalence and persistence trends. Projections such as these are crucial to help onchocerciasis control programmes to plan elimination strategies effectively.

onchocerciasis endemic countries in Africa not covered by the OCP [8,9]. APOC's strategy involved the establishment of effective and sustainable, community-directed, annual mass ivermectin treatment for all those aged five years and older [10,11]. The programme, initially conceived to end in 2007 [8], and subsequently in 2015 [12], has recently been extended until 2025 with the new goal and commitment for the elimination of onchocerciasis [13].

In addition to OCP western extension areas that were treated twice-yearly (e.g. Senegal [7]), some countries such as Ghana (in the former OCP), and Uganda (in APOC), have adopted a biannual treatment strategy in selected foci; the former because of suspected suboptimal responses to ivermectin treatment [14], and the latter because, in combination with vector control, elimination may be accelerated [15,16].

Ivermectin is a potent microfilaricide, causing a greater than 90% reduction in skin microfilarial load within a few days, and a maximum reduction of 98–99% two months after treatment [17]. Ivermectin also has an embryostatic effect on adult female worms, temporarily blocking the release of microfilariae (mf) [18]. The efficacy of the embryostatic effect is approximately 70%, with the maximum reduction of microfilarial production reached one to two months after treatment [17]. Recuperation of adult worms' fertility occurs slowly from three to four months after treatment onwards [17,18] but may not regain its original level up to 18 months after treatment. (The term fertility is used here to refer to worms producing live, stretched mf, by contrast with females producing oocytes or embryos, which would correspond to worm fecundity [17].)

Recent epidemiological and entomological evaluations conducted in Mali and Senegal suggest that 15–17 years of annual (or biannual) ivermectin distribution (in the absence of vector control) may be sufficient to lead to local onchocerciasis elimination in certain foci [19]. In addition, local elimination may have been achieved with 15–17 years of ivermectin distribution in 26 villages in Kaduna state, Nigeria (the first report of such evidence for the operational area of APOC) [20]. These studies have provided

proof of principle that elimination with annual ivermectin distribution may be feasible in some African foci. In 2009, an international expert group convened to discuss the implications of these results [21]. Based on experiences with cessation of onchocerciasis control in West Africa and predictions from mathematical models, the group developed an operational framework for elimination and provisionally defined transmission thresholds, namely, a microfilarial prevalence below 5% in all surveyed villages (and below 1% in 90% of the villages), and a proportion of local simuliid vectors harbouring <0.5 L3 larvae per 1,000 flies [19,21].

Mathematical models such as [22], have been used to assess the feasibility of, and predict the duration of ivermectin distribution required for elimination [23]. In these modelling projections, overall (therapeutic) treatment coverage was varied as part of the sensitivity analysis, and those not taking treatment included a (correlated but unreported) fraction of systematic non-compliers. However, the effect of systematic non-compliers (i.e. the proportion of the population aged five years and older who never take treatment) on the feasibility of elimination was not investigated independently from that of coverage. A crucial conjecture of these projections (based on analysis of a 5-year community ivermectin trial in Asubende, Ghana [24]), was that adult female worms, after temporarily ceasing microfilarial production due to the embryostatic effect of ivermectin, gradually reach a new production level which is reduced irreversibly by an average of 30–35% after each treatment round [25], effectively assuming a cumulative effect of ivermectin on female worm fertility (equivalent to an increasing proportion of worms not contributing to transmission; a sort of 'macrofilaricidal' effect [23,25]). However, another modelling study, using data from a community trial with five biannual treatment rounds in Guatemala [26], did not find evidence for a cumulative effect on microfilarial production [27].

Whether or not ivermectin has a cumulative effect on female worm fertility [28,29] will have important implications for the optimal design of MDA programmes, and given the sparse data that exist, this issue represents an area of considerable uncertainty which needs to be taken into account in modelling studies estimating the long-term impact of ivermectin treatment on parasite populations in humans and vectors.

In this paper, we modify our current onchocerciasis transmission model [30] to explore the uncertainty in modelling projections of the long-term impact of ivermectin on *O. volvulus* populations due to assumptions concerning: a) the effect of ivermectin on mf production by female worms (biological variables), and b) treatment coverage and compliance (programmatic variables). We also explore how these affect the benefit of annual vs. biannual treatment frequency.

Methods

Mathematical Model

We modified our sex- and age-structured deterministic onchocerciasis transmission model [30,31], which describes the rate of change with respect to time and host age of the mean number of fertile and non-fertile female adult worms per host, the mean number of microfilariae per milligram (mg) of skin (mf/mg), and the mean number of infective (L3) larvae per fly. To obtain infection prevalence from infection intensity in humans, we assumed that the distribution of mf among hosts is negative binomial as described in [32]. A detailed description of the model equations is given in Supporting Information Text S1: Protocol S1, Onchocerciasis Population Dynamics Model. Parameter definitions and values can be found in Supporting Information Text S2: Supplementary Tables, Table S1.

Ivermectin Effects

After each dose of ivermectin there is a microfilaricidal effect with 99% efficacy, and a reduction in microfilarial production (embryostatic effect) by fertile female worms [17]. The ivermectinexposed adult worms are then assumed either to: a) reach a new microfilarial production rate which is reduced by 30% ten months after each treatment round (representing a cumulative effect, depicted in Figure 1A), or b) resume microfilarial production, which ten months after each treatment would reach 70% of its baseline value, i.e. is also reduced by 30% from baseline, but the reduction is not additive (representing a non-cumulative effect, as concluded in [27], and illustrated in Figure 1B). The equations modelling the effect of ivermectin in female worm fertility are described in Supporting Information Text S1: Protocol S2, Modelling the Cumulative Effect of Ivermectin. Parameter definitions and values can be found in Supporting Information Text S2: Supplementary Tables, Table S2.

Although the cumulative reduction proposed in [25] was estimated from data corresponding to annual ivermectin distribution [24], it was assumed that in the case of biannual treatments, each 6-monthly treatment causes the same proportional reduction. An analysis of the sensitivity of model outputs to this assumption was conducted following [23]. Ivermectin was assumed to have no macrofilaricidal action (i.e. not to reduce adult worm lifeexpectancy) at the standard dose used for MDA [17,33,34], and to have intact efficacy, i.e., no sub-optimal response [14] or drug resistance [35] were included.

Treatment Coverage, Compliance, and Frequency

The model is stratified into four treatment compliance classes: a first group of individuals who take treatment every round; two groups who take treatment every other round alternately, and a fourth group who never take treatment. The latter class represents individuals in the community who are systematic non-compliers, as opposed to a situation in which a proportion of individuals miss some treatment rounds (e.g. because they are absent or pregnant at the time of treatment). The proportion of systematic non-compliers was set at 0.1%, 2%, and 5% to investigate its effect on model outputs. These values were chosen to explore potential variability in this parameter. A recent ivermectin compliance study reported that 6% had never taken the drug over the course of eight consecutive treatment rounds [36]. The four compliance groups were assumed not to differ in exposure to vectors (which depends on age and sex according to [30]). Children under five years were not treated in the model as they are not eligible to receive ivermectin.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of two different proposed effects of ivermectin on *Onchocerca volvulus* **microfilarial production.** The schematic represents a closed population of adult worms (i.e., no incoming worms due to transmission or worm death). **A:** Ivermectin is assumed to have a cumulative effect on adult worm fertility by which the microfilarial production of ivermectin-exposed adult worms is reduced by 30% after each treatment round (red solid line). **B:** Ivermectin is assumed not to have a cumulative effect; ivermectin-exposed adult worms resume microfilarial production to 70% of its baseline value ten months after each treatment [17] (blue solid line). doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002169.q001

Model Parameterisation and Examined Outputs

Human age- and sex-structure reflects the demography in savannah areas of northern Cameroon [37,38], as it is in savannah areas of Africa that the prevailing *O. volvulus–S. damnosum* combinations are responsible for the most severe sequelae of onchocerciasis [1,2]. Parameters for vector competence, survival, and host choice were those for savannah species of the *Simulium damnosum* complex (*S. damnosum sensu stricto* and *S. sirbanum*) [30,39], responsible for onchocerciasis transmission in the region [40,41].

The overdispersion parameter for the distribution of adult worms among hosts was as estimated in [27] (see Supporting Information Text S1: Protocol S3, Mating Probability and Supporting Information Text S2: Supplementary Tables, Table S3). The parameterisation of the relationship between microfilarial prevalence and load was that for West African savannah areas [32] (see Supporting Information Text S1: Protocol S4, Microfilarial Prevalence and Supporting Information Text S2: Supplementary Tables, Table S3). The annual biting rate (ABR) by blackfly vectors was set to 19,000 bites per person per year (well within the range of values recorded in savannah areas [32,40,41]), to achieve a baseline mean microfilarial load of 27 mf/mg (all ages), and of 44 mf/mg of skin in those aged 20 years and above. This resulted in an overall microfilarial prevalence (all ages) of 70%, representing an area of high baseline endemicity. In onchocerciasis, hyperendemic areas are those with overall infection prevalence above 60% [42], but this class can encompass a wide range of transmission and infection intensities. (Note that the mean microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged ≥ 20 years here is an arithmetic mean, not a geometric mean of the number of microfilariae per skin snip (ss) (mf/ss) in the same age group, known as the community microfilarial load (CMFL) [43].) Understanding the long-term impact of ivermectin in highly hyperendemic areas is particularly important, as such areas will be those in which controlling the disease has the highest priority (morbidity will be more severe), elimination of the infection reservoir is likely to be more difficult or take longer [23], and from which the infection could reinvade controlled areas.

The model was used to explore the effect of 15 years of (annual or biannual) mass ivermectin distribution on: a) infection intensity defined as mean microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years, and b) prevalence of microfilaridermia in the overall population. We choose 15 years as a suitable timescale to investigate the impact of long-term treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin, motivated by the epidemiological studies described in [19,20]. Since the model is deterministic, the probability of reaching elimination was not investigated.

Sensitivity Analysis

The sensitivity of the above model outputs was explored regarding the following assumptions: 1) cumulative effect of ivermectin on female worm fertility (present vs. absent); 2) overall therapeutic coverage (proportion of the total population receiving ivermectin at each round: 60%, 70%, 80%); 3) proportion of systematic non-compliers (those who never take treatment: 0.1%, 2%, 5%); and 4) treatment frequency (annual vs. biannual). In order to explore the extent to which our results were sensitive to the assumption that biannual treatments each caused the same reduction in fertility of 30% per treatment; we also explored model outputs with a more conservative reduction of 16.5% per 6-monthly treatment (which gives an overall annual reduction of 30%).

Results

Cumulative vs. Non-cumulative Effect of Ivermectin on Microfilarial Production by *O. volvulus*

Model outputs indicate that the assumption of a cumulative impact of ivermectin on microfilarial production by female *O. volvulus* has a substantial effect on projections of long-term ivermectin treatment (Figure 2). Regarding infection intensity in adults aged 20 years and older, there would be a very pronounced decrease partly due to little repopulation of the skin by mf, and partly due to the ensuing suppressed transmission. This is because, under this conjecture, the model assumes that the number of mf produced per female worm per unit time would progressively be reduced to a very low level. By contrast, under the assumption of ivermectin not exerting a cumulative effect on microfilarial production, there is a substantial amount of repopulation of the skin by mf in-between annual treatments, leading to more transmission and a smaller impact on infection intensity.

Annual vs. Biannual Treatment Frequency

Assumptions regarding the operation or absence of a cumulative effect of ivermectin on parasite fertility can also influence the expected relative benefits of annual vs. biannual treatment frequency regarding reductions in infection intensity, prevalence, and transmission. In the presence of a cumulative reduction with each treatment round, there is initially a very marked benefit of the biannual distribution on the reduction of parasitological indicators (as the rate of microfilarial production is rapidly reduced). However, after repeated treatments, there would be much less difference in the long-term impact of ivermectin treatment on microfilarial prevalence compared to an annual treatment strategy (Figure 3A). In the absence of a cumulative effect, biannual treatments are more beneficial both in the short and long terms in



Figure 2. Impact on infection intensity of annual ivermectin distribution under two assumptions of ivermectin effects. Intensity of infection is quantified as microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years. The red and blue solid lines represent, respectively, model outputs assuming the operation of a cumulative impact on the fertility of *O. volvulus* (illustrated in Fig. 1A), or the absence of such an effect (Fig. 1B). Model calibration corresponds to an ABR of 19,000 (savannah) *Simulium damnosum* bites/person/year; a baseline mean microfilarial load of 44 mf/mg (in those aged \geq 20 years); a 70% microfilarial prevalence (all ages); a therapeutic coverage of 80% (overall population); and a systematic non-compliance rate of 0.1%. The demography of the human population is that of northern Cameroon [30,37,38].

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002169.g002



Figure 3. Impact on infection prevalence of annual/biannual ivermectin distribution under two assumptions of ivermectin effects. Solid and dashed lines represent, respectively, annual and biannual treatment frequency. **A:** Red lines correspond to model outputs assuming that ivermectin exerts a cumulative reduction in microfilarial production by the adult female worm. **B:** Blue lines correspond to model outputs assuming the absence of such cumulative reduction. Calibration of the model is as in Figure 2. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002169.g003

reducing microfilarial prevalence than annual treatments (Figure 3B). With the more conservative 16.5% reduction in female fertility per 6-monthly treatment, the initial benefit of microfilarial prevalence reduction is less pronounced than in the previous scenario, but again, there is relatively little difference in the long-term impact of biannual compared to annual ivermectin treatments (Supporting Information Text S3: Supplementary Figures, Figure S1).

Therapeutic Coverage and Compliance Patterns

Varying the therapeutic coverage in the overall population, and the proportion of systematic non-compliers had a large influence on the infection intensity achieved at the end of the 15th year of ivermectin distribution. An increased overall coverage, or a decreased proportion of systematic non-compliers lead to lower microfilarial loads 12 months after the 15th year of intervention (Figure 4). Under annual treatment, overall coverage had a larger effect on projected infection intensity (Figure 4A) and microfilarial prevalence (Supporting Information Text S3: Supplementary Figures, Figure S2A) than under biannual treatment (Supporting Information Text S3: Supplementary Figures, Figure 4B and Figure S2B). (Because of the nonlinear relationship between infection prevalence and intensity, the proportional reductions in prevalence are smaller.) For instance, under the assumption of a cumulative effect of ivermectin, and for a 5% proportion of noncompliers, increasing therapeutic coverage from 60% to 80% decreased microfilarial load by ~50% for annual frequency compared to 16% for biannual frequency. The corresponding values when no cumulative effect was assumed were ~37% and ~30%. By contrast, the assumed proportion of systematic non-compliers had a more pronounced effect on the impact of biannual treatment delivery. Under the assumption of a cumulative effect of ivermectin, and for a 70% therapeutic coverage, decreasing systematic non-compliance from 5% to 0.1% decreased microfilarial load by ~69% for annual frequency and by ~97% for biannual frequency. The corresponding values when no cumulative effect was assumed were ~23% and ~53%.

Discussion

Cumulative vs. Non-cumulative Effect of Ivermectin on Microfilarial Production by *O. volvulus*

Mathematical models can play a fundamental role in informing control programmes and strategies, but crucially, policy makers must realise that model outputs are highly dependent on implicit and explicit model assumptions [44]. Among the latter and for onchocerciasis in particular, the effects that (yearly or 6-monthly) ivermectin treatments exert on the reproductive biology of *O. volvulus* represent an area of considerable uncertainty, where further research is urgently needed. Although ivermectin's



Figure 4. The effect of coverage and compliance on infection intensity after 15 years of ivermectin treatment. Intensity of infection is quantified as microfilarial load per mg of skin in those aged \geq 20 years. The values presented correspond to one year after the 15th treatment (for annual frequency, Fig. 4A), or one year after the 30th treatment (for biannual frequency, Fig. 4B). Red and blue bars represent, respectively, a cumulative and a non-cumulative effect of ivermectin on microfilarial production by the female worm. Dotted bars: 0.1% systematic non-compliance; hashed bars: 2% systematic non-compliance; solid bars: 5% systematic non-compliance. Calibration of the model is as in Figure 2. Note the different scale on the vertical axis between 4A and 4B. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002169.g004

microfilaricidal effect is well established [17], the embryostatic effect and its repercussions on female worm fertility [18]; whether or not such effects on fertility are irreversible [25,28]; the rate of resumption of microfilarial production [17]; and possible effects on intranodular sex ratios and insemination rates [45,46,47], remain poorly understood. An appropriate and updated incorporation of these effects into models, and an understanding of any enhanced macrofilaricidal activity of ivermectin under increased treatment frequency regimes [45,47,48,49], are essential to reliably inform control policy, and fully assess ivermectin efficacy. Our results illustrate that the question of whether or not the drug effects on microfilarial production are cumulative, is highly influential on the projections of the long-term effect of annual or biannual MDA with ivermectin, particularly in areas with high baseline onchocerciasis endemicity.

The data that informed the model in [25], and presented in [24], comprised longitudinal microfilarial load follow up at various time-points after each of five annual treatment rounds in 74 individuals who received all five annual ivermectin doses from 1987 through to 1991 in an early community trial in the savannah focus of Asubende, Ghana [24]. The focus had been under vector

control since 1986 during the OCP, and experienced a 70% reduction in parasite exposure during the trial despite antivectorial measures being interrupted for the first three years of ivermectin treatment. Figure 3 of [25] contrasts two model fits explaining the temporal trends in five annual data points of [24], corresponding to (decreasing) microfilarial counts just before each treatment round. The two hypotheses being tested to explain such trends are a null hypothesis of all-ivermectin-exposed-adult worms regaining their full microfilarial productivity vs. an alternative hypothesis of a 35% reduction in productivity with each treatment round. The authors of [25] concluded that the model assuming the alternative hypothesis provided a better fit to the data. However, given that: a) microfilarial loads were measured per skin snip instead of per mg of skin; b) the weight of a skin snip may range between 0.5 and 3 mg; c) lighter snips more likely yield a false negative result, and d) microfilarial counts originated from snips incubated for only 30 minutes in distilled water [24,50] (likely to underestimate microfilarial load as microfilaridermia decreases), there is the possibility of considerable measurement error [5]. This is particularly important regarding the last two data points in the dataset (the most influential for discriminating between the two hypotheses), as for the last two years of the community trial in Asubende, the study area was receiving full vector control in addition to ivermectin, making it difficult to disentangle the effects of treatment from those of antivectorial measures. (The authors of [25] indicate, however, that the impact of vector control was taken into account in their model.) By contrast, the study in [27], based on the data presented in [26], which did not detect a cumulative effect of ivermectin on the production of microfilariae by female worms, used longitudinal data from 510 individuals (7 times as many as [24]), who took all five 6-monthly doses of ivermectin from 1998 to 1990 in the absence of vector control in Guatemala, with microfilarial loads measured per mg of skin after 24 h incubation [26].

Since our current model is deterministic, we cannot presently explore the probability of elimination. However, comparison of our projections with those of other models is informative. ONCHOSIM projections indicate that with a coverage of 80%, and an initial intensity of 70 mf/ss (in those aged 20 years and older), a minimum of 25 years of annual ivermectin distribution would be necessary to achieve a 99% probability of elimination [21]. In previous projections with the same model [23], the required duration of ivermectin distribution increases steeply and nonlinearly as heterogeneity in individual variation to vector exposure increases. Our model includes age- and sex-dependent exposure to vector bites [30] but does not consider inter-individual variation. The simulations in [21,23] assume that ivermectin has a cumulative effect on the production of mf by female worms, and our results suggest that, in the absence of such an effect, ivermectin would have a less pronounced long-term impact. This indicates that if ivermectin does not have a cumulative effect on the fertility of O. volvulus, a longer duration of ivermectin distribution than previously estimated may be required to reach elimination thresholds, especially in areas with a high initial infection intensity and perennial transmission. In some areas of Cameroon that have received 13 years of ivermectin treatment, recent analyses of microfilarial dynamics do not support the operation of a strong cumulative effect of repeated treatments on the microfilarial productivity of female worms [51].

Comparison with provisional thresholds for elimination is also interesting. Operational thresholds based on [19,21] suggest a microfilarial prevalence <5% in all of the sampled villages, or <1% in 90% of sampled villages. Our results indicate that microfilarial prevalence would remain above 5% after 15 years of annual or biannual treatment if ivermectin does not affect microfilarial production by O. volvulus cumulatively, even with a therapeutic coverage of 80% and only 0.1% of non-compliers (Figure 3B). Our hypothetical baseline infection levels were set at 70% microfilarial prevalence and >40 mf/mg in those aged \geq 20 years, and the ABR to 19,000 bites per person per year, with perennial transmission. The baseline prevalence in the Senegalese/Malian foci reporting elimination ranged from mesoendemicity to the lower end of hyperendemicity (20% to > 60%), and the CMFL from 10 to 48 mf/ss in 16 (27%) of the villages, with CMFL <10 in the remaining 44 (73%) of the 60 surveyed villages. In addition, transmission in these foci is seasonal as opposed to perennial, enhancing the impact of annual treatment on transmission when ivermectin is distributed just before the start of the rains; microfilarial loads are lowest during the transmission season and there are no blackflies around to ingest mf when these start reappearing in the skin [19]. Also, the difference with a biannual strategy would be less pronounced. These factors may have contributed to the feasibility of elimination in these areas and the reported lack of a significant difference between annual and 6monthly treatment frequency. Likewise, in the foci located in Kaduna state, Nigeria, the median baseline prevalence was 52%, the median CMFL was 4 mf/ss, and transmission was also seasonal [20]. It should be noted that ONCHOSIM projections are consistent with current observations of elimination [19,20,21]. However, as described above, the areas where elimination has currently been achieved had lower baseline endemicity levels, and seasonal vector presence, leading to less transmission during intertreatment periods. Under these conditions, assumptions of ivermectin effects on adult worms would likely have a lesser effect on models projections.

Our results are compatible with those of other modelling studies [52], which indicate that the higher the transmission intensity, the higher the necessary effectiveness of treatment (a net measure comprising coverage, number of treatment rounds per year and drug efficacy) to reach elimination. However, our study also emphasizes how different modelling assumptions can have profound effects on model outcomes and conclusions (a more extensive summary of the main structural assumptions of different onchocerciasis models is presented in [53]). This further highlights the need, discussed in [44] for helminth modellers to investigate key questions regarding helminth control more collaboratively, exploring the reasons for any disparity between the results of different models using the best available data.

Annual vs. Biannual Treatment Frequency

Biannual ivermectin treatment was found to have a large additional benefit in both reducing microfilarial prevalence and intensity compared to annual treatment when no cumulative reduction in parasite fertility was assumed. When such effect was assumed, the model indicated that there would be an initial substantial benefit (as rates of microfilarial production are reduced quickly) of the biannual strategy, but that there would be relatively little difference in microfilarial prevalence at the end of the 15th year compared to annual treatment (Figure 3A). A possible reason for the pronounced difference between the two treatment frequencies, if ivermectin does not decrease worm fertility cumulatively, is that there would be substantially more transmission between annual than between 6-monthly treatments (distributing the drug every 6 months does not allow the adult worms to regain their fertility to a substantial level if there is perennial transmission, but there may be less additional benefit in seasonal transmission scenarios). Understanding ivermectin's effect on the reproduction and survival of adult worms [17,18,28,29, 45,46,47,48,49] has important policy implications regarding switching to a biannual (or more frequent) treatment strategy in Africa. Three-monthly ivermectin treatments have contributed to acceleration towards local elimination in initially hyperendemic foci in Mexico [54].

Therapeutic Coverage

Varying therapeutic coverage (for fixed non-compliance) had less effect on the impact achieved with a biannual treatment frequency than it had for annual distribution. This can be explained as the model accounts for the fact that if someone misses a treatment round, there is another chance to get treated during that year, ensuring that at least one annual treatment is received. In annual frequency, a missed treatment would result in a gap of at least two years between treatments, allowing microfilaridermia levels to build-up and contribute to transmission in the betweentreatments period. This has implications regarding policy decisions in areas that have been found to have low coverage in the past, and highlights the potential benefit of switching to a biannual treatment strategy. In any case, a higher therapeutic coverage would prevent more disease during the intervention as the intensity of infection would decrease more rapidly. Incidence of blindness [55], and relative risk of excess mortality in sighted individuals [4,5] depend on microfilarial load. It is also important to bear in mind that our model, at this stage, does not include the possibility of sub-optimal response or resistance to ivermectin or financial costs, in which case, the described benefits of a biannual treatment frequency could be very different.

Compliance Patterns

Assumptions regarding the proportion of systematic noncompliers were found to be just as important as those for overall coverage when projecting the long-term impact of ivermectin distribution. The proportion of systematic non-compliance (for a fixed level of therapeutic coverage) was also found to have a marked influence on the impact achieved by a biannual strategy, particularly when assuming a cumulative effect of ivermectin; the higher the non-compliance rate, the smaller the benefit of biannual treatment. This indicates that the effect of systematic non-compliance may not simply be overcome by increasing treatment frequency and has implications when considering switching to a biannual treatment strategy, as two areas with the same overall coverage but different proportion of systematic noncompliers may lead to very different results regarding the feasibility of elimination [56].

As control programmes move towards elimination goals, the proportion of systematic non-compliers in the population becomes increasingly important. Studies of coverage and compliance for lymphatic filariasis treatment have indicated that, in addition to heterogeneity in transmission and vector density, and missed rounds of MDA, continuing transmission seems to be linked to rates of systematic non-compliance [56]. Therefore, when evaluating the progress of elimination programmes, the proportion of, and factors contributing to, systematic non-compliance should be investigated in addition to those determining overall coverage [36,57], as an assessment of the latter on its own may mask reasons behind transmission persistence.

Modelling studies should also routinely vary the proportion of systematic non-compliers in addition to levels of treatment coverage as part of their sensitivity analysis to help understand the impact of prolonged treatment in populations. Although there are some data indicating that treatment compliance may depend on host age and sex (Brieger *et al.* found that older members of the community were more likely to take ivermectin than younger sections of the population, and men were more likely to comply than women in a Cameroon, Nigeria and Uganda multi-centre study [57]), further investigation regarding patterns of systematic non-compliance (i.e. the characteristics of individuals who never take the drug) will be essential to parameterise such modelling studies.

Conclusions and Future Directions

There is substantially more uncertainty surrounding modelderived projections of the long-term impact of, and feasibility of onchocerciasis elimination with ivermectin distribution than previously recognised. This uncertainty arises from an incomplete understanding of the effects of ivermectin on parasite survival, population structure, and reproductive biology, when the drug is administered at the standard dose annually, biannually (or more frequently, e.g. quarterly). Although the results presented in [45,46,47,48,49] would be invaluable to parameterise mathematical models incorporating such effects, further empirical and theoretical research is needed. Regarding the former, there is a need for well-characterized long-term (individual) longitudinal data (including previous treatment history), to estimate reliably the potential macrofilaricidal effects of ivermectin. However, to avoid the potentially confounding effect of ongoing transmission (which may lead to underestimating macrofilaricidal effects, particularly under annual treatment), studies could be conducted in areas where transmission has been interrupted (in geographical or ecological islands by elimination of the local vector [58,59]). In areas near to elimination due to ivermectin distribution alone, rates of skin repopulation by mf could be investigated by fitting models to these data under a variety of ivermectin effects assumptions. Regarding the more theoretical aspects, a more adequate formulation of the parasite's mating probability in light of drug effects, decreasing male to female sex ratios [60], and changes in parasite distribution resulting from prolonged treatment [61] would also be important for assessing the feasibility of elimination.

Our results indicate that in areas with high baseline endemicity and perennial transmission, 15 years of annual or biannual treatment with ivermectin may not be sufficient to bring infection levels below potential elimination thresholds. Further incorporation of ivermectin effects into models; comparison of perennial vs. seasonal patterns of transmission; consideration of other O. volvulus-Simulium combinations; calibration of models for a wide range of baseline endemicity levels; assessment of patterns of treatment coverage and compliance; and inclusion of parasite genetic structure regarding sensitivity to ivermectin, will be essential to evaluate uncertainty surrounding model-derived projections. This, together with cost-effectiveness analysis, and development of stochastic frameworks will be crucial for informing control policy regarding annual vs. biannual treatment strategies in Africa, and for exploring the feasibility of elimination in foci with varying degrees of baseline endemicity. Finally, whether prolonged ivermectin treatment has a profound effect on the parasite's reproductive fitness has implications for the risk of ivermectin resistance evolving [35], and the risk of resurgence when treatment ceases. This highlights the importance of postcontrol surveillance in those foci where treatment is deemed to have been sufficiently successful to be stopped [62,63,64].

Supporting Information

Text S1 Model Description. (PDF)

Text S2 Supplementary Tables. (PDF)

Text S3 Supplementary Figures. (DOC)

Acknowledgments

We thank all members of the Helminth Ecology Research Group at Imperial College London for valuable comments on preliminary versions of the results presented in this paper.

Author Contributions

Conducted the modelling: HCT. Advised on the modelling and commented on the manuscript for intellectual input: TSC MW MGB. Conceived the study: MGB. Read and approved the final, submitted version of the manuscript: HCT TSC MW MYOA RKP MGB. Wrote the paper: HCT TSC MW MGB.

- Duke BOL (1990) Human onchocerciasis-an overview of the disease. Acta Leiden 59: 9–24.
- Bradley JE, Whitworth J, Basáñez MG (2005) Onchocerciasis. In: Wakelin D, Cox F, Despommier D, Gillespie, Eds. *Topley and Wilson's Microbiology and Microbial Infections*. Volume Parasitology. 10th edition. London: Hodder Arnold, pp: 781–801.
- Kirkwood B, Smith P, Marshall T, Prost A (1983) Relationships between mortality, visual acuity and microfilarial load in the area of the Onchocerciasis Control Programme. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 77: 862–868.
- Little MP, Breitling LP, Basáñez MG, Alley ES, Boatin BA (2004) Association between microfilarial load and excess mortality in onchocerciasis: an epidemiological study. Lancet 363: 1514–1521.
- Walker M, Little MP, Wagner KS, Soumbey-Alley EW, Boatin BA et al. (2012) Density-dependent mortality of the human host in onchocerciasis: relationships between microfilarial load and excess mortality. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 6: e1578.
- Meredith SEO, Dull HB (1998) Onchocerciasis: the first decade of Mectizan (trademark) treatment. Parasitol Today 14: 472–474.
- Molyneux DH (1995) Onchocerciasis control in West Africa: current status and future of the onchocerciasis control programme. Parasitol Today 11: 399–402.
- Richards FO Jr, Boatin B, Sauerbrey M, Sékétéli A (2001) Control of onchocerciasis today: status and challenges. Trends Parasitol 17: 558–563.
- Remme JH (1995) The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control: preparing to launch. Parasitol Today 11: 403–406.
- Sékétéli A, Adeoye G, Eyamba A, Nnoruka E, Drameh P, et al. (2002) The achievements and challenges of the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC). Ann Trop Med Parasitol (Suppl 1): S15–S28.
- Amazigo U (2008) The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC). Ann Trop Med Parasitol 2008, 102: 19–22.
- African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC) (2010) Report of the 29th session of the Technical Consultative Committee (TCC), Ouagadougou, 14–19 September 2009. World Health Organization. Available: http://www. who.int/apoc/about/structure/tcc/TCC29_FINAL_REPORT_Eng.pdf. Accessed 19th March 2013.
- World Bank (2012) Pushing back Neglected Tropical Diseases in Africa. Available: http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2012/11/17/pushingback-neglected-tropical-diseases-in-africa. Accessed 19th March 2013.
- Osei-Atweneboana MY, Eng JKL, Boakye DA, Gyapong JO, Prichard RK (2007) Prevalence and intensity of *Onchoerca volvulus* infection and efficacy of ivermectin in endemic communities in Ghana: a two-phase epidemiological study. Lancet 369: 2021–2029.
- Ndyomugyenyi R, Lakwo T, Habomugisha P, Male B (2007) Progress towards the elimination of onchocerciasis as a public-health problem in Uganda: opportunities, challenges and the way forward. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 101: 323–333.
- Ministry of Health, Republic of Uganda (2007) National Plan 2007–2010. Integrated Control of Neglected Tropical Diseases in Uganda. Available: http:// ntd.rti.org/about/index.cfm?fuseaction = static&label = uganda. Accessed 19th March 2013.
- Basáñez MG, Pion SDS, Boakes E, Filipe JAN, Churcher TS, et al. (2008) Effect of single-dose ivermectin on *Onchocerca volvulus*: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Infect Dis 8: 310–322.
- Duke BOL, Zea-Flores G, Muñoz B (1991) The embryogenesis of Onchocerca volvulus over the first year after a single dose of ivermectin. Trop Med Parasitol 42: 175–180.
- Diawara L, Traoré MO, Badji A, Bissan Y, Doumbia K, et al. (2009) Feasibility of onchocerciasis elimination with ivermectin treatment in endemic foci in Africa: first evidence from studies in Mali and Senegal. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 3: e497.
- 20. Tekle AH, Elhassan E, Isiyaku S, Amazigo UV, Bush S, et al. (2012) Impact of long-term treatment of onchocerciasis with ivermectin in Kaduna State, Nigeria: first evidence of the potential for elimination in the operational area of the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control. Parasit Vectors 5: 28.
- African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (2010) Conceptual and Operational Framework of Onchocerciasis Elimination with Ivermectin Treatment. WHO/APOC. Available: http://www.who.int/apoc/oncho_ elimination_report_english.pdf. Accessed 19th March 2013.
- Plaisier AP, van Oortmarssen GJ, Habbema JDF, Remme JH, Alley ES (1990) ONCHOSIM: a model and computer simulation program for the transmission and control of onchocerciasis. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 31: 43–56.
- Winnen M, Plaisier AP, Alley ES, Nagelkerke NJD, van Oortmarssen G, et al. (2002) Can ivermectin mass treatments eliminate onchocerciasis in Africa? Bull World Health Organ 80: 384–391.
- 24. Alley ES, Plaisier AP, Boatin BA, Dadzie KY, Remme J, et al. (1994) The impact of five years of annual ivermectin treatment on skin microfilarial loads in the onchocerciasis focus of Asubende, Ghana. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 88: 581–584.
- Plaisier AP, Alley ES, Boatin BA, Van Oortmarssen GJ, Remme H, et al. (1995) Irreversible effects of ivermectin on adult parasites in onchocerciasis patients in the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa. J Infect Dis 172: 204– 210.

- Collins RC, Gonzales-Peralta C, Castro J, Zea-Flores G, Cupp MS, et al. (1992) Ivermectin: reduction in prevalence and infection intensity of *Onchocerca volvulus* following biannual treatments in five Guatemalan communities. Am J Trop Med Hyg 47: 156–169.
- Bottomley C, Isham V, Collins RC, Basáñez MG (2008) Rates of microfilarial production by *Onchocerca volvulus* are not cumulatively reduced by multiple ivermectin treatments. Parasitology 135: 1571–1581.
- Kläger S, Whitworth JA, Post RJ, Chavasse DC, Downham MD (1993) How long do the effects of ivermectin on adult *Onchocerca volvulus* persist? Trop Med Parasitol 44: 305–310.
- Kläger SL, Whitworth JA, Downham MD (1996) Viability and fertility of adult Onchocerca volvulus after 6 years of treatment with ivermectin. Trop Med Int Health 1: 581–589.
- Filipe JAN, Boussinesq M, Renz A, Collins RC, Vivas-Martinez S, et al. (2005) Human infection patterns and heterogeneous exposure in river blindness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102: 15265–15270.
- Churcher TS, Basáñez MG (2009) Sampling strategies to detect anthelmintic resistance: the perspective of human onchocerciasis. Trends Parasitol 25: 11–17.
- Basáñez MG, Boussinesq M (1999) Population biology of human onchocerciasis. Philos Trans R Soc Lond B Biol Sci 354: 809–826.
- Schulz-Key H, Kläger S, Awadzi K, Diallo S, Greene BM, et al. (1985) Treatment of human onchocerciasis: the efficacy of ivermectin on the parasite. Trop Med Parasitol (Suppl 2): 20.
- Albiez EJ, Walter G, Kaiser A, Ranque P, Newland HS, et al. (1988) Histological examination of onchocercomata after therapy with ivermectin. Trop Med Parasitol 39: 93–99.
- 35. Osei-Atweneboana MY, Boakye DA, Awadzi K, Gyapong JO, Prichard RK (2012) Genotypic analysis of β-tubulin in *Onchoerca volvulus* from communities and individuals showing poor parasitological response to ivermectin treatment. Int J Parasitol: Drugs Drug Resistance 2: 20–28.
- Brieger WR, Okcibunor JC, Abiose AO, Wanji S, Elhassan E, et al. (2011) Compliance with eight years of annual ivermectin treatment of onchocerciasis in Cameroon and Nigeria. Parasit Vectors 4: 152.
- Anderson J, Fuglsang H, Hamilton PJS, Marshall TF de C (1974) Studies on onchocerciasis in the United Cameroon Republic II. Comparison of onchocerciasis in rain-forest and Sudan-savanna. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 68: 209–222.
- Renz A, Fuglsang H, Anderson J (1987) Studies on the dynamics of transmission of onchocerciasis in a Sudan-savanna area of North Cameroon IV. The different exposure to *Simulium* bites and transmission of boys and girls and men and women, and the resulting manifestations of onchocerciasis. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 81: 253–262.
- Basáñez MG, Churcher TS, Grillet ME (2009) Onchocerca–Simulium interactions and the population and evolutionary biology of Onchocerca volvulus. Adv Parasitol 68: 263–313.
- Duke BOL, Anderson J, Fuglsang H (1975) The Onchocerca volvulus transmission potentials and associated patterns of onchocerciasis at four Cameroon Sudansavanna villages. Tropenmed Parasitol 26: 143–154.
- 41. Renz A, Wenk P (1987) Studies on the dynamics of transmission of onchocerciasis in a Sudan-savanna area of North Cameroon I. Prevailing *Simulium* vectors, their biting rates and age-composition at different distances from their breeding sites. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 81: 215–228.
- Prost A, Hervouet JP, Thylefors B (1979) Les niveaux d'endémicité dans l'onchocercose. Bull World Health Organ 57: 655–662.
- Remme JH, Ba O, Dadzie KY, Karam M (1986) A force-of-infection model for onchocerciasis and its applications in the epidemiological evaluation of the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in the Volta River basin area. Bull World Health Organ 64: 667–681.
- Basáñez MG, McCarthy JS, French MD, Yang GJ, Walker M, et al. (2012) A research agenda for helminth diseases of humans: modelling for control and elimination. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 6: e1548.
- Duke BOL, Zea-Flores G, Castro J, Cupp EW, Muñoz B (1991) Comparison of the effects of a single dose and of four six-monthly doses of ivermectin on adult *Onchocerca volvulus*. Am J Trop Med Hyg 45: 132–137.
- Chavasse DC, Post RJ, Davies JB, Whitworth JA (1993) Absence of sperm from the seminal receptacle of female *Onchocerca volvulus* following multiple doses of ivermectin. Trop Med Parasitol 44: 155–158.
- Cupp EW, Duke BOL, Mackenzie CD, Rumbea Guzmán J, Vieira JC, et al. (2004) The effects of long-term community level treament with ivermectin (Mectizan) on adult *Onchocerea volvulus* in Latin America. Am J Trop Med Hyg 71: 602–607.
- Gardon J, Boussinesq M, Kamgno J, Gardon-Wendel N, Demanga-Ngangue, et al. (2002) Effects of standard and high doses of ivermectin on adult worms of Onchocerca volvulus: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet 360: 203–210.
- Duke BOL (2005) Evidence for macrofilaricidal activity of ivermeetin against female Onchocerca volvulus: further analysis of a clinical trial in the Republic of Cameroon indicating two distinct killing mechanisms. Parasitology 130: 447– 453.
- Prost A, Prod'hon J (1978) Le diagnostique de l'onchocercose: revue critique des méthodes en usage. Méd Trop (Mars) 38: 519–532.

- Pion SDS, Nana-Djeunga HC, Kamgno J, Tendongfor N, Wanji S, et al. (2013) Dynamics of *Onchocerca volvulus* microfilarial densities after ivermectin treatment in an ivermectin-naïve and a multi-treated population from Cameroon. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7: e2084.
- Duerr HP, Raddatz G, Eichner M (2011) Control of onchocerciasis in Africa: threshold shifts, breakpoints and rules for elimination. Int J Parasitol 41: 581– 589.
- Basáñez MG, Ricárdez-Esquinca J (2001) Models for the population biology and control of human onchocerciasis. Trends Parasitol 17: 430–438.
- Rodríguez-Pérez MA, Unnasch TR, Domínguez-Vázquez A, Morales-Castro AL, Peña-Flores GP, et al. (2010) Interruption of transmission of *Onchocerca* volvulus in the Oaxaca focus, Mexico. Am J Trop Med Hyg 83: 21–27.
- Little MP, Basáñez MG, Breitling LP, Boatin BA, Alley ES (2004) Incidence of blindness during the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in Western Africa, 1971–2002. J Infect Dis 189: 1932–1941.
- Boyd A, Won KY, McClintock SK, Donovan CV, Laney SJ, et al. (2010) A community-based study of factors associated with continuing transmission of lymphatic filariasis in Leogane, Haiti. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 4: e640.
- Brieger WR, Okeibunor JC, Abiose AO, Ndyomugyenyi R, Wanji S, et al. (2012) Characteristics of persons who complied with and failed to comply with annual ivermectin treatment. Trop Med Int Health 17: 920–930.

- Traoré S, Wilson MD, Sima A, Barro T, Diallo A, et al. (2009) The elimination of the onchocerciasis vector from the island of Bioko as a result of larviciding by the WHO African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control. Acta Trop 111: 211– 218.
- Garms R, Lakwo TL, Ndyomugyenyi R, Kipp W, Rubaale T, et al. (2009) The elimination of the vector *Simulium neavei* from the Itwara onchocerciasis focus in Uganda by ground larviciding. Acta Trop 111: 203–210.
- May RM, Woolhouse ME (1993) Biased sex ratios and parasite mating probabilities. Parasitology 107: 287–295.
- Basáñez MG, French MD, Walker M, Churcher TS (2012) Paradigm lost: how parasite control may alter pattern and process in human helminthiases. Trends Parasitol 28: 161–171.
- Prichard RK, Basáñez MG, Boatin BA, McCarthy JS, García HH, et al. (2012) A research agenda for helminth diseases of humans: intervention for control and elimination. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 6: e1549.
- McCarthy JS, Lustigman S, Yang GJ, Barakat RM, García HH, et al. (2012) A research agenda for helminth diseases of humans: diagnostics for control and elimination programmes. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 6: e1601.
- 64. Traore MO, Sarr MD, Badji A, Bissan Y, Diawara L, et al. (2012) Proof-ofprinciple of onchocerciasis elimination with ivermectin treatment in endemic foci in Africa: final results of a study in Mali and Senegal. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 6: e1825.

The Cost of Annual versus Biannual Community-Directed Treatment of Onchocerciasis with Ivermectin: Ghana as a Case Study

Hugo C. Turner¹*, Mike Y. Osei-Atweneboana², Martin Walker¹, Edward J. Tettevi², Thomas S. Churcher¹, Odame Asiedu³, Nana-Kwadwo Biritwum³, María-Gloria Basáñez¹

1 Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, School of Public Health, Faculty of Medicine (St. Mary's Campus), Imperial College London, Norfolk Place, London, United Kingdom, 2 Council for Scientific and Industrial Research, Water Research Institute, Accra, Ghana, 3 Neglected Tropical Diseases Control Programme, Disease Control and Prevention Department, Ghana Health Service, Accra, Ghana

Abstract

Background: It has been proposed that switching from annual to biannual (twice yearly) mass community-directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI) might improve the chances of onchocerciasis elimination in some African foci. However, historically, relatively few communities have received biannual treatments in Africa, and there are no cost data associated with increasing ivermectin treatment frequency at a large scale. Collecting cost data is essential for conducting economic evaluations of control programmes. Some countries, such as Ghana, have adopted a biannual treatment strategy in selected districts. We undertook a study to estimate the costs associated with annual and biannual CDTI in Ghana.

Methodology: The study was conducted in the Brong-Ahafo and Northern regions of Ghana. Data collection was organized at the national, regional, district, sub-district and community levels, and involved interviewing key personnel and scrutinizing national records. Data were collected in four districts; one in which treatment is delivered annually, two in which it is delivered biannually, and one where treatment takes place biannually in some communities and annually in others. Both financial and economic costs were collected from the health care provider's perspective.

Principal Findings: The estimated cost of treating annually was US Dollars (USD) 0.45 per person including the value of time donated by the community drug distributors (which was estimated at USD 0.05 per person per treatment round). The cost of CDTI was approximately 50–60% higher in those districts where treatment was biannual than in those where it was annual. Large-scale mass biannual treatment was reported as being well received and considered sustainable.

Conclusions/Significance: This study provides rigorous evidence of the different costs associated with annual and biannual CDTI in Ghana which can be used to inform an economic evaluation of the debate on the optimal treatment frequency required to control (or eliminate) onchocerciasis in Africa.

Citation: Turner HC, Osei-Atweneboana MY, Walker M, Tettevi EJ, Churcher TS, et al. (2013) The Cost of Annual versus Biannual Community-Directed Treatment of Onchocerciasis with Ivermectin: Ghana as a Case Study. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7(9): e2452. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452

Editor: John Owusu Gyapong, University of Ghana, Ghana

Received February 28, 2013; Accepted August 13, 2013; Published September 19, 2013

Copyright: © 2013 Turner et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: HCT is funded by an ESRC (Economic and Social Research Council of the UK, http://www.esrc.ac.uk) doctoral studentship (grant ES/I020888/1), and received an Overseas Institutional Visit Award for the work in Ghana. MYOA is a European Foundation Initiative for African Research into Neglected Tropical Diseases (EFINTD) research fellow (http://ntd-africa.net/). MW is funded by a Wellcome Trust (http://www.wellcome.ac.uk) project grant (092677/Z/10/Z). TSC is supported by an Imperial College Junior Research Fellowship (http://www.wellcome.ac.uk/juniorresearchfellowships). MGB thanks the Wellcome Trust (http:// www.wellcome.ac.uk) (grants 085133/Z/08/Z and 092677/Z/10/Z). MYOA and MGB hold a Royal Society-Leverhulme Trust Capacity Building Africa Award (http:// royalsociety.org/grants/schemes/leverhulme-africa/). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing Interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

* E-mail: hugo.turner06@imperial.ac.uk

Introduction

Human onchocerciasis or river blindness is a neglected tropical disease (NTD) caused by the parasitic filarial nematode *Onchocerca* volvulus and transmitted by the bites of *Simulium* blackflies [1]. In addition to ocular pathology (vision loss, blindness), and increased host mortality [2,3], onchocerciasis also causes disfiguring skin lesions and severe dermal itching that can drastically impair an individual's quality of life [4]. In 1987, ivermectin was registered for human use against onchocerciasis, and Merck & Co., Inc. took the unprecedented decision to donate ivermectin for as long

as needed to eliminate onchocerciasis as a public health problem [5].

Two major onchocerciasis control programmes have been launched in Africa. The former was the Onchocerciasis Control Programme in West Africa (OCP), which started in 1974 and closed in 2002, and was initially based solely on vector control until ivermectin was licensed for human use in 1987. For the most part, the OCP used an annual treatment strategy (alone or in combination with antivectorial measures), but in the Western extension, some foci were treated biannually in the absence of vector control [6,7]. Currently, the former OCP countries

Author Summary

The African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC) has recently been extended until 2025, with renewed commitment towards onchocerciasis elimination. This aim is aligned with the goals stated by the World Health Organization and the London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases in January 2012. Switching from annual to biannual (twice yearly) ivermectin distribution might increase the feasibility of onchocerciasis elimination in some African foci. However, relatively few communities have received biannual treatments in Africa, and there are no cost data associated with increasing ivermectin treatment frequency at a large scale, essential prerequisites to provide reliable information for evidencebased decision making regarding adoption of a biannual treatment strategy. Therefore, we undertook a study to estimate costs associated with biannual compared to annual ivermectin delivery in Ghana, which since 2009 has implemented a biannual treatment strategy in selected priority areas. Our results indicate that the cost of biannual ivermectin treatment per year is approximately 60% higher than the cost of annual treatment. This study provides tangible evidence of the different costs associated with annual and biannual ivermectin treatment, which can be used to inform economic evaluations and policy decisions regarding the optimal treatment frequency required to eliminate onchocerciasis in Africa.

undertake their own national onchocerciasis control programmes. The African Programme for Onchocerciasis control (APOC) was launched in 1995 and it has recently been extended to 2025 [8]. It targets the 19 onchocerciasis endemic countries in Africa that were not covered by the OCP (though three of them, Kenya, Rwanda, and Mozambique, were found not to be endemic) [9]. APOC's predominant strategy involves annual, community-directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI) in areas where the prevalence of onchocercal nodules is greater than 20%, for all those aged five years and older (excluding pregnant or breastfeeding women in the first week after delivery) [9,10].

Based on the experience in Uganda [11], and the success achieved in most onchocerciasis foci in the Americas [12], there have been recent discussions of switching to biannual treatments (twice yearly) to increase the feasibility of elimination. In the past, only a small number of foci within the OCP (such as River Gambia in Senegal [7]) have received biannual treatment in Africa, and therefore there are no ground-truth data on the cost associated with increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year on a large scale. (In Uganda, the cost of biannual CDTI was simply estimated by doubling that of the annual treatment [11].) Motivated by ivermectin efficacy studies suggesting sub-optimal responses of *O. volvulus* to the drug [13,14,15], Ghana (an ex-OCP country), has recently adopted a biannual treatment strategy at a large scale [15].

In Ghana, onchocerciasis is endemic in 9 out of 10 regions with a total at-risk population of approximately 3.2 million [16]. Responsibility for ivermectin distribution—which occurs in 73 districts—was devolved from the OCP to Ghana in 2002 (under the supervision of APOC). Since 2006, onchocerciasis control has been implemented in the context of the Neglected Tropical Diseases Programme (NTDP) [16], and in 2009, 40 (55%) districts started using a biannual ivermectin distribution strategy. The decision regarding which areas should change to the biannual treatment strategy was based on the combined results of rapid epidemiological mapping of onchocerciasis (REMO) conducted in Ghana in 2009, parasitological evaluation via skin snipping and determination of microfilarial prevalence, and entomological evaluations (according to unpublished results of the Ghana onchocerciasis mapping exercise conducted in 2009, and the REMO report summarised in 2010). Areas with an infection prevalence in the adults above 20%, were allocated to a biannual treatment frequency considering also a buffer zone of 20 Km around these CDTI priority areas. Therefore, NTDP decisions as to whether to allocate districts to annual or biannual CDTI were not made on a priori criteria of associated costs but only based on transmission criteria.

In this paper, we report the results of a study undertaken to estimate the costs associated with annual (the standard strategy) vs. biannual CDTI (the newly adopted strategy) in Ghana. We also assess some factors that may hamper the scaling up of treatment frequency at a large scale given that other countries in the region may consider switching from annual to biannual ivermectin distribution.

Methods

Ethics Statement

Ethical approval for the study in Ghana was obtained from Imperial College Research Ethics Committee (ICREC) and the Ethics Review Committee (ERC) of the Ghana Health Service (GHS).

Description of Study Areas

The study focused on the Brong-Ahafo and Northern regions in Ghana. In the former, data were collected in the Wenchi district where CDTI takes place annually; the Pru district and the



Figure 1. Map of Ghana indicating the sampled regions and districts. The Brong-Ahafo and Northern regions are highlighted in light blue and light pink respectively. 1-Wenchi, 2-Kintampo North, 3-Pru, 4- Kpandai. Figure prepared by Mr Simon O'Hanlon (Imperial College London).

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452.g001

Table 1. Description of ivermectin treatment in the areas where cost data were obtained in Ghana.

Region	District	Treatment Frequency	Number of Persons Treated Per Year	Overall Therapeutic Coverage (%) ^a	Size (km²)
Brong-Ahafo	Wenchi	Annual in all communities	27,881	90.43	3,494
Brong-Ahafo	Kintampo North	Biannual in all communities	57,802	82.10	5,108
Brong-Ahafo	Pru	Biannual in all communities	68,506	88.08	2,195
Northern	Kpandai	Annual in 122 (55%) and biannual in 100 (45%) of 222 communities ^b	90,183	79.10	1,772

^aFor the Wenchi and Kpandai districts, therapeutic coverage estimates were taken directly from national records pertaining to the last treatment round of 2010. For the Pru and Kintampo North districts, coverage estimates were derived from an average of two treatment rounds (the last round of 2010 and the first round of 2011). ^bA biannual strategy is used in 15 of 76 (20%) communities in the sampled sub-district, whereas the remainder 80% receive treatment annually. Therefore, the costs are likely to reflect more closely those of annual rather than biannual distribution.

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452.t001

Kintampo North district, where CDTI is taking place biannually, and in the latter, data were also collected in the Kpandai district, where a mixed strategy (some communities being treated annually and others biannually) is used (Table 1). These districts were selected partly based on logistics at the time of the study, and partly because already established relationships with the GHS at the district and sub-district levels would ensure collection of accurate data via the purposely designed questionnaires (see below). Figure 1 shows the locations of the districts where the study was conducted. As stated earlier, decisions to switch to a biannual treatment frequency were based on infection and transmission criteria alone, so there were no obvious reasons why the decision to change treatment frequency would have been influenced by the local district-specific programme cost.

Data were collected at various levels in the organization of the GHS. Firstly, information was gathered by conducting semistructured interviews at the headquarters of the NTDP in Accra, and at the Regional Health Service directorates in the Brong-Ahafo region. Secondly, districts (and sub-districts where appropriate) were chosen to represent a range of geographical sizes, and population densities (Table 1). Thirdly, community drug distributors (CDDs) were interviewed in at least three communities in each district.

Perspective

In this study, the costs under investigation were those borne by the health care providers (such as the GHS, the major in-country partners, and the local communities). Therefore the cost of drug manufacture and transport to Ghana were excluded. Only data on the cost of CDTI were collected; costs associated with individual, clinic-based treatment with ivermectin were ignored.

Data were collected on both the financial and economic costs of CDTI. Financial costs are those where a monetary transaction has taken place for the purchase of a resource. Economic costs also include, in addition to the financial costs described above, estimates of the monetary value of goods or services for which no financial transaction has taken place. Therefore, economic costs also account for the value of goods or services which could have been used for another purpose (opportunity costs). Examples of resources which have no financial costs but do have important economic costs are the 'free' use of building space provided by the Ghana Ministry of Health, the use of donated vehicles, and the time devoted to CDTI by unpaid CDDs. The costs associated with CDTI arise from various programmatic activities as outlined in Box 1.

Data Collection

Data collection was organized at the national, regional, district, sub-district and community levels and involved interviewing key personnel and scrutinizing national records. Data collected at the national level included records of funds provided by nongovernmental organizations (NGO) such as Sightsavers (http:// www.sightsavers.org/), and others such as APOC (managed by the World Bank and implemented by the World Health Organization) (http://www.who.int/apoc/en/), among others. Given these multiple sources, it would have been most interesting to obtain a detailed breakdown of the relative contribution of each organization to the funding of onchocerciasis control in Ghana. Unfortunately, even at the national sampling level, it was rarely possible to separate the costs by their funding source. This, however, did not affect the study, which focused on the aggregate cost of onchocerciasis control. The costs collected were incurred in the year 2011. At each level, costs were collected according to different resource types (Box 2) using an approach based on methods described by McFarland et al. [17] and the UNAIDS guidelines for costing studies [18]. First, the total gross expenditure on a resource (per year) was calculated from national records and/

Box 1. Programmatic Activities (partly based on [17])

- **Drug Distribution Chain:** the process of getting the drugs from where they entered the country to the target population
- Mobilization and Sensitization: promotion, information dissemination and advocacy related to the project
- **Training of Volunteers:** training of community drug distributors (CDDs) (includes the costs incurred by both the trainers and the trainees)
- Other Training: all other training at whatever level (includes the costs incurred by both trainers and trainees)
- **Reporting:** the preparation and transmission of reports
- **Surveillance and Evaluation:** surveillance of the disease and treatment distribution at all levels
- All Other Administration: all other general office administration
- Other Project Activities: all other activities not already mentioned above

or questionnaires. Second, the most appropriate person(s) to answer questions on how the resource is used for activities relating to onchocerciasis control was selected for interview. Third, the interviewee was asked to indicate what fraction of time the resource was used for onchocerciasis control over the year (this was corroborated by multiple sources where possible). Multiplication of the total gross cost and fraction of time attributable to onchocerciasis control yielded an estimate of the recurrent yearly cost for a resource (such as an employee). The cost of capital resources-goods that last for more than one year, such as cars and computers-were estimated in a similar fashion, but the gross cost was spread over the average useful lifetime of the resource (a technique known as 'annualization') to arrive at an average yearly cost [18]. (An annualization and discount rate of 3% was used to calculate the economic costs of capital resources [19].) The average useful lifetime of all capital goods was assumed to be five vears, in line with the value estimated by McFarland et al. [17] and corroborated by study participants at the national level. However, the sensitivity of the results to this assumption was investigated by varying the average useful lifetime between 5 and 8 years [20]. The annual cost of building space was estimated as the equivalent market rental value for the space being used for the control programme [18].

The interviewee was also asked to estimate the fraction of time that the resource was used for itemized onchocerciasis control programmatic activities (Box 1). In addition, in districts receiving ivermectin biannually, the interviewees were asked to describe how their time spent on different CDTI activities had changed since increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year, and to indicate which of the CDTI activities are repeated for both treatment rounds.

At each level, and where relevant, interviewees were given the opportunity to express whether they had encountered any specific difficulties with the increasing of treatment frequency.

Box 2. Resource Types (partly based on [17])

- Transportation (Capital Costs): the capital costs associated with vehicles (e.g. the annualized^a cost of motorbikes and cars)
- **Transportation (Recurrent Costs):** the recurrent costs associated with transport (e.g. fuel, insurance, maintenance, repairs, and rental costs)
- Personnel: the recurrent costs associated with paying salaries to employees (including any supplements or other benefits of employment)
- Per Diems: the recurrent costs associated with daily allowances (per diems)
- Supplies and Equipment (Capital Costs): other capital costs associated with a project, (e.g. annualized^a costs of computers, photocopiers, and generators etc.)
- **Supplies and Equipment (Recurrent Costs):** the recurrent costs associated with project activities and general office running
- Overheads: the recurrent indirect costs associated with a project's specific utilities charges, building rental or equivalent
- Volunteer Community Drug Distributor (CDD) Time: the monetary value of the donated time of CDDs and other community members in implementing community directed treatment with ivermectin (CDTI)
- ^a The annual share of the initial cost of capital equipment



Figure 2. Organization levels at which data on cost of ivermectin distribution were collected. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452.g002

Data Analysis

Costs collected at the national and regional levels, were factored down and costs from the sub-district and community levels factored up, with the aim of arriving at a value for the cost per person treated per year in each district (Figure 2). This is described for each of the levels below.

National costs. Of the 73 districts in Ghana where ivermectin is distributed, 40 (55%) are implementing biannual treatment. Consequently, when allocating the national costs to the districts, the costs were weighted according to the district's frequency of treatment. Based on responses to questionnaires, scrutinizing of national records, and conduction of semi-structured interviews, it was estimated that districts treating biannually were responsible for 70% of the total national cost. Separate costs (according to annual or biannual treatment) were allocated equally across districts receiving a certain treatment frequency. Based on interviews at the headquarters of the NTDP and the McFarland *et al.* study [17], it was assumed that the main drivers of the national costs were independent of target population size and therefore we did not adjust the national costs by the size of districts' target populations.

Regional costs. These were distributed among districts using the same frequency of treatment-based weighting as used for the national costs. Due to logistic reasons on the terrain, it was only possible to estimate regional costs from one of the two regions from which districts were sampled. Thus, the costs incurred by the Northern region were assumed to be the same as those estimated from data pertaining to the Brong-Ahafo region.

Sub-district costs. In each district included in this study one sub-district was sampled. The costs incurred by the sampled sub-districts were multiplied by the number of sub-districts within each district to aggregate the costs to the district level.

Community costs. In each district included in this study three communities were sampled. In each sampled community, questionnaires were administered to the CDDs to ascertain to how many people they distributed ivermectin, and whether they received compensation from the district (this was corroborated at the local district health centres). Additionally, the opportunity cost of the volunteer CDDs' donated time was estimated by asking CDDs how much time they spent distributing the drug each treatment round. This donated time was converted to an equivalent number of 8-hour working days, which were valued according to the minimum wage in Ghana in 2011 (3.73 Ghana Cedis (GHC) per day [21]). This figure was reported to be equivalent to the daily wage of a hired farmland worker in the Brong-Ahafo region, the occupation of the majority of the interviewed distributors, and was subsequently used to estimate the value of the CDDs donated time across each district. However, to place a precise value on a CDD's donated time is difficult and whether or not it should be included is a matter of debate. Furthermore, the daily wage of a hired farmland worker can vary from district to district, and especially from region to region [20,22]. Therefore, we calculated the economic cost both including and excluding CDD's donated time, and investigated the sensitivity of the results to the assumed daily wage (increasing or decreasing it by GHC 1.00).

Currency conversion. All costs were converted from the Ghanaian local currency (GHC), to United States dollars (USD), using the average 2011 exchange rate of USD 1.00 to GHC 1.58 [23]. Reported costs from other studies were also converted to 2011 US dollars (using a consumer price index inflation calculator [24]) to allow for valid comparison with our results.

Results

Table 2 shows the estimated financial and economic costs including and excluding volunteer CDDs' time—of CDTI in the four sampled districts. The majority of the costs associated with CDTI were financial, with the extra economic cost per person per year (excluding CDDs' time) only adding USD 0.01–USD 0.03 (this includes the value of donated vehicles and use of free building space).

The estimated economic cost (excluding CDDs' time) of annual treatment in Wenchi district is USD 0.40 per person per year. The economic costs (excluding CDD's time) of biannual treatment in the Pru and Kintampo North districts are approximately 50–60% higher (USD 0.60 and USD 0.64 per person per year respectively) than the corresponding annual costs. The estimated economic cost (excluding CDDs' time) for Kpandai district—which uses a combination of an annual and biannual strategy (see Table 1 for description)—is USD 0.43 per person per year. These results were not sensitive to the assumed average useful lifetime of capital goods; changing this from 5 to 8 years only changed the cost per treatment by a maximum of USD 0.015.

Costs Disaggregated by Resource Type and Programmatic Activity

Figure 3 depicts the cost of onchocerciasis control by CDTI disaggregated by resource type in the four sampled districts. The largest proportion of the total cost was associated with the payment of personnel. Recurrent transportation costs, such as the costs of fuel and vehicle maintenance, were the next most costly resource and showed the most variation among districts.

Figure 4 depicts the cost of CDTI-based onchocerciasis control disaggregated by programmatic activity in the four sampled districts. Surveillance and evaluation incurred the highest cost, followed by the drug distribution chain. For Pru and Kintampo North districts, the data show a noticeable increase in the reporting cost compared to Wenchi district.

Community Distributors

From the pooled community data, it was estimated that there is one CDD for every 390 people and they spend an average of 61 hours distributing ivermectin each treatment round. The above value was used with data on the number treated in each district (Table 1) to estimate the total amount of time CDDs spend distributing the drug across the whole district. This increased the economic cost by USD 0.046 per person per year when treating annually, and by USD 0.092 when treating biannually (Table 2). This result was robust to the assumed daily wage of a hired farmland worker, which when increased or decreased by GHC 1.00, only changed the economic cost of CDD per treatment by plus or minus USD 0.012.

The CDDs reported receiving an average equivalent of USD 3.17 in compensation for attending the distribution training sessions (which are conducted before each treatment round), and between USD 3.17 and USD 9.52 after distributing the drug. In this analysis, it was assumed that each distributor received the average (arithmetic mean) of the reported values (a total of USD 9.96 in compensation for both training and distribution for each treatment round).

Reported Difficulties

The implementation of a large-scale, mass biannual ivermectin treatment strategy was reported at the district and sub-district level as being well received and perceived as sustainable in the future. However, the disease control officers at the district health centres in the sampled districts in which biannual treatment is being implemented, reported that increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year substantially increased the workload by increasing

Table 2. Financial and economic costs (USD^a) per person treated per year in each district.

Frequency of CDTI ^b	Annual	Biannual	Biannual	Mixed ^c
Cost type	Wenchi	Kintampo North	Pru	Kpandai
Financial cost	0.39	0.62	0.58	0.40
Economic cost (excluding volunteer CDD's ^d time)	0.40	0.64	0.60	0.43
Economic cost ^e (including volunteer CDD's time)	0.45	0.73	0.69	0.50

^aUSD: US Dollars.

^bCDTI: Community-directed treatment with ivermectin.

PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases | www.plosntds.org

^cData from Kpandai district reflect a combination of annual (in 61 of 76 (80%) of the communities in the sampled sub-district) and biannual treatment frequency (see Table 1 and main text).

^dCDD: Community Drug Distributor.

^eEconomic costs include financial costs (monetary transactions) and estimates of the monetary value of goods or services for which no financial transaction has taken place (for example, the opportunity cost of the CDDs' time donated to administer ivermectin rather than working their fields) [18]. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452.t002



Figure 3. Economic costs at district, sub-district, and community levels disaggregated by resource type (excluding CDDs' time). Personnel (dark blue); Per Diems (red); Supplies and Equipment (Capital costs) (green); Supplies and Equipment (Recurrent costs) (purple); Transportation (Capital costs) (turquoise blue); Transportation (Recurrent costs) (orange); Overheads (light blue). Definitions of different resource types are given in Box 2. *Data from Kpandai district reflect a combination of annual and biannual treatments. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452.g003

the amount of time they spent on reporting activities (the percentage of the economic cost at the district, sub-district, and community levels attributed to reporting activities increased from 6% in the districts (Wenchi) treated annually to 15% in the districts treated biannually (Pru and Kintampo North) (Figure 4)).

Discussion

The estimated economic cost of annual CDTI in Wenchi district, i.e. USD 0.40 per person per year excluding CDDs' time, is consistent with the lower range of costs reported by McFarland *et al.* [17], who estimated an average economic cost (excluding CDDs' time) of USD 0.62 (2011 prices) per person per year from

10 regions (excluding one region co-endemic with *Loa loa*) across Cameroon, Nigeria and Uganda (with values ranging from USD 0.39 to USD 2.77 (2011 prices)). The estimated cost of annual CDTI presented here is 1.4 times higher than the USD 0.29 (2011 prices) per person estimated by Onwujekwe *et al.* [25] using data from two Nigerian communities. However, the Nigerian study used a smaller sample of only two communities, and did not collect costs from as an extensive range of sources as we did here, or as done by McFarland *et al.* [17]. Katabarwa *et al.* [26] estimated that in districts of a similar population size to Wenchi, the cost per treatment was USD 0.34 (2011 prices) [26]. However, in districts with a larger population (>100,000 inhabitants) the cost fell substantially to USD 0.13 (2011 prices) [26]. These estimates are



Figure 4. Economic costs at district, sub-district, and community levels disaggregated by programmatic activity (excluding CDDs' time). Training of Volunteers (dark blue); All Other Training (red); Mobilization/Sensitization (green); Drug Distribution Chain (purple); Surveillance and Evaluation turquoise blue); Reporting (orange); All Other Administration (light blue); Other Project Activities (pink). Definitions of programmatic activities are given in Box 1. *Data from Kpandai district reflect a combination of annual and biannual treatments. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452.g004

broadly consistent with the cost of annual mass drug administration (MDA) for lymphatic filariasis control presented by Goldman *et al.* [27], in which the estimated financial cost per treatment (with donated ivermectin and albendazole) in Ghana was USD 0.21 (2011 prices) but varied between USD 0.08 and USD 2.91 (2011 prices) across the whole multi-country study.

The estimated cost of biannual CDTI per person per year in the Pru and Kintampo North districts was 50-60% higher than the estimated cost of annual (in Wenchi) treatment. This is consistent with the estimated increase in costs associated with biannual MDA for lymphatic filariasis control provided by Stolk *et al.* [28] (who

estimated for Africa, a 63% increase in the cost of treatment per year excluding the value of donated drugs). These costs are higher than estimates for biannual treatment at smaller scales and specific age groups, such as in school-based anthelmintic treatment programmes. For instance, Phommasack *et al.* [29] found that the annual cost of treatment of soil-transmitted helminthiases in a school-based programme was 35% higher in provinces treating biannually than in those treating annually. However, school-based treatment programmes are implemented differently than community-based programmes and therefore the change in costs of different treatment frequencies cannot be directly compared.

Caution is also advised when comparing the costs of different strategies estimated using data from different districts. This is because districts have different characteristics, such as road conditions, spread of communities, and population densities, which will affect the estimated cost of CDTI. Because of these potential difficulties, study participants in the Pru and Kintampo North districts were asked to estimate-based on their previous experience-the percentage allocated to a given resource had this resource hypothetically been used for an annual treatment strategy. Thus, the estimated hypothetical economic cost (Table 3) of treating annually in the Pru and Kintampo North districts (USD 0.39 and USD 0.43 per person per year, respectively) were consistent with the actual cost estimates of treating annually obtained for Wenchi (USD 0.40 per person per vear). This supports the estimated 50-60% increase in costs when treating biannually compared to treating annually. The difficulties associated with comparing fairly costs among districts within Ghana exemplify a more general conundrum of comparing results of health economic analyses conducted in different locations, such as the complexity of comparing data collected from different countries with differently structured economies and healthcare systems, and where public health interventions may comprise different (e.g. school-based versus community-based) modalities of delivery.

Our estimated economic cost of CDTI in the Kpandai district, where both annual and biannual treatments are delivered, likely reflects more closely the cost of annual rather than biannual CDTI since only 15 of 76 (20%) of the communities in the sampled subdistrict receive biannual treatment (with the remaining 80% receiving annual CDTI). This possibly explains why the estimated cost per person per year in the Kpandai district was only marginally higher than that in Wenchi (USD 0.43 for the former versus USD 0.40 for the latter), in which only annual treatments are delivered. Furthermore, Kpandai has a very high population density which could reduce the cost per treatment (as found in [26]). Across the whole district, 122 of 222 (55%) of the communities are treated annually and the remaining 45% receive biannual CDTI. Therefore, it is reasonable to expect overall, the actual cost of ivermectin treatment for Kpandai will lie in between the estimated costs of annual and biannual CDTI.

Costs Disaggregated by Resource Type and Programmatic Activity

The costs disaggregated by resource type were consistent among the sampled districts. These data are also similar to those presented by McFarland *et al.* [17]. The recurrent transportation cost was notably higher in Kpandai compared with the other districts. This may in part be due to the poorer quality of roads in the area, resulting in higher vehicle maintenance and fuel costs (although many other factors, including the spread of the communities, also affect transportation costs). The costs disaggregated by programmatic activity showed slightly more variation among districts than among the different resource types. It is noteworthy that in the Pru and Kintampo North districts (and to a lesser extent in the Kpandai district), the percentage of the economic cost attributed to reporting activities at the district, subdistrict, and community levels is substantially higher than that in the Wenchi district (15% in Pru and Kintampo North compared to 6% in Wenchi) (Figure 4). This was attributed to the increase in treatment frequency and is discussed in further detail in the section on *Reported Obstacles Associated with Switching from Annual to Biannual CDTI*.

Community Distributors

The compensation system for CDDs has recently been implemented in Ghana to cover their transport costs, to facilitate attendance of training days, and to help serve as an added incentive. The amount received by CDDs per treatment round was corroborated at the district health centres. Generally, the reported amount received by the community distributors was very consistent across communities and districts.

Accounting for the volunteer CDDs' time added approximately USD 0.05 per person per treatment round. The is consistent with the value reported by Onwujekwe et al. [25], who found that taking into account volunteer CDD time in two Nigerian communities added approximately USD 0.07 (2011 prices) per person per treatment round (using the Nigerian minimum wage to value the volunteer CDDs' time). However, both our and the Onwujekwe et al. [25] estimates are substantially lower than that reported by McFarland et al. [17], who estimated that accounting for volunteer CDDs' time added an average of USD 0.19 (2011 prices) per treatment round (valuing volunteer time based on the average per capita Gross National Income (GNI) for each of the three countries studied in [17], namely, Cameroon, Nigeria and Uganda). However, this estimate was highly variable between the different study sites (USD 0.05-0.54 (2011 prices) per treatment round). The use of different methods to value donated CDDs' time (see below) could partly explain the difference (i.e. estimation using the country's minimum wage, or using the country's per capita GNI). Other possible explanations include the occurrence of cultural differences affecting the time it takes to distribute the drug.

As mentioned above, the method used to value the volunteer CDD's time has marked effects on the cost output. For example, we assumed the market value of the volunteer CDD's time to be USD 2.36 per day (the minimum wage in Ghana of GHC 3.73 divided by the 1.58 exchange rate [23]) based on the wage that a farmland worker would receive (i.e. the wage received for the most common alternative occupation) [21,30]). However, had we valued the volunteer CDDs' time using the per capita GNI method (as used by McFarland *et al.* [17]), this figure would have increased to USD 4.96 per day [21,30]. This difference may seem

Table 3. Hypothetical cost (USD) of annual CDTI in Kintampo North and Pru districts, Brong-Ahafo region, Ghana.

Cost Type	Estimated Annual Cost Per Person Treated if Annual Distribution were Implemented			
	Kintampo North	Pru		
Financial cost	0.42	0.38		
Economic cost (excluding volunteer CDD's time)	0.43	0.39		
Economic Cost (including volunteer CDD's time)	0.47	0.44		

Abbreviations and cost explanations as in Table 2.

doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452.t003

relatively small but when these costs are factored up to the district level, they can become substantial.

Reported Obstacles Associated with Switching from Annual to Biannual CDTI

Disease control officers at the district health centres reported that increasing the treatment frequency to twice per year increased substantially the amount of time they spent on reporting activities. This is consistent with the costs disaggregated by programmatic activity (Figure 4), which indicate that the time spent on reporting activities increased more than any other project activity when comparing biannual and annual treatments. This may potentially lead to delays in ivermectin being delivered to the districts, if the necessary reports for the next dispatch of drugs are not completed on time (delivery of the next batch of ivermectin being contingent on reporting). Delays in the delivery of treatment to communities not only will have administrative implications, but more importantly, transmission implications. Treating individuals every 6 months is highly important for transmission suppression, as it has been estimated that adult O. volvulus female worms start recovering from the temporary sterilising effects of ivermectin approximately between three and four months after treatment, and by six months microfilarial production has recuperated to a substantial degree [31]. Therefore, delays in treatment will permit more transmission, ultimately making the disease harder to eliminate and diminishing the benefit of treating biannually. National onchocerciasis control programmes which consider increasing CDTI frequency may need to support reporting activities at the district level and potentially at the drug donation programme level to encourage timely reporting but also to allow greater flexibility in deadlines to minimize delays in drug distribution.

Data Limitations

In Ghana, onchocerciasis control is under the remit of the NTDP and therefore different disease control programmes are often integrated. For example, onchocerciasis and lymphatic filariasis control activities are often carried out simultaneously. Potentially, this can lead to difficulties in obtaining accurate costs for a single disease intervention. In addition, this study was retrospective, and therefore, to a certain extent, the data obtained were subject to some degree of recall bias.

In order to reduce the time and logistical complexity involved in collecting the cost data, our sampling strategy was not random, as we purposely visited local government offices and communities in districts where CDTI was annual, biannual, or a combination of the two. However, we were only able to obtain data in one district that implements annual treatment and one sub-district in each of the districts. Also, the selected districts may have been more accessible by road from Accra, the capital of Ghana, than other

References

- Duke BOL (1990) Human onchocerciasis -an overview of the disease. Acta Leiden 59: 9–24.
- Little MP, Breitling LP, Basáñez MG, Alley ES, Boatin BA (2004) Association between microfilarial load and excess mortality in onchocerciasis: an epidemiological study. Lancet 363: 1514–1521.
- Kirkwood B, Smith P, Marshall T, Prost A (1983) Relationships between mortality, visual acuity and microfilarial load in the area of the Onchocerciasis Control Programme. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 77: 862–868.
- Brieger WR, Oshiname FO, Ososanya OO (1998) Stigma associated with onchocercal skin disease among those affected near the Ofiki and Oyan Rivers in western Nigeria. Soc Sci Med 47: 841–852.
- Meredith SE, Dull HB (1998) Onchocerciasis: The first decade of MectizanTM treatment. Parasitol Today 14: 472–474.
- Richards FO Jr, Boatin B, Sauerbrey M, Sékétéli A (2001) Control of onchocerciasis today: status and challenges. Trends Parasitol 17: 558–563.

more remote locations. Nonetheless, there is no reason to assume that the costs reported for the sites included in this study (either delivering annual or biannual CDTI) are not representative of other sub-districts in the area, nor is there a treatment costassociated reason as to why an area switched from annual to biannual CDTI other than the parasitological criteria listed above. This is confirmed by the similarity of cost estimation of annual treatment between the districts delivering only annual CDTI and the sub-districts also delivering yearly treatment within districts implementing both strategies. Due to logistic reasons, the regional level costs in the Northern region were assumed to be the same as those estimated from Brong-Ahafo region. However, due to differences between the regions (such as road networks and community scattering), the costs incurred in the Northern region may be higher. Nevertheless, this assumption will not affect the main conclusions of the study regarding the relative costs of annual vs. biannual treatment.

Concluding Remarks

Our estimate of the cost of annual CDTI is consistent with the range of values previously reported in the literature [17,25,26]. Our results indicate that the cost of biannual ivermectin treatment was approximately 50-60% higher than the cost of annual treatment, and that simply doubling the cost of annual CDTI does not yield a correct estimate as some studies have assumed [11]. This is higher than estimates for increasing treatment frequency obtained at smaller scales and when targeting specific age groups, such as those associated with school-based anthelmintic treatment programmes [29], which are not truly relevant for onchocerciasis, but similar to estimates for the more comparable lymphatic filariasis control programme [28]. Our study will be beneficial in informing economic evaluations regarding cost-effectiveness analyses of increasing CDTI frequency from annual to biannual in the African context for the control and elimination of human onchocerciasis.

Acknowledgments

We thank Dr Justice Nonvignon (University of Ghana) for his valuable comments on the data analysis, as well as Dr Issac Osei-Akoto (Institute of Social, Statistical and Economic Research, University of Ghana). We also thank Dr Jacqueline Leslie (Imperial College London) for useful discussions and Mr Simon O'Hanlon (Imperial College London) for his valuable comments on the data collection and help with the preparation of Figure 1.

Author Contributions

Analyzed the data: HCT. Wrote the paper: HCT MW TSC MGB. Collected the data: HCT MYOA EJT OA NKB. Read and approved the final, submitted version: HCT MYOA MW EJT TSC OA NKB MGB.

- Diawara L, Traoré MO, Badji A, Bissan Y, Doumbia K, et al. (2009) Feasibility of onchocerciasis elimination with ivermectin treatment in endemic foci in Africa: first evidence from studies in Mali and Senegal. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 3: e497.
- World Bank (2012) Pushing back Neglected Tropical Diseases in Africa. Available: http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2012/11/17/pushingback-neglected-tropical-diseases-in-africa (accessed 28th July 2013).
- Basáñez MG, Pion SDS, Churcher TS, Breitling LP, Little MP, et al. (2006) River Blindness: a success story under threat? PLoS Med 3: e371.
- Boatin BA, Richards FO, Jr. (2006) Control of onchocerciasis. Adv Parasitol 61: 349–394.
- Ndyomugyenyi R, Lakwo T, Habomugisha P, Male B (2007) Progress towards the elimination of onchocerciasis as a public-health problem in Uganda: opportunities, challenges and the way forward. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 101: 323–333.

- Gustavsen K, Hopkins A, Sauerbrey M (2011) Onchocerciasis in the Americas: from arrival to (near) elimination. Parasit Vectors 4: 205.
- Awadzi K, Attah SK, Addy ET, Opoku NO, Quartey BT, et al. (2004) Thirtymonth follow-up of sub-optimal responders to multiple treatments with ivermectin, in two onchocerciasis-endemic foci in Ghana. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 98: 359–370.
- Awadzi K, Boakye DA, Edwards G, Opoku NO, Attah SK, et al. (2004) An investigation of persistent microfilaridermias despite multiple treatments with ivermectin, in two onchocerciasis-endemic foci in Ghana. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 98: 231–249.
- Osei-Atweneboana MY, Eng JKL, Boakye DA, Gyapong JO, Prichard RK (2007) Prevalence and intensity of *Onchocerca volculus* infection and efficacy of ivermectin in endemic communities in Ghana: a two-phase epidemiological study. Lancet 369: 2021–2029.
- Taylor MJ, Awadzi K, Basáñez MG, Biritwum N, Boakye D, et al. (2009) Onchocerciasis control: vision for the future from a Ghanaian perspective. Parasit Vectors 2: 7.
- McFarland D, Menzies N, Njoumemi Z, Onwujekwe O (2005) Study of cost per treatment with ivermectin using the CDTI strategy. African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control (APOC).
- UNAIDS (2000) Costing Guidelines for HIV Prevention Strategies. Geneva: UNAIDS. Available: http://data.unaids.org/Publications/IRC-pub05/jc412costguidel_en.pdf (accessed 28th July 2013).
- Johns B, Baltussen R, Hutubessy R (2003) Programme costs in the economic evaluation of health interventions. Cost Eff Resour Alloc 1: 1.
- Nonvignon J, Chinbuah MA, Gyapong M, Abbey M, Awini E, et al. (2012) Is home management of fevers a cost-effective way of reducing under-five mortality in Africa? The case of a rural Ghanaian District. Trop Med Int Health 17: 951– 957.
- Wageindicator.org (2012) Minimum Wages in Ghana. Available: http://www. wageindicator.org/main/minimum-wages/ghana (accessed 28th July 2013).

- 22. Asante FA, Asenso-Okyere A (2003) Economic Burden of Malaria in Ghana. A technical report submitted to the World Health Organization (WHO), African Regional Office (AFRO). Institute of Statistical, Social and Economic Research (ISSER). Legon: University of Ghana. Available: http:// www.afro.who.int/index.php?option = com_docman&task = doc_ download&gid = 1631. (accessed 28th July 2013).
- Exchange-rates.org (2012) Ghanaian Cedi (GHS) to 1 US Dollar (USD). Available: http://www.exchange-rates.org/ (accessed 28th July 2013).
- United States Department of Labor (2012) CPI Inflation Calculator. Available: http://www.bls.gov/data/inflation_calculator.htm/ (accessed 28th July 2013).
- Onwujckwe O, Chima R, Shu E, Okonkwo P (2002) Community-directed treatment with ivermectin in two Nigerian communities: an analysis of first year start-up processes, costs and consequences. Health Policy 62: 31–51.
- Katabarwa MN, Habomugisha P, Richards FO, Jr. (2002) Implementing community-directed treatment with ivermectin for the control of onchocerciasis in Uganda (1997–2000): an evaluation. Ann Trop Med Parasitol 96: 61–73.
- Goldman AS, Guisinger VH, Aikins M, Amarillo MLE, Belizario VY, et al. (2007) National mass drug administration costs for lymphatic filariasis elimination. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 1: e67.
- Stolk WA, ten Bosch QA, de Vlas SJ, Fischer PU, Weil GJ, et al. (2013) Modeling the impact and costs of semiannual mass drug administration for accelerated elimination of lymphatic filariasis. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7: e1984.
- Phommasack B, Saklokham K, Chanthavisouk C, Nakhonesid-Fish V, Strandgaard H, et al. (2008) Coverage and costs of a school deworming programme in 2007 targeting all primary schools in Lao PDR. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 102: 1201–1206.
- World Bank (2013) GNI per capita. Available: http://data.worldbank.org/ indicator/NY.GNP.PCAP.PP.CD (accessed 28th July 2013)
- Basáñez MG, Pion SDS, Boakes E, Filipe JAN, Churcher TS, et al. (2008) Effect of single-dose ivermectin on *Onchocerca volvulus*: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Lancet Infect Dis 8: 310–322.

Vaccinating Women Previously Exposed to Human Papillomavirus: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of the Bivalent Vaccine

Hugo C. Turner^{1*}, Iacopo Baussano², Geoff P. Garnett¹

1 Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, Imperial College London, London, United Kingdom, 2 International Agency for Research on Cancer, Lyon, France

Abstract

Recent trials have indicated that women with prior exposure to Human papillomavirus (HPV) subtypes 16/18 receive protection against reinfection from the HPV vaccines. However, many of the original models investigating the cost effectiveness of different vaccination strategies for the protection of cervical cancer assumed, based on the trial results at that time, that these women received no protection. We developed a deterministic, dynamic transmission model that incorporates the vaccine-induced protection of women with prior exposure to HPV. The model was used to estimate the cost effectiveness of progressively extending a vaccination programme using the bivalent vaccine to older age groups both with and without protection of women with prior exposure. We did this under a range of assumptions on the level of natural immunity. Our modelling projections indicate that including the protection of women with prior HPV exposure can have a profound effect on the cost effectiveness of vaccinating adults. The impact of this protection is inversely related to the level of natural immunity. Our results indicate that adult vaccination strategies should potentially be reassessed, and that it is important to include the protection of non-naive women previously infected with HPV in future studies. Furthermore, they also highlight the need for a more thorough investigation of this protection.

Citation: Turner HC, Baussano I, Garnett GP (2013) Vaccinating Women Previously Exposed to Human Papillomavirus: A Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of the Bivalent Vaccine. PLoS ONE 8(9): e75552. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0075552

Editor: Diane Medved Harper, University of Missouri Kansas Clty School of Medicine, United States of America

Received May 11, 2013; Accepted August 19, 2013; Published September 26, 2013

Copyright: © 2013 Turner et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Funding: Dr. Iacopo Baussano is supported by the following grant sponsors: European Community's Seventh Framework Programme (FP7/2007-2013; acronym PREHDICT), grant number: 242061; and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, grant number: OPP1053353. Geoff P. Garnett acknowledges support from the Wellcome Trust, grant number: 090285/Z/09/Z. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: Geoff Garnett has acted as consultant for and/or received grants for other studies from Sanofi Pasteur MSD, Merck, and GSK. Hugo Turner and Iacopo Baussano have no competing interests. This does not alter the authors' adherence to all the PLOS ONE policies on sharing data and materials.

* E-mail: hugo.turner06@imperial.ac.uk

Introduction

Human papillomavirus (HPV) infection is necessary for the development of cervical cancer in women. In the UK, despite a well organised screening programme that achieves high coverage [1], it is estimated that every year 2,890 women are diagnosed with cervical cancer and 1,111 deaths a year are associated with the disease [1]. In addition, HPV has been linked to anal, vulval, vaginal, penile, and oropharyngeal cancers [2]. These cancers would not be detected in the current screening programme. Two high efficacy prophylactic vaccines against HPV have been developed; a bivalent vaccine (CervarixTM) which protects against types 16 and 18, which are responsible for 79% of cervical cancers in the UK [1], and a quadrivalent vaccine (GardasilTM) that also protects against types 6 and 11 (which are associated with anogenital warts).

Since their license, many countries have introduced routine HPV vaccination programmes targeting adolescent girls before sexual debut. Several countries have also implemented catch-up programmes covering older adolescents [3]. For example, in the UK, the Joint Committee on Vaccination and Immunisation recommended a catch-up vaccination programme of girls aged 13 to 17, which started in 2008 [4]. However, though the United States offer HPV vaccination to women up to 26 years of age [5], few countries have offered HPV vaccination to older age groups, and the uptake for the catch-up programmes has been generally low [6,7].

Due to the complexity of HPV transmission and natural history of cervical cancer, as well as the long delay between infection and clinical outcomes, mathematical models are needed to predict the long-term benefits of different vaccination strategies. Many of the older HPV models made the

assumption (based on the trial results at that time) that the vaccine only offers protection to women who had not been previously infected (i.e. are naive to infection) [8,9,10,11,12]. However, when the analysis of the phase three bivalent vaccine trial was expanded to include women that were not currently infected but who had previous serological exposure to HPV 16/18 infection (i.e. women who are non-naïve to infection), it was found that the vaccine had a comparably high efficacy in this group of women as the HPV naive women [13]. Similar trial results have also been reported for the quadrivalent vaccine [14]. This is important as the results from models that do not include vaccine protection in non-naive women may underestimate the cost effectiveness of including older age groups in catch-up programmes. This has implications for policy decisions on which age groups should be included in vaccination strategies.

Although many models have since included this protection to non-naive women [15,16,17,18], to the best of our knowledge no other model has been devised to explicitly investigate the benefit of this protection and the implications it has on the cost effectiveness of vaccinating adults using a dynamic transmission model.

We constructed a model that quantifies the potential protection of women with prior exposure to HPV16/18 to investigate the effect of this protection on the cost effectiveness of extending the vaccination catch-up programme to older age groups in the UK. In addition, we explored a range of lower vaccine costs than in previous economic analyses [15], to reflect that the government negotiated vaccine price will likely be lower than the list price assumed in many economic evaluations.

Materials and Methods

Model procedures

We developed a deterministic, dynamic transmission model to represent acquisition and heterosexual transmission of infection, with an embedded progression model to represent the subsequent development of HPV-related disease. The model, partly based on Jit et al. [15] was stratified by HPV type, age, gender and sexual activity based risk group. More detail is provided in the File S1.

HPV types in the model were divided into four groups: type 16, type 18, other oncogenic high-risk types with vaccine cross protection and other oncogenic high risk types without vaccine cross protection. We used type specific model compartments to represent women being susceptible to HPV infection, infected with HPV or immune to infection. The susceptible compartments were further subdivided into naive and nonnaive to HPV infection. Non-naive women (i.e. women with prior exposure to HPV) were assumed to occupy the susceptible non-naive or naturally immune compartments. The type-specific infected compartments in women were subdivided into being infectious but free of disease, having cervical intraepithelial neoplasias of different grades (CIN I, II, or III), and having invasive squamous cell carcinoma (SCC). We adopted the same structure for adenocarcinomas, with states for cervical glandular intraepithelial neoplasia (CGIN) replacing CIN. A specific precursor lesion state could regress to a less severe state, to the immune state, or to susceptible (non-naive) state, either as a result of natural regression (at rates independent of age) or age-dependent screening and treatment (see Tables S4 and S5 in File S1 for progression/ regression and screening rates). Men were assumed only to occupy type-specific model compartments representing HPV susceptible, infected and immune.

The model population consisted of individuals aged between 12 and 74 years old, divided into 10 age classes based on data from the Office of National Statistics [19]. The model population was stratified into three sexual behaviour groups. More detail is provided in Table S2 in File S1.

Parameter estimation

Using nonlinear least-squares regression the model was fitted to HPV type and age-specific prevalence data [20], by estimating a type-specific transmission probability (See File S1for details). If women were found to be infected with multiple types of HPV in the data, we assumed women to have the most oncogenic HPV type(s) present when fitting the model (i.e. if the data showed a woman was positive to both HPV16 and 18, that person was classified as HPV16 in the model). By estimating the age dependent and HPV type specific progression rate of CIN III to SCC and CGIN III to adenocarcinomas, the model's predicted cancer incidence was fitted to data on the number of cancer cases reported in the UK and to data describing the distribution of HPV types in cancer cases [21,22]. Double counting of disease outcomes was avoided by attributing cancer to the most oncogenic HPV type(s) present. Due to the lack of knowledge of immunity against HPV, we repeated our model simulations under different assumptions of the level of natural immunity (described in the sensitivity analysis section). The model was refitted for each different natural immunity scenario i.e. for each different immunity assumption we had a different transmission probability and a different cancer progression rate to ensure that the incidence of cancer matched the observed data in all of the scenarios we investigated. The range of parameter values estimated is shown in Table S8 in File S1.

Vaccination

The model assumed the vaccine gives naive women 100% protection against HPV16/18 infections [23]. In addition, the model assumed that the vaccine has cross protection to the high risk HPV types not included in the vaccine (with a 47% efficacy against infection) based on clinical trial data for the bivalent vaccine [24], and other modelling studies [17]. To quantify the effect of the protection of women non-naive to HPV16/18, we varied their protective vaccine efficacy against infection between 0% and 100%. It was assumed a woman would need at least two doses of the vaccine to receive any protection [25]. For catch-up campaigns, women aged over 16 years were assumed to receive their vaccination through general practice clinics. Dose specific coverage estimates of each age class were matched to reported annual HPV vaccine coverage data (See Table S6 in File S1). All three doses of the vaccine were assumed to be given in the same year [26].

Vaccine-induced protection may wane moving vaccinated individuals to a susceptible (non-naive) compartment. The duration of vaccine protection, which was varied as part of the sensitivity analysis was assumed to be the same for both naive and non-naive women. The vaccine is assumed to offer no benefit to women who are currently infected with HPV providing no effect on an individual's lesion status and no effect on the rate of HPV clearance [27,28]. The vaccine is assumed to have no effect on non-naive individuals' risks to other high-risk HPV types.

Cost effectiveness analysis

We analysed the cost effectiveness of a range of vaccination strategies using a healthcare provider perspective. The baseline scenario was the current UK vaccination programme, i.e. vaccination of girls aged 12-13 using a school based programme and with a catch-up programme of 14-17 year olds as well as screening and treatment of older women (based on the current UK screening programme - see File S1 for details). We investigated a range of other vaccination strategies by varying the age of catch up. We did not explore vaccination programmes targeting adolescent males.

We measured the incremental cost effectiveness ratio (cost per Quality Adjusted Life Year (QALY) gained) of progressively extending the catch-up programme to older age groups, over a 100 year time horizon. This was calculated by dividing the additional cost by the additional benefit of a particular vaccination programme compared to the previous vaccination strategy i.e. the next most expensive option. Our baseline scenario was compared to a programme using screening and treatment only. The unit of effectiveness was QALY gained (details provided in File S1). This analysis used a willingness to pay threshold of £30,000 per QALY gained, which is the standard cut-off value usually used by the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence for evaluating health technologies in the UK [29]. See Table 1 for the parameter values for the cost and utility weights. Following the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence guidelines, the costs and the benefits were discounted at 3.5% at baseline and the discount rate varied as part of the sensitivity analysis [30].

Sensitivity analysis

In order to investigate the effect of the protection of women non-naive to HPV, we varied their vaccine efficacy between 0% and 100%. To reflect the uncertainty surrounding the natural history of the infection, we performed a multi-way sensitivity analysis on the level of natural immunity; both the proportion that experience immunity (25%, 50%, 75%, and 100%), and the duration of immunity (2 years, 10 years, 20 years, and lifelong) were varied. These simulations were summarised as median values with an interquartile range (IQR) to illustrate the variations in the potential cost-effectiveness of the vaccine depending on the level of natural immunity. Because there is no data providing an estimate of the duration of vaccine induced immunity, we present a set of scenarios with different durations of vaccine- associated immunity (10 years, 20 years, and lifelong). Because the UK government purchased the Cervarix vaccine from GlaxoSmithKline at a negotiated and Table 1. Parameters used in economic model.

Health State	Utility
CIN I	0.91 [31]
CIN II	0.87 [31]
CIN III	0.87[31]
Cancer	0.6 [*] [32]
Cancer Treatment	0.84* [32]
Positive pap smear result received	0.98 [31]
Screening and Treatment	Costs
Cost per Screening (Pap Smear)	£29.02 [33]
Colposcopy	£173.58[34]
Treatment of precancerous lesions	£383.63[34]
Treatment of cancer	£20231.33 [*] [34,35]
Vaccine	Costs
Cost per dose	£40 or £20 (estimates)
Administration cost per dose (School based)	£5.30[36]
Administration cost per dose (GP based)	£11.87 [37]

* indicates that the parameters are a weighted average of the four different Federations of Gynecologists & Obstetrician stages.

CIN: cervical intraepithelial neoplasias. CGIN: cervical glandular intraepithelial neoplasia. Prices are adjusted to 2011.

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075552.t001

undisclosed price, we also varied the cost of each vaccine dose (£20 and £40 per dose not including the costs of administering the vaccination, which are described in Table 1and File S1). This assumes that the negotiated price is much lower than the listed price of £80.50 per dose [38]. The discount rate was varied between 0% and 6% [30]. In addition the sensitivity of the results to the assumed vaccination coverage of 12-13 year old school girls was investigated.

Results

On the basis of our model output's 'goodness of fit' to HPV prevalence data [20], we included 75% of our natural immunity scenarios in our cost effectiveness analysis. The scenarios that we excluded (based on their root-mean-square deviation) notably underestimated HPV16 prevalence, and therefore would have underestimated the vaccine's impact (see File S1). Table 2 shows the estimated costs that would be incurred and the potential QALYs gained over a 100-year period after the introduction of the vaccine (the results were averaged across the estimates obtained for the different assumptions regarding the level of natural immunity (which is unknown)). The incremental cost of extending the vaccine programme increased with the inclusion of older age groups (see Table 2). However it should be noted that the true incremental cost of extending the vaccine programme will be highly depended on the cost of the vaccine. The vaccination programme generated some cost savings to the health service (approximately £336 million for the current UK strategy) by reducing the number of treatments (for precancerous lesions and cervical cancers), but these savings were outweighed by the cost of the vaccination programme itself.

Incremental Q	ALYs gained:				
	Moon	Mean	Mean		
Vaccination Programme:	incremental QALYs gained (total)	incremental QALYs gained due to cancers prevented	incremental QALYs gained due to reduced treatment	Median incremental QALYs	
Ages 12-17	88,392*	52,313*	36,079*	90,108 (77,904-95,175) [*]	
Ages 12-19	4,103†	2,428†	1,675†	4,424 (3,980-8765) [†]	
Ages 12-24	7,979†	4,722 [†]	3,257†	8,318 (7,750-10,049) †	
Ages 12-29	4,927†	2,916 [†]	2,011†	5532 (5,169-6,623) †	
Ages 12-34	3,334†	1,973†	1,361†	3,347 (3,101-4,136) [†]	
Incremental co	Incremental cost:				
	Mean	Moan	Moan	Modian	
Vaccination	incremental	incremental	incremental	incremental net	
Programme:	cost of	net cost	cost saved	cost	
	programme	not ooot	ooor ouvou	0001	
Ages 12-17	£884 [*]	£538 [*]	£336 [*]	£523 (514-565) [*]	
Ages 12-19	£76†	£57†	£19 [†]	£55 (54-57) †	
Ages 12-24	£180†	£145†	£35†	£144 (142-148) †	
Ages 12-29	£176 [†]	£162 [†]	£14 [†]	£160 (158-163) †	
Ages 12-34	£174 [†]	£172 [†]	£2 [†]	£172 (168-174) [†]	

The vaccine was assumed to cost £20 per dose, last an average of 20 years and provide protection to women with previous exposure to HPV (100% efficacy). The median and mean results are averaged across the estimates for different assumptions of natural immunity (the 1st and 3rd quartiles are shown in brackets). All programmes assume routine vaccine of 12-13 year old girls. *QALY: Quality adjusted life year.*

* Costs or benefits compared to a programme only using screening and treatment † Costs or benefits compared to the previous vaccination option i.e the next most

expensive option

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075552.t002

The effect of including the protection of non-naive women on the cost effectiveness of vaccinating 12-13 years olds was negligible. However, it substantially increased the cost effectiveness of vaccinating older women in catch-up programmes. The outcome of the cost effectiveness analysis was also highly dependent on the price of the vaccine and the average duration of protection provided by the vaccine. The level of natural immunity was also found to be inversely related to the cost effectiveness of vaccination, with the higher the level of natural immunity the lower the cost effectiveness of vaccination. The variation in the incremental cost effectiveness ratios caused by the different natural immunity assumptions increased with the age of the group being vaccinated (the median results averaged across the estimates for different assumptions of natural immunity are shown in Table 3). In addition, when higher levels of natural immunity are assumed,

the protection of non-naive women has a lower beneficial impact on the cost effectiveness of the vaccine.

When assuming the presence of protection to non-naive women, the majority of simulations for extending the vaccine programme to include 18 and 19 year olds were cost effective (using a threshold of £30,000 per QALY gained). This extension strategy was not found to be cost effective in the absence of protection to non-naive women, if the cost per dose was £40. The cost effectiveness acceptability curves for extending the catch-up programme to 19 year olds are shown in Figure 1A.

Furthermore, when assuming the vaccine provides 20 years of protection and a cost per dose of £20, extending the catchup programme further to include 20-24 year olds was found to be cost effective (£22,286 per QALY gained) in the presence of protection to non-naive women. However, this was not cost effective in the absence of the protection to non-naive women (£39,849 per QALY gained). In addition, when the vaccine was assumed to provide both lifelong protection and protection to non-naive women, the results for this strategy were highly cost effective if the vaccine costs £20 per dose (£16,557 per QALY gained), and borderline cost effective if the vaccine costs £40 per dose (£29,021 per QALY gained). However, in the absence of the protection to non-naive women the cost effectiveness decreased substantially (£34,839 and £62,011 per QALY gained respectively). The cost effectiveness acceptability curves for extending the catch-up programme to 25 year olds are shown in Figure 1B. Strategies targeting women over 25 were only found to be borderline cost effective with a vaccine cost of £20 per dose and assuming the vaccine provided both lifelong protection and full protection to non-naive women.

When assuming a lower coverage of the school based programme (targeting 12-13 year olds), the cost effectiveness of extending the vaccine programme to include older women notable increased (see Figure S4 in File S1).

Discussion

Our economic analysis indicates that the effect of including the protection of women non-naive to HPV on the cost effectiveness of vaccination of 12-13 years is negligible (likely due to the low number of women that have experienced infection in this age group). However, this protective effect can have a substantial effect on the outcome of the cost effectiveness of vaccinating older women in catch up programmes. This was particularly evident in 18-25 year olds, who are not often included in vaccination programmes in Europe [3]. It is worth noting that the impact of including vaccine protection to non-naive women on the vaccine's costeffectiveness ratios is affected by the level of natural immunity in the population (with lower benefits if a higher level of natural immunity is assumed). This should be considered in future modelling studies incorporating this protection. When assuming the vaccine provides protection to non- naive women, we assumed that efficacy against infection was the same as that for naive women (i.e. 100%), which may be an overestimate [13]. We therefore varied the efficacy in non-naive women as part of our sensitivity analyses and found that even with a lower

£20 per dose			
	Protection to non-naive	Absence of protection to	
	women	non-naive women	
Vaccination	Median (IOR)	Median (IQR)	
Programme:			
20 years' vaccine pr	otection:		
Ages 12-17	£1 089 (3 981-5 910)*	£4 101/4 027-5 774)*	
(Current)	24,009 (3,901-3,910)	24,101(4,027-3,774)	
Ages 12-19	£14,691 (12,820-20,047) †	£20,380 (17,999-29,587) †	
Ages 12-24	£22,286 (19,093-36,929) †	£39,849 (35,691-55,984) [†]	
Ages 12-29	£51,816 (41,723-74,516) †	£116,327 (106,273-147,262) †	
Ages 12-34	£103,156 (77,921-159,226) †	£335,481 (311,499-406,802) †	
Lifetime vaccine pro	etection:		
Ages 12-17	£1 627 (1 525 4 022)*	£1 901 /1 714 2 004*	
(Current)	£1,627 (1,525-1,922)	£1,801 (1,714-2,001)	
Ages 12-19	£10,433 (9,110-12,455) †	£16,769 (14,533-20,947) [†]	
Ages 12-24	£16,557 (14,126-17,852) †	£34,839 (30,060-42,360) [†]	
Ages 12-29	£33,897 (30,850-36,915) †	£105,637 (90,244-118,537) †	
Ages 12-34	£50,125 (39,723-58,561) [†]	£254,191 (200,629-324,487)†	
C40 man daga	Protection to non-naive	Absence of protection to	
£40 per dose	women	non-naive women	
Vaccination	Madian (IOD)	Median (IQR)	
Programme:	Median (IQR)		
20 years' vaccine pr	otection:		
Ages 12-17	CO 47C (0 44C 40 2C7)*	00000 (0045 40504)*	
(Current)	29,476 (8,145-13,357)	29689 (8315-13521)	
Ages 12-19	£22,268 (17,152-33,507) †	£38210 (33854-52774) †	
Ages 12-24	£36,578 (31,321-60,042) [†]	£70523 (63236-96679) [†]	
Ages 12-29	£90,320 (73,986-128,491) †	£197865 (180770-249516) [†]	
Ages 12-34	£162,040 (124,938-224,179) [†]	£563025 (522743-682016) [†]	
Lifetime vaccine pro	otection:		
Ages 12-17	C2 C7E /2 247 4 C04)*	C2 902 /2 452 4 956*	
(Current)	23,010 (3,311-4,694)	£3,802 (3,452-4,856)	
Ages 12-19	£21,623 (18,404-25,006) †	£32,078 (27,300-38,695) †	
Ages 12-24	£29,021 (27,203-33,887) [†]	£62,011 (53,133-74,739) †	
Ages 12-29	£60,394 (55,569-66,138) †	£179,880 (153,387-201,579) †	
Ages 12-34	£80,278 (65,898-105,678) †	£553,911 (473,101-531,305)†	

Table 3. The median incremental cost effectiveness ratios

of alternative vaccination catch-up programmes.

The incremental cost effectiveness ratios in the presence and absence of protection to non-naive women are shown. No strategies were dominated or extendedly dominated. The median results averaged across the estimates for different assumptions of natural immunity are presented (the $1^{\mbox{st}}$ and $3^{\mbox{rd}}$ quartiles are shown in brackets). The costs and benefits have been discounted at 3.5% a year. All programmes assume routine vaccine of 12 year old girls. Median results under the £ 30,000 threshold are shown in bold.

IQR: Interguartile range.

* Cost effectiveness of particular option compared to a programme only using screening and treatment.

[†] Ratio of additional costs and benefits of particular vaccination programme compared with previous option i.e the next most expensive option. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075552.t003

value of 50% efficacy, the protection of non-naive women still had a substantial benefit on the cost effectiveness of vaccinating adults (see Figures S5 and S6 in File S1). However, it should be noted that further investigation of this protection and how it may differ from that experienced by HPV naive women is essential.

Our estimates of the cost effectiveness ratios of vaccinating over 18 year olds were substantially lower than those found by the model which informed the UK vaccination strategy, which also took into account this protection to non-naive women [15]. This may be due to the fact that we assumed a lower (estimated) government negotiated price for the vaccine (rather than the vaccine list price of £80.50 per dose) [38]. A study by Bogaards et al. (2011) found that including vaccine protection of non-naive women did not have much bearing on the costeffectiveness analysis [18]. However, a possible reason for this difference is that their assumptions of vaccine efficacy were only tested as part of a univariate sensitivity analysis, and therefore the effect the level natural immunity has on the projected additional benefits of including the protection of nonnaive women were not accounted for [18]. In addition, the study did not account for the effect the increased vaccine protection of non-naive women would have on herd immunity [18].

One of the key strengths of this analysis is that we performed a variety of different simulations, both with and without protection of non-naive women, allowing the additional benefit to be quantified. In addition, dose specific coverage estimates of each age class were matched to reported UK annual HPV vaccine coverage data, capturing the increased dropout rate of the age groups included in the current catch-up programme [6]. However, it should be noted that it is possible that the dropout rate might increase for women aged >18, which requires further investigation. In addition there were some limitations to our approach. We modelled the progression and transmission of each HPV type using separate models (using the method described by [39]). When using separate models, the progression of multiple typed lesions are attributed to the most oncogenic HPV types and this can potentially cause some lesions to be misattributed to the wrong HPV type. However it is not currently possible to accurately parameterize a model for each of the high risk HPV types not included in the vaccine. Although further investigation and guantification of the vaccines impact on other HPV related cancers is important, due to the uncertainties inherent to the progression from HPV infections to these cancers and the lack of available data, we did not incorporate them into our model (therefore the overall health impact from vaccination may be underestimated). Additionally, the model assumed that CGIN lesions were not detected by screening, but in practice some can be detected [40]. Furthermore we did not investigate possible strategies involving vaccinating male adolescents, which though are not used in the UK, are currently being used in Austria and the USA [41]. Based on data reported by Kreimer et al. [25], it was assumed that two doses of the vaccine provide full protection. However it is currently unknown how the number of doses received relates to the duration of vaccine derived immunity (and how much protection is gained by only receiving one dose). More data to inform these parameters in models will be



Figure 1. Cost Effectiveness Acceptability Curves for Extending the Vaccination Catch-up to (A) 19 year olds and (B) 24 year olds. Different durations of vaccine induced immunity; Life (Δ), 20 years (\circ), 10 years (\Box). Thick lines represent presence of protection to HPV non-naive women and thin the absence. The results presented assumed the vaccine cost is £20 per dose (not including the cost of administering the vaccine) a 100 year time horizon and 3.5% discount rate for costs and benefits. QALY: Quality adjusted life year.

doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0075552.g001

essential for more accurate estimates of the cost effectiveness of different control strategies. Unfortunately the exact price of the vaccine in the UK has not been disclosed publicly. We assume the vaccine price that the government negotiated is lower than the list price of £80.50 per dose [38]. However it is possible that the negotiated price is higher that estimated. It should be noted that an alternative possibility, not accounted for in the model, is that a specific biological factor modulates the capacity of some women to repeatedly clear an infection, which would affect the added benefit of the protection of nonnaive women. Furthermore we assumed that the duration of vaccine and natural derived immunity were independent of each other, though it is possible that vaccination may boost the duration of natural immunity. However, there is currently insufficient data to accurately parameterize such features in an HPV transmission model.

The results of this study indicate that the protection of women non-naive to HPV provided by the vaccine has a substantial effect on the cost effectiveness of HPV vaccination catch-up programmes. This was particularly evident in 18-25 year olds for which the results indicate that if the negotiated vaccine cost is below £40 per dose it may be cost effective to extend the UK's catch-up programme (when assuming comparably high vaccine efficacy in HPV non-naive and naive women). This suggests that if the price of the vaccine is less than £40 per dose, the Department of Health in the UK should reconsider either extending the current catch-up programme or providing a subsidy reducing the cost of private vaccination for women aged 18 to 25. In addition we found that the cost effectiveness of extending the vaccine programme to include older women notably increased when assuming a lower achieved coverage of 12-13 year olds in the school based programmes. This highlights the potential value of this strategy in areas which are currently only attaining a low coverage. However, it should be noted that it is plausible that extending catch-up vaccination to older age groups may lead to women delaying vaccination and this would require further investigation. In addition it is important to consider that offering vaccination to older age groups could potentially lead to a stigmatisation of the school based vaccination programmes (people might believe that only girls that are "planning on their sexual debut" would have the vaccine, potentially decreasing the achieved coverage). In late 2012, the UK's Department of Health switched to the quadrivalent vaccine, which also includes protection against HPV 6/11 (linked to anogenital warts) [42]. A detailed modelling comparison of the cost effectiveness of the two vaccines is presented in Jit et al. (2011) [17]. However, even though our study was based on the bivalent vaccine and on the UK screening programme (so our cost effectiveness estimates may not be directly generalizable to other counties with different screening and vaccine programmes) it still highlights the importance of both how this protection of non-naive women (which has been found for both vaccines) and how lower government negotiated vaccine

prices, may affect the cost effectiveness of vaccinating adult women.

Our modelling projections indicate that the protection of nonnaive women can have a profound effect on the outcomes of a cost effectiveness analysis of vaccinating adults. This indicates that adult vaccination strategies should potentially be reassessed and demonstrates the importance of including the protection of non-naive individuals in future studies investigating different HPV vaccination strategies such as male vaccination. In addition, this highlights the need for a more thorough investigation of this protection.

Supporting Information

File S1. Model Description and Supplementary Results. Table S1, Parameter definitions. Table S2, Number of new partnerships per year stratified by age and risk group. Table S3, Population size and death rates stratified by age group. Table S4, Screening and treatment rates stratified by age group and neoplastic status. Table S5, Lesion specific progression and regression parameters. Table S6, Vaccination Coverage for each dose stratified by age. Table S7, Effect of altering discount rate on median incremental cost effectiveness ratio. Table S8, HPV type specific incidence and transmission probability. Figure S1, A Flow Diagram of the Model. Figure S2, The differential equations of the model. Figure S3, Model estimates of age specific prevalence of HPV-16 compared to trial data to which it was fitted. Figure S4, Cost effectiveness acceptability curves for extending the vaccination catch-up programme up to 24 year olds (assuming a lower coverage of the school based programme targeting 12-13 year olds). Figure S5, Cost effectiveness acceptability curves for extending the vaccination catch-up programme up to 24 year olds (assuming 75% vaccine efficacy for non-naive women). Figure S6, Cost effectiveness acceptability curves for extending the vaccination catch-up programme up to 24 year olds (assuming 50% vaccine efficacy for non-naive women). (DOC)

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Dr Zara Shubber, Dr Isobel M Blake, Ms Véronique Chabanis and Ms Sarah-Jane Anderson for their comments and feedback during the manuscript preparation. Dr lacopo Baussano is on leave from the University of Piemonte Orientale, Novara, Italy.

Author Contributions

Wrote the manuscript: HT. Designed the study and model: HT IB GG. Carried out the computer simulations and analysis: HT. Drafted the manuscript: HT IB GG. Approved the final version to be published: HT IB GG.

References

- 1. World Health Organization (2010) United Kingdom; Human Papillomavirus and Related Cancers, Fact Sheet 2010. Barcelona: WHO/ICO Information Centre on HPV and Cervical Cancer.
- Parkin DM (2006) The global health burden of infection-associated cancers in the year 2002. Int J Cancer 118: 3030-3044. doi:10.1002/ijc. 21731. PubMed: 16404738.
- Lévy-Bruhl D, Bousquet V, King LA, O'Flanagan D, Bacci S et al. (2009) The current state of introduction of HPV vaccination into national immunisation schedules in Europe: Results of the VENICE 2008 survey. Eur J Cancer 45: 2709-2713. doi:10.1016/j.ejca.2009.07.023. PubMed: 19695863.
- JCVI (2008) Statement on HPV vaccination. Available: www.dh.gov.uk/ prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/@dh/@ab/documents/ digitalasset/dh_094739.pdf. Accessed 2013 February 2.
- Markowitz LE, Dunne EF, Saraiya M, Lawson HW, Chesson H et al. (2007) Quadrivalent Human Papillomavirus Vaccine: Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep 56: 1-24. PubMed: 17380109.
- Department of Health (2011) nnual HPV vaccine coverage in England in 2009/2010. (15439). Available: http://www.dh.gov.uk/en/ Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/PublicationsPolicyAndGuidance/ DH_123795 Accessed 2013 February 2). PubMed: 22077414
- Rondy M, van Lier A, van de Kassteele J, Rust L, de Melker H (2010) Determinants for HPV vaccine uptake in the Netherlands: A multilevel study. Vaccine 28: 2070-2075. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.12.042. PubMed: 20045095.
- Kim JJ, Ortendahl J, Goldie SJ (2009) Cost-effectiveness of human papillomavirus vaccination and cervical cancer screening in women older than 30 years in the United States. Ann Intern Med 151: 538-545. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-151-8-200910200-00007. PubMed: 19841455.
- Insinga RP, Dasbach EJ, Elbasha EH, Puig A, Reynales-Shigematsu LM (2007) Cost-effectiveness of quadrivalent human papillomavirus (HPV) vaccination in Mexico: A transmission dynamic model-based evaluation. Vaccine 26: 128-139. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.10.056. PubMed: 18055075.
- Kim JJ, Goldie SJ (2008) Health and Economic Implications of HPV Vaccination in the United States. N Engl J Med 359: 821-832. doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa0707052. PubMed: 18716299.
- Usher C, Tilson L, Olsen J, Jepsen M, Walsh C et al. (2008) Costeffectiveness of human papillomavirus vaccine in reducing the risk of cervical cancer in Ireland due to HPV types 16 and 18 using a transmission dynamic model. Vaccine 26: 5654-5661. doi:10.1016/ i.vaccine.2008.07.098. PubMed: 18723068.
- Elbasha EH, Dasbach EJ, Insinga RP, Haupt RM, Barr E (2009) Agebased programs for vaccination against HPV. Value Health 12: 697-707. doi:10.1111/j.1524-4733.2009.00512.x. PubMed: 19490561.
- Szarewski A, Poppe WA, Skinner SR, Wheeler CM, Paavonen J et al. (2012) Efficacy of the human papillomavirus (HPV)-16/18 AS04adjuvanted vaccine in women aged 15-25 years with and without serological evidence of previous exposure to HPV-16/18. Int J Cancer 131: 106-116. doi:10.1002/ijc.26362. PubMed: 21858807.
- Castellsagué X, Muñoz N, Pitisuttithum P, Ferris D, Monsonego J et al. (2011) End-of-study safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of quadrivalent HPV (types 6, 11, 16, 18) recombinant vaccine in adult women 24-45 years of age. Br J Cancer 105: 28-37. doi:10.1038/bjc. 2011.185. PubMed: 21629249.
- Jit M, Choi YH, Edmunds WJ (2008) Economic evaluation of human papillomavirus vaccination in the United Kingdom. BMJ 337: a769. doi: 10.1136/bmj.a769. PubMed: 18640957.
- Westra TA, Rozenbaum MH, Rogoza RM, Nijman HW, Daemen T et al. (2011) Until which age should women be vaccinated against HPV infection? Recommendation based on cost-effectiveness analyses. J Infect Dis 204: 377-384. doi:10.1093/infdis/jir281. PubMed: 21742836.
- Jit M, Chapman R, Hughes O, Choi YH (2011) Comparing bivalent and quadrivalent human papillomavirus vaccines: economic evaluation based on transmission model. BMJ 343: d5775. doi:10.1136/ bmj.d5775. PubMed: 21951758.
- Bogaards JA, Coupé VM, Meijer CJ, Berkhof J (2011) The clinical benefit and cost-effectiveness of human papillomavirus vaccination for adult women in the Netherlands. Vaccine 29: 8929-8936. doi:10.1016/ j.vaccine.2011.09.055. PubMed: 21945961.
- Office for National Statistics (2008) Population Estimates for UK, England and Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland, mid 2008. Available: http://www.ic.nhs.uk/statistics-and-data-collections/ screening/cervicalscreening/cervical-screening-programmeengland-2009-10. Accessed 2013 February 2.

- Kitchener HC, Almonte M, Wheeler P, Desai M, Gilham C et al. (2006) HPV testing in routine cervical screening: cross sectional data from the ARTISTIC trial. Br J Cancer 95: 56-61. doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6603210. PubMed: 16773068.
- Department of Health Statistical Bulletin (2010) Cervical screening programme, England: 2009–10. The Information Centre.
- Muñoz N, Bosch FX, Castellsagué X, Díaz M, de Sanjose S et al. (2004) Against which human papillomavirus types shall we vaccinate and screen? The international perspective. Int J Cancer 111: 278-285. doi:10.1002/ijc.20244. PubMed: 15197783.
- Paavonen J, Naud P, Salmerón J, Wheeler CM, Chow SN et al. (2009) Efficacy of human papillomavirus (HPV)-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine against cervical infection and precancer caused by oncogenic HPV types (PATRICIA): final analysis of a double-blind, randomised study in young women. Lancet 374: 301-314. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(09)61248-4. PubMed: 19586656.
- 24. Wheeler CM, Castellsagué X, Garland SM, Szarewski A, Paavonen J et al. (2012) Cross-protective efficacy of HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine against cervical infection and precancer caused by nonvaccine oncogenic HPV types: 4-year end-of-study analysis of the randomised, double-blind PATRICIA trial. Lancet Oncol 13: 100-110. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70287-X. PubMed: 22075170.
- Kreimer AR, Rodriguez AC, Hildesheim A, Herrero R, Porras C et al. (2011) Proof-of-principle evaluation of the efficacy of fewer than three doses of a bivalent HPV16/18 vaccine. J Natl Cancer Inst 103: 1444-1451. doi:10.1093/jnci/djr319. PubMed: 21908768.
- NHS (2013) How is the HPV vaccine given? Available: http:// www.nhs.uk/Conditions/vaccinations/Pages/how-is-hpv-vaccinecervarix-gardasil-given.aspx. Accessed 2013 March 10.
- Hildesheim A, Herrero R, Wacholder S, Rodriguez AC, Solomon D et al. (2007) Effect of human papillomavirus 16/18 L1 viruslike particle vaccine among young women with preexisting infection: a randomized trial. JAMA 298: 743-753. doi:10.1001/jama.298.7.743. PubMed: 17699008.
- Lehtinen M, Paavonen J, Wheeler CM, Jaisamrarn U, Garland SM et al. (2012) Overall efficacy of HPV-16/18 AS04-adjuvanted vaccine against grade 3 or greater cervical intraepithelial neoplasia: 4-year endof-study analysis of the randomised, double-blind PATRICIA trial. Lancet Oncol 13: 89-99. doi:10.1016/S1470-2045(11)70286-8. PubMed: 22075171.
- National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (2013) Measuring effectiveness and cost effectiveness: the QALY. Available: <u>http://</u><u>www.nice.org.uk/newsroom/features/</u><u>measuringeffectivenessandcosteffectivenessthegaly.jsp</u>. (Accessed 2nd)
- August 2013). 30. National Institute for Health Clinical Excellence (2004) uide to the
- methods of technology appraisal (reference N0515). Available: <u>http://www.nice.org.uk/niceMedia/pdf/TAP_Methods.pdf</u> Accessed 2013 February 2.
- Myers É, Green S, Lipkus IP (2004) Patient preferences for health states related to HPV infection: visual analogue scales versus time trade-off elicitation. Proceedings of the 21st International Papillomavirus Conference, Mexico City, Mexico.
- Goldie SJ, Kohli M, Grima D, Weinstein MC, Wright TC et al. (2004) Projected Clinical Benefits and Cost-effectiveness of a Human Papillomavirus 16/18 Vaccine. J Natl Cancer Inst 96: 604-615. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djh104. PubMed: 15100338.
- Brown RE, Breugelmans JG, Theodoratou D, Bénard S (2006) Costs of detection and treatment of cervical cancer, cervical dysplasia and genital warts in the UK. Curr Med Res Opin 22: 663-670. doi: 10.1185/030079906X99972. PubMed: 16684427.
- 34. Curtis L (2005) nit costs of health and social care 2005. University of Kent at Canterbury: Personal. Social Services Research Unit.
- Wolstenholme JL, Whynes DK (1998) Stage-specific treatment costs for cervical cancer in the United Kingdom. Eur J Cancer 34: 1889-1893. doi:10.1016/S0959-8049(98)00232-9. PubMed: 10023311.
- Wallace LA, Young D, Brown A, Cameron JC, Ahmed S et al. (2005) Costs of running a universal adolescent hepatitis B vaccination programme. Vaccine 23: 5624-5631. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2005.06.034. PubMed: 16099079.
- Curtis L (2007) nit costs of health and social care 2007. University of Kent at Canterbury: Personal. Social Services Research Unit.
- British Medical Association, the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of Great Britain (2010) British National Formulary. BMA 59.
- Choi YH, Jit M, Gay N, Cox A, Garnett GP et al. (2010) Transmission dynamic modelling of the impact of human papillomavirus vaccination

in the United Kingdom. Vaccine 28: 4091-4102. doi:10.1016/j.vaccine. 2009.09.125. PubMed: 19909831.

- Handbook on Cancer Prevention IARC (2005) Cervix Cancer Screening Lyon: IARC Press.
- Salisbury DM (2012) Male vaccination against human papillomavirus. Lancet Infect Dis 12: 582-583. doi:10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70082-8. PubMed: 22835890.
- 42. Health Protection Agency (2012) Human papillomavirus (HPV) cervical cancer and genital warts. Available: http://www.hpa.org.uk/ Topics/InfectiousDiseases/InfectionsAZ/GenitalWarts/. Accessed 2013 February 2.
Imperial College London

Increasing river blindness treatment to twice a year doesn't double cost

by Sam Wong 19 September 2013



Distributing treatments for river blindness twice a year instead of annually doesn't double the cost, according to a study in Ghana.

Currently, many African countries give out ivermectin treatment once a year to control the disease, which causes irreversible loss of vision and unbearable itching.

Many countries are now considering biannual treatment in a drive to eliminate river blindness, but until now little data has been available on the cost of adopting this strategy.

The London Declaration on Neglected Tropical Diseases (NTDs), a commitment made by global health organisations and pharmaceutical companies in January 2012, set a target of eliminating river blindness in selected countries in Africa by 2020. The goal was inspired and endorsed by the World Health Organization's 2020 Roadmap on NTDs.

Researchers from Imperial College London, the Council for Scientific and Industrial Research of Ghana, and the Neglected Tropical Diseases Programme of the Ghana Health Service conducted a study to assess the cost of biannual ivermectin distribution in Ghana. They also assessed some of the factors that may hinder the scaling up of treatment frequency at a large scale.

The results, published in *PLOS Neglected Tropical Diseases*, show that the yearly cost of biannual ivermectin treatment is only 50 to 60 per cent higher than that of annual treatment, rather than twice as much, as other programmes have assumed. In addition, large-s cale mass biannual treatment was reported as being well received by communities and health workers, and considered sustainable in the context of the Ghanaian NTD control programme.

Hugo Turner, from the School of Public Health at Imperial College London, who led the study, said: "The results of this study will help to inform decisions about whether to increase treatment frequency from annual to biannual for the control and elimination of river blindness in Africa."

River blindness, also called onchocerciasis, is caused by parasitic worms that predominantly affect rural populations who live near fast-flowing rivers in sub-Saharan Africa.

Regular and prolonged treatment with ivermectin can contribute to both reducing the disease burden and the occurrence of new infections.

Following successful control of the disease in some west African countries, the African Programme for Onchocerciasis Control recently introduced a new policy aiming to eliminate the infection where possible in addition to its previous goal of preventing the disease caused by the parasite.

Some countries, such as Ghana and Uganda have already started distributing ivermectin twice per year in some areas. The Carter

10/31/13

Increasing river blindness treatment to twice a year doesn't double cost

Center will oversee the implementation of biannual distribution in parts of Ethiopia where treatment has never been deployed.

"Accurate cost data are essential to inform economic evaluations and policy decisions regarding the implementation of a biannual ivermectin distribution strategy in Africa," Mr Turner said.

REFERENCE

Turner HC, Os ei-Atweneboana MY, Walker M, Tettevi EJ, Churcher TS, et al. (2013) The Cost of Annual versus Biannual Community-Directed Treatment of Onchocerciasis with Ivermectin: Ghana as a Case Study. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 7(9): e2452. doi:10.1371/journal.pntd.0002452

Reporter



TAGS: neglected tropical diseases

See more tags



Main campus address: Imperial College London, South Kensington Campus, London SW7 2AZ, tel: +44 (0)20 7589 5111 Campus maps and information | About this site | This site uses cookies

Imperial College and Council for Scientific and Industrial Research

Costing Questionnaire

Region:	
District:	

Date

What is your position?

How much of your time is spent on onchocerciasis control activates (percentage of the year)?

What is your salary?

Do you receive any additional supplements (such as travel or per Diem)?

What percentage of your time working on onchocerciasis is spent on the following activates:- SEE LAST PAGE

How many people work in this health centre?

How many of these people are associated with onchocerciasis control activates?

Personnel:

Name	Position	Percentage of work time dedicated to	What is their salary?	Additional supplements*
		onchocerclasis control [*]		

*Indicated how this might have changed since switching to biannual treatment

Supplies and equipment (capital costs):

Input	Number of units	Purchase price	Value (if donated)	Expected useful life	% used on onchocerciasis control activities*	

Supplies and equipment (recurrent costs):

Input	Total annual cost	% used on onchocerciasis control activities *

Transportation (capital costs):

Input *	Quantity *	Purchase price	Value (if donated)	Expected useful life	% used on onchocerciasis
					control activities *

Transportation (recurrent costs):

Input*	Quantity*	Fuel cost (per litre)	Insurance (average per item cost)	Maintenance and repairs (average per item cost)	Taxes, fees, etc. (average per item cost)	% used on onchocerciasis control activities *
If rental vehicle, no. of days (dates) *		Cost of daily rental				

Overheads:

Is any space donated or rented for onchocerciasis control programme activities.				
If donated what would it cost to rent the space?				
Facility (date)	Building maintenance (per year)	Water (per year)	Phone (per year)	Electricity (per year)

Are there any other costs not included above

Who gives you the money for the above activates

Have there been any issues caused increasing the treatment frequency to twice a year:

Percentage each input is used on different programmatic activities:

Input	Training	Other	Mobilization/	Drug Distribution	Surveillance /	Reporting	All Other	Other Project
	Volunteers	Training	Sensitization	Chain	Evaluation		Administration	Activities